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[bookmark: Chap_1]SCIENCE FICTION STORIES:

Discards

Written by Nina Kiriki Hoffman
Illustrated by: Ian Nitta

[bookmark: p0]Rosetta found the cleanbomb under the squashed skeleton of a runabout. She and Scorpion spent a lot of time creeping under or into broken things, looking for valuable stuff that got thrown out. Scorpion and Rosetta were the smallest people in their families; they could slide into and under things other people were too large to search.

[bookmark: p1]Almost everything on ReWork got thrown out by somebody, sent down the chutes, out of somebody's life or backyard or city dump, right off their planets to here. The whole planet was made of things people threw out, if you counted the dead moon at its core as a discard. Scorpion's dad said ReWork started out as God's shit and people just kept piling more shit on it. Scorpion and his dad lived pretty deep under the surface in a laser-carved cave inside what used to be a small airship. Nobody lived on the surface. New chutestuff fell all the time, so the landscape constantly changed.

[bookmark: p2]Scorpion's dad thought ReWork was a pile of shit, but Rosetta knew it was full of treasure. Rosetta's job was salvage, which she figured was the most fun job in the world.

[bookmark: p3]At midmorning, Rosetta and Scorpion took their mesh bags of new stuff up onto a beached train car carcass into the light of day.

[bookmark: p4]Nobody spent much time in the open. You never knew when the skychutes would come; your only warning was a faint clattering rumble and a shadow in the sky before another load of whatever someone on one of the sixty-three other inhabited worlds didn't want came tumbling down on top of you.

[bookmark: p5]Every time Scorpion and Rosetta went up into direct sunlight, they felt like they were having an adventure. They felt even wilder if their gauges said the air was clean enough for them to take off their masks. People died from getting dumped on or suffocated from gases or toxins. There were lots of ways to be stupid on ReWork, most of them leading to death. Rosetta figured she was doing well to be alive at thirteen.

[bookmark: p6]The train car was her and Scorpion's new temporary favorite sunperch. They had discovered it five days earlier, and knew they wouldn't be able to use it long; junk placement was only semi-random. Most places got a new supply every seven days or so.

[bookmark: p7][image: v3n200.jpg]

[bookmark: p8]Two of the train car's windows were broken out. Rosetta and Scorpion figured if they heard chutesign, they could duck down into the car.

[bookmark: p9]"What'd you get?" Scorpion asked. His mask was down around his neck. Today was sunny and clear; their gauges said they could breathe without danger. Scorpion took an energy bar from a vest pocket and dissolved the wrapper, then bit off the dessert end.

[bookmark: p10]Rosetta took out the boring stuff first. Six pieces of memory plastic she could reprogram—she had a talent for decoding other people's command language. A silver chain with a firejewel pendant she had found inside a smashed handbag, but she suspected the firejewel was fake. Three tiny travel-safety charms she'd found in the cushions of a wrecked familycar, so how well could they work? She saved the cleanbomb back. "You show me yours."

[bookmark: p11]Scorpion chewed his way through his entree before he opened his sack and pulled out a plastipet. It was a purple one shaped like an animal Rosetta had never seen before, but she could tell it was missing a limb—there was an empty socket where an arm ought to be. Its other three arms had two elbows each, and the hands had forests of tentacles instead of fingers. The two feet were flat on the ends of three-jointed limbs, with bending plates instead of toes.

[bookmark: p12]"I think I've got an arm that'll fit," she said. She had a whole stock of spare parts for things back at the family complex, a warren of caves and tunnels a few layers lower than Scorpion's home. "Not the right kind of arm, but something that should work."

[bookmark: p13]"Here's the good part." Scorpion poked the plastipet's head. Its eyes glowed orange. "Still a full charge. Some kid threw it out just because it got a little broken."

[bookmark: p14]"They're so dumb. But then, we're so lucky."

[bookmark: p15]"What's your name?" Scorpion asked the pet. "Tell Rosie your name."

[bookmark: p16]"Kick," said the pet. Its voice sounded human and female.

[bookmark: p17]"I found it because it was talking to itself," said Scorpion.

[bookmark: p18]"Hi, Kick," Rosetta said. "You have cool hands. What kinds of things can you do?"

[bookmark: p19]"Greetings," said the pet. "I cannot answer questions without proper authorization. Where is Master? I must find Master. My seek function is supplying invalid data. It says Master is not on this planet."

[bookmark: p20]"Needs a restart and realign," Scorpion said.

[bookmark: p21]"Let's debonk its info filters and question it first. Find out about Master. Don't you wonder about the people who throw all this good stuff away?"

[bookmark: p22]"I know everything I need to know about them just looking at their discards." Scorpion turned the pet over and found the touchpad that opened its control hatch. He pressed a sequence onto the bumps, but nothing happened. "Coded. I'll figure it out."

[bookmark: p23]"I could do it for you," Rosetta said.

[bookmark: p24]"Worry about it later." Scorpion pressed the button on Kick's head. Its eyes flickered out. "What else you got?"

[bookmark: p25]Rosetta set the mesh bag on her lap. She pulled out the cleanbomb.

[bookmark: p26]"You're kidding," Scorpion whispered.

[bookmark: p27]Rosetta set the ball between them on the train's striped siding. They both stared at it.

[bookmark: p28]It was about the size of a human head, coated in dull white dust that bent the light into microrainbows and made the ball look bumpy and less than round. Rosetta's hands still tingled from having touched it. Something shifted around in her chest. A cleanbomb could blow up anything within about a thousand feet of it. Anything. An explosion that didn't pollute, just utterly destroyed, carved out a ball of space a thousand feet in diameter wherever you put it. It was one of many things she'd read about on the E-net but had never seen before.

[bookmark: p29]"You know who you're going to sell it to?" Scorpion asked after a moment.

[bookmark: p30]"No." Rosetta hunched forward and stared at the ball. She could sell it to the Wreckers. They were always looking for ways to sabotage the Enclosed, the people who lived in the cities and worked at the recycling factories or the air and water plants and aped the ways of life on other planets. A cleanbomb could wreck something at Central Transport, or some kind of support system for the Enclosed, destroy a water purifying plant, a power plant, a library, a supply chute from another planet, or even the central computer system that ran the dumpchutes.

[bookmark: p31]She could sell it to somebody in the Tunnelrat government, the people who made the rules, hired enforcers, ran bargain sites so nobody got cheated so badly they couldn't go on salvaging and rescuing and providing. The Gov would probably use it to clear an area for a new market, or start a new reservoir, or kill off a nest of bandits or antrats.

[bookmark: p32]She could sell it to Crazy Eli, who had his own religion and kept looking for converts and talking about miracles. Eli had found and stashed more great trash than anybody else Rosetta knew. His skill as a finder was only surpassed by his skill at making you feel weird and wrong.

[bookmark: p33]She could keep it. Even though it was probably the biggest score she'd ever made, she could keep it—just in case she needed to destroy something someday.

[bookmark: p34]She picked up the cleanbomb and hugged it. It vibrated on a low note that made her stomach shake and sent a hum through her hands. There was an activation site on the cleanbomb, four raised bumps and two recesses. Rosetta already knew the sequence she would need to press to start the ball's internal timer ticking. She wasn't sure how long the delay was.

[bookmark: p35]"You win this time," Scorpion said. He put the plastipet back in his bag.

[bookmark: p36]Rosetta collected her finds too.

[bookmark: p37]They were already a few feet down the access tunnel on their way to a semifresh collection site when they heard chutesign above them. They pulled up their masks and attached their oxytanks. "Go on," Rosetta cried, and Scorpion ran ahead of her. She stopped long enough to spike a disruptor into the tunnel wall before rushing after him. Behind her, the tunnel collapsed before new garbage could come down and clog it.

[bookmark: p38]They came to a nexus of three tunnels and took the down one; at the next branching, they took a side one. The world shook as new garbage piled on top of old above them. The traincar wouldn't work as a perch anymore.

[bookmark: p39]They stopped and waited about eight layers down in a kink of the tunnel. The air was bad, heavy near the floor and stale. Rosetta set a "fix" beacon in the wall so a repair crew would stop by and drill a circulation tunnel to keep this area safe. Scorpion shone his headlight on the tunnel wall in sweeps, looking to see if there was anything valuable previous salvagers had missed, but it was mostly compacted plastic, nothing exciting to dig out, no special sparkles.

[bookmark: p40]When nothing shook or fluttered in the walls anymore, Scorpion glanced at his watch. "Fifteen minutes," he said. "About right for a standard drop."

[bookmark: p41]"I've got a carve laser. You have tunnel props?" asked Rosetta.

[bookmark: p42]"Yeah."

[bookmark: p43]They grinned at each other through their masks. "Let's go." New garbage was the best place to find good stuff. They headed up the way they had come.

[bookmark: p44]At the branch three or four layers down, they took a side tunnel to find a topside exit that would still be open. Better to approach things from the side than from below. Other tunnelrats would be headed this way to look over the new fall; some of them had seismic sensors that could pinpoint new drops from miles away.

[bookmark: p45]Scorpion and Rosetta had a small window when they had first pick; after that, it would be back to scavenging in places other people couldn't get to.

[bookmark: p46]They had to watch out for bandits. Tunnelrat patrols cracked down on bandit activity, but there were always new people so disgusting their communities cast them out and they had to raid to survive. The buyers at the recycleworks didn't care who they got things from as long as there was a steady supply. One tunnelrat looked just like another to the Enclosed. Buyers at tunnelmarkets were pickier, but they would buy really rare things from anybody who had them.

[bookmark: p47]When they reached the surface, the reptilian gulls had already blown up in a huge dark gray-and-white flock to land on the new drop. It was a giant mound of white and red and clear and steel, small plastics, broken devices, and worse.

[bookmark: p48]"Ick," said Scorpion. "Medical waste."

[bookmark: p49]Rosetta followed Scorpion's masked and hooded form across a few pieces of debris she remembered from before this fall, and then they hit the new stuff, stacks of used, labeled containers, some still full of cast-off body products; single-use med injectors, emergency room garments and wipes, bedding contaminated with blood and body products of people who were probably already dead; and then the mounds of things cut off of people, replaced with new vatgrown body parts or prosthetics.

[bookmark: p50]Rosetta checked labels on the containers to find out which planet had sent this load to ReWork. Some planets had developed clean incineration for toxic, dangerous stuff like this. Others had trash-chute deals that made it cheaper to ship the stuff to ReWork than deal with it at home.

[bookmark: p51]The labels were written in one of the twelve alphabet/syllable writing systems Rosetta knew, in a language she could understand. This load came from Lobella, one of ReWork's most frequent donors.

[bookmark: p52]Rosetta checked her gauge. Definitely toxins in this load. All kinds of solvents and cleansers, but also contaminated blood and body waste. "Let's go somewhere else," she said. Sometimes you could find valuable discards in medical waste, but it was messy and horrible work. Scorpion's dad and Rosetta's family weren't interested in drug dealing, and that was what paid the most in medical waste, especially when you found new and experimental drugs.

[bookmark: p53]"Wait," said Scorpion. "Listen."

[bookmark: p54]Rosetta heard the screeches of the gulls. She listened past them. Scorpion had the best ears of anybody she knew, but once he pointed sounds out to her, she could usually hear them.

[bookmark: p55]Crying. Something crying.

[bookmark: p56]"Let's get out of here," she said. If they found someone crying, it would just mean trouble, work, and not enough money. People who got thrown out usually didn't have any money. Well, Junika had found that kidnapped rich kid once in the trunk of a car, and he had still been alive. She had made so much money on his rescue that she'd been able to go offplanet. She stayed away just long enough to lose her reward in some offworld casino.

[bookmark: p57]Mostly, people who got thrown out were people someone had decided didn't deserve to live. If it was a baby, it would mean investing care in it until it got bigger and could work to repay you, and no guarantees then; what if it were crippled or defective and could never work its debt off? If it was anybody older, they were probably too broken to take care of themselves. Best to not even get near.

[bookmark: p58]"I got to find out," Scorpion said, apology in his voice.

[bookmark: p59]"You'll regret it."

[bookmark: p60]"I know. You want me to do it alone?"

[bookmark: p61]Rosetta sighed. She pulled out her tunnelcutter laser. It wasn't very strong, and her charge was almost gone, but it might be good enough to scare the cryer if necessary. "Let's go."

[bookmark: p62]The cryer lay in a pile of cut-off limbs. It was a blue-skinned child with pointed ears and silky green hair. It looked about seven. It hugged a white-skinned arm to its naked chest, the hand at the end open, the fingers and palm pressed against the cryer's breast bone. Its sobs had faded to whimpers and hiccups, and it lay among arms and legs in a variety of skin colors and hair patterns, all the cuts cauterized so that the limbs looked artificial instead of bloody. At least Lobella had laser surgery.

[bookmark: p63]"Hey," Scorpion said gently. "Who are you?"

[bookmark: p64]The cryer hiccuped and opened its eyes. They were large and orange-red, with very little white, the pupils slits. The child stared at them for a moment, then screamed.

[bookmark: p65]"Hey," said Rosetta.

[bookmark: p66]"Monsters!" cried the child in Lobellan.

[bookmark: p67]Rosetta and Scorpion exchanged glances. They did look sort of like monsters in their protection suits, hooded and masked. Rosetta checked her gauge again. Still too much bad stuff in the air to unmask.

[bookmark: p68]Scorpion moved a hand to the vest pocket that held his tranq darts. Rosetta nodded.

[bookmark: p69]He flipped a dart at the child, who screamed again, then gasped and sobbed and curled up around the arm it clutched. In a couple of minutes it had fallen asleep. Rosetta got a carry sling out of her pack. She and Scorpion rolled the child and its extra arm up in the sling and took it away from the site, traveling tunnelways until they came to a meeting room. Rosetta tapped all the lightbumps in the walls. She and Scorpion checked their gauges—good air here—and lowered their masks and hoods.

[bookmark: p70]Scorpion jabbed wakeup into the child's arm. It licked its lips a few times and woke. "What?"

[bookmark: p71]"Hi," Rosetta said in Lobellan. "We're sorry we scared you."

[bookmark: p72]"You're people," whispered the child.

[bookmark: p73]"Yes. We were wearing masks topside. What kind of person are you? I've never seen anyone with your coloring before."

[bookmark: p74]"I'm a genmod clone."

[bookmark: p75]Rosetta scooted back a step, even though she knew that cloning wasn't a disease you could catch.

[bookmark: p76]"What's your name?" Scorpion asked. His Lobellan was strangely accented. Rosetta wondered if the child would understand.

[bookmark: p77]"I don't have a name. I'm number fifty-four."

[bookmark: p78]"They didn't even kill you before they chuted you?"

[bookmark: p79]The child curled up around the white arm, hid its face behind its forearm. "We were all doing tests with Teacher Rambon. I'm not good at tests. All the others are. Teacher Rambon got mad at me because I got the answer wrong three times, and she just—"

[bookmark: p80]"Shoved you down a chute?" asked Scorpion. Rosetta could tell he was feeling sorry for Fifty-four.

[bookmark: p81]"There's fifty-nine more of me, and they're all better at everything than I am."

[bookmark: p82]"Whose arm is that?" asked Rosetta.

[bookmark: p83]The child uncurled a little, looked at what it held. "I don't know. When I fell into the bin, this hand patted me."

[bookmark: p84]So they had a stupid clone who attached to dead limbs. Rosetta tapped the toxin pocket on her vest. Scorpion shook his head. She sighed and dropped her hand to her laser.

[bookmark: p85]"How do you feel?" he asked.

[bookmark: p86]"Feel?" The child touched its chest, its arms. "Like always."

[bookmark: p87]"You don't feel sick to your stomach?"

[bookmark: p88]Oh. Rosetta saw it now. The child had been lying in a bed of toxic waste, and it was still healthy. There were no burns on its skin, despite what the gauges had told them about the latest dump. It might have natural immunity to things that would kill everyone they knew.

[bookmark: p89]Ah.

[bookmark: p90]"I'm hungry," whispered the child. "And thirsty."

[bookmark: p91]Scorpion pulled out an energy bar, pressed the dissolve bump on the wrapper. "Try this."

[bookmark: p92]The child bit the bar and said. "Oh! Good. Thank you." It bit more, chewed, swallowed. Scorpion handed it his canteen, and it drank, then finished the bar. "Oh! That's the best thing I ever tasted."

[bookmark: p93]"Are you a boy or a girl?" Rosetta asked.

[bookmark: p94]"Both."

[bookmark: p95]She scooted back another step.

[bookmark: p96]"Can I see?" asked Scorpion.

[bookmark: p97]The child capped the canteen, laid the white arm down beside it, and uncurled enough to show them its genitals.

[bookmark: p98]"Wow," Scorpion whispered. "Weird." He and Rosetta exchanged glances again, only this time Rosetta wasn't sure what he was thinking.

[bookmark: p99]Something flashed through her brain. They could sell Fifty-four. Big money from the sex slavers. Not just the genitals, but the strange coloring, especially the eyes.

[bookmark: p100]She hoped Scorpion wasn't thinking that. He was nicer than she was, and shouldn't have any bad thoughts. She was in charge of bad thoughts for both of them. Whenever Scorpion talked about anything dangerous or awful, she made him shut up. Since she'd taken charge of the evil ideas, Scorpion's nightmares had gotten less frequent.

[bookmark: p101]Scorpion better not be thinking about slavery.

[bookmark: p102]Rosetta pulled a pair of olive-colored shorts out of her pack. "Here. Wear these, and never tell anyone else what you just told us." She watched while the child pulled on the shorts. It handled the sticktites at the waist okay, so maybe it had worn clothes before. That was good. She said, "Which would you rather be, a boy or a girl? Choose now. People are going to want to know."

[bookmark: p103]The child looked back and forth between Scorpion and Rosetta. "Which is better?" it asked.

[bookmark: p104]Scorpion shook his head. Rosetta said, "Be a boy."

[bookmark: p105]"All right."

[bookmark: p106]"You need a name," she said.

[bookmark: p107]"Can I have one? They told us we might get names if we were good. They told us we would all be sent different places and we'd lose each other in the end. Twenty-five said they were lying, but Thirty-six said they weren't. I'll never see them again, will I?"

[bookmark: p108]"People don't usually leave ReWork," Scorpion said.

[bookmark: p109]The child rubbed its eyes, sniffled, and stared at Rosetta. "I can have a name?" it whispered.

[bookmark: p110]"Yeah. If you're going to live with us, you need a name," Rosetta said.

[bookmark: p111]Scorpion stared at her.

[bookmark: p112]She wouldn't look at him. She had to draw some lines. She would never sell anyone to a sex slaver, no matter how much she could make. She'd lost a sister and three friends to those vermin. She was all for killing this kid and putting it back where it had come from, but she knew Scorpion wouldn't do that. Maybe he was right, anyway. Maybe the kid would be an asset to their families, someone who could go dangerous places without getting hurt or needing protection. Maybe the kid could be trained. It might be worthwhile salvage.

[bookmark: p113]It might be a huge pain in the butt. Lots of work to train and care for, and maybe that wouldn't pay off. However, it wasn't really stupid. And it had been created to be trainable.

[bookmark: p114]"Do you know any names you like?" Rosetta asked.

[bookmark: p115]"I only know the names of the makers and the teachers and the observers."

[bookmark: p116]"Were any of them nice to you?"

[bookmark: p117]The child thought. It shook its head. Then it said, "The cook. Keri. She gave me candy one time when I was crying."

[bookmark: p118]"You want her name?"

[bookmark: p119]"Okay."

[bookmark: p120]"You're Keri now. Remember that."

[bookmark: p121]"Keri," whispered the child.

[bookmark: p122]"Do you want him, or should I take him home?" Rosetta asked Scorpion.

[bookmark: p123]"I want him."

[bookmark: p124]She had known he would. He had lost three brothers to salvage work, wrong place, wrong time. There was still room in his den. His father would gripe and grumble, but then he would cave, especially if Scorpion got Keri trained fast enough to bring home good things.

[bookmark: p125]"I'll help," Rosetta said. "Keri, I'm Rosetta and this is Scorpion. You can tell us anything, but don't tell anybody else anything except what we say is okay. Do you understand?"

[bookmark: p126]"No."

[bookmark: p127]"Well, let's talk about it on the way home. We have a lot to teach you. But the first thing is you can't trust anybody but us, and you might want to think twice about trusting us."

[bookmark: p128]Keri stared at her face, licked his lips, then nodded.

[bookmark: p129]"Good," said Rosetta. Good. He might be smart enough to survive. She held out her hand. No matter how strange Keri was, he was going to be Scorpion's little brother, so she better get used to touching him. They were going to spend a lot of time together.

[bookmark: p130]Keri grasped her hand. His felt small and strong, stronger than she expected. Someone had chosen everything about him, so he was probably full of strange surprises, and not all of them might be good. She had her tox pocket, but who knew what toxins would work on him? They already knew some that didn't.

[bookmark: p131]Scorpion wouldn't be suspicious enough. He liked everybody until they did something unforgivable, and then it was too late. Rosetta would keep track. She would watch Keri, keeping a running tally of assets and liabilities.

[bookmark: p132]"So let's go home," said Scorpion. "I'll show you where we live and introduce you to Dad." He reached for Keri's other hand. Keri looked at the white arm lying on the tunnel floor behind him, glanced down at the warm hands holding his, straightened.

[bookmark: p133]"Okay," Keri said.

[bookmark: p134]"You want a pet?" Scorpion asked. "I have a toy you can have. Rosetta will fix it for you."

[bookmark: p135]"What's a pet?"

[bookmark: p136]As they headed home, Rosetta wondered who was bringing back the more dangerous salvage, her with her cleanbomb, or Scorpion with his genmod clone, created for who knew what purposes?

[bookmark: p137]She would save the cleanbomb. She knew that would work on Keri.
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[bookmark: Chap_2]Shopping Spree

Written by Beth Bernobich
Illustrated By: Mo Starkey

[bookmark: p138]Welcome to AmazingLiving.com

[bookmark: p139]Stock Your Medicine Cabinet for Fall *Plus* Save $25 Today Only (Restrictions Apply). Start shopping with deals on . . . 

[bookmark: p140][image: v3n201.jpg]

[bookmark: p141]Rhonda viewed the gaudy front page for the Amazing Living Online Pharmacy with dismay. Ads for dozens of herbal products crowded the screen, promising all kinds of miracle cures, and even with pop-ups turned off, the psychedelic graphics gave her an instant cluster headache. She almost regretted skipping lunch with her co-workers just so she could sneak in this shopping session. Still, if her girlfriend Denise was right, and those products actually did what they claimed, it would be worth any number of headaches.

[bookmark: p142]So let's see what they've got.

[bookmark: p143]She scanned past screaming pink buttons labeled Join Our Savers Club and Featured Products. Ah hah—there it was. A discreet box in the lower right-hand corner, just above the privacy policy: The Better Marriage Prescription Corner.

[bookmark: p144]She clicked the link. The screen faded to a soothing dark blue splash screen with the company logo (a stylized A and L circled by a wavy line) above the words:

[bookmark: p145]Thank you for visiting 
The Better Marriage Prescription Corner.
Sex, please.

[bookmark: p146]Rhonda blinked. Oh. Right. A survey. She checked the box marked Female. The screen did another fancy fadeout, and three columns of links appeared. Rhonda shook with silent laughter at product names like PleaseAndThanks, AfterYou, and YesDear. The descriptions were even better. ClutterNix promised to turn your husband into a neater mate. Memor-eeze claimed he would never forget an important date, from back-to-school night to the tenth wedding anniversary. (Some patients require multiple doses. Do not use in combination with alcohol.)

[bookmark: p147]All the products came in single-dosage capsules, which you could dissolve into juice or soda to hide the after-taste. A bold-faced warning informed Rhonda that hot liquids such as coffee or soup reduced the drug's effectiveness.

[bookmark: p148]Well, that should be easy. She could slip the capsule into Tony's orange juice at breakfast. And just as Denise promised, the prices were low, with discounts for large orders. (Though a ten-dose limit per product, per order, did apply.) Rhonda picked up several each of Memor-eeze and ILoveU. On impulse, she added something called SexyFriday, which came with a free sample of YesDownThere. 

[bookmark: p149]An unexpected burst of voice—loud and close—made her jump.

[bookmark: p150]". . . and then she asked if I could make the deadline."

[bookmark: p151]". . . with that friendly gleam of teeth, right?"

[bookmark: p152]Carl and Bud. The next minute, Rhonda caught a whiff of Melissa's honeysuckle perfume. The office crew was back, which meant lunch break was nearly over. Damn. She snapped up a couple of LurveTheFlowerz and a trial size of YesDear, then clicked the check-out button.

[bookmark: p153]A new page appeared, demanding all the usual shipping and billing information. Yeah, yeah, yeah, she thought, typing as fast as she could. Then, Damn, what's this?

[bookmark: p154]User Address already exists in database. Login?

[bookmark: p155]What the? Her stomach gave an uncomfortable lurch. It couldn't possibly be. Tony would never shop here. And yet, she remembered that funny survey screen. Maybe it wasn't a survey. Maybe they tailored the products to your sex. She could just imagine the kind of stuff guys would buy. Or could she? With growing dread—and a lot of curiosity—she clicked the login button and entered Tony's favorite password (yodaddy). 

[bookmark: p156]Welcome, Tony Delaney. Would you like to see your Account Status?

[bookmark: p157]Damn straight, Rhonda thought. With another few clicks, she had Tony's order history. Not as bad as she feared—just three small orders over the past six months—but some of those items made her blink. SuppersReady, Fuggedaboutit, SportsNut, FootballFloozy . . . Heh. That explained why her morning cereal tasted off. And that episode during the college playoffs. Hmmmm.

[bookmark: p158]There was one new order from last Wednesday—it included the maximum ten doses of Fuggedaboutit, plus a couple more like ReadyNow and NagBegone. According to the account status page, Tony's order would reach their house on Thursday.

[bookmark: p159]Three days from now.

[bookmark: p160]Rhonda clicked back to the check-out screen and chewed her thumb. Now what? She couldn't stop him from getting those products, or he'd ask her how she knew about AmazingLiving.com. But what if his products canceled out hers? All she wanted was a few "I Love You's" and maybe flowers now and then. Well, and the oral sex would be nice.

[bookmark: p161]Hah. I know.

[bookmark: p162]She created her own user profile, with the shipping address c/o her workplace, and for email confirmation, she entered the new gmail addy she got courtesy of Denise's invitation. Luckily, she had already planned to charge everything to her old Amex credit card, the one she used for Christmas presents and other surprise purchases. It was stretching the truth to give her workplace as her billing address, but then, she had to risk it.

[bookmark: p163]Almost done. She paged back to the product list and read through the items swiftly. If she could just find the right couple of products . . . 

[bookmark: p164]There. Almost the last item on the page. InnerChick. Yeah, she thought reading the product information. InnerChick promised to bring your husband in tune with his feminine side. Ever wished he would ask directions? Give you the remote? Stop leaving dirty dishes under the front seat of your car? Try InnerChick. Three doses and your husband will be more like the woman you always wished he would be.

[bookmark: p165]Rhonda ordered the maximum of ten. That was sure to counteract anything Tony slipped her. Now she just had to figure out how to get him through a couple doses before his package arrived. She worried about that problem through the next few screens, unable to think of a solution, and all too aware that she had run well over her lunch hour.

[bookmark: p166]"Hey, Rhonda."

[bookmark: p167]Vivian, the department supervisor, peered around the cubicle wall. Rhonda hastily minimized the browser window and spun her chair around. "Right here," she said, trying to sound innocent and brisk at the same time. Vivian was squinting at her, but then Vivian always squinted, she told herself. "Um, what's up?"

[bookmark: p168]"The budget spreadsheets, that's what. Meeting's been rescheduled for Wednesday, and I need all the numbers double-checked, pronto. Are they ready?"

[bookmark: p169]"Almost. Give me ten minutes."

[bookmark: p170]Vivian squinted harder, but she didn't say anything. Rhonda waited until her supervisor disappeared before she let out her breath. Too close. Too damned close. Might as well cancel the order and try again later. Reluctantly, she moused over the window close button. 

[bookmark: p171]Exit without checkout?

[bookmark: p172]She hesitated. She might not have another chance today, and tomorrow was too late. Two minutes, she told herself desperately. I can get my order through and still finish those spreadsheets.

[bookmark: p173]Rhonda surreptitiously glanced around. No one hanging over the cubicle walls, not after Vivian's visit. No one behind her in the corridor. And nothing up my sleeve, as Bullwinkle would say. Still nervous, she re-opened the browser window.

[bookmark: p174]And gulped in surprise.

[bookmark: p175]In defiance of all the corporate internet settings, a bubble-shaped pop-up floated past. Amazed, Rhonda watched as it danced a spiral path over the nearly-complete order screen. It looked like Casper the Ghost, but with more class.

[bookmark: p176]How did they do that?

[bookmark: p177]Then she forgot everything else as she read the text inside the bubble.

[bookmark: p178]In a Hurry? Late for a Special Occasion? Use our Ultra-Express Delivery Option. Click Me and Find Out More.

[bookmark: p179]Bingo. 

[bookmark: p180]Rhonda chased down the bubble with her mouse and clicked. It vanished in a cloud of smaller pink bubbles to reveal her shipping options filled out for Special Overnight Delivery. Ouch, but that option was expensive. She suspected the delivery charges more than made up for the low cost of the products themselves, but it was worth it. Just a few more buttons . . . 

[bookmark: p181]Order Confirmed. You will receive your package in One (1) Business Day(s). Estimated arrival date is Wednesday, a.m.

[bookmark: p182]Rhonda closed the browser with a click and a smile. Humming with anticipation, she opened up Vivian's spreadsheets to double-check those numbers.

* * *

[bookmark: p183]Wednesday morning, Rhonda found she could not stop humming. Or dancing. Or smiling at Tony. Oh sure, Monday afternoon had dragged, and Tuesday had proved even worse. But at last it was Wednesday. Wednesday! According to the latest email from Amazing Living, her package had an expected arrival time of 8:30. Rhonda had almost reset her alarm for an earlier hour just to make sure Murphy didn't tap-dance all over her plans, but she didn't want to make Tony suspicious. More suspicious, she amended. 

[bookmark: p184]"You look awful jumpy today," Tony commented as he poured milk over his Sugar-Frosted Crunchy Oats Cereal (the kind with the model fighter plane prize inside the box). "Whassup?"

[bookmark: p185]Rhonda shrugged. "Oh, nothing. Nothing except Vivian and her everlasting Gobstopper of a budget." 

[bookmark: p186]Tony shoved a spoonful of cereal into his mouth and crunched loudly. "Yeah, well, she's a trick, that Vivian. So, you gonna work late tonight?"

[bookmark: p187]Not if I can help it, Rhonda thought, her mind on the waiting package. Should she start him on the InnerChick? Or was that pushing things too fast? Maybe just a dose of YesDear, just to see how well these wonder drugs worked. 

[bookmark: p188]"I don't know yet," she told Tony. "I'm ahead of schedule, but the quarterly budget wars start today, so things might get hairy."

[bookmark: p189]"Like Vivian," Tony said with a smirk.

[bookmark: p190]Rhonda smirked back. Wait till tonight, Tony-boy.

[bookmark: p191]Murphy and his Law were taking a permanent vacation she decided. That morning, she found none of the usual obstacles to her commute. No traffic. The lights in her favor. That hideous highway construction project cleared away. Rhonda zipped into her parking space and jogged through the employee entrance five minutes ahead of the crew.

[bookmark: p192]"Good morning," she called out to Tina, the department secretary. "Any packages for me?"

[bookmark: p193]Tina glanced up from sorting mail. "There was."

[bookmark: p194]Rhonda's heart did a double skip-and-jump, and some of the joy leaked out of her day. Tina started her shift at 8:30. Usually the mailroom guys left any early delivery packages at her desk. "What do you mean was?" she said.

[bookmark: p195]"Just what I said. Was here. As in, past perfect tense, indicative and not subjunctive, and that's what I get for being a goddamn English major." Tina punctuated every syllable by slapping down an envelope into a different pile. 

[bookmark: p196]Clearly her day had not started well. Rhonda tried again.

[bookmark: p197]"Um, sorry, Tina. Is Vivian being a PITA?"

[bookmark: p198]"Yeah, she is," Tina snapped. "It's that goddamn budget meeting today. Either she showed up at dawn, or she never left, because she was already at her desk when I came in. Chewed me out for no reason at all. Five goddamn minutes," she added in a mutter. "You'd think the world ended."

[bookmark: p199]Rhonda peered around Tina's desk to Vivian's office. No lights showed underneath the door, which was closed. "So, um, about my package. What happened to it?"

[bookmark: p200]Tina scowled. "Vivian happened to it. Johnny-Boy from Receiving came by five minutes—okay, maybe fifteen minutes—before I got here, and needed a signature. And before you ask, no, I don't have the damned thing. Vicious Vivian must've locked it in her office. Come by at lunch, why don't you?" 

[bookmark: p201]Rhonda closed her eyes, feeling sick. Murphy had screwed her but good. Served her right for being so cock-sure this morning.

[bookmark: p202]"Thanks, Tina," she whispered. "I'll do that."

[bookmark: p203]No big deal, she told herself, walking back to her desk. Vivian won't care about a stupid package. She popped a couple antacids with an aspirin chaser, then dove into the day's workload.

[bookmark: p204]Twelve o'clock came at last. Rhonda hurried past Tina's desk and knocked at Vivian's door. No answer. She jiggled the handle, which refused to budge.

[bookmark: p205]"Don't even bother," Tina said, looking up from her typing. "All the managers went out for lunch. Say what's in that package, anyway?"

[bookmark: p206]"Rat poison," Rhonda snapped. She left before Tina could snap back.

[bookmark: p207]She spent the afternoon fruitlessly haunting Vivian's office. No luck. The only good point was finding out that Tina wasn't mad at her. "You looked peaked," Tina said when Rhonda made one last circuit around five o'clock (pretending to visit the supply cabinet). "No wonder you're cranky."

[bookmark: p208]"I'm sorry," Rhonda started to say.

[bookmark: p209]Tina waved away her apology. "No problem. It's that Vivian. She's enough to make anyone snappish. And speaking of the Vicked Vitch, she called to have me order in pizza for dinner. I'm betting those guys won't break until midnight or someone draws first blood. So go home. You look awful."

* * *

[bookmark: p210]"You look awful," Tony said the next morning. "What's wrong?"

[bookmark: p211]"Nothing is wrong!" Rhonda snapped. "Not one goddamn thing."

[bookmark: p212]Tony's eyebrows climbed up to the top of his forehead, and crouched there like two hairy caterpillars. "Geezuss Aching Christ," he said. "What got into you?"

[bookmark: p213]Rhonda closed her eyes and sighed. She had spent a miserable night, unable to sleep, her stomach doing flip-flops while she tormented herself with what-ifs and if-onlys. She sighed again and opened her eyes to find Tony looking genuinely worried. "I'm sorry, honey. It's just that goddamn—"

[bookmark: p214]"—budget. Yeah, I know, babe. But you do look a bit ragged today. Maybe a few vitamins would fix you up. You want me to stop by the drug store and get you some?"

[bookmark: p215]Rhonda suppressed a start. That's right. Today was Thursday. Tony's package was due today. And now she remembered how sleepy-head Tony was up and making coffee long before the alarm went off. Her stomach did another flip-flop and she regarded her cereal with suspicion.

[bookmark: p216]"Thanks, honey," she said. "But don't bother. I'll be fine."

[bookmark: p217]She waited for Tony to leave, then made a quick search of the entire house. Not in the laundry hamper (as if he knew what a hamper was, she thought). Not in the utility closet, and not in the attic. Not anywhere, she thought, rubbing her aching forehead. The hall clock chimed eight thirty. Damn. She had to get going, and fast, or Vivian would toast her on a stick and have her for brunch.

[bookmark: p218]Wait a minute. I know where.

[bookmark: p219]She hurried into the bathroom and threw open the double doors to their medicine cabinet. Ages ago, they had agreed that one side would be hers, one side his, but surveying the shelves, Rhonda noticed how Tony's growing collection of half-used ointment tubes, Mega-Sports-Vitamins, and Gold Bond Powder encroached on her half. No time to get irritated. She started rummaging through his junk, not entirely sure what she was looking for.

[bookmark: p220]"Hey, babe!"

[bookmark: p221]Half a dozen bottles and tubes crashed into the sink. "Hey, honey." Rhonda hurriedly stuffed items back onto the shelves. Just as fast, most of the items spilled out again. "What's up? I thought you were off to work?"

[bookmark: p222]"Forgot my cell phone. What about you?"

[bookmark: p223]Rhonda opened a drawer and swept Tony's junk in there. "Had a headache, sweetheart." Just as Tony poked his head around the door, she grabbed the nearest aspirin bottle from the shelves. "Ah, here they are," she cried. "Just what I was looking for."

[bookmark: p224]She dropped the bottle into her purse, and dodged around Tony. Once in her car, she let out a long shaky breath. That was two close calls this week. And surely Tony would notice the mess she'd made in the medicine cabinet. On second thought, knowing Tony, maybe not. Anyway, maybe she could sneak out early and make a second pass tonight, before Tony got home, plus straighten things up a bit.

[bookmark: p225]But bad luck continued to spit on her that morning. A jack-knifed tractor trailer tied up the highway for miles. When she tried her favorite shortcut, she got stuck behind a student driver. By the time Rhonda slid into her chair and flipped her monitor on, the clock showed nine-twenty.

[bookmark: p226]You Have Mail!

[bookmark: p227]Rhonda's mouth went dry with apprehension, as she clicked the Read Mail button. Sure enough, it was a memo from Vivian, dated 6:35 a.m. Come to my office at 11:30. We need to discuss personnel matters.

[bookmark: p228]Oh crap. Oh crap oh crap oh crap. She was sunk. Vivian must have opened the damned package. Strictly speaking, it wasn't against the regs to have personal items delivered here, but these days, with all the layoffs and outsourcing and general weirdness, who could tell?

[bookmark: p229]Her head throbbed. And throbbed harder. Wincing, Rhonda swallowed a couple aspirin from the bottle in her purse, then opened up the files for the Navy contract bid that Vivian and the other department managers were screaming for . . . 

[bookmark: p230]" . . . where the hell were you?"

[bookmark: p231]Rhonda jolted awake to the terrifying sight of Vivian looming over her. Vivian's face had turned an unhealthy shade of red, and she was squinting harder than ever.

[bookmark: p232]" . . . no time for this stupid shit now . . ."

[bookmark: p233]Vivian on a tear was worse than six dragons with PMS, Bud always said. Right now, Rhonda thought that comment was an understatement. "Um, Vivian. Sorry. I was . . ." A frantic glance at her computer screen nudged her panicked memory. "Um, double-checking the latest government reporting requirements. For that new contract bid for the Navy."

[bookmark: p234]Vivian's face tuned down a couple shades. "Oh. Right. I see." She bit her lip and appeared to consider a stay of execution. "Okay, but we still need to talk. Get your ass to my office at four o'clock. Do. Not. Forget."

[bookmark: p235]She stomped away. Rhonda let out a shaky sigh. Nearby, she heard Bud and Melissa whispering excitedly. They weren't the only ones, Rhonda guessed. Everyone on the whole damned floor must have heard Vivian's rant.

[bookmark: p236]The clock on her computer showed twelve fifteen. Three hours lost. But how? What had happened? Vaguely she recalled getting in late. Vivian's emphatic email. The onset of a truly murderous headache. Downing a couple of her extra-strength aspirin . . . 

[bookmark: p237]The aspirin.

[bookmark: p238]With a muttered exclamation, Rhonda dug the bottle from her purse. Just an ordinary bottle of generic aspirin, warehouse-club variety. She unscrewed the lid and sniffed cautiously. Nuttin, as Tony would say. Okay, time for inspection, boys, she thought, pouring the bottle's contents onto her desk. 

[bookmark: p239]The pile of aspirin made an impressive heap on her desk. Rhonda counted fifty capsules in all, the slow time-release kind that she and Tony liked. She flipped a couple over with a pencil, and noted the familiar off-brand logo stamped in the center. 

[bookmark: p240]I'm going nuts.

[bookmark: p241]So maybe HR would be kind to the nice crazy lady.

[bookmark: p242]Fat chance. Not with Vivian barking at them.

[bookmark: p243]Feeling foolish, she inspected a couple more. Same size, same color, same logo . . . 

[bookmark: p244]Not the same logo.

[bookmark: p245]If she squinted, she could make out a stylized A and L, surrounded by a wavy swirl. A row of tinier letters ran beneath the logo, nearly illegible, but Rhonda would bet her next winning Lotto ticket on what they spelled.

[bookmark: p246]Fuggedaboutit.

[bookmark: p247]Cursing her husband, she examined the rest in turn. All but eight were ordinary capsules. Tony had ordered the ten-dose maximum, which meant she had consumed two. But something didn't make sense. Why would Tony spike her aspirin? Wasn't the point to make her forget something at home? And he knew how awful Vivian could be.

[bookmark: p248]Rhonda groaned as the realization hit her. Tony was trying to hide the stupid tablets for later. He probably stuck the bottle on his side of the medicine cabinet. She must have grabbed the bottle in the mixup that morning.

[bookmark: p249]I spiked myself, dammit.

[bookmark: p250]Two cups of hot coffee washed away the last effects of the Fuggedaboutit. For lunch she had a bagel-antacid sandwich, with more antacid for dessert and one carefully selected aspirin—the real kind—then settled down to work.

[bookmark: p251]Over the next few hours, Rhonda tidied up the spreadsheets for the Navy contract proposal and formatted everything just the way Vivian liked it. At four o'clock precisely, Rhonda showed up at Vivian's office, still rehearsing her explanations.

[bookmark: p252]I'm sorry I forgot about our meeting. I bought a different brand of aspirin this time, and I think I had an allergic reaction. Really. And about the package. See, it's a surprise for Tony. He's been feeling a little low, if you know what I mean, and a friend told me about this special pick-me-up.

[bookmark: p253]Tina's desk was deserted. Beyond, Vivian's door stood open, and the overhead lights were on, but Vivian herself was nowhere in sight. Taking a deep breath, Rhonda ventured into the office and perched on the rickety visitor's chair. One hand gripped the bottle of aspirin, the other held a thumb drive with all the documents for the Navy contract proposal. The bottle itself was a good touch, she thought, and the contract bid might even distract Vivian if she played it right.

[bookmark: p254]Five minutes ticked by. Ten. Rhonda grew more and more anxious. A couple moments ago, her explanations seemed so reasonable. Now that she was here, she realized even a summer intern wouldn't believe her.

[bookmark: p255]Another five minutes ticked away, still with no sign of Vivian. Rhonda stood up and paced the cramped office. Stacks of printouts covered both desks and the filing cabinet. Empty styro-foam cups occupied the spaces in between, all of them with fingernail-shaped punctures. Bad sign, Rhonda thought. A very bad sign.

[bookmark: p256]One cup next to Vivian's monitor looked nearly full, but the artificial creamer had clotted into pale lumps, and the oily-looking coffee looked and smelled hours old. Rhonda shuddered. She hated cold coffee. Good thing, or Tony would probably dose her with something horrible tomorrow morning, and then—

[bookmark: p257]Rhonda stopped. Glanced from the coffee cup to the bottle in her hand. Hmmmm . . . 

[bookmark: p258]She glanced around to make sure no one was coming. All quiet, all clear, but Tina might return any moment. Moving quickly, Rhonda set the thumb drive aside and popped open the aspirin bottle. She sorted through the capsules and extracted two Fuggedaboutits. These she dumped into Vivian's cup, then stirred the mess with a pencil. Eeuw. Weird pink and blue smears floated on the surface. No way Vivian could miss that.

[bookmark: p259]"Sorry I'm late."

[bookmark: p260]Vivian stalked into the office. Rhonda jumped back from Vivian's desk and plopped into the visitor's chair, her heart thumping wildly. "No problem. I, um, brought the spreadsheets for the Navy project. That's why you wanted to see me, right?"

[bookmark: p261]"Not exactly." Vivian slugged down the coffee and made a gagging face. "Damned machine coffee. Tastes worse every week, I swear. Okay, where were we?" 

[bookmark: p262]Rhonda watched Vivian root around in her filing cabinet with growing apprehension. Something had gone wrong. Either the coffee had killed the Fuggedaboutit, or she'd grabbed a couple real aspirin by mistake.

[bookmark: p263]"Ahah. Here it is." 

[bookmark: p264]Vivian flung a small square package onto her desk. Her face wore the expression Bud called "Extreme Management." Forehead wrinkled. Lips thinned. Jaw twitching. Rhonda dropped her gaze to the carpet and braced herself for a dressing down.

[bookmark: p265]And waited.

[bookmark: p266]And waited.

[bookmark: p267]The clock ticked over another minute before Rhonda dared to look up. 

[bookmark: p268]Oh. My. God.

[bookmark: p269]Vivian was grinning, slack-jawed, at a point just above Rhonda's head. Hardly daring to believe what she saw, Rhonda leaned forward and waved a hand in front of the woman's face. No change. Not even the flicker of a fake eyelash.

[bookmark: p270]It worked.

[bookmark: p271]Rhonda eased up from the visitor's chair. No reaction. She glanced through the open door. Tina had returned, but her attention was on Johnny-Boy from Receiving. Both of them were in heavy flirt mode, and thoroughly engrossed with each other. It was now or never.

[bookmark: p272]She tucked her package under one arm, casual-like. The aspirin bottle went into her jacket pocket. The thumb drive she left beside Vivian's computer, with a post-it note saying, For your review, as we discussed.—R.

* * *

[bookmark: p273]Friday. Fabulous, splendiferous Friday. Rhonda lay in bed on her back, a puddle of warm happiness. Wow, ran through her brain. Like, y'know, wow.

[bookmark: p274]Right now she could barely recall anything horrible about the week. Oh sure, as late as Thursday evening, she thought Murphy might screw her over one last time. A frantic, over-the-speed-limit dash got her home ahead of Tony, but then she let herself get sidetracked, comparing her products to his, and when Tony showed up, she dropped everything onto the floor. Luckily, she had the third Fuggedaboutit to distract him until she could sort everything out.

[bookmark: p275]Nearly everything. There were a few items she wasn't sure about. Luckily, she had located the SexyFriday and YesDownThere. Both of those had lived up to their names, and then some.

[bookmark: p276]Of course, Tony had managed to dose her as well. She had pretended not to notice him dropping a couple tablets into her white wine. She giggled now, remembering the bubbly sensation from just one swallow. That ReadyNow stuff sure worked fast.

[bookmark: p277]Next to her lay Tony, apparently equally sated, because he was making cute little grunts of satisfaction. It was like years ago, when they first started dating.

[bookmark: p278]"Hey, babe."

[bookmark: p279]"Yeah, Tony?"

[bookmark: p280]"I love you, babe."

[bookmark: p281]Rhonda sighed in delight. Denise was right. That Amazing Living Pharmacy was pretty amazing. And who knows? Maybe next time she'd order a round of FootballFloozy herself.

[bookmark: p282]* * *
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[bookmark: Chap_3]Tribute

Written by Todd McCaffrey
Illustrated by: Lee Kuruganti

[bookmark: p283]Annogi floated in Observation Room Four staring blindly out of the viewport to the blue Earth below. 

[bookmark: p284]Clutched tightly in her hand was a small strip of paper. She had read it twice and still could not believe the words written on it. Words that, at age ten, she should not have been able to read—words stored on the station's computers that should have been kept from her for eight more years.

[bookmark: p285]But Annogi was station-trained, station-bound, clever; and Tanuro was the head of station security. Tanuro had adopted her when she was three, just after her mother had died.

[bookmark: p286]Annogi wondered why Tanuro had adopted her. He never seemed to smile, was never satisfied with her work, was always angry with her failures. Yet his adoption of her had solved a very difficult problem for the space elevator; because Tanuro was the head of security and his job demanded that he be at the top-end station much of his time, he could provide Annogi with the zero-gee quarters that her body had grown accustomed to in the months after her mother's death.

[bookmark: p287]Annogi looked down, past the bottom of the viewport, past her hand with the clenched slip of paper, to one of the many pictures which lined the walls of the Observation Room.

[bookmark: p288]The face which smiled back at her had blue eyes and blond hair, not the dark eyes and jetblack hair that was mirrored back at Annogi in the viewport. The only feature Annogi had in common with her mother was a thin smattering of freckles across her nose.

[bookmark: p289]"Amanda Brown. She died so that others may live, May 5th 2025." Annogi didn't need to read the caption to know what it said. She thought idly of linking in to the station's computer network to call up a video of her mother, then shook her head and pulled the earpiece which doubled as a holographic display out of her left eye and slid it into the top pocket of her shipsuit.

[bookmark: p290]Images of her mother disturbed her. They were different from her memories. And all her happy memories were hidden behind the last frightening minutes of her time with her mother.

[bookmark: p291]Annogi knew that her mother had volunteered to work on the space elevator. In fact, Amanda Brown, former astronaut, had been in retirement when the elevator was first funded. She had become an artist and writer, chronicling the adventures in space of herself and so many others. 

[bookmark: p292]When the chance came to take residence in the space elevator, to draw, photograph, and scribe about the new project and its impact on Earth, Amanda had grabbed at the chance. Annogi knew this because Tanuro had told her.

[bookmark: p293]Amanda had spent almost all her time in the Observation Rooms. She had helped select the pictures that adorned the walls of Observation Rooms One through Three. No one had ever thought that there would be pictures in Observation Room Four.

[bookmark: p294]Observation Room Four was a special room, even now. This was the room chosen above all the others for inaugurations of presidents, premieres, prime ministers, and even kings. From this vantage point the world had no boundaries, save that brilliant blue band between the cold of space and the life-giving atmosphere.

[bookmark: p295]The space elevator was more than just a place from which to understand man's place as caretaker of the Earth. It was a place of new beginnings. 

[bookmark: p296]Here was the doorway to the solar system. Where before the cost of moving into space was impossible, now it was achievable. Where before Mars and Venus were mere points of light, now they were home to growing numbers of scientists, explorers, technologists, and colonists.

[bookmark: p297]Here also was the doorway to Earth's healing. Where before solar satellites were the thing of fiction, now they were commonplace. Factories in space were being constructed that made marvels never seen before, and produced goods that would cost hundreds of times more to make on Earth—all without polluting the fragile homeworld.

[bookmark: p298]Bases on the Moon, Mars, and Venus also provided invaluable insights in to how to husband the Earth itself; for what kept life alive on the airless Moon could be applied to making life less polluting on the bountiful Earth.

[bookmark: p299]So Amanda had sat in the various Observation Rooms, floating cross-legged, her sketch pad and colored pens strapped to her with Velcro or floating in hands' reach nearby while Annogi played with toys and goggled at the glowing Earth below.

[bookmark: p300]Often Tanuro would stop by to talk. Amanda's behavior with him was strange, it seemed to little Annogi almost like a game of hide-and-seek—Amanda would smile and talk animatedly, then Tanuro would say something and Amanda's smile would fade and she would become silent. Annogi taught Tanuro hide-and-seek one day after asking about it, and Tanuro would often play the game with her, so much so that Annogi became adept at finding all the nooks and crannies of the station.

[bookmark: p301]At that time Annogi had wished that Tanuro was her father. Amanda had always refused to talk with Annogi about her father, insisting that he was a good man and that she would tell her when she was older, that it was not the right time. Annogi could never understand that and often cried when her mother would tell her that she could not see her father for dinner.

[bookmark: p302]"Your father does not know about you," Amanda had explained once. "I chose to have you by myself, you are my star child. It was my choice, he never knew."

[bookmark: p303]Annogi learned about sperm donors and artificial insemination years after Amanda's death. It took her two more years to learn about DNA typing and another year to gather the nerve to break the station's security systems, worrying all the while that security manager, not-father Tanuro would discover her.

[bookmark: p304]Tanuro had visited them several times when they were not in the Observation Rooms. In fact, Tanuro had dined with Annogi and Amanda just the night before the accident. When Amanda had put Annogi to sleep that night, she invited Tanuro to participate.

[bookmark: p305]"She looks so Japanese," Tanuro said. "No one would ever think she wasn't my daughter."

[bookmark: p306]Why would they ever worry about that? Annogi had wondered muzzily to herself at the time.

[bookmark: p307]Amanda had laughed and shaken her head. She shushed him, pushed him out of the cramped room with her hand, gave Annogi one last kiss goodnight, turned out the lights and had left.

[bookmark: p308]But Annogi had not fallen asleep straight away. Tanuro's comments had got her wondering about her father again. So she was still awake when their voices rose loudly and the front door was opened and Tanuro left, his voice full of sorrow. Annogi couldn't remember the words they'd said but she wondered if their argument had contributed to the disaster of the next day.

[bookmark: p309]The day certainly hadn't started like a day for disaster. Amanda seemed a bit withdrawn but her smile for Annogi was as bright as ever, perhaps even brighter.

[bookmark: p310]"We're going to draw today, would you like that?" Amanda had asked Annogi over breakfast. Annogi liked that.

[bookmark: p311]They set up in Observation Room Four. Just before lunchtime, a group of strangers came in and crowded around the viewports. 

[bookmark: p312]Annogi frowned at them because Amanda frowned at them. Amanda saw Annogi's frown and smiled at her.

[bookmark: p313]"Maybe this is a good time for lunch," Amanda said, starting to gather in her floating pencils.

[bookmark: p314]In that instant, Annogi's world changed.

[bookmark: p315]It would take nearly a year to finally discover what had caused it, but the large bolt which slammed into the Observation Room did not hit one of the walls. If it had, maybe the worst that would have happened would have been a loud bang which would have startled everyone. Instead, the bolt hit one of the viewports with such force that it shattered both the outer and inner panes. Its size and speed were so great that it continued through into the room and started bouncing like a deadly missile off the walls—and through the suddenly terrified people.

[bookmark: p316]Amanda, with years of astronaut training, was not terrified. It was her actions which saved everyone else in the room. She forced them through the hatch, forced Annogi into the arms of one of the wailing women, and closed the emergency hatch. She would have gone through it herself, except that as it slowly closed, the flying bolt ricocheted into her head.

[bookmark: p317]Annogi screamed and yelled for her mother and struggled to get back to the hatch, to open it, for she was a smart girl and even at three knew how, only to find herself restrained, held tightly—in the arms of Tanuro.

[bookmark: p318]In that moment Annogi hated Tanuro. She hated him more when he seized her struggling body and squeezed it tightly against his, keeping her head on his chest. Annogi remembered wondering for a moment if Tanuro had been hit by the flying bolt too, for as she screamed and yelled into his face she could see all color and life draining out of it, as if Tanuro were turning to stone before her eyes.

[bookmark: p319]Annogi broke out of Tanuro's tight grip when another group of station personnel arrived, and fled. She knew the station so well that it took even Tanuro six months to track her down. By then her body had grown too accustomed to microgravity, she could not return to Earth. So Tanuro had adopted her.

[bookmark: p320]It was years before she realized that Tanuro had been watching her mother die, still tormented by the flying bolt, and that Tanuro had held her, Annogi, instead of donning a spacesuit to rescue Amanda from the now airless Observation Room.

[bookmark: p321]It was still more years before Annogi realized that even as Tanuro had cradled her against him, Amanda had been too long without oxygen and had become just as dead as the bolt that had killed her.

[bookmark: p322]But by then Annogi was too accustomed to hating Tanuro to say anything to him.

[bookmark: p323]So Annogi decided to track down her real father. She would ask him to raise her, forgetting that years in microgravity had banished her from Earth forever. It didn't matter to Annogi, she would be rid of Tanuro.

[bookmark: p324]And now she had her slip of paper, now she knew.

[bookmark: p325]A noise from behind her startled her and Annogi turned to see someone enter the Observation Room. It was a teenager and something about the way he moved caused Annogi to turn her body, reach into her pocket and put her earpiece into her far ear. She brushed her hair over the earpiece, hiding it.

[bookmark: p326]The boy was blond-haired and blue-eyed. Something about him seemed familiar but he moved like an earthling, not a spacer. 

[bookmark: p327]He was older than her, Annogi realized. Not really a boy at all, in fact, in his mid- to late- teens. He was not yet shaving or had very soft facial hair, he still had the look of a youngster about him; that was why Annogi had first thought of him as a boy.

[bookmark: p328]They spoke at the same time.

[bookmark: p329]"What are you doing here?" the boy demanded.

[bookmark: p330]"Are you lost?"

[bookmark: p331]Annogi waited for the boy to respond. She'd seen enough television to expect that they would both burst out in laughter but she had no real friends her own age.

[bookmark: p332]"You should leave," the boy told her. His voice was full of tension and anger. Annogi realized that he kept his back to her and that he was holding something with one hand behind his back. His nerves left him shaking and Annogi caught a glimpse of a handle dangling behind him.

[bookmark: p333]An axe? Annogi wondered. But where could anyone get an axe on the station? And just as soon as she asked the question, Annogi had an answer—at any of the fire posts in the station. There was one just outside the elevator that came up from earthside. 

[bookmark: p334]Those fire posts were all alarmed. Annogi knew because her 'father' was the head of security. But Annogi also knew how to deactivate those alarms. Clearly the teen must have done the same, or the fire alarm would be blaring all over the station.

[bookmark: p335]Aside from fire or catastrophe, there was only one use for an axe—destruction.

[bookmark: p336]A rush of terror set Annogi's heart racing. I cannot fear, she told herself. She took a deep breath and let it out slowly, letting her fear go with it as Tanuro had taught her.

[bookmark: p337]She saw that she could escape through the airlock, that the teen had actually left room for her to do so.

[bookmark: p338]No. I choose differently.

[bookmark: p339]"Hi," she said looking up at the teen who towered above her. "I'm Annogi, who are you?"

[bookmark: p340]As she spoke, she walked toward the boy, not so close as to spook him but close enough that it would be hard for him to strike her with the axe.

[bookmark: p341]As she looked up at him and saw him glance nervously down at her, then out the porthole, Annogi knew that wasn't his intention.

* * *

[bookmark: p342]Tanuro Nakashima stared at his computer screen in anger and amazement. How had she done it?

[bookmark: p343]When he'd checked the computer logs in the morning, Tanuro had noticed the record of abnormal activity. His suspicions aroused, he spent the rest of the morning tracking the activity down—and discovered that Annogi had hacked the station's security system. She had broken into the system's time-locked database and had read several files—files that Tanuro could not access himself—and had then meticulously covered her tracks.

[bookmark: p344]In fact, as Tanuro discovered, Annogi's intrusion would have been completely undetected except that someone else accessed the same part of the database at nearly the same time—someone who was permitted under the time-lock protocols. 

[bookmark: p345]This person had used the protocols as a springboard for a hack into the security system's innards. As Tanuro followed the hacker's assault he became more and more worried. The hacker had accessed engineering data on the station. The hacker was looking for physical weaknesses in the station. He was looking for the one place where he could destroy the station—and the space elevator.

[bookmark: p346]"Security Alert Level Two," Tanuro had called calmly on the security network. He was calm because he was trained that way, he was calm because he willed it, he was calm because panic would accomplish nothing.

[bookmark: p347]Level Two meant that an assault on the station was possible. Throughout the station, airtight doors were sealed, inspections increased, non-essential personnel assigned to the next free elevator—either up or down.

[bookmark: p348]Tanuro returned to his pursuit of the second hacker. In fifteen minutes he had located the source of the assault. In twenty minutes he had a name—Chris Halleck.

[bookmark: p349]Chris Halleck was an intelligent teenager, just turned eighteen. Eighteen, the number caught Tanuro's attention. Chris' eighteenth birthday was yesterday. The boy was now a man, was able to vote, to stand on his own and—what else?

[bookmark: p350]Tanuro frowned in thought. Why would someone use his eighteenth birthday to hack into a liftport station's security system? Why not hack at a younger age, when the penalties for such intrusions were so much lower? What Halleck had done was a felony, he could lose all the privileges he'd just earned.

[bookmark: p351]Eighteen, Tanuro mused. Legal age.

[bookmark: p352]Of course!

[bookmark: p353]Tanuro's fingers flew over the keyboard as request after request streamed into the security system. Each answer brought another query until finally Tanuro understood.

[bookmark: p354]And when he did, calmly, for there was no room for panic, Tanuro hit the emergency button.

[bookmark: p355]Chris Halleck was a test-tube baby. His mother's ovaries were infertile, so his father's sperm was combined with that of a donor's egg to produce a healthy baby boy. Healthy in body but not in mind. Tanuro's quick scan of the boy's records portrayed a loving childhood which was shattered by his birth-parents' divorce when he was fourteen. At fourteen—no coincidence—he tried to commit suicide. His school records displayed the decline in grades Tanuro associated with an increasingly bitter and depressed youth. At age eighteen, Chris was allowed to know the identity of the egg donor.

[bookmark: p356]The egg donor was the famous hero and astronaut, Amanda Brown.

[bookmark: p357]Tanuro tapped into the UN population database and waited while it determined the location of Christopher Halleck, aged eighteen.

[bookmark: p358]"It's alright, there's nothing to worry about," Annogi's voice piped up over the security channel. Tanuro frowned, wondering why his adopted daughter would so wantonly flaunt station protocols—he had taught her better.

[bookmark: p359]Tanuro's eyes widened in sudden apprehension—he had taught her better.

[bookmark: p360]"Security Alert Level One," Tanuro announced softly, raising the safety guard on a button that he never expected to use and pressing down upon the button. 

[bookmark: p361]"The station is under attack," he added. Tanuro swallowed hard and took a deep steadying breath. Annogi was his daughter; he knew her, he heard the message in her words and knew that she had told him that there was nothing to worry about. He would trust her.

[bookmark: p362]"An agent is in place and will affect apprehension."

[bookmark: p363]An agent. His daughter.

[bookmark: p364]Tanuro took another deep steadying breath, forcing his heart to calm down, telling himself that his panic would do nothing for his daughter—for Amanda Brown's daughter—yet all the while memories of Amanda's death, toddler Annogi's screams and Tanuro's breaking heart pounded inside his skull.

* * *

[bookmark: p365]Chris Halleck jumped when the flashing alert light strobed and the alert sounded.

[bookmark: p366]"It's alright, there's nothing to worry about," Annogi said both to him and to her open station microphone.

[bookmark: p367]"What is it?" he demanded, his voice harsh, breath jagged.

[bookmark: p368]"Security test," Annogi replied calmly. She glanced over at the hatch and saw that it was closing. She looked back at the teen, hiding her relief in another question, "Do you have the time?"

[bookmark: p369]When the blond boy looked at her incredulously, Annogi continued, "They do random tests but I've been trying to find a pattern."

[bookmark: p370]"A pattern?" the boy repeated dully.

[bookmark: p371]"Sure," Annogi replied with a shrug. "I'd like to avoid getting caught out when there's a test going on." She gave the boy a conspiratorial look and leaned closer, whispering innocently, "Sometimes I like to sneak away from my father. With these security tests, he notices when I'm missing.

[bookmark: p372]"I don't like to get in trouble, do you?" she finished, looking right up into his eyes.

[bookmark: p373]Reluctantly Chris shook his head.

[bookmark: p374]Annogi smiled at him. Her smile was genuine, she was well within his reach, well within the arc of any axe swing. The teen would now have to step back if he wanted to strike at her, a motion which would give Annogi plenty of advance warning. In fact, anything the teen might want to do with the axe would require him first to move away from her.

[bookmark: p375]"Is this your first time on the station?" Annogi asked, glancing toward the flashing lights.

[bookmark: p376]Chris nodded.

[bookmark: p377]"I figured," Annogi said. "They run the tests so often that even regular tourists notice pretty quick."

[bookmark: p378]"They do?"

[bookmark: p379]"Sure," Annogi said, gesturing to the ports on the outer edge of the Observation Room. "Space is right there and you never know when there might be another accident—"

[bookmark: p380]"This is where Amanda Brown died, isn't it?" Chris asked suddenly, staring around at the pictures lining the walls.

[bookmark: p381]The question startled Annogi. She nodded reflexively. Chris' jaw tightened at her response and he moved the axe from behind his back.

[bookmark: p382]"What are you doing with that?" Annogi asked, feigning surprise. Her eyes narrowed. "Did you steal that?"

[bookmark: p383]"Yes," Chris told her.

[bookmark: p384]"You set off the alarm?" Annogi asked, eyes wide. She knew better, knew he must have disabled the alarm. That told her that he had spent a lot of time planning. But she asked the question because she needed him to continue to underestimate her. She could tell that he saw her as harmless, a little girl.

[bookmark: p385]And she was. Both harmless and a little girl. Trapped in Observation Room Four with a deranged teenager.

[bookmark: p386]"Turn your weaknesses into strengths," Tanuro had told her long ago. Annogi had never understood that—until now.

[bookmark: p387]"No," Chris said, "I didn't. I got past the alarm system."

[bookmark: p388]"What are you going to do with the axe?"

[bookmark: p389]"You should leave," he told her, gesturing toward the door with the axe. "If you close the door, it'll act as an airlock."

[bookmark: p390]"An airlock?" Annogi repeated. She looked at the axe, asking in the role of a little girl, "Are you going to use that here?"

[bookmark: p391]"My mother died here," Chris told her in a flat tone. He gestured again to the door. "They watched her die from the far side of that airlock.

[bookmark: p392]"Now I'm going to die here, too," he finished solemnly.

[bookmark: p393]"Amanda Brown?" Annogi asked, her act forgotten in her shock.

[bookmark: p394]"They say her picture is here somewhere," Chris said, glancing around at the pictures placed below the viewing portals. "She died because—"

[bookmark: p395]"Because there was a stray bolt which breached the viewport," Annogi finished for him, her voice as flat as his. Startled, Chris glanced down at her. The memories came back, the images of Tanuro as his face turned to stone replayed in her mind, only now, at ten, Annogi could see that Tanuro's stone-faced look was because his heart was breaking. He had loved her, Amanda Brown. And he had watched her die. Annogi blinked rapidly to clear the tears of compassion which threatened to flood her. How was Tanuro feeling now, with Amanda Brown's daughter in the same situation? 

[bookmark: p396]The slip of paper in Annogi's back pocket was suddenly immensely more important than it had been minutes before.

[bookmark: p397]"I was going to visit her the week after," Chris continued, ignoring Annogi. His face took on the image of a happy eight year-old. "I was all ready to see my real mom."

[bookmark: p398]"I was three," Annogi said. "I was in the Observation Room."

[bookmark: p399]"You were?" Chris asked, suddenly aware of Annogi once more. "She saved you?"

[bookmark: p400]"Yes," Annogi said with a sob she couldn't control. She caught his eyes with hers, her tears suddenly welling up. "Our mother died to save me."

[bookmark: p401]"Our mother?" Chris repeated. His blue eyes were troubled as her words registered.

[bookmark: p402]Annogi withdrew the slip of paper from her back pocket. She kept her thumb over part of it, on purpose, but extended it to Chris, her other hand reaching for the axe.

[bookmark: p403]"Our mother," she said again, her voice firm once more as she grabbed the axe, "would not want this room, of all rooms, harmed. She gave her life for it."

[bookmark: p404]Chris didn't even notice himself relinquishing the axe as he read the printout.

[bookmark: p405]"And she wouldn't want you hurting yourself, either," Annogi added, sending the axe spinning slowly away from them. She turned back to face Chris. "And I don't want you hurting yourself, either, brother."

[bookmark: p406]"Brother?" Chris echoed softly.

[bookmark: p407]Annogi nodded and moved away from the viewport, gesturing at the picture below.

[bookmark: p408]"I often come here," Annogi told him a little shyly. Chris looked down at the picture and crouched down beside Annogi, suddenly smaller than she was. She looked down at him and gently touched his shoulder. "I was mad all these years, angry that she was gone, that I had nothing left to remember her by—"

[bookmark: p409]"You too?"

[bookmark: p410]Annogi nodded. "But I'm not angry any more."

[bookmark: p411]"No?"

[bookmark: p412]"No," Annogi replied firmly. She gestured to the viewport and the stars beyond it. "She left me everything to remember her by. She left us this spaceport, the elevator, and she left what she loved most of all—the stars."

[bookmark: p413]Still crouched, Chris looked out the viewport over Annogi's shoulder. He could see the brilliant blue Earth below and above he could see the faint twinkling of uncountable stars.

[bookmark: p414]"We can't take that away from her, Chris," Annogi said. "Clear?"

[bookmark: p415]"Clear," Chris agreed, looking up at his little sister.

* * *

[bookmark: p416]Tanuro opened the airlock. With a glance behind to indicate that the follow-on security officer should retrieve the axe, he kicked off to the two children huddled by the viewport.

[bookmark: p417]No, not children, Tanuro corrected himself. Either of them.

[bookmark: p418]The import of the past twenty minutes weighed down upon him. His ten year-old daughter had disarmed a full-grown man with only her words.

[bookmark: p419]Annogi saw him and turned to follow his glide toward them. She touched Chris gently on the shoulder and pointed at Tanuro.

[bookmark: p420]"This is the man who raised me after our mother died," Annogi said as Tanuro reached them. Tanuro nodded in recognition, his heart frozen by her words. Annogi saw his reaction but continued to Chris, "He is the head of station security. He is a just man. You broke a number of station rules by what you did, you'll have to accept the consequences."

[bookmark: p421]Chris nodded in acceptance, his face grim.

[bookmark: p422]"But I'll ask him to understand that you are my brother," Annogi said. "And I'll come visit you if I can."

[bookmark: p423]"If you can?" Chris repeated.

[bookmark: p424]"My body adapted to zero-gee," Annogi explained. "I can't go earthside."

[bookmark: p425]"Will you call me?"

[bookmark: p426]"Of course," Annogi replied with a grin. "We have a lot of catching up to do." She turned to the viewport for a moment. "And there are all those stars."

[bookmark: p427]Chris nodded, his eyes bright with the light of the stars. To Tanuro he said, "I'm ready."

[bookmark: p428]Tanuro nodded brusquely and gestured to two security men who led Chris away.

[bookmark: p429]When they were alone, Tanuro turned to Annogi. "I am very proud of you."

[bookmark: p430]"I hacked into the security system," Annogi confessed, pulling the slip of paper once more from her pocket. "I wanted to know who my real father was."

[bookmark: p431][image: v3n203.jpg]

[bookmark: p432]"So you can live with him?" Tanuro asked, his voice devoid of emotion. Once again the images of Amanda Brown's death floated in his eyes.

[bookmark: p433]"Yes," Annogi said. "Always and forever."

[bookmark: p434]"Very well, it shall be as you wish."

[bookmark: p435]"This is his name," Annogi said, handing him the slip of paper. "He is my real father."

[bookmark: p436]"He is a lucky man," Tanuro admitted, taking the paper from her.

[bookmark: p437]"No, I am," Annogi said, flinging herself into Tanuro's arms and hugging him fiercely.

[bookmark: p438]Tanuro was shocked and dismayed but he instinctively hugged Annogi back, even while trying to read the name on the paper. And when he did, he gave a heartfelt sob and clutched her all the more tightly, tears flowing for the first time in seven years as the rock that was his heart finally melted once more.

[bookmark: p439]The name on the paper was: Tanuro Nakashima.
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[bookmark: Chap_4]The Lordly Loofah

Written by Bud Webster
Illustrated by: Chantelle Thorne

[bookmark: p440]I wonder how many of us, as we lie luxuriating in our bathtubs, think about the romance and mystery of the loofah? I know I certainly never had until the mail brought me a brochure from the Loofah Institute of America (Box 3819, Piltdown, IL 97584). Along with it came a letter from Bob Cranepool, LIA vice president in charge of Promotions, inviting me to visit the huge loofah quarry in Piltdown.

[bookmark: p441]Knowing very little about the production of these fascinating objects, I took advantage of his hospitality and flew into O'Hare. After hopping the Piltdown shuttle bus ("Visit Piltdown and See What Makes America Great!"), I checked into Doris and Milo Blavatsky's Bear-in-the-Woods Bed-and-Breakfast. A press pass and hard hat were waiting at the desk, and after dropping off my luggage, I rented a Yugo and headed for the outskirts of town.

[bookmark: p442]After only a few minor difficulties (I'm delighted to see that towing charges are coming down), I finally arrived at the front gates of the Stanko Loofah Works and was met by Bob Cranepool and the president of the company, Greg Stanko. There, in a short but moving ceremony, I was presented with a key to the middle-management washroom, a tee shirt with the legend "My Parents Visited Piltdown and All I Got Was a Lousy Chunk of Fibrous Matter," and a replica of Mount Rushmore molded from loofite.

[bookmark: p443]"You know, Bud," Bob said, as we trundled up to the loading docks in an electric golf cart, "there's a lot of misinformation floating around about loofahs, and we're certainly glad to have an opportunity to set the record straight."

[bookmark: p444]"Darn right, Bob," said Greg. "As someone who's spent his entire life in the loofah business, I just don't understand how some of these stories get started." He shook his head ruefully. "Why, I was reading in the New York Times just the other day some report about McDonald's using loofahs as filler in their hamburgers, and I'll tell you I was on the phone to their editor toot sweet."

[bookmark: p445]"They'd probably be the better for it, Greg," Bob said, laughing. "But seriously, that's the sort of thing that we see twice a year at least. Sometimes three."

[bookmark: p446]"They printed a retraction," Greg added with a shrug, "but it was in the cooking section below a recipe for Hunan eggplant, and nobody saw it."

[bookmark: p447]Of course, I'd heard the "urban legends" about loofahs: spiders laying eggs in loofahs and bathers being bitten, the loofah exploding in the microwave, the loofah picked up by the side of the road late at night and later disappearing. The list is almost endless, and they're all, according to Bob and Greg, untrue. 

[bookmark: p448]"There's just no way," Bob told me, "that drying a loofah in a microwave can cause it to explode, and nobody with a firm understanding of how loofahs are processed would give such a story any credence."

[bookmark: p449]"Which brings us to the first step in loofah production," Greg interrupted good-naturedly, as we turned a corner. "'Sounding' for loofite."

[bookmark: p450]In front of me was a huge platform surrounded by workers. As I watched, a cage was lowered onto the platform by a derrick. "That's the most important part of this industry, Bud," Greg said proudly. "That cage is full of little Mexican hairless dogs. We spray 'em down with used motor oil and then let 'em loose in an area we're testing for loofite. If they come back all pink and clean and happy, we know we've struck it."

[bookmark: p451][image: v3n204.jpg]

[bookmark: p452]"They sure are making a lot of noise, though," I remarked.

[bookmark: p453]Bob clapped me on the shoulder. "That's why we call it 'sounding,' Bud!" He laughed.

[bookmark: p454]Greg took us through the whole process of exploration, from the original geosurveys ("We look for taconite. They're frequently found together," Greg revealed), to the core samples brought up from hundreds of feet beneath the surface, to the actual quarrying and refining of the loofite.

[bookmark: p455](A word about this: contrary to popular belief, loofite is not mined, but quarried from open pits. In the past, these unsightly pits would take years to recover, but with the continued greening of American industry, most loofah processors have adopted various kinds of recovery programs; for instance, the Stanko Loofah Works plants mullet groves and nematode beds in played-out loofah pits, which not only make Piltdown a nicer place to live, but are a healthy tax write-off as well.)

[bookmark: p456]From the first, the struggle between the quarrymen and the loofite has resembled that between miners and coal; there's danger in the pits, and if too much dynamite is used to bring down a wall of loofite, quarrymen can be buried under dozens of pounds of loofite for hours. How often have we seen shocking news footage of loofite workers (or "loofers," as they're called in the industry) pulled from the rubble of a cave-in, skins pink from their ordeal and suffering from intense boredom? 

[bookmark: p457]Thanks to modern technology, this tragic scene is repeated less and less. Today, loofers wear special OSHA-approved work suits and hard hats, which not only prevent the annoyance of being scrubbed raw each day (they refer to this as "the pinks"), but include powerful radio receivers so that, if the worst does happen, they have a choice of five radio stations to keep them company while awaiting rescue.

[bookmark: p458]The last step of the process is refining the long cylinders of loofite into what we know as loofahs. Here, in a clean room equaling NASA's, the rough ore is subjected to high temperatures and pressures in a huge, rotating stainless-steel tank called a render. The loofite is spun to dislodge any loose fibers and insects, then soaked in a combination of brine, boron bisulfate, and sodium salicilate to purify the resulting spongy mass. This "soup," as the workers call it, is slightly radioactive but well within government regulations. The actual proportions are a closely guarded secret, Greg Stanko says: "This formula was developed over decades of experimentation by my grandfather, Jedediah R. Stanko. A lot of loofah manufacturers have tried to copy it, and a few have tried to steal it, but there are only three people who know everything that goes into it, and they all work different shifts."

[bookmark: p459]Finally, the finished loofahs are dried, cut to length, and glued to sticks, blocks of wood, or what have you before being packaged in brightly colored boxes for shipment to department stores and shopping malls all over the world.

[bookmark: p460]After the tour, I was treated to an elegant brunch of squash, turbot, and sponge cake—courtesy of the Stanko Loofah Works kitchens—and asked to sign their guestbook (I noticed that the earlier pages held the names of such luminaries as Lord Gordon-Gordon, van Meergeren, and P. T. Barnum). After returning the key to the middle-management washroom, I shook hands all around and climbed back in my Yugo.

[bookmark: p461]And so, the mysteries of the loofah stand revealed, and we say a grateful "thank you" to Bob and Greg for their time and hospitality. Then, back to Doris and Milo's for an evening of local baseball on the color television in the lobby (Piltdown Men, 37, Cardiff Giants, 35), and a long, luxurious bath—complete with loofah—before returning home.
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[bookmark: Chap_5]The Super

Written by Bud Sparhawk
Illustrated by: Jennifer Miller

[bookmark: p462]Sailors call everything below fifty degrees, south latitude, the Southern Ocean, even though technically, that name only applies to the water around Antarctica. Ocean temperatures there vary from about ten degrees Celsius to minus two and, when winter comes to the southern hemisphere, the water freezes as far north as sixty degrees. 

[bookmark: p463]Year round, eastward cyclonic storms containing the strongest average winds found anywhere on Earth rage across the water, forcing waves as high as fifteen meters or more. It is the most dangerous body of water on the planet.

[bookmark: p464]When summer comes to the southern hemisphere the irresistible lure of the Southern Ocean as the shortest way across all Earth's longitudes draws sailors into her depths. But it's not just the shortest path around the world; it's also the route Louella and Pascal were taking to get to Jupiter.

* * *

[bookmark: p465]Louella was so cold that she could barely feel her fingers wrapped around the thin safety line. She concentrated on maintaining her hold. With a moment's loss of attention, a second's relaxation of her grip, or any slip of her boot, and she could slide into frigid waters that would drain the heat—and the life—from her in a matter of minutes.

[bookmark: p466]The ice-slick bottom of her boat, Mistrial, rolled slowly as another wave passed. She pressed her foot hard against the keel that stuck up beside her like the fin of a monstrous shark. Her position was precarious. Every shift of her weight on the overturned boat was dangerous.

[bookmark: p467]It had been so long since she last had a drink. Her mouth felt as if it were stuffed with dry cotton. As the boat crested the next wave she saw a range of mountains on the horizon and wondered if the mountains' melting snows produced crystal clear streams of the purest water. Her cracked lips parted at the thought.

[bookmark: p468]Had it only been a day and a half since her boat had been flipped by the storm? How many hours had it been since she'd last slept? 

[bookmark: p469]The mountains had to be imaginary, just like the fleet of phantom liners that had steamed past hours before with their ball-gowned and tuxedoed passengers lining the rails and laughing at her.

[bookmark: p470]The phantoms didn't disturb her. Hallucinations were an expected part of these extended, single-hand races. The mountains and liners were probably more vivid because of her sleep deprivation, her burning thirst, and the piercing, biting, eroding cold that burrowed through her survival suit and crept into her bones. 

[bookmark: p471]There was a splash and an Orca surfaced, water streaming down its glistening black body as it nosed onto the edge of the hull. 

[bookmark: p472][image: v3n205.jpg]

[bookmark: p473]"I say, old girl," the Orca said politely in British English. "Do you need a spot of help?"

* * *

[bookmark: p474]George Franchard's radio call woke Pascal from his four-hour nap, hours before it was expected. George's boat was over a hundred kilometers west and quite a bit north of Pascal's current position.

[bookmark: p475]"Louella's in trouble," George said without preamble. "We think she's twelve hundred kilometers southeast of your location. Her emergency beacon's been beeping for a couple of hours."

[bookmark: p476]Pascal swore as he studied the readings George sent him. The course he had plotted for his own boat, Mon Ami, was to have taken him around Antarctica on a more northerly route, not deep below latitude forty-nine so early in the circuit. What the devil was that damned Louella doing, going below fifty-five where the EPIRB was insisting it was located?

[bookmark: p477]"Is there no one closer?" he asked hopefully.

[bookmark: p478]"I'm too far north and east to be able to help her," George explained. "And we haven't been able to contact Randy Holiday." 

[bookmark: p479]"Yeah, I haven't heard from Randy for a couple of days either," Pascal replied. Randy's silence wasn't unusual, since the race boats frequently dropped out of VHF range and more often were below the line of sight for a satellite link. 

[bookmark: p480]"I'm turning toward her location, but Mon Ami is closer," George continued. "I'll shadow, but you'll reach her long before I will."

[bookmark: p481]"What about air rescue or the navy?"

[bookmark: p482]"Look at the weather map. There's a storm swinging south of Perth, Adelaide hasn't got an operational plane, and Mistrail's too damn far from Christchurch."

[bookmark: p483]Pascal knew that George was right. None of the land-based rescue crews could reach Louella until the storm passed, and that might take more time than she had if anything serious had happened to her boat. Although George hadn't said so, the chances of there being a navy vessel nearby ranged from slight to none. 

[bookmark: p484]"Merde!" As much as he disliked diverting his course and sacrificing race time, it wasn't a matter of choice. Nor did it matter that Louella was his potential sailing partner for the Jupiter race. He knew that the nearest boat was always obligated to help any sailor who was in trouble, just as he'd want someone to rush to his aid should he find himself in danger. This was a rule all sailors had abided by since the dawn of time.

[bookmark: p485]Pascal leaned over the navigation table and plotted the fastest route to Louella's last known location. With a little luck and being able to maintain a steady eighteen knots, he should be able to reach her in three days. But after that much exposure to the freezing weather the chances that she'd still be alive were not even slim. 

[bookmark: p486]Worse, he wouldn't even find a body if an Orca got to it first, damn her risk-taking hide. He was as concerned about her safety as he was mad at her making him lose time.

[bookmark: p487]A glance at the latest weather map told him that there was, as George had said, a typhoon swinging south of Australia that would block any rescue from there. Unless it changed course the typhoon would track north of the route he could take. Weather to the southwest looked clear, although one could never be certain in the Southern Ocean where storms could blow up in an instant.

[bookmark: p488]Mon Ami was flying under full sail with three hundred square meters of main sail, ninety on the staysail, another hundred on the jib that he'd tied down on the foredeck, and two hundred in the balloon spinnaker that caught the breeze coming across the boat's stern.

[bookmark: p489]He would have loved to see Ami sailing like this from afar, with all the sails. It had to be a beautiful sight. Instead he had to stand in the cockpit, staring along Ami's twenty-three-meter length or checking the wind indicator atop her forty-meter mast.

[bookmark: p490]Mon Ami was a standard Open 70 design, nothing more than a fiberglass splinter, five meters wide and carrying far more sail than any reasonable sailor would think was even halfway rational. Had it not been for her advanced automation, the computer driven mast and keels, and the ballast tanks, no single sailor could have managed a boat this powerful. Ami was designed for ocean racing alone, and contained none of the amenities a cruising sailor would want. A toilet, for instance.

[bookmark: p491]After doffing the spinnaker and raising the jib to better catch a quartering wind, Pascal turned abruptly south and toward the dangerous lower fifties. He swore at Jerome Blacker, at JBI, at the idiocy that put him and Louella at risk in this around the world race. With this delay he'd never prove his worth, his ability to be the first across the line. If he didn't, then Blacker had every reason in the world to back out of sending him to Jupiter.

[bookmark: p492]Why had he ever suggested it?

* * *

[bookmark: p493]A day later he recalled with some envy how pleasant those five indolent days crossing the equator had been, quite unlike the storm that now lashed his boat. 

[bookmark: p494]The rain gear he wore over his warm clothing made moving about the deck awkward. He hated the sound the gear made and its chemical scent of solvents and plastic. The inside of the suit felt like a sauna. He'd love to open the front, but to crack the Velcro seals was to invite the rain, wind, and biting cold inside—a whole other order of numbing discomfort.

[bookmark: p495]What was worst about the rain gear was taking a piss, where he had to drop the front of the outer pants to get to his fly. Thankfully, once that was done he could just let go into the wind and not have to climb below to use the bucket like la noire probably had to do. Such was the advantage of men on boats. Well, for the two women in the race, Ann and Louella, it was either use the bucket or wet themselves. He'd wet himself more than once, when boat handling was paramount and dropping pants not an option. Personal cleanliness was not a grave concern when the safety of your boat was at stake.

[bookmark: p496]To reach Louella at the fastest speed possible, he was sailing with Mon Ami's main, flying jib, and staysail. All that sail meant he had to fight to keep her from heeling too much as she crabbed up and down the high waves. The wind temperature was barely four degrees above freezing. Not as cold as it was going to get, but cold enough to make standing at the wheel a miserable experience. 

[bookmark: p497]The steady rise and fall of Ami made footing treacherous. If not for his deck boots he'd probably have to lash himself to the wheel, like the wooden-ship sailors. Because of the waves and weather he wore le pieuvre diabolique, the octopus from hell, a safety harness whose straps and buckles, snaps and rings, made donning it overtop the cold weather gear an exercise in combative frustration. He hated the thing as much as he appreciated the need for it.

[bookmark: p498]A single carbon-fiber cable snaked from the harness to a D-ring in the center of the cockpit. That was all that would keep him from being swept overboard by a rogue wave or misstep. That increased safety was purchased at a disadvantage. Moving about the boat meant tethering the line to the various D-rings, much as a mountain climber would secure belay points as he progressed up a sheer cliff.

[bookmark: p499]That thought made Pascal shiver. He could never understand why anyone in their right mind would chance their lives by climbing a mountain. Hanging on a thin line off the face of a cliff even a few hundred feet up was suicidal, idiotic. A thousand feet was beyond the pale.

[bookmark: p500]Better the safer ocean and seas. Even with all its dangers, from bad weather to huge waves, one still remained reasonably and sanely close to the planet.

[bookmark: p501]Which was another point he hadn't thought deeply about when he bravely suggested the Jupiter race. Humanity belonged on the land and sea, not in the sky.

[bookmark: p502]Just as Ami crested a wave Pascal heard a distinct ping, the sound a highly tensioned cable makes when struck—or when it breaks. At the same moment the boat lurched sideways as it lost wind.

[bookmark: p503]An instant later something on the windward side began beating against the mast. He turned the wheel over to the autopilot and, after making sure that Ami was holding true to course, struggled forward. It had to be one of the cables that braced the mast.

[bookmark: p504]He hadn't gone very far forward when he saw the problem. The middle shroud, the one attached to the mast about twenty meters above the deck, was slack enough to flail the mast. Both the top and bottom seemed connected, so it must have stretched——but that was not possible!

[bookmark: p505]Blinking against the stinging spray, he looked up and saw that halfway along the shroud's length there were only a few stands of wire holding it together.

[bookmark: p506]The remaining two shrouds might be able handle the wind loading if those few wires separated, but he could not be certain. And, if the compensating shroud servos kept taking up the slack, there would be hell to pay. He didn't relish the thought of a broken steel line whipping about the deck when the cable broke. Given enough force it could wrap itself around arms, or worse, cut him in two. 

[bookmark: p507]There was no choice. He had to kill the power to that servos and then replace the cable at once. Fortunately he had another cable in the hold, along with the extra sails and other spare gear he thought he might need in this non-stop race.

[bookmark: p508]Before he could do anything he had to come off the wind and relieve the pressure. That would cost him valuable time, but it couldn't be avoided. 

[bookmark: p509]He turned Mon Ami upwind and let the boat run close-hauled. The pitching of the deck increased now that the waves were having more influence on the motion of the boat, but that couldn't be avoided either. Mon Ami would continue up wind at a few knots and on a stable setting with the wind backfilling the jib and the main loose. 

[bookmark: p510]With the pressure relieved, the shroud hung slack, swinging only in reaction the boat's movements. He quickly crawled below decks, found the breaker, and killed the power to the servos. 

[bookmark: p511]He considered the situation. Replacing the shroud meant he would have to climb twenty meters above the deck. It was insanity to climb so high in such heavy seas. Too damn much like climbing a mountain.

[bookmark: p512]The fear of falling sank into the pit of his stomach. It was an icicle of fear that nearly froze him to inaction.

* * *

[bookmark: p513]"You must do it," George insisted over the radio. Pascal had put the task off by asking him for a second opinion. It wasn't cowardice he told himself. It was the prudent thing to do.

[bookmark: p514]"It should not have broken," he snapped angrily. "Those shrouds were less than a year old." Of course, he should have had them tested, but somehow there hadn't been enough time before the race. 

[bookmark: p515]"I agree," George replied, "But you can't chance sailing with damaged equipment. You've got to replace it."

[bookmark: p516]He knew George was right. The weather and waves he would face farther south would be too demanding for less than ideal equipment. "Perhaps I should drop sail until the storm passes," he said, hating the words that left his mouth. "I would lose a few hours at most."

[bookmark: p517]"Hours that Louella might need," George replied too quickly. "Fix the damned shroud, Pascal. You've got to get to her as fast as you can." 

[bookmark: p518]George was right. He had no choice but to face that terrible height and try to conquer a fear it made him sick to even acknowledge. 

* * *

[bookmark: p519]Pascal pulled a cable from the spares locker and returned to the wind and spray. At the mast he unsnapped the safety line from his harness and hooked the spinnaker lift line to it. He threaded the belay line carefully through the loops, saying a prayer with each, as if each was a bead on a rosary. 

[bookmark: p520]He put one foot on the boom and pulled himself up. The boat's rolling and pitching motion was already more pronounced just two meters above the base of the mast. The higher he went, the more swing he'd have to endure. 

[bookmark: p521]The thought of climbing any higher froze him more than the wind and rain, but putting it off wasn't an option. He fought to convince himself that he only had to climb a little way and he'd be done. He pulled the line tight and, bracing his boot on the first of the sail's tracks, pulled himself up another half meter. He let the replacement pay out behind him as he slowly climbed. 

[bookmark: p522]Mon Ami's swing became ever more pronounced as he ascended, almost nine meters from side to side at times. Only by keeping a tight grip on the mast prevented his body from swinging wildly above the deck, like a flag waved by an excited child.

[bookmark: p523]Things only got harder when he reached the lower spreader. To get around it he would have to use both hands. He tried not to look down at the angry sea and tiny deck far below him.

[bookmark: p524]He secured the line before taking it in both hands, saying a brief prayer, and swinging his body to hook his leg over the spreader. He held tight to spreader with one hand as he desperately took up the slack in his safety line with the other. When that was done, he hugged the mast in relief.

[bookmark: p525]After a few moments he composed himself and once again began his climb. Only two meters higher the replacement snagged behind him. No amount of tugging and pulling would free it. He cursed the gods of mechanical objects and carefully lowered himself to work it around the spreader.

[bookmark: p526]As he reached to free the snag, he glanced down and saw the deck and water swaying beneath him. His heart pounded as if it would leap from his chest. His stomach clenched, and he vomited, sending a splash of bile across the face of the mainsail. It took an effort of will to stop his bowels from releasing, but it was too late to keep from wetting himself. He was shivering; his sweat felt like ice water inside the overheated suit. He was going to die. He was going to fall. He should never have come up here. Who was screaming, he wondered?

[bookmark: p527]Slowly the panic attack subsided, and he could once again begin to think rationally. But his gnawing, gibbering fear of heights remained. He could not stay here, his inner demon cried. He had to get back down. He had to get to safety.

[bookmark: p528]No, to come this far and stop was idiocy. Pascal took a deep breath and stood on the spreader. Carefully, deliberately, and trying to not think of the dangerous climb remaining before him, he took one careful step after another until he reached anchor point of the damaged shroud, just beneath the upper spreader. He pulled past it and then, repeating the frightening maneuver, hooked a leg and levered himself to sit on the spreader. 

[bookmark: p529]Before he did anything else he ran the end of the safety line around the mast and tied himself to it. The sway was enormous at twenty meters above the deck. Despite his years on the sea he started to feel queasy. Each time the boat rolled forward he felt as if he were going to continue going face over into the sea.

[bookmark: p530]He concentrated on the anchor point and shut out the motion of the boat and the long drop below—everything but the task of fastening the replacement.

[bookmark: p531]Pascal released the spare cable from his harness with one hand, only to realize that he would have to use both hands to fasten it to the mast. That meant he had to depend only on the line holding him to the mast, a line that now seemed far too thin to hold him. 

[bookmark: p532]Releasing both hands was an act so simple in concept and so difficult to perform. He tried to force himself to release his hold as his eyes filled with tears of fear and frustration. His mind, always rational, was willing, but emotionally, his body knew that to let go was to invite disaster, to let go was to lose his perch and fall, fall, fall tens of meters, only to be dashed to death on the deck or, worse yet, be cast into the unkind and frigid ocean.

[bookmark: p533]No. He wasn't going to let that happen, not after going through so much effort, facing so much fear, passing so much piss to get here. He drew in a breath, braced himself, and let go.

[bookmark: p534]He had just released the damaged shroud when the sudden pitching of the boat threw him backward, cracking his head hard against the mast and nearly dislodging his death grip on the spare cable. Only the knowledge that, if he let go of the spare, he would have to repeat the painful, horrid, miserable, pants-wetting climb once again made him hold onto it.

[bookmark: p535]On the next attempt he synchronized his actions to the boat's motion. He leaned forward, quickly pulled the new shroud's end through the eye, slipped a clamp over both sides of the loop, and snapped it close. Three turns of the clamp's screw secured it. It was done so smoothly and quickly that he was done before the boat pitched again.

[bookmark: p536]Muscles burning, and his ever-present fear still gibbering, he carefully worked his way back down to the deck.

[bookmark: p537]His arms were shaking from fatigue as he wound the cable through the servos, attached the end to the deck, and took up the slack until he could tighten it no further, even using the wrench handle as a lever on the turnbuckle. He let the length of broken cable slip into the sea. 

[bookmark: p538]Pascal crawled on hands and knees to the cockpit. Fastened his harness to the cockpit's D-ring. And then, totally exhausted, ignoring the rain, his soiled pants, and the freezing cold, collapsed on the wet deck to cry with relief and thankfulness, and to curse Louella and JBI and the planet Jupiter, curse them all to hell and gone.

* * *

[bookmark: p539]Louella wondered about the lone Orca. Didn't they usually travel in groups? Wasn't she too far from the seals' feeding grounds near the Antarctic shelf, where the Orcas usually hunted?

[bookmark: p540]There was little else to think about, the Orca and her looming death. Her whole world was water, ice, hull under her, the Orca, and the bobbing orange emergency beacon. 

[bookmark: p541]She figured it would take a while for either location to organize a rescue mission. Until then she had to hang on. If the EPIRB was working. How much time did she have before a rescue plane found her? Could she stay awake for however long that took? If they couldn't find her then thirst and exhaustion would doom her even if she did miraculously manage to stay aboard Mistrial's slippery hull. 

[bookmark: p542]She didn't have high hopes of rescue, even if someone were able to hear the EPIRB's distress signal. At her last position check she'd been at 58 South, 135 West. That was over thirty-seven hundred kilometers from Perth, about the same from Adelaide, and more than fifty-five hundred from the Christchurch rescue field in New Zealand. A rescue plane launched from any of those would only have a couple of hours of fuel to spend searching before they had to return. 

[bookmark: p543]Thirst would only be uncomfortable, but it would be exhaustion that did her in. The longer she was exposed to the elements, the more her strength would be sapped by the bitter cold, the angry wind, and the steady pounding of the towering waves. It was only a matter of time before the Southern Ocean took her into the sea.

[bookmark: p544]"Tell me, Sheila," the Orca continued with an Australian accent. "Why would someone like you ever come to a place like this?"

* * *

[bookmark: p545]Louella hadn't intended to enter the Super Grand Vendee race. She and her business partner Scott Jamison had been trying to raise the funds to outfit one of the ultimate British Offshore Race boats. They had a good partnership. She was the talent, the woman at the helm, the brave sailor, the pretty face of their partnership, while Scott took care of the business side. 

[bookmark: p546]Scott arranged her personal appearances, got writers to ghost her articles, and constantly fed the maw of the sporting press with teasers, ticklers, and occasionally, a bit of substance about the simply fabulous Louella and her races. 

[bookmark: p547]Keeping Louella's name in the press was important. Their sponsors—at least the ones who could throw a few tens of thousands of euros toward a sailboat race—wouldn't fund an unknown.

[bookmark: p548]Together, Scott and Louella were a marketing force that could pry funds out of every wanna-be sailing enthusiast they could reach. Corporations were Scott's specialty. He'd already rounded up a dozen sponsors who would pay for the privilege of having their logo on the boat's hull. Those who wanted their icon to grace a sail, especially one of the huge spinnakers, paid a small fortune. Just having a picture of the nylon billboard plastered across the front pages of newspapers and magazines around the world was an irresistible lure to corporations of a certain type. And if Louella's boat, logo flying, were the first across the finish line, they paid a handsome bonus.

[bookmark: p549]Sponsoring their next BOR entry, Groupe FP5, and gear wouldn't come cheap. Already the estimates for even entering the competition went way beyond their initial breathtaking estimates—well over the eight-hundred thousand she needed just for the hull of the boat that would cross the starting line. The support crew who would meet them at each port, the spare parts, extra sail, two replacement masts and booms, travel expenses, and provisions would more than double that number.

[bookmark: p550]So far Scott had arm-twisted and cajoled seventy-five percent of the total they needed.

[bookmark: p551]"I think we're limiting ourselves," he remarked over dinner one evening in Brisbane where they had been checking out the specifications on a new asymmetric jenniker foresail. "We've been concentrating on the traditional backers. You know, the global conglomerates, the networks, the web weaves, and groups like that."

[bookmark: p552]Louella wondered what he was getting at as she picked at her scampi. The community that had any interest in sailing, especially high speed, long route sailing, was quite small, and the population of those who were willing to support it with real money was smaller yet. Competition for those few was fierce and, as far as she knew, there were no untapped sources, no new sponsors. Funds obtained from one source denied cash from that source to someone else. Half the battle, it seemed, was fought before the boats ever got launched.

[bookmark: p553]"We tried getting public support a few years back. Penny-ante donations from the clubs aren't worth the accounting effort it takes to collect," she said.

[bookmark: p554]"I'm not talking about going after the boat clubs," Scott said with a smug smile. "I'm talking about hitting another class of companies."

[bookmark: p555]Louella sighed. "There aren't any others, Scott. We've hit the regional ones, the nationals, the transnationals, the internationals, and the global conglomerates. We've begged from everybody with money on the face of the Earth."

[bookmark: p556]Scott grinned widely. "Yes, I agree. But there's more than the face of the Earth."

[bookmark: p557]"What the hell have you been drinking, Scott? Has some alien invasion force of corporate financers landed?"

[bookmark: p558]"In a manner of speaking, yes. We've got an appointment with Jerome Blacker."

[bookmark: p559]Louella shook her head. "Who?"

[bookmark: p560]"Jerome Blacker, president of Blacker industries." Seeing the puzzled look on Louella's face, he continued. "You know—JBI, the Jupiter people."

[bookmark: p561]Louella nearly spit a scampi as the name finally clicked. "Are you out of your fucking mind? Why the hell would somebody in the deep space industry fund a sailboat race?" She waved toward the ceiling. "I'd think they'd be sinking every euro they have into building more resources out there." 

[bookmark: p562]Scott nodded. "I thought the same thing, but the other day I got a strange phone call from Blacker's secretary to set up an appointment. He was anxious to meet us, she said."

[bookmark: p563]Louella tried to imagine why the president of JBI would be interested in meeting a couple of blue-water racers. The corporation founded by the father and run by the son was something you occasionally read about in the news, usually in conjunction with some space disaster in the Jupiter complex. Surely she would have heard if he had any interest in sailing—most of the corporate types who spent their company's money on sponsorships were enthusiasts. But nobody in the race business had ever mentioned Blacker.

[bookmark: p564]Just the same, the call was curious, and she was not one to turn down a prospective sponsor. Not when they were short for the BOR. 

[bookmark: p565]"All right, lets give it a shot," she said with a shrug. "A couple hundred thousand euros,"—the amount they needed to round out the BOR funding—"are probably less than his company's monthly coffee fund."

* * *

[bookmark: p566]There had been eight people in Blacker's waiting room. Louella recognized the three sailors immediately: George Franchard, Pascal Dumay, and Randy Holiday. Two of them had raced with her occasionally during the past five years, and the other was a frequent rival. All were fiercely competitive, all were world-class racers, and she knew that all of them were still struggling to get their BOR entries funded.

[bookmark: p567]"Looks like Blacker's going to listen to us all and pick which one he sponsors for the BOR," Scott whispered. "I'm sorry. I didn't realize our appointment was going to be a shoot-out."

[bookmark: p568]Louella shrugged. "Part of the game, Scott. Listen, you go talk to the other suits. I'll see what I can find out from the sailors." She went over to exchange greetings with Randy, George, and Pascal.

[bookmark: p569]An outsider would have seen certain hard to define similarities in the group of four sailors; but other sailors would have recognized them immediately. Randy and Pascal were burned brown by the sun but George and Louella had started out brown by virtue of their ancestry. 

[bookmark: p570]Louella was tall, tough, and heavy boned, Pascal slender, George muscular, with a wrestler's build and Randy was of only average stature and appearance. Each had their own style; Randy with his languorous drawl and deliberate movements, mercurial Pascal, who spoke in quick bursts, and phlegmatic George, who said little and seldom gestured.

[bookmark: p571]She quickly learned that none had previously contacted JBI, nor had even considered doing so for much the same reasons that Louella had outlined to Scott over dinner in Brisbane. All had been called around the same time as Scott.

[bookmark: p572]"Mr. Blacker will see you now," an attractive young woman announced. George and Randy gave her trim figure a not-too-subtle appraisal and smiled at her. Too damn sophisticated for their tastes, Louella guessed when the woman didn't acknowledge their smiles. 

[bookmark: p573]The man behind the massive desk was a shrunken caricature of a senior executive whose buzzard's neck stuck out of a collar several sizes too large. Louella had expected someone younger, more dynamic and forceful-looking. Then she got it. This wasn't Jerome Blacker; it had to be his father, the founder himself.

[bookmark: p574]Blacker's hands were too large for his body, with swollen knuckles and mottled skin so thin you could see every vein and tendon beneath the many liver spots—a worker's hands, she noted. They were folded in front with blunt thumbs touching and fingers interlaced. She saw the slight trembling and realized he was holding them that way to steady them.

[bookmark: p575]"My family's built JBI from the ground up," he began before they got settled. No handshakes here. His voice was surprisingly forceful, not at all the cracking, age-damaged squeak of a doddering oldster. "We financed the ships, constructed the stations, and started mining the moons. Made JBI a name to be reckoned with on Jupiter, by God."

[bookmark: p576]Blacker paused and let his watery blue eyes scan the group. His mouth was set, daring anyone to disagree with his declaration. "Now my dear son has failed to convince the powers that be that we should reap the rewards of our efforts. The piss-ants will only let us take a fraction of my investment out of the complex. They want us to spend the rest out there, as if I was some damned economic tooth fairy."

[bookmark: p577]Louella had been following the JBI news ever since they got the appointment. There was some sort of independence movement out at Jupiter, an attempt to develop their own economy and government. It had something to do with money and dependency on Earth, mutual trade and the like. It got hazy after that. She was a sailor, not an economist.

[bookmark: p578]Blacker continued speaking. "Our God-damned weak-kneed politicos won't help me despite my contributions. Too unpopular, they say. That's why you're here. I want them to appreciate what we've done, and throw popular support my way. I've decided to appeal to the public. I want people to equate JBI with the grand traditions—risk taking, fighting at the edge of disaster, pushing the limits of possibility."

[bookmark: p579]Scott cleared his throat. "Pardon me, sir, but the BOR isn't exactly a risky race. Granted that it might be exciting, but there's very little risk involved. The boats are hardly ever out of sight of each other."

[bookmark: p580]The old man gave him a baleful stare. "Who the hell is talking about some trivial warm-water race? Waste of your talent, time, and money if you ask me."

[bookmark: p581]There was a collective intake of breath. Louella and Scott were not the only ones to feel that they had been misled. Louella was the first one on her feet, followed quickly by the mercurial Pascal Dumay.

[bookmark: p582]"You've just cost us two day's travel and God knows how many broken appointments," she said, glaring at the old man. "If you're not going to put up any money for the BOR, then why the hell did you invite us here?"

[bookmark: p583]"Je suis d'accord. Vous etre a—" Pascal stopped abruptly and continued in accented English. "This is imposition upon us at this stage of the game. I must launch in two weeks and still have not the money for provisions."

[bookmark: p584]Blacker raised his hand. "I'll pay whatever expenses you've incurred. Even throw in a few euros for decals on your ass if you want. Now shut up, sit down, and listen."

[bookmark: p585]Louella and Pascal sat.

[bookmark: p586]"I want you for another race. One where you'll carry the JBI name on your boats. I want to show the world what sort of company JBI represents. I want everyone to realize that we can achieve greatness only through great risk. I want to sponsor each of you in the next Super Grand Vendee."

[bookmark: p587]Louella felt as if the ground had dropped away beneath her. The Super was a single-handed race around the world, 24,000 nautical miles of sailing across every longitude, through the absolute worst weather and water on the Earth, and returning. It was a single-hand race, so each boat, each sailor, had to be self-sufficient. There would be no landfalls, no supply ships, and no refreshing layovers allowed, save for repairs. The Super was a headlong race from start to finish, eighty-plus days and nights of continuous sailing. 

[bookmark: p588]It was more than just grueling. Fifty lives had been lost over the years in the Super, most in the depths of the Southern Ocean where rescue was nearly impossible. Others had fallen victim to the open ocean's mountainous waves, sudden storms, icebergs, and even to the ever-present danger of being run down by a freighter. 

[bookmark: p589]To win the Super you had to race around the clock with little sleep, live with a constant fear of failure, put up with extreme loneliness, and endure the unrelenting physical stress of sailing a high performance boat twenty-four hours, day after day through the baking heat of the tropics, through the bitter Antarctic weather, and back again. It was the most punishing, backbreaking test of human endurance in sailing.

[bookmark: p590]It was also an offer Louella had never dreamed of getting. The cost of outfitting one of the Vendee-class boats was way out of her reach. She'd never dreamed anyone would trust her with a boat costing that much. 

[bookmark: p591]"I'll do it," she said at once. Pascal added his assent only a moment before Randy's agreement.

[bookmark: p592]"I'm no damned hero," George said as he stalked out of the room. "You'll get my expense sheet tomorrow," he shot back over his shoulder.

[bookmark: p593]"What exactly do you mean by sponsor?" Scott asked quickly. "What sort of stake are we talking about?" The usual corporate share was ten to twenty percent, and that contingent on finding enough other sponsors to foot the rest of the bill.

[bookmark: p594]Blacker scowled. "Whatever you need, just don't get greedy. You four are the best sailors money can buy, and your skills will mean more than any fancy boat."

[bookmark: p595]"Three," Randy corrected, pointing at George's empty chair.

[bookmark: p596]"Four," Blacker said with a smile. "I'm certain Franchard will come to his senses in the morning."

[bookmark: p597]Louella knew he was right. Despite his parting declaration, George wouldn't back down from an opportunity to race the Super, not with the rest of them in the fleet.

[bookmark: p598]"That's a very generous offer, sir," Scott said carefully, "But I hope you realize how much—"

[bookmark: p599]"Do you know how much those stations on Jupiter cost?" Blacker demanded. "Thirty billion each—and that doesn't include the upkeep, staffing, or insurance. Want to know the price of launch facilities, the shipment costs, and the hourly rates those damn pirates manning the supply elevators charge? The price of your silly little racing toys can't compare. Tell me what you'll need for the Super and I'll write the checks. Just make certain that you four cross the finish line and at least one of you gets there first."

[bookmark: p600]A younger version of the old man entered the room. "Dad, I heard you'd come in today and—" he stopped speaking when he noticed the others, managed a smile. "Hello. I'm Jerome Blacker. Nobody told me you'd arrived." 

[bookmark: p601]The older Blacker chortled. "I told your damn fancy secretary not to bother you, Jerry. Figured you were having too much fun negotiating with those damned government sharks." Then he turned to Louella and the others. "You all get out of here now. I want a set of your campaign plans and budget estimates on my desk by the end of the week. Find some decent boats too. Good day." 

[bookmark: p602]He waved his hand in dismissal. His son looked as if he were going to explode.

[bookmark: p603]Which he did. Louella heard his raised voice as the door began closing. "I don't care if you are the chairman, Dad. You can't just promise these people—" The rest of his words were silenced by the closing door. 

[bookmark: p604]"I think we'd better hurry if we want to get that check," Scott said softly as he took his briefcase and coat from the slender secretary.

[bookmark: p605]Randy lingered a moment longer to get his own coat, but still got no smile from Blacker's fancy assistant.

* * *

[bookmark: p606]Old Blacker and a much younger man had shown up at the race party two nights before the start of the British Ocean Race and joined Louella at her table. Things were going well. The aptly named Randy was alternating attentions between his wife and his mistress. George was in deep conversation with his fiancé. Scott was giving a German groupie some serious attention. As for Louella, she was flirting outrageously with a muscular pair from the Australian crew. Pascal, arm around one of his buddies, was singing what she supposed were bawdy ballads in a dialect of French that no one else seemed to understand.

[bookmark: p607]"Damn, wish I were eighty years younger." The old man sighed with a nod toward Randy. "Course, back then I was more interested in making money than chasing tail. Good thing too, JBI would never have grown the way it has if I'd been distracted."

[bookmark: p608]"What brings you here?" Scott asked as he peeled himself away from the German groupie's tight embrace and joined the conversation. 

[bookmark: p609]"Not that we aren't glad to see you, of course." Louella added tactfully.

[bookmark: p610]"Decided you all needed a little help with the real race. This is Alex Humei, one of our engineers," he nodded toward the dark young man beside him. 

[bookmark: p611]"Sdras, at du." The youngster's accent was thick enough to cut with a knife. Louella guessed it wasn't French, Indian, or Russian, nor one of the Germanic tongues. 

[bookmark: p612]"He's down from Jupiter," Blacker said with a put-upon expression, "And talks like it." 

[bookmark: p613]"I am . . . engineer of ships," Alex said carefully. She could tell he was straining hard to keep the Jupiter patois, a mixture of English, French, German, Russian, and Hindi, out of his speech. "I build Jupiter boats."

[bookmark: p614]"He means our atmospheric floaters," Blacker said, and a wistful expression crossed his face "Damn, I wish I were young enough to sail on one." He let out a mordant laugh. "The launch would probably kill me, though. Not that my damn son would even let me try."

[bookmark: p615]The mention of sailing was all Louella needed to hear. "Is sailing on Jupiter dangerous?" she asked.

[bookmark: p616]The old man didn't give Alex a chance to answer. "If you ask me, everything out there is too damn civilized now. Elevators from orbit to the stations, settlements on all of the moons, regular transport from the inner system—I tell you, Jupiter's turned into another damn suburb of Earth now. Hardly a frontier any more."

[bookmark: p617]"Still, is dangerous," Alex said quietly. "Lose dozens peoples a year. Mistake can destroy floater in instant. To sail there, is not for those who can't live with fear."

[bookmark: p618]Louella found herself taking a sudden liking to this husky lad. "What's it like to be on one of those deep atmosphere ships?" She was curious about the vessels he built. They were a cross between a submarine and a dirigible and floated on the interface between sharply divided pressure gradients within Jupiter's deep atmosphere. At that level of the atmosphere there were only two gravities, a load that most humans could bear, unlike the massive gravity well at the bottom. That is, if there were a bottom at all. 

[bookmark: p619]She'd seen a picture of one with its long, diamond-fiber keel that balanced the pressure on the massive sails. The sails were tough metal atop a structure that appeared to be a submarine the size of a blimp. The sailors rode inside and piloted blind across the windy vastness to reach their destinations. Despite their differences, they were still recognizably sailboats.

[bookmark: p620]To a blue-water sailor like her, the idea of sailing across the surface of the largest planet in the solar system was intriguing.

[bookmark: p621]"Sailing there a challenge," Alex answered. "You don't feel the wind or see outside—too much static for radar and not much light. Sail by feel, mostly."

[bookmark: p622]She also knew they constantly faced death from the cold, the vacuum, all under the relentless pull of Jupiter. It took more than courage to sail across the huge planet's face. Craziness maybe? Like the sort needed for the big race to come?

[bookmark: p623]"We use an inertial, our main navigation instrument, to guide us and use heat sensors to find stations. Risky business, but it works. That what JBI want me to help you with—make race boats sail better, maybe."

[bookmark: p624]Louella hoped there was some JBI technology that might give her a bit of advantage over the competition. But maybe not; the differences in the environment might just be too extreme. "I'm all for better," she replied.

[bookmark: p625]Blacker interrupted again. "We have a warehouse full of equipment Alex can draw on. Soon as you all get your boats you give him a call." He turned to the young engineer. "Run along now and see if you can find your crewmates in the mess." 

[bookmark: p626]"Are you sailing in the race?" Louella asked Alex, surprised by Blacker's unexpected announcement.

[bookmark: p627]"But not skipper," Alex grinned. "Am crew. Do you think I miss a chance on race boat? Want to feel the wind and see the water big time." Alex smiled and bowed. "Fair winds and following seas." 

[bookmark: p628]Louella was pleased to hear the ancient sailor's blessing. "It's going to be interesting to hear what someone who sailed on Jupiter thinks about a blue-water race," she remarked as he left. 

[bookmark: p629]"He'll do just fine." Blacker said. "Now, I have some questions about this boat you said you didn't like. I thought the price was about right." 

[bookmark: p630]Business: the sure-fire party killer. She turned back to Blacker. "Listen, I didn't want a god-damned plastic bathtub of a boat that would probably bring me in dead last—if it somehow managed to hang together that long. The design was over ten years old, too old for this race. I need a fast boat that will get me back alive, and in first place. If you don't want to pony up the cash for that, then leave me out of the fucking race." Brave words for someone who was spending someone else's millions.

[bookmark: p631]She regretted the words the moment they left her mouth. What if he took her up on it? God in heaven, she hoped he wouldn't. He just stared, waiting her out.

[bookmark: p632]"There's one that ran the Volvo-Honda," she added quickly. "Belgian-built and available. I'm flying over there after the race to take a look. It'll cost you just a little bit more than that other scow."

[bookmark: p633]"You're running out of time," Blacker said sharply. "The others have theirs lined up already. If this one doesn't meet your high standards," he put sarcastic emphasis on the last words, "You'll be off the team."

[bookmark: p634]She just stared back at him and, after a while, he started to laugh.

* * *

[bookmark: p635]The BOR went as expected. Louella and her crew came in second, a heart-breaking fifty-two second deficit that shouldn't have happened, but, when she ran into a hole in the wind a dozen kilometers from the finish there was absolutely nothing she could do except drift on her momentum.

[bookmark: p636]Pascal's Soliel du Sud had wafted past her on a cell of fresh air just a few hundred meters off her port side, forcing her to hear the boom of the finish line cannon as he passed the officials' boat.

[bookmark: p637]The post-race celebrations were brief and predictable. Pascal got tossed into the chilly New England water by his cheering, all-French crew, everyone doused themselves with bottles of cheap champagne, and the losers were allowed to loudly complain of mischance and the foibles of the wind gods to anyone who would listen as they drank and bragged about overcoming the problems with their boats. Each tale sounded more outrageous than the previous, until the Portuguese skipper swore he'd had to lasso two dolphins to give him a tow out of a wind hole off Newfoundland. 

[bookmark: p638]After that the details of the party got increasingly hazy. Louella recalled flirting outrageously with the Australians while Pascal and Jupiter's Alex had been deeply engrossed in conversation. George had been his usual dour self, and Randy and Ann Wilkerson, the English skipper, had been laughing at some private joke while his Canadian girlfriend fumed at the bar. Ann already had her boat entered for the Super. There was some sort of incident, one of the skippers threw up, a fight started, and she vaguely remembered kissing a lot of people.

* * *

[bookmark: p639]Louella woke up the next morning in her hotel room between the two charming grinders from the Australian entry. She kissed them both soundly, threw her stuff in a bag, checked out, and took a taxi to the airport to catch her plane for Belgium. Sergio Pontclario was anxious to sell Mistrial, an older Open 80 design, so he could buy a new boat.

[bookmark: p640]Pascal arrived at Logan around the same time in the company of his friends and barely nodded at her. They'd been competitors for years and, on occasion, crewmates—skipper and navigator/tactician usually. He was the best man on the plotting table she'd ever seen, but all his damn scientific approach couldn't beat the feel she had for the wind, water, and weather. Woman's intuition, he'd sneered dismissively during the revival Volvo-Honda Open 60 race. Well, that intuition or whatever it was had saved their butts from the hurricane during the Bermuda leg, just as his piloting skill had gotten them home with only a rag of a mainsail and the spare jib.

[bookmark: p641]It had been a thrill the whole way.

* * *

[bookmark: p642]Louella's feet were going numb from the constant wash of frigid water across the hull. The waves were only three- or four-meter swells, and at a frequency that let the overturned Mistrial ride up and down their gentle slopes. Each crest exposed her to the biting roar of the wind blowing at Beaufort scale five or six, at least twenty knots or more, and let her see the distant line of storm clouds heading her way. Black clouds growing visibly closer with each successive glimpse.

[bookmark: p643]Odds of surviving a storm were not good. A storm-wind's force could push the waves to twenty meters or more, and whip freezing foam off the waves' crashing crests. Waves like that would carry her upside-down boat aloft, only to fall down their steep sides into the troughs. Each time tons of frigid water would crash down, making it impossible for her to maintain her already tenuous hold.

[bookmark: p644]In the chill waters her survival time would be measured in mere minutes. Even through the insulation of her survival suit she'd lose too much heat. The driving sea foam, the froth of wind-whipped water, would infiltrate her nose and mouth, choking and drowning her. Which would come first, she wondered, suffocating or freezing?

[bookmark: p645]Despite the absolute certainty of her approaching death Louella felt a strange calm. Everything that had happened had been a result of her deliberate choice. No one had forced her to enter the race. No one had held a gun to her head and made her sail this fragile shell of fiberglass and electronics into the misery of the Southern Ocean. All that had happened had been of her own choosing, her own decisions. The only regret she had was that she had let Pascal down and ruined his chances of experiencing the fierce winds of Jupiter.

[bookmark: p646]"Another question, I have," the Orca shouted again. For some reason he had suddenly acquired a Spanish accent. This was quite confusing, but she was in no condition to answer him. She just wanted to sleep—not that she dared. "Why would you ever sail in these dangerous waters?"

* * *

[bookmark: p647]Sergio's Open 80, Mistrial, was totally unlike the Open 60s she'd raced in other around the world races. The Open-class boats all had broad hulls and smooth, slim contours; boats that were as much works of art as sailing machines—and many times more expensive than anything in the Louvre.

[bookmark: p648]The Open 80-class were radically different, and not only because of their intense use of electronics and computers to manage every aspect of boat handling. She could handle the twenty-one-meter Open 60s by herself, but not one of these twenty-five meter splinters where they had sacrificed a lot of stability for speed.

[bookmark: p649]"Isn't she beautiful?" Sergio asked proudly. 

[bookmark: p650]Not to her. Louella tried to get her mind around Mistrial's length. It was little more than an angular surfboard. A flat deck covered the entire length from bow to cockpit with an open transom at the stern. From the too-pointed bowsprit along the straight sides to the abrupt stern it was a thin wedge of a vessel. 

[bookmark: p651]The most striking aspect of Mistrial was the height of her aerodynamic, carbon-fiber mast. It stood forty and a fraction meters above the water line and held a fifteen-meter boom just above the deck. Four spreaders anchored the long, high-tensioned shrouds that kept the mast erect.

[bookmark: p652]"Mistrial, she can carry over three hundred square meters of sail downwind," Sergio bragged. "Under full sail, she'll do nearly fifty knots close-hauled and thirty on a reach."

[bookmark: p653]That was far more sail than any boat of this length seemed capable of carrying. Louella knew she'd have to reduce sail on the upwind headings, of course. Too much power could easily drive the boat into the oncoming waves. 

[bookmark: p654]She dropped inside the cabin, three steps from the wheels, one from the motorized winches, and took two steps down into the body of the boat. Inside the cabin there was barely any headroom. The cabin was wider than it was deep. A spider-work chart table took up much of what little room there was.

[bookmark: p655]The cabin's interior was all raw fiberglass with wooden floorboards. She saw exposed bolt heads, hull seams and rough glass surfaces everywhere. Only the overhead was padded—soundproofing, she wondered, or head protection from rough seas?

[bookmark: p656]There was a fold-down canvas cot for the short naps she'd have to take. The walls were covered with mesh bags for clothes and the few things her restricted weight allowance would allow. There were no drawers, no cabinets, none of the fancy gear a cruising sailor might use to make life easier. This boat was all business, and its business was to sail as fast as possible.

[bookmark: p657]The pilot's chair was just a mesh skeleton suspended from the thwarts, the galley a one-burner propane stove, useful mostly for heating water given that she'd have very little food to cook except soup and tea. 

[bookmark: p658]The chart table was nothing more than a frame with a spider-web of lightweight fiber threads that supported all of the communications, navigation, and other electronics she'd need.

[bookmark: p659]"The cabin, she is watertight," Sergio had pointed proudly to the neoprene-rimmed hatch between the cabin and the cockpit during that introductory meeting. "In the cold seas you can be warm and dry inside. As if I'd have time, Louella thought.

[bookmark: p660]"The two swing rudders," he continued, "are canted to either side to give her better stability on an extreme heel. They are married to the tilt of the mast by the computers." 

[bookmark: p661]"What if it overturns?" Louella asked sharply. "Where are the hatches?" She well knew the history of the race and how many lives had been lost from boats turning turtle. The problem was that this sort of boat was just as stable upside down, if not more so. Only the action of the ballast pumps, attention to sail set, and skillful piloting kept them from capsizing. Once flipped, with sails in the water, the Open-design boats stayed on their backs. 

[bookmark: p662]"Are access hatches there and here," Sergio pointed out two oval hatches; one on the foredeck accessed the sail locker, which doubled as a floatation chamber. The other hatch was amidships and provided access to all the electrical equipment. That was also accessible from inside the cabin through a crawl hole.

[bookmark: p663]"Is there a hatch in the bottom of the boat?" Louella asked. "I'd like some way out if it flips while I'm inside."

[bookmark: p664]"Mistrial will not turn over," Sergio protested in a hurt voice. "The hydraulics and servos," he pointed mid-ships where the complex of shroud servos, mast gybals, and keep drivers were installed, "Will adjust the center of mass and angle of the mast if Mistrial heels more than twenty degrees. If she goes beyond that angle they will compensate." 

[bookmark: p665]Sergio went on to explain at length the automated ballast pumps, the swinging keels that were coordinated with the mast, and the gyroscopic stabilization framework. He mentioned the triply redundant backup systems that controlled everything from winch motors to rudder. He spoke of angular momentum, of torque, of compensating forces. He explained about the boat's moment of inertia and her center of mass. He explained about rigorous testing, about modeling every possible contingency, and about all the past successes of Mistrial mastering the worst storms, all to prove the boat's stability. 

[bookmark: p666]Louella listened impatiently, only to break in and say. "I still wish there was a God-damned escape hatch in the hull." She had as much faith in his physics as she did in George's horoscope.

[bookmark: p667]Sergio muttered something about women, sailing, and excessive caution, all of which Louella chose to ignore. Let him think what he would, he wouldn't be putting his ass on the line in the Southern Ocean.

* * *

[bookmark: p668]Louella left Scott to make the final financial arrangements while she prepared to have Mistrial hauled out for inspection. She wanted to make certain there were no hidden defects in the hull. After that, while the suits were passing papers and talking euros, she met with JBI's engineer to see what he could offer.

[bookmark: p669]"We have a number of technologies we can use to outfit your boat." The JBI engineer handed her a list. 

[bookmark: p670]Louella saw that some shroud servos had an 'F' beside them, and pointed at the entry. "What's this mean?"

[bookmark: p671]"They are for shrouds, the lines that hold the mast," the young man replied absently as he looked over Mistrial's design sheets.

[bookmark: p672]"I think I do know what a shroud is," Louella snapped. She didn't like being patronized by a damn engineer. "Do you use these to drive the cables on your floaters?"

[bookmark: p673]The engineer appeared to be puzzled by the tone of her voice. "No. We use metal sails, so these motors could not drive the very strong chain that holds them. We can't use this thin sail fabric you use. That would be like using a spider web to harness a hurricane."

[bookmark: p674]"So what the eff is the 'F' for?"

[bookmark: p675]He laughed. "The 'F' means your teammate Franchard wanted them on his boat."

[bookmark: p676]Putting extra strength servos on the shrouds would be just like George, ever mindful of caution and security. "I won't need them. I put brand-new, quarter-inch stainless shrouds and good Hercules servos on Mistrial." 

[bookmark: p677]"For Randy Holiday," the JBI engineer continued, pointing at an 'H' farther down the page. "We're installing deck winches. They're the ones that can reel in the sails, even against Jupiter's hurricane force winds." 

[bookmark: p678]Louella wondered why Randy wanted to that much power. The winches indicated were twice the weight of the Lewmar winches on Mistrial. Heavy-duty winches might come in handy during bad weather, but their additional weight meant he'd sacrifice speed. That was an option she could easily do without. She wanted Mistrial as light and agile as possible. "Any other suggestions?"

[bookmark: p679]The engineer seemed intent on the design sheets. "How about your communications and navigation? Are they any good?"

[bookmark: p680]Louella smiled. "She had a GPS on her already, but I'm installing a backup so I'll have two units. Also getting the best charting software I can buy with the money Blacker is giving me." 

[bookmark: p681]"I think we can give you some inertial tracking gear," Alex said. "It give you positive fix. Better than GPS, I think. Doesn't depend on anything but itself." 

[bookmark: p682]Louella hoped the unit would compensate for her less-than-stunning plotting skills. Maybe it would also make up for the GPS deficiencies. Down near the bottom of the world the ocean surface deviated quite a bit from the smooth sphere of the theoretical GPS database. It would be best to have a positive position confirmation at all times.

[bookmark: p683]"What does it weigh? I can't afford to add more than ten kilograms to my weight budget." She'd trimmed the list of her supplies to the bone already.

[bookmark: p684]"Three kilos, she's thirty square and ten high," the JBI man replied, indicating the size of the box with his hands. "Most of that the case and fittings. She'll need to have a rigid base. The readout's a little case like that." He pointed to Louella's pocket computer.

[bookmark: p685]"We'll put the box on the deck, in the cabin," Louella replied. Maybe they could put it under the nav table where she'd use it for a footrest. 

[bookmark: p686]"We have some luxury food items," he continued. "Freeze-dried fruit, good soups. We ship stuff that don't weigh much. Saves money when we send to Jupiter."

[bookmark: p687]That made sense. If she could reduce the weight of the food onboard she could add some more communications gear. Maybe even an extra set of cold weather gear. "Let's do it. Have you got a list of what's available?"

[bookmark: p688]They spent rest of the evening going over the inventory and planning her menus. She was surprised at the number of gourmet items on the list and selected the very best for her Christmas dinner. 

[bookmark: p689]She saved enough weight that she could afford to add a nice bottle of wine for her equatorial crossing celebration.

* * *

[bookmark: p690]"Come now, you must have more interesting things to talk about than sailing," said the Orca in an Irish brogue. "Did you sail here alone, or were you part of something else—a race, perhaps?"

[bookmark: p691]She resented the question, especially now. The distant line of storm clouds looked more threatening with each successive glimpse. She wished he'd just go away. She was getting tired of his questions, questions, questions. 

[bookmark: p692]"Yes," she whispered. "There was a race."

* * *

[bookmark: p693]Jerome Blacker sponsored a qualifying race to get around the rule that his entries had to race at least once on their boats. It wasn't illegal, just too difficult and expensive for most of the sponsors. 

[bookmark: p694]Louella was surprised he'd done so. Unlike the older Blacker, Jerome had paid attention to every peso they spent, cutting corners, making them get their multimillion euro boats as cheaply as possible, and being generally parsimonious with the sail inventory, as if you could even buy a used Kevlar-Tylvex mainsail for less that forty thousand and change. Despite the older Blacker's initial promises, the money actually flowing from the obscenely wealthy JBI was just barely enough to cover expenses.

[bookmark: p695]As if getting qualified wasn't enough of a problem, there was the initial bitching and moaning by the race committee about Jupiter not really being a country, and that none of JBI's skippers were really citizens of Jupiter anyway, and—

[bookmark: p696]The Blackers had quickly produced papers attesting to their employment at JBI in general and their contract to sail on Jupiter to offset the first objections. The others died quickly enough when Nigeria recognized the Jupiter Free Trade and Independence party's claim to nation status. France, hoping to steal the march on the rest of the European Union, quickly followed, and the committee had to accept the fait accompli. 

[bookmark: p697]The older Blacker and Jerome probably shit Jupiter-sized bricks when they realized that the devils who were causing them so much grief on Jupiter were the reason for their success in getting accepted for the Super.

* * *

[bookmark: p698]Pascal cornered Jerome Blacker at the bar during a pre-race party. "Monsieur Blacker," he began. "I've a proposition. Actually, it was one that your Alex, the cute engineer joked about earlier."

[bookmark: p699]Jerome raised an eyebrow as he sipped his glass of wine and surveyed the boisterous crowd. "Really?" He wrinkled his nose as if Pascal wore an unpleasant scent. Pascal had seen this look before, many times. Usually it was the older crowd of Jerome's age and position. Perhaps the look was in response to his hair, the earrings, or the pale puce jacket he wore—all signs of his preferences.

[bookmark: p700]"Would JBI be interested in sponsoring a race across Jupiter?" Pascal said, trying to convey the excitement he felt at the prospect and overcome the distaste Blacker obviously displayed. "I think you should sponsor a race from one station to the next, much the way the Volvo-Honda Around-the-World does here on Earth."

[bookmark: p701]"And why would I be interested in doing something as foolish as that?" Blacker said. "The idea appears to me to be a great waste of resources with very little purpose." He started to turn away.

[bookmark: p702]"It would be great publicity for JBI," Pascal replied loudly. "The race would demonstrate the work JBI is doing out there. It could show Jupiter as an interesting and exciting place instead of just a big ball of industrial raw materials. It would gather you more press than le Grand, I'm positive." 

[bookmark: p703]"We get quite enough publicity as it is," Jerome said with a sour look. "But most of it's bad, I'll will admit. That's one of the reasons Father insisted on sponsoring you in this race, despite its hideously expensive price. I just hope the return is worth the cost of your toys. "

[bookmark: p704]Louella walked up, arm in arm with the elder Blacker. "Did someone say toys?" she asked.

[bookmark: p705]"He means your boats," old Blacker growled. "Just like this one, son. Had to shop around until she found one she liked best."

[bookmark: p706]Louella squeezed his arm. "But Mistrial is so much faster than the other. She placed third in her last race and it only cost a little more."

[bookmark: p707]"That's what my last wife said about the house I'm stuck with," the old man growled. " Well, never mind. We got a good price on the lease anyway."

[bookmark: p708]"Ready to go, Dad?" Jerome asked, draining the last of his wine from the glass.

[bookmark: p709]Pascal felt panic as the opportunity started to slip away. "Perhaps your father would be interested in my idea," he said in desperation.

[bookmark: p710]Jerome's father cocked an eyebrow. "Tell me more, Son." His son looked as if he'd been struck. 

[bookmark: p711]Ignoring the dark looks he was getting from his sponsor, Pascal quickly outlined the concept of racing the Jupiter boats from station to station, boats that would be manned by professional sailors, such as himself. 

[bookmark: p712]"That's a great idea." Louella applauded. "Hey, it might even be fun."

[bookmark: p713]When Pascal saw that the old man looked interested, he pressed his case. "It wouldn't cost JBI any real money like le Grand has. Weren't you complaining that you had funds out there that you couldn't put your hands on? Well, why don't you use that money to outfit the boats and supplies."

[bookmark: p714]Old Blacker rubbed his chin. "Sounds like an interesting idea. The Board might go for something like this. Might even build on the race with some other projects."

[bookmark: p715]Jerome Blacker started to take another sip of wine, but stopped with the empty glass halfway to his lips. "It's too risky. We don't know what sort of publicity we might get. What if something goes wrong? What if we lose a ship and crew? Those floaters aren't cheap, you know. Would you seriously consider letting someone risk their lives or one of our expensive ships?"

[bookmark: p716]"Oh for God's sake, Jerome, forget your damn penny-pinching budgets," the older Blacker said. "The floaters aren't that expensive! Last year you pissed away more than they cost on those damn mining machines we've got on Io."

[bookmark: p717]"But those machines will eventually produce a return," Jerome replied evenly. "I dislike dumping money into anything that won't show a decent return on investment. I think the whole idea is too chancy."

[bookmark: p718]His father grinned. "Damn straight, Son. Glad you learned that much from all that expensive schooling. The only thing you didn't learn was how to take risks with anything else. We've got to take chances, Son."

[bookmark: p719]Jerome sighed. "We've been over this before, Dad. But we can't take on more risk than we're comfortable with.

[bookmark: p720]"Humpf! Nobody learns a damn thing if they don't take a few risks."

[bookmark: p721]Pascal saw an opening. "You could do this. The sailing world needs something more interesting than these around-the-world races. A Jupiter race will create excitement. It will gather more publicity for JBI than anything else. But only if you are the first to propose it."

[bookmark: p722]"I like your spirit, boy," the old man said. 

[bookmark: p723]"The only trouble is," Jerome interrupted. "Is that you," he thrust a finger at Pascal's chest, "can't sail alone. Minimum crew, even for a deep atmospheric miner, is two on board. You'd need to find somebody else foolish enough to sail with you."

[bookmark: p724]"I'll crew with him," Louella said boldly and stepped forward to Pascal's side. "Crap, they're just sailboats, aren't they? What could be so hard about that?"

[bookmark: p725]Pascal stared at her. Of all the people in the sailing community Louella was the least likely in his mind to volunteer for this. Was she drunk and talking out of her head? Perhaps he should . . . But no, he had to take advantage of whatever wind shift came his way. "There we are," he said proudly and put an arm across her broad shoulders. "We are a crew."

[bookmark: p726]The old man slapped his son on the back. "There you go," he said with a laugh. "He called your bluff. You going to raise or fold?"

[bookmark: p727]Jerome was clearly angered by his father's gibe. There was a red flush about his neck that was climbing toward his cheeks. "If I did such a foolish thing and went ahead with this crazy idea of yours," he began slowly and deliberately, "why wouldn't I choose one of my own pilots?"

[bookmark: p728]"Damn it, man. We've both been sailing our whole lives," Louella said. "And, frankly, there isn't a damned sailor on the planet better than me and Pascal. I doubt some corporate monkey would do any better."

[bookmark: p729]Pascal felt the probability of success, which only instants before had looked so promising, had suddenly plunged to negative numbers. Calling Blacker's pilots monkeys wasn't the most politic thing to say.

[bookmark: p730]"So you want a challenge?" Jerome said, glaring defiantly at his father first and then leaning toward Pascal. "Do you?"

[bookmark: p731]"Yes. I want a race that will really put all the skills and knowledge I've gained to the test. I'll do it."

[bookmark: p732]"And me, too," Louella said. "Let's see if these damned winds on Jupiter can beat me."

[bookmark: p733]"Very well, I'll give you a challenge. JBI will put up one hundred and twenty million euros from our Jupiter holdings and let you use a floater from our fleet. It will be waiting for you on Jupiter. Think that would do it?" 

[bookmark: p734]"Jesus," Louella gasped, and threw her own drink back in one gulp. 

[bookmark: p735]Pascal would have done the same, had he a drink in hand. That was more money than he ever imagined JBI would offer. He'd gotten some idea of costs from Alex, but he thought much less would be enough.

[bookmark: p736]Wait a moment. Blacker wasn't a man given to generosity, no matter how mad he was at le pere. "What do you mean about another challenge?"

[bookmark: p737]Blacker grinned. "All right, sailor, here's the deal: First, you convince enough people to put at least three floaters in the race. Next, you both get in shape so you can walk around in two gees. And finally, one of you will have to be the first boat across the finish line in this race. If you can do all of that, I'll send you on the long trip out to Jupiter and back in two years."

[bookmark: p738]"Two years?" Louella and Pascal said in concert.

[bookmark: p739]Jerome smiled. "Yes, I don't want you wasting the time after you finish the Grand Vendee. I'll make certain you both get into prime physical condition and know every damn rivet on the ship you'll be sailing."

[bookmark: p740]Pascal was the first to recover. Quickly, he scribbled on a napkin and pushed it across to Jerome. "Will you sign a contract on that?"

[bookmark: p741]Blacker started at the words, aware that his challenge had suddenly crystallized. "I don't . . ." he began.

[bookmark: p742]"Damn, I'd hate to play poker with you," the old man said admiringly to Pascal. "Come on Jerry, sign the napkin. We can always have one of our obscenely expensive lawyers look at it later. Time to play your hand, Son. Call or fold."

[bookmark: p743]Jerome scowled at his father and scribbled his signature on the napkin. He turned to face Louella and Pascal. "Personally, I doubt that you'll be able to find enough backers. What's more, I don't think you'll be able to find anyone insane enough to sail across Jupiter in a stupid race."

[bookmark: p744]"If you think that will be difficult," Pascal smiled as he slipped the napkin into his pocket. "Then you don't understand sailors."

* * *

[bookmark: p745]Louella's sea trials with Mistrial gave her few surprises. She'd expected the boat to handle well, even in the wilds of the North Sea's winter.

[bookmark: p746]Nor was she surprised at the speeds Mistrial was able to achieve under full sail; she expected that with so much sail area pushing a long waterline. However, the sound her huge sails made astounded her. They sang a deep bass note, a steady thrum, thrum, thrum as wind whipped across their huge surface area. The mainsail's song was accompanied by the fluttering of the staysail's trailing edge, and only occasionally drowned by the drumlike boom whenever the huge spinnaker filled with wind. 

[bookmark: p747]Mistrial was a thoroughbred. She was a fast and temperamental machine that demanded constant attention, even with all the automated systems supporting her. Louella quickly learned that it only took a moment's lapse of focus for the craft to go awry and turn to windward or heel dangerously. 

[bookmark: p748]But all of those problems were as nothing when balanced against the joyous exhilaration of flying across the sea, skimming the blue-green waves, feeling the wind in her face, and hearing the spray hissing off the rudders. The experience made every bit of stress worth it.

* * *

[bookmark: p749]"But surely," the Orca asked in the patois of the Jupiter workers, "zey vould nay race allow so quick-quick."

[bookmark: p750]Louella shook her head. The damned fish was really getting bothersome. Of course they wouldn't let a novice into the race. Not only did you need to be qualified for ocean racing, but you also had to prove you knew how to handle a highly automated Open 80 design. 

* * *

[bookmark: p751]The start of the Super was a watery riot. Nearly every boat in the North Sea had come to see the start, despite the chill November weather. They crowded so close to the course that Louella feared one of them might collide with the race boats. The race marshals' skimmers dashed back and forth to keep the starting lanes clear, but there were always a few sightseers who encroached. All it would take to ruin a couple millions-of-euro investment was for some damn weekend sailor's cruising crap boat to hit one of the racers. 

[bookmark: p752]Louella wished they'd had the foresight to arm the marshals' skimmers with cannon. Shooting the more egregious of the violators would make the rest more cautious. But she knew that would never happen. The weak-kneed officials would worry about the negative publicity and how it would diminish the tourist trade. She thought otherwise, thinking the crowds might enjoy a bit of blood sport to liven up a gray autumn day.

[bookmark: p753]George waved at her from the deck of Monte de Olimpo as they danced back and forth near the starting line. He had bargained for one of the newer boats, about five years old. Olimpo had a shorter mast. That stub might give him greater stability, but at the sacrifice of total sail area, which equated to lower average speed. George had, as usual, been as conservative in his choice as he had in his heavy-duty shrouds. Speed was what would win the race, not security. 

[bookmark: p754]Randy was the odd man out. He was sailing Io-Io, an English boat as old as Louella's, but much broader and shallower. On a following wind Io-Io would lift and surf the waves, which was an advantage, but it would do far worse on beating to windward. That would hurt him in the roaring forties, the lower latitudes where high and dangerously shifting winds roared across the open ocean. He, more than the others, would have to pay close attention to the weather charts and avoid the worst of the wind.

[bookmark: p755]The rest of the boats varied only by degree from each other, differences that became more and more subtle with each generation of the boats as the architects converged on the ideal Open 80 design. Every race entry was an experiment in perfection. Everyone was also quite aware that any design failure would be punished with the loss of the race, the boat, or a life. 

[bookmark: p756]She looked past George's boat to see another of the team. The mast of Pascal's boat, Mon Ami, was as tall as her own, but on a Farr-designed hull. Mon Ami was narrower, longer, and sat higher in the water. Unlike Mistrial's drake-back, his boat had an open transom.

[bookmark: p757]Pascal made a sudden tack and switched to her windward side. She looked at the committee boat and estimated the amount of time it would take to clear it. She turned to port, forcing him upwind, and then straightened her line to aim directly at the committee boat.

[bookmark: p758]"Starboard!" she yelled to let him know she demanded right-of-way.

[bookmark: p759]There wasn't enough clearance for Pascal to go downwind without cutting off the Spanish entry, nor was there any way for him to pass her. He shouted something unintelligible and turned upwind, across the line and into a technical foul. Now he had to make a one-eighty around the committee's boat before he could cross again.

[bookmark: p760]It hadn't been a nice thing to do, but the foul wouldn't hurt him much. The difference of a few minutes at the start was insignificant considering the eighty-odd days it would be before they reached the finish. Besides, she owed him one for getting her into that Jupiter race thing, not that she regretted the decision. Besides, she was still pissed because he had beat her to suggesting Alex's idea to Blacker.

[bookmark: p761]The race's fleet stayed together along most of the coast, spreading out only after they cleared the English Channel. Louella engaged in a tacking duel with Besta, the American entry, most of the way. 

[bookmark: p762]After Besta and Mistrial cleared the channel she turned south to hug the French coast while Besta followed the rest into the Atlantic with a strategy to head south and west of the Canary Islands. That route would let them take advantage of the Azores high, a permanent clockwise flow in the North Atlantic winter. 

[bookmark: p763]The JBI team planned to split, with two of the boats shooting the gap between Africa and Cape Verde islands. While Pascal and George went to the west with the fleet, she and Randy hoped to catch a boost from the weather coming out of the Indian Ocean. Both strategies had the objective of getting across the equator and through the doldrums as quickly as possible.

[bookmark: p764]Once through the doldrums, most of the fleet would curve back east to gain whatever advantage they could of the South Atlantic high on the other side of the equator.

[bookmark: p765]They'd know which was the better course by the time they reached the south twenty latitudes. 

* * *

[bookmark: p766]Louella's luck improved slightly. The storm appeared to be passing to the north, sending only some driving rain and bitter winds across the hull. 

[bookmark: p767]Had she really talked to an Orca? It didn't seem possible, but the memory was so vivid. Why would an Orca hang around her anyway? Was it interested in her as a person, or simply looking for an easy meal?

[bookmark: p768]She looked around, but there was nothing in sight but gray-blue water, a few clouds, and the EPRIB bobbing a few meters away from the hull.

* * *

[bookmark: p769]Reaching the calm doldrums north of the equator presented no problems for Louella. She and Pascal had followed a western course that took advantage of the Azores high, a region of circulation that helped carry them farther south. 

[bookmark: p770]Three of the leading boats had caught the edge of an infant hurricane boiling out of Africa. Jean Rachel, her mainsail shredded, was limping toward the coast in hope of repairs so her skipper could continue the race, even though Louella doubted he would ever make up the lost time.

[bookmark: p771]Another boat, Aeguela, one of the French entries, was also waiting for pickup, her rigging and sails too damaged to continue. Nobody had heard from Europa Royale since the storm passed. She hoped Eric, her skipper, was all right. Lack of communications was a bad sign.

[bookmark: p772]Luckily, Louella and Pascal had run into a wind hole off the Canary Islands. At the time she had cursed loudly as she limped along at less than ten knots. Even with full sails and with a two hundred square meter spinnaker flying, she'd felt as if she'd been barely moving. But then, if she'd been speedier she'd have caught the storm as well.

[bookmark: p773]She spent Christmas singing carols and stringing paper cutouts across the cabin. She popped the bottle of wine she'd been saving, ate fois gras from a can, and tossed the wine bottle with a note to the wind gods into the ocean.

[bookmark: p774]The winds were so light that she'd slept a lot while letting the autopilot handle the navigation. At ten south, the weather download revealed a low forming behind her.

[bookmark: p775]This time of year the warming climate was spinning small wind cells off the equator in quick succession. She steered westerly to get on a downwind edge of the low to drive her farther toward thirty degrees south where she could pick up the trade winds.

[bookmark: p776]Pascal was kilometers behind her and ever-cautious George was farther east, but quite a bit north. She'd lost radio contact with Randy the night before, but figured that he was keeping at least a hundred klicks ahead of her, but keeping to the same course. They had gone over the race strategy together so many times that they each knew the course by heart.

[bookmark: p777]Louella was constantly checking the inertial and the readouts from the GPS to make certain that she wasn't drifting off course. So far the box from Jupiter was agreeing with everything the GPS said.

[bookmark: p778]The loss of contact with Randy wasn't worrisome. In the relatively benign area of twenty degrees south there was little danger of him having serious problems. He'd probably just had an electrical failure or maybe he just decided he needed a little solitude.

[bookmark: p779]That was one of the drawbacks of modern communications—you were never really out of touch with friends and family, never beyond the reach of your corporate sponsors, never escaped the grasp of the news-hungry press. Just the same, every sailor, at one time or another regretted having that voracious, demanding, but sanity-saving link to civilization.

[bookmark: p780]The low was good to her. From the reports she'd pulled another four hundred miles ahead of poor, cautious George. And, if he was to be believed, she still had a large lead on Pascal.

[bookmark: p781]The race's first tragedy struck suddenly. Robblier, the Spanish entry skippered by Yves de Santo, was run down by a Liberian freighter shortly after New Year and sank immediately. The emergency beacon had beeped as soon as it hit the water, pinpointing the location and alerting the crew on the freighter to what had occurred. Despite an extensive search of the area by the freighter's crew and the South African navy, no trace of Robblier or Yves could be found.

[bookmark: p782]The accident sent a chill of fear through Louella. She could not stay awake for the entire race. At some point in each day or night she had to rest. That meant letting the boat sail under autopilot with the hope that the radar reflectors and lights would protect her from other ships at sea. But ships' crews did not always stand watch, nor did they pay much attention to small radar returns in the middle of the night ocean.

[bookmark: p783]She hardly recalled what the Yves looked like; was he the wiry one with all that hair, or the bald one with the big feet?

[bookmark: p784]Once she reached thirty-five south latitudes she'd be clear of the major shipping lanes and, in the roaring forties, she'd not encounter another vessel of any type. But then, considering the dangerous Southern Ocean, other ships would be less a concern than practically everything else.

* * *

[bookmark: p785]Louella was startled by the Orca's flowered belly and bright orange back. He spoke in the singsong rhythm of southern India. "Forgive my informal attire," he apologized as his snout emerged from the sea. "Please, as I said before, I am curious as to why a woman would choose to die here."

[bookmark: p786]Typical male question, she thought. Women were not unknown to the Super. Three of the early competitors had been Autissier, Chabaud, and Thompson, women who raced as well as, if not better than, the men. They proved that internal strength of character and gritty endurance mattered most in this ultimate test and not just brute strength, as everyone had contended before then.

[bookmark: p787]The Southern Ocean tested all sailors to the limits of their ability. Despite the spread of civilization across the face of Earth, it remained the one place where the single-handed sailor was absolutely, totally alone. Was that why she'd come south of the fifty? Had accepting the risk been for no better reason than to prove herself worthy to test herself against a frigging giant planet? If so, it was a hell of a way to do it. 

[bookmark: p788]There were far easier ways to die.

* * *

[bookmark: p789]Pascal thought that the new shroud seemed to be working well. Ami mounted the larger waves and plowed through the smaller ones. According to his charting program they had just passed over the south fifty and entered the Southern Ocean.

[bookmark: p790]The ocean was the same gray-blue expanse as before. There was no maker or other division. The only thing marking the occasion was a tick mark on mankind's artificial line across the bottom of the Earth.

[bookmark: p791]Just the same, he was not deceived. Down in this region sudden storms could arise in minutes, ice floes were possible, and there could even be rogue waves.

[bookmark: p792]The cause of rogue waves was still a matter of conjecture. Some oceanographers contended that they built up as a harmonic synchronicity of wave action. Others favored the seismic theory; that they were caused by abrupt earthquake shifts in the seabed. Then there were the wind force advocates, the Atlantis nuts, and the calving iceberg group. 

[bookmark: p793]Pascal believed all of the theories and none of them. It all depended on the state of his inebriation at the time. Despite the theories, the huge waves were a serious threat to any boat that chanced to encounter one, and especially dangerous when the boat was a narrow splinter such as his.

[bookmark: p794]Still, such monsters were far from his mind on this balmy day. He figured he was about four hundred kilometers away from the beacon, roughly a day's sail at the speed he was going. He hoped that the weather would remain benign.

[bookmark: p795]A few hours later he cursed the wind gods. The skies had darkened and loosed a miserably cold drizzle that drenched everything. In addition, the wind was abruptly quartering from dead ahead to ninety degrees to his line of travel and varying in intensity.

[bookmark: p796]The sudden shifts forced him to remain at the wheel, constantly adjusting Ami's heading so as not to lose speed. The wind changes from heavy gusts to a complete loss of breeze was irritating, especially since the constant changes kept him from taking a break.

[bookmark: p797]At one point he chanced a dash into the cabin for water and a snack only to be rewarded when Ami abruptly broached. The deck tilted suddenly as she slid sideways, only to tilt abruptly in the other direction as Ami turned into the wind. The boom swung from side to side, the main sail luffed, and the boat rapidly lost momentum. He could hear the keep motors and shroud servos working to keep her upright as he fought the wheel. Even with their help it took him several minutes to get her back on course again and longer still to regain his former speed.

[bookmark: p798]And he'd dropped his snack.

* * *

[bookmark: p799]"I assume you have no high hopes of rescue," the Orca mused as it munched on a squid that looked suspiciously like Jerome Blacker. "You know that you can't stay awake for much longer."

[bookmark: p800]Stay awake? Hell, she couldn't even stay alive for much longer. She could feel herself weakening, her strength being leached away the bitter cold, the angry wind, and the steady pounding of Mistrial by the towering waves.

[bookmark: p801]It would have been nice to have had time to release the life raft before she had to scramble for her life. With that nifty little rig she'd be warm, dry, and have something to eat and drink as she waited for rescue instead of sprawling on the slick, upside down bottom of Sergio's damn and prophetically named Mistrial.

[bookmark: p802]Was this what her life's arc had become; to die alone and cold in the depths of the most remote spot on Earth? Had her whole life simply been preparation for this rather stupid end? Still, it hadn't been a bad life. She'd enjoyed the camaraderie of the sailing community, enjoyed being feted by the rich and famous, liked having her pick of handsome men, and, best of all, absolutely loved beating the pants off anyone who thought women had no place on a high-performance sailboat. It was a real pity that she wasn't going to be the first woman sailor on Jupiter and show them what she could really do.

[bookmark: p803]What would Scott do when she was gone? He was her executor, so she had no concerns about property or money. He'd get everything, of course. It was the least she could do for her partner. She just hoped he didn't take up with some airhead who didn't know a fairlead from a turnbuckle.

[bookmark: p804]She regretted not being there to help George, Pascal, and Randy tie one on at the end of the race, nor seeing the joyous faces of their significant others as they returned safely to the port. Would that she could do likewise.

[bookmark: p805]The Orca broached. "I must say, you are taking a rather long time to die, aren't you?" 

[bookmark: p806]She didn't respond.

* * *

[bookmark: p807]She got the bad news about Phil and Besta when she was well south of the Cape of Good Hope, skirting the Atlantic high toward the bottom of her course, and approaching forty-five degrees, the closest she dared come to the Southern Ocean. Weather showed clear sailing for a couple of days, but down here that could change in an instant.

[bookmark: p808]They'd lost communication with Besta, Phil Peter's boat, soon after it crossed forty-two, south. Then, after he hadn't been heard from for days, his EPRIM chirped momentarily. None of his other communication gear had signaled, which meant something catastrophic must have happened. Nothing else would silence so many backups at once.

[bookmark: p809]A Brazilian navy training ship, the closest thing to him, was steaming toward his last known position, but there really wasn't much hope without some sort of radio contact. A raft is a tiny thing in a few million square kilometers of ocean, too tiny for even the sat-cams to image.

[bookmark: p810]She cried over Phil's loss for a solid hour, remembering the good times they'd had, and how Phil had been laughing when they last parted.

[bookmark: p811]Crying! Maybe the solitude was starting to get to her. She'd only been at sea for thirty-eight days, a little less than halfway through the race.

[bookmark: p812]For a while she envied Randy and Ann, who had somehow managed to hook up in the doldrums—that is, if the radio chatter had been right. Neither would say whether the gossip was true or not, so speculation was rampant for at least a week. That's how boring were the early stages of the race.

[bookmark: p813]These daily chats with the unseen skippers spread over hundreds of square kilometers helped dispel her loneliness, but those minutes of precious socialization were hardly enough to satisfy her. On those days when there wasn't enough sun to provide the surplus power she needed for the radio, the feeling grew worse. How would she ever face the rest of the trip? There were at least another forty-odd days to endure before she reached the finish line. 

[bookmark: p814]Was she going to be a total whimpering mess by the time she reached the finish? Gods, she had to pull herself together.

[bookmark: p815]Of course, her runaway emotions could be from lack of sleep, a poor eating schedule, or the constant effort of keeping Mistrial on course. All those combined had to be taking a toll on her. 

[bookmark: p816]Then too, the lack of anything to look at save Mistrial's deck and the undulating sea didn't stimulate the mind that much. It was not uncommon for single-hand skippers to have hallucinations. The other day she swore she watched trees going by on either side, as if she were back in Scott's SL500 on the cypress-lined roads of southern France, and not in the middle of the ocean.

[bookmark: p817]What she needed was more excitement.

* * *

[bookmark: p818]Excitement? The roaring forties gave her that and more. A front had brought gale-force winds of over fifty knots. The crests of the twenty-meter waves were blown off and gave the sea a white cover of foam. The storm had turned the day gray and filled the air with pelting rain. 

[bookmark: p819]Louella had reefed down the main sail to half of its area but left the foredeck staysail as it was. Even with reduced sail Mistrial was still moving at a steady twenty-five knots, according to the GPS readout and the inertial. It was like riding a roller coaster, only wetter. 

[bookmark: p820]Rest had become impossible since every pitch of Mistrial jerked Louella this way and that. The bunk was out of the question. There was no way she could risk a nap under these conditions.

[bookmark: p821]One of the lead boats, Chateau Legal de France, was reporting that they were feeling the first effects of another bad storm coming from the northwest. Louella studied the Australian satellite images and decided that if she headed farther south she could pick up the edge winds and possibly gain on the leaders of the race. 

[bookmark: p822]Going south and closer to Antarctica this soon in the race was dangerous, especially in the face of a storm, even if it was slated to pass to your north side. Aside from the storm the greater danger was encountering icebergs or, worse yet, growlers. 

[bookmark: p823]The Southern Ocean contained icebergs of all sizes. It was easy to avoid the larger ones, the giants that reared high above the water and spread dangerously much wider below; wide enough to snag a boat's keel. It would be the smaller bergs –-growlers—that would be a constant concern. Growlers showed little above the water's surface but are massive enough to damage the hull of a boat moving at speed. A single sharp icy edge was all it would take to rip through Mistrial's composite skin, tear through the Kevlar panels, and allow the ocean to fill the floatation chambers so that the boat sank ever lower into the sea.

[bookmark: p824]Mistrial would never completely sink so long as two of her four airtight compartments were sealed. Even with half of them flooded, it would sink only until the deck was awash. The masts would still project thirty-six meters into the air and allow her to continue sailing. 

[bookmark: p825]Flooded, Mistrial would move only at a snail's pace, a fraction of her normal speed, but perhaps that might be enough to make it to a place of rescue.

[bookmark: p826]On the other hand, did her chances of hitting a growler offset the advantage she'd gain in time? Maybe, by going south of fifty degrees, she'd make up for those lazy, useless days she'd spent in the doldrums. She wondered if the possibility of gaining on the leader was worth the increased risk.

[bookmark: p827]She wished Scott were here. He was the one who knew all about risk analysis, about weighing risk against benefits, about threats versus probability. All she had to go on was her gut and it was telling her that the risk of a few icebergs, storms, heavy seas, and who knew what else, might be worth seeing the looks on the others' faces when she made up the time. The risk wasn't that great. She was a good sailor and had handled boats in rough weather before. She could handle this.

[bookmark: p828]She turned Mistrial toward Antarctica.

* * *

[bookmark: p829]The Orca had surfaced again and was back in his formal wear, all black and white. "Still here, I see. You must fear dying awfully much if you are fighting this hard. Wouldn't it be easier to just let go? It's inevitable, you know, and I'm getting hungry."

[bookmark: p830]Louella wondered if he was right. Why was she struggling so much when the odds were clearly against her? Thirst, cold, weakness, lack of sleep, or the mechanical action of boat and wave could all do her in. All she had to do was close her eyes . . .

* * *

[bookmark: p831]The storm-driven waves had been building for two days and now towered over Mistrial like liquid mountains. Each was angry and powerful, a churning mass of frigid, gray-green water flecked with wind-driven foam. The succession of waves thundered along with all the force of nature, driven by winds unfettered by geographic features.

[bookmark: p832]For the millionth time Louella regretted her decision to come this far south so early in the circuit about Antarctica. The more southern route exposed her to the roughest seas in the Southern Ocean for longer than she had planned. Farther on, when she approached the Drake passage between South America and Antarctica, there was no choice. This route had been a calculated risk, she thought, and definitely a miscalculated one. Well, she'd made stupid decisions before, but none that looked to be as bad as this one. Even that hurricane she'd weathered with Pascal hadn't looked this bad. Of course, then they'd nine other crewmen to fight the sails.

[bookmark: p833]The wind was northerly, which allowed her to cut across the waves at a thirty-degree angle. It was a difficult tack. On each climb up the face of an onrushing wave Mistrial would heel dangerously to starboard just before cresting the wave. She could hear the whine of the ballast pumps as they filled the portside tanks to offset some of the heel. She heard the screams of the servos as they adjusted the mast to compensate for her attempts to correct. At times like this she felt Mistrial was alive, as living partner in the race, but even her help wasn't enough to make the ride comfortable. Louella had to keep the rudders hard over just to maintain her heading.

[bookmark: p834]After a few hours the partnership of boat and sailor fell into a rhythm of maneuvers that kept Mistrial stable; falling away as she descended the backs of the waves and fighting to starboard as she climbed the next. But that rhythm deluded her into thinking that she had everything under control. It made her imagine that she could tame the seas.

[bookmark: p835]Mistrial spun about as it fell off a breaking wave just as the wind slackened. The wheel twisted hard enough to rip from her numb hands as the boat turned broadside to the following wave. She spun the wheel to recover, but before she could get Mistrial turned back on course, the next wave drove her even more sideways. Mistrial fell into the next trough, wallowed, and let the next wave hit the mainsail with tons of water with such force that it knocked the boat onto her side.

[bookmark: p836]Mistrial's computers struggled to compensate and right herself when she was hit with another wave. The next thing Louella knew there was a cloud of stiff Kevlar-Tylvex and crap falling into the cockpit, water rushing over the port side, and a snake of stainless steel, probably one of the shroud cables, wrapped around her leg. The boom had fallen directly between the two wheels, and another long pole—the mast?—lay on top of it.

[bookmark: p837]Mistrial continued to tip as it climbed another large wave. The deck became a forty-five degree slope and the tilt was increasing toward the point where she could not right herself.

[bookmark: p838]The servos were grinding, winch motors growling, and every alarm on the boat was demanding attention with their shrill cries.

[bookmark: p839]She tried to pull her leg free of the line as she pushed aside the mass of stiff sail that covered her. She scrambled down the tilting deck but something long and hard stopped her. Another part of the mast, probably. She had to get past it. She had to get to the release.

[bookmark: p840]Louella fought to reach the emergency raft. She beat at the loose sail, pushing it aside as the slope increased. Freeing the raft would deploy both the NEARCOM satellite beacon and the BARAD long-range positioning unit, her two best hopes for rescue. 

[bookmark: p841]Only she didn't have time to reach the damn release. Gray-green water swirled around her waist as she struggled to free herself, but the tangle wouldn't give way. Mistrial's deck became nearly vertical and Louella found herself tangled in sail and lines. Even the swing keels' counterweights couldn't compensate for something this extreme. 

[bookmark: p842]Knife! Louella reached down, flipped her sling-back blade open and hacked at the stiff Kevlar-Tylvex fabric. The embedded glass threads were tough, even for her diamond-edged blade. She twisted the knife and cut along the long dimension of the fabric, opened a long slit, and felt around for the handle of the release. If she didn't get free, the boat was going to roll on top of her. 

[bookmark: p843]Time ran out. She kicked herself toward the stern. It was too late to try to go in any other direction if she didn't want to be trapped under the boat. She'd have a better chance to swim out from the stern. The damn cable was still wrapped around her leg. She grabbed it and yanked. There seemed to be a lot of slack. She hauled again, took a loop in her hand, and kicked again as another wave hit and Mistrial finally turned turtle. 

[bookmark: p844]Louella struggled to reach the surface as Mistrial rolled gracefully over, the rudders and keels emerging like the fins of some international-orange sea monster. Her suit had inflated enough to maintain buoyancy, but it made her every move awkward. She fought the waves and her survival suit. She had to return to the stern where she could clamber onto the exposed hull. She grew frustrated as the wave action took the boat away whenever she was within a few strokes of reaching it.

[bookmark: p845]There was only a limited amount of time that the suit could maintain her body heat. With so much contact with the frigid water, heat was draining away fast. She looked at the approaching wave, timed her next move, and, with a burst of swinging arms and a powerful kick of her one free leg, reached the stern.

[bookmark: p846]The hull was slippery under her as she crab crawled across the smooth hull to reach the keel. That was the only place where she could brace herself. As another wave passed she started to slide and threw arms wide to create as much friction as possible and arrest her sidewise movement.

[bookmark: p847]It seemed to take hours to reach the keel, but she was finally able to brace a boot against it. With great care she unwrapped the line from her leg, threw the end around the second keel, and held the temporary lifeline with her right hand in a death-defying grip. The position was uncomfortable, but the combination of cable and keel held her solidly on the wildly rolling boat.

[bookmark: p848]Having four hundred square meters of sail and a few hundred kilos of hardware beneath the hull acted like a sea anchor and stabilized the upturned boat in the angry sea. Just the same, she had to hold tight to maintain her position. Back in the water she wouldn't stand a chance of survival, even with her cold-weather survival suit on.

[bookmark: p849]For the first time she noticed that night was falling. "Just get me to morning," she whispered. "Just let me survive."

* * *

[bookmark: p850]After the short night, dawn presented the same seascape as before—a vista of blue-gray water, a few clouds, and the occasional chunk of ice. The EPRIB was still bobbing ten meters away from the overturned boat, hopefully screaming for rescue. There was no sign of the other two buoys nor of the life raft. Even the automatic release hadn't worked. All of her fancy gear was probably trapped in that mess that had fallen across the cockpit and stern.

[bookmark: p851]There was only a one-percent chance of the EPIRB failing, but it would just be her dumb luck to be a member of that demographic. She hoped not.

[bookmark: p852]How long would she have to wait? Would it be hours or days? Her arm ached and one leg had gone to sleep. Very carefully she adjusted her position so that her weight rested on the other side. She just wished that the cold-weather suit had a little more padding. Yeah, and a lot more insulation, too. A little food and water would be nice, as well. She'd rather have a little vodka. It wouldn't help anything but it might make the waiting more bearable.

[bookmark: p853]Damn, it was cold. 

* * *

[bookmark: p854]"Allo?" came the querulous cry once more. 

[bookmark: p855]Damn, couldn't that Orca keep quiet for a while longer? Louella tried to force her swollen eyes open. She'd almost fallen asleep. She felt so weak. She could no longer feel the line she'd been gripping. Her body felt as if it weighed a thousand tons. She tried to will herself awake. If she fell asleep she'd die for certain.

[bookmark: p856]"Allo," the Orca said again, louder this time. She didn't respond. She was finally getting warm and able to forget her misery. Despite everything she could do she felt herself sliding ever so slowly into a dark pit as the sounds of wind and wave disappeared.

[bookmark: p857]She felt a tug on her leg, as if the Orca was trying to get a purchase and drag her from the boat the way it did a hapless sea lion. There was a second tug, her arm this time. She'd hoped he'd at least let her die before he ate her.

[bookmark: p858]"Let me be, damn it," she croaked weakly through cracked and blistered lips. 

* * *

[bookmark: p859]Pascal was near exhaustion. He'd been catching fifteen-minute naps during this race to rescue la noir, the black woman, but nothing longer. Twice the wind and waves had knocked Ami over, the end of the boom dipping into the water, and once, at night and in a howling twenty-knot wind shift, when he'd had to clear the jib from the mast, he'd nearly slipped into the sea. Thankfully, his safety line had held for that critical few seconds it took for him to regain his footing.

[bookmark: p860]The seas had calmed somewhat since then, but the waves were still monstrous. It was difficult to see beyond the trough he was in and, when Ami crested the waves, all he could see was other waves. It was hardly the environment for a successful search where the needle was tiny indeed, and the haystack a thousand square kilometers of nothing but frothing seascape.

[bookmark: p861]On the good side, Louella's EPRIB was still sending out its mindless signal, broadcasting the GPS location to all and sundry. It would be a simple matter to get close to it, Pascal thought, but he didn't want to risk ramming Louella's Mistrial—if it was still afloat. It wouldn't be smart to put both of them in need of rescue.

[bookmark: p862]Instead he tried to maneuver Ami downwind of the EPRIB and slowly drift toward it. That meant going close-hauled with the wind beating the jib backwards and the main hanging slack. He had no control in that situation, however Ami seemed to be stable as she slowly drifted EPIRB-ward.

[bookmark: p863]Then, as he crested a wave, he spotted something orange in the water, like the belly of a very large Orca with a pair of bulb-tipped fins.

[bookmark: p864]It was Louella's overturned boat.

[bookmark: p865]On the next rise he drew closer and saw a body sprawled across the hull. Was she dead or alive? There was no indication of movement during the brief glance he'd gotten. Gods in heaven, three days exposed like that? How could she be anything but dead?

[bookmark: p866]Time to make plans. How could he get to her? If by some miracle she was alive, most certainly she would be in no condition to swim across to his Ami, and it was sheer insanity for him to do likewise to bring her back. Could he lasso her, like one of her western cowboys? No, he had not the skill to cast a line with any accuracy.

[bookmark: p867]Neither could he approach the wreck closely. He had no idea of what lay beneath the surface. It could be a tangle of lines and sails, all too willing to snag his keel or wrap around a rudder. Best to keep well clear of the wreck.

[bookmark: p868]"Allo!" he shouted across the twenty meters now separating the two boats. "Allo!" 

[bookmark: p869]There was no response. Not a twitch, not a wave, not the slightest hint of life.

[bookmark: p870]Ami was starting to drift past the wreck so Pascal dropped sail, hoping that he could match drift with the wrecked Mistrial. For a moment it looked as if they were continuing to drift apart and then, a moment later, together. Stable, he thought, and considered his options.

[bookmark: p871]He could not leave the woman like this, even if it was only her dead body. Everyone deserved a proper funeral, a burial if at all possible. When he died he wanted to be buried as far from the sea as possible, perhaps in the deserts of Arizona that he had once visited. Wouldn't she wish the same?

[bookmark: p872]So, what to do? There seemed little option but to get across to the wreck and retrieve her.

[bookmark: p873]A quick call to George brought less than the expected agreement. "No one will think less of you for letting her go. We're just glad we found out what happened."

[bookmark: p874]"I understand," Pascal replied. "But I cannot do that, George. It would be a dishonor for me, for us, to not bring her back. I just want you here in case anything goes wrong."

[bookmark: p875]There was a pause. "I'm about five hours away but I'm coming. Hey, I'll bet Blacker's worried how much the accident's going to cost him," George said. 

[bookmark: p876]"I care little for Monsieur Blacker's feelings in this matter," Pascal said. "He is not a sailor. He is not a racer. He would not understand."

[bookmark: p877]"I do, Pascal. As will the rest. Do what you think best and we'll all be behind you. See you in a bit."

* * *

[bookmark: p878]Pascal dressed: Three layers of thermal underwear, cold weather gear, and a survival suit just might be enough to let him survive the frigid swim over to the wreck. Once there he would wrap the body in plastic, tie a line to it and haul it back to Ami. It sounded simple, but the confusion of lines, the pitching hull, and the restrictions the survival suit placed on his every movement made this a strenuous undertaking. Even with all the protection he didn't want to be in the water any longer than necessary.

[bookmark: p879]He clamped his facemask tight, checked to make sure the lines were secure and waited for the boats to swing closer together.

[bookmark: p880]There! He leapt from the transom into the freezing water, gasping as the cold penetrated the outer layer. Swinging his arms wildly, he paddled toward the wreck and was pushed back twice by a wave. Finally he reached the overturned boat, took hold of one swinging rudder, and dragged himself onto the ice-covered hull.

[bookmark: p881]He grabbed hold of Louella's leg as he pulled himself to her side. It looked as if she'd donned her survival suit before Mistrial capsized. That had probably helped her survive for a while, although you could hardly call that a blessing in this weather.

[bookmark: p882]"Mon chere, c'est si mauvais, pauvre fille," he whispered as he pushed his dragline under her. Then he tied a bowline, the only knot he could make with his thick gloves, and tugged on it to make sure it would hold.

[bookmark: p883]"Let me be, damn it," she croaked weakly and tried to push him away. "I don't want to answer any more of your fucking, stupid questions!"

[bookmark: p884]Pascal was so startled he nearly fell overboard. "Louella! You are alive!" It was unbelievable. Alive, and after all this time! George would never believe it.

[bookmark: p885]Her head lolled, and her body went slack. 

[bookmark: p886]Pascal knew there was no time to lose. Louella had to be in a fragile state after so much exposure. Would she survive the shock of being dragged through the freezing water? He had no alternative. Regardless of her condition, he had to get her to Ami quickly for whatever medical care he could give her. She needed fluids—maybe warm tea, hot soup, and pain killers? Yes, that would probably be the priorities once he got her safely to Ami. 

[bookmark: p887]Pascal made certain that her survival suit was completely sealed, threw the sheet of poly around her for extra flotation, and secured the line holding her to his own waist before cutting her from the thin safety cord.

[bookmark: p888]Immediately both of them slid off the icy deck and into the water. Pascal struggled to get out from under Louella. He had to keep from getting their lines tangled. 

[bookmark: p889]Once on the surface he pulled himself and his burden hand-over-hand to Ami. When he reached her low transom he tried to lift Louella from the water, but could not. She was too heavy, and he was too tired.

[bookmark: p890]He hauled himself aboard and, teeth chattering, staggered to the rearmost winch, threw her line around it, and, with agonizing slowness, hand-cranked the winch to lift her aboard. Then he pushed, pulled, rolled, and otherwise manhandled her body into the cabin and out of the weather.

[bookmark: p891]"George, she is alive!" he broadcast on the emergency channel as he gathered medical supplies. "She is alive!"

[bookmark: p892]This had been a race within the race, and he had won. Despite everything the Southern Ocean had thrown at them she was still alive!

* * *

[bookmark: p893]Louella sat in the pilot's seat and stared at Pascal as he stood at the wheel. It had been two days since she woke, and she still felt weak as a newborn kitten. She barely had enough energy to warm tea or fix soup.How many days had she been asleep and how had Pascal managed to take care of her and the boat in that time?

[bookmark: p894]The navigation equipment told her that Pascal was now pushing Ami through the worst part of the race, out of the Ross and into the Bellingshausen Sea. This was where the icebergs were thickest as the current and the wind pushed them toward the Drake Passage. 

[bookmark: p895]Thankfully the seas were calmer here; possibly because of the tremendous amount of slush that moderated the waves. Ever since the warming had accelerated abruptly in the late fifties, the Antarctic shelf was sending ever more ice into the sea. The imminent danger of the Ross shelf completely detaching itself and seriously raising the water levels around the world was a grave concern. 

[bookmark: p896]She knew her presence on the boat was making a serious dent in Pascal's food and, worse yet, his water. To save weight he carried only enough to last the ninety days afloat. With the output of the desalinization unit it could last him a hundred days. With two of them on board, and more than half the race over, there was enough for perhaps thirty more days, and that only if they were sparing in their intake.

[bookmark: p897]Limiting water was a dangerous option. Once they got above the south thirties they'd need more water to offset that lost to perspiration, an effect that would only grow more acute as they crossed the equator once again. 

[bookmark: p898]The bad news was that she had to hang off the stern to snag small chunks of berg they could melt to extend their water supply. The forward hold made a decent ice storage unit. 

[bookmark: p899]The good news was that there were lots of chunks.

* * *

[bookmark: p900]Midday the wind had died to nothing more than a stiff breeze with only a mild chop to the water. Earlier in the day they had passed a jagged iceberg that reared at least one hundred meters above the water and surely spread at least that far on either side. From the foredeck Louella marveled at the way the iceberg's colors changed from white through green to deep blue as its depth increased in the clear water. She watched for any underwater green ahead, which would indicate a submerged berg, but Pascal managed to keep the boat well clear.

[bookmark: p901]The growlers were more numerous in this area. Small chunks of ice floated everywhere. There was a constant rattle of ice along the hull, every hard clunk reminding them of the danger of a torn hull, a stove side, and the danger of losing a rudder or keel.

[bookmark: p902]Pascal was picking his way carefully through the icy maze. Sailing like this was tedious, tiring, and took far too much time. They were barely moving, about five knots, a snail's pace compared to the thirty-six she'd made in the fifties.

[bookmark: p903]"Growler," Louella shouted as they approached a dangerous floe. Mon Ami immediately canted to port and nearly sent her into the water. 

[bookmark: p904]"Watch what you're doing," she shouted. "I damn near spilled my tea!

[bookmark: p905]"Passengers, they should not be on deck," he scolded.

[bookmark: p906]"I'll sit where I damn well please," she shot back. She'd be damned if she was going to let him boss her around just because he was skipper. Damn, why was he was going so slowly? "Take in the main," she yelled in aggravation. "You'll catch more air."

[bookmark: p907]Pascal ignored her suggestion.

[bookmark: p908]"You'll never catch up with the leaders this way. You're worse than George with his damn caution."

[bookmark: p909]"J'ai un plan," he replied confidently. "I have a plan."

[bookmark: p910]"Right, and I have a million more euros of Blacker's money," she replied. 

[bookmark: p911]Once the race's leaders cleared the Drake they'd shoot past the Falklands and up the coast of South America, taking advantage of the South Atlantic high as they raced through summer and into the early Spring of the northern hemisphere.

[bookmark: p912]"You'll never catch up," she growled. Or make up the time he'd lost coming to rescue her, she added, but only to herself.

* * *

[bookmark: p913]As they were approaching the South Shetlands they decided to have a big meal. Once in the passage where so many ships had perished, there would be little time for such diversions. The meeting of Atlantic and Pacific in the narrow passage, and all below sixty, south made for horrific sailing conditions.

[bookmark: p914]"Perhaps we will have to break open the wine cellar," Pascal joked during his dreadful dinner of Jupiter crew kibble and slop. "I think I have a few bottles of good vintage."

[bookmark: p915]By God, she wished he did. She could use a strong drink about now, even if it was only French wine instead of her favorite New Zealand red. "I'll settle for melted bergs," she replied, hoisting her cup. 

[bookmark: p916]The melt water wasn't enough to wash down the dry pellets that had so much nutritive value. Alex had sworn that a steady diet of the kibble would extend her life, but Louella suspected that it would only make it seem that way.

* * *

[bookmark: p917]Shooting the Drake Passage was as hair-raising as any of the storms she'd seen in the south fifties; the conflicting currents created swirling, choppy seas, while the winds were blowing almost directly north, toward Cape Horn. Adding to their danger was a storm that drove bullets of rain horizontally across the boat.

[bookmark: p918]Mon Ami was running at extreme heel, her deck tipped at nearly twenty degrees as she plowed at a steady forty-five knots, leaping from wave top to wave top with a steady pitching motion. She tried to study the set of the sails to see how he managed to get so much speed, but all she could see without sticking her head outside was the mainsail.

[bookmark: p919]Louella braced herself in the cabin, checking the weather maps and satellite images, trying to figure out how they could best get clear of the storm. One option was to swing to the east, but that would mean beating back west later so that idea was immediately discarded.

[bookmark: p920]"Keep her on a steady thirty-degrees," she shouted, then looked up from the maps to make certain Pascal had heard her.

[bookmark: p921]But there was no Pascal at the wheel.

[bookmark: p922]"Son of a bitch!" she shouted as she clambered from the cabin to reach the wheel. His safety line was slack and detached from his harness. Had he been washed overboard? How the hell could she hope to find him in this weather? Could she even turn the boat around in this wind?

[bookmark: p923]All this flashed through her mind in the seconds it took for her to stand and take control of the wheel. She was suddenly aware of the biting cold and her own vulnerability. She had neither harness nor gloves. She should have been wearing her survival gear, not the ill-fitting clothing she'd snagged from Pascal's bag.

[bookmark: p924]"What are you doing?" Pascal exclaimed as he appeared at her side. "Get below!" He put one hand in the middle of her back and shoved as he regained control of the wheel. "At once!"

[bookmark: p925]"I was afraid you'd been swept overboard," she shouted.

[bookmark: p926]"Et je amie tu," he replied with a laugh. "I love you, too."

* * *

[bookmark: p927]"What the hell were you thinking, leaving the wheel like that?" she demanded. She was still seething over his apparent disappearance. 

[bookmark: p928]Pascal shrugged. "I had to walk the spinnaker around the mast." 

[bookmark: p929]"The freaking spinnaker!" Louella looked forward and was shocked that he had put that much sail up. "You're a damned idiot," she said and glanced at the tachometer. Fifty-five knots! To get that kind of speed she might have put up the big rag herself. Nevertheless, it took nerve to fly such a huge sail in these conditions. She doubted there were many who'd have the skills to handle it. Or who, like her and Pascal, would be foolish enough to do so.

[bookmark: p930]"Just the same," he shrugged, "I appreciate that you were concerned for my safety."

[bookmark: p931]"Crap, with you gone I had to take control of the boat. She sure wasn't going to sail herself, was she?" 

[bookmark: p932]"Perhaps not," he said and smiled. He had a nice smile, which was a pity. Leave it to her luck that the man who'd rescued her was the one guy in the entire freaking race who wouldn't be willing to jump her bones.

[bookmark: p933]"A fucking pity," she laughed, and laughed again at his puzzled expression as she stumbled back into the cabin. 

* * *

[bookmark: p934]A few nights later the storm was past and Ami raced along under clear skies.

[bookmark: p935]"I think we will not be able to fulfill our part of the contract," Pascal said regretfully. "We will not be first."

[bookmark: p936]"Not the way you're sailing," she replied. "Hate to tell you this, friend, but you sail like an old woman. Tighten your line, damn it. If we keep moving at this prudent speed we'll run out of drinking water long before we reach France."

[bookmark: p937]Pascal nodded. "Oui, we must put in for water or have someone bring it to us." He shrugged. "Of course, that would disqualify us."

[bookmark: p938]"We'll never be first across the line anyhow, so taking on water would hardly hurt our chances." 

[bookmark: p939]Wait a minute! Had she just said "First?" She leaped up and began to dance around. "I've got it. Pascal, we don't have to win the race. And maybe we don't have to take on water."

[bookmark: p940]Pascal glanced around, as if to see if there were something nearby with which he could restrain the mad woman dancing in the cockpit.

[bookmark: p941]"Your napkin," she shouted. "The one Blacker signed. The contract his lawyers tried to replace with their two-hundred page monstrosity."

[bookmark: p942]Pascal shook his head. "It is the moon, perhaps that has made you mad?"

[bookmark: p943]"Listen to me, you damn snail eater. He wrote that we had to be the first boat across the line. He didn't say we had to win. He didn't say we had to have one skipper. He didn't say anything but that one of our boats had to be first."

[bookmark: p944]"But we are so far behind," Pascal said.

[bookmark: p945]Louella put one hand on the wheel and the other on her hip. "Listen, if the two of us work together we can tighten the sail more, hold a better line, and plot a strategy that will make up the time. If we work together we can sail a lot better than any single skipper working alone."

[bookmark: p946]Pascal hesitated. "If I had more time to study the weather . . ." He screwed his face into a wicked grin. "We are three hundred kilometers behind the leader. Do you really think we can make that up in time?"

[bookmark: p947]"We have twenty-six days of water left," she said. "That's one day over the record for this race. If we work our asses off we just might be able to pull it off."

[bookmark: p948]Pascal paused to make a minor adjustment of the wheel, squinted into the distance, and then, very carefully, took his hand away. "Could you take over while I study the charts? There is much we have to do."

[bookmark: p949]Louella took the wheel in both hands and moved Ami slightly closer to the wind. She looked at the first stars of the evening, smelled the clean ocean scent, felt the wind in her hair, and tasted the salt spray on her lips. This was what she lived for, what she almost died for: the exhilaration of wind and water, of mastering the most magnificent machines crafted by man. This was sailing. This was her life.

[bookmark: p950]All doubt had left her mind, there was no longer any fear of failure. "We're going to do it," she shouted defiantly to the heavens as the motorized winches took in the boom and Ami heeled toward Jupiter.
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[bookmark: Chap_6]FANTASY STORIES:

Dragon's Tooth

Written by Kristine Kathryn Rusch
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[bookmark: p952]The last place Tara expected to find magical items was in a tourist shop on the rue de Rivoli. The shop was tiny, perhaps twenty-five square feet, with glass shelves recessed into the wall and a one-person counter made of brick. Most of the touristy merchandise—the usual postcards, canvas bags with pictures of the Eiffel Tower, and Toulouse-Latrec mugs—were on rack displays on the sidewalk outside. 

[bookmark: p953]Inside, though, she found a treasure trove. Mingled among the delicate Limoges china and the petite Lalique glass sculptures were unique items: cloisonné that looked authentically medieval, perfume bottles made from glass so old it was cloudy, and little crosses that appeared to be made of hammered, stamped gold.

[bookmark: p954]She was the only customer inside, but outside tourists gathered around the postcards, discussing the choices in loud voices. A few of the tourists spoke English; the rest were speaking Japanese or German.

[bookmark: p955]It was her personal curse that she understood banal conversation in all three languages.

[bookmark: p956]Horns honked and someone shouted an expletive in French. She made herself focus on the items on the backlit shelf before her, trying not to feel overwhelmed.

[bookmark: p957]It had been eight months since she had been to Paris. Eight quiet months in which she revamped the store she'd taken over in the Loire Valley. It had taken two months to cleanse the stench of the dark arts from the place, and two more to find the right merchandise. Then she had to suffer the ridicule of the locals who did not believe an American—no matter what her experience—should run a magic shop that had been in their fair city for hundreds of years.

[bookmark: p958]She wasn't making a profit yet. She doubted that would happen for another two years or more. But she was finally making enough to hire an assistant, and the assistant's presence enabled her to come to Paris on a buying trip.

[bookmark: p959]And to get away.

[bookmark: p960]Most of the items on the backlit shelf were small—ruby-encrusted thimbles and china tea cups so tiny that no doll could hold them. But in the middle of the shelf, someone had laid a fringed bit of tapestry. Its ragged edges suggested that it had been torn off a larger piece.

[bookmark: p961]Above the tapestry, someone had taped a small sign. In black India ink, someone had calligraphed a single word. Relique. Relic, in English. Or, more properly, relics.

[bookmark: p962]Bits and pieces of a past that probably had not existed: a splinter of wood from the True Cross; shards from a Roman burial urn; and a lock of dusty-looking hair shaped like a broach, purported to be taken from St. Peter's body shortly after he died.

[bookmark: p963]Next to the hair was a long bone-colored piece in the shape of a dagger. At first, Tara peered at it, thinking it to be ivory. Then she noted the yellowish stains at the base, and the hollowed remains of something else, something—

[bookmark: p964]"May I help you?" the voice, not friendly, spoke English instead of French. 

[bookmark: p965]Tara turned. A man stood behind the tiny glass counter, his hands resting on it, but leaving no marks. His black hair was cut short, accenting his hawklike nose and sharp eyes. He wore a perfectly pressed white linen shirt, open at the collar, revealing a tuft of dark hair that disappeared down the button line.

[bookmark: p966]She had no idea what tipped him to her nationality. She was not wearing the American uniform of jeans, a t-shirt, and sneakers. Instead, she wore black pants and a mohair sweater purchased here in Paris. As an indulgence, she had wrapped a silk scarf—the only Hermes she owned—around the sweater's turtleneck.

[bookmark: p967]"Oui," she said in French, a language she had been fluent in since she was three. "I am curious about the relics."

[bookmark: p968]His face did not soften as she had expected it to. Usually French shopkeepers loved to discuss their wares. Perhaps the attitude was different here on the Right Bank, near the Louvre, the Tuileries, and the Seine, one of the greatest tourist areas of Paris.

[bookmark: p969]"I cannot vouch for the True Cross," he said, still speaking to her in English. "They did not give certificates of authenticity at the Crucifixion."

[bookmark: p970]Tara didn't smile because he hadn't meant that as humor. He'd been completely serious. It seemed everyone she met lately had no sense of humor, and she missed it.

[bookmark: p971]She was afraid she was losing hers as well.

[bookmark: p972]She frowned at the man. She did not know him; she was certain of that. She hadn't seen him when she was Abracadabra Incorporated's most successful troubleshooter. Nor had she run into him during her corporate climb. And she was certain he had not come to her new shop, Enchanté.

[bookmark: p973]Instead of answering him, she turned back to the relics, and continued studying the ivory dagger. Its surface was uneven, chipped slightly, and lined. Most ivory was smooth, even after hundreds of years, and it had not turned yellow at the base. 

[bookmark: p974]She peered into the hollow end and started. No one had removed a hilt. Instead, there appeared to be organic material inside, dried and molded to a hollow center that went halfway down the ivory itself. Not a dagger then.

[bookmark: p975]A tooth.

[bookmark: p976]Her stomach tightened. The tooth wasn't round enough to be a whale's tooth, nor was it long enough to be an elephant's tusk. The tooth was flat on both sides, and sharp on the edges, coming down to a perfect point at the tip, almost like an arrowhead, only without the groves so often found in anything manmade.

[bookmark: p977]"May I?" she asked in French, her hand hovering over the tooth.

[bookmark: p978]"The sign says not to touch." His tone was as surly as he was, and his English was formal enough to let her know that he didn't practice it much.

[bookmark: p979]"That's why I'm asking," she said, giving up and switching to English. Let him be surly, and let him know he was right. She didn't care now. She wanted to see the tooth.

[bookmark: p980]He left the brick counter. She could see him reflected in the glass shelves. His black pants were as neatly pressed as his linen shirt was. He wore a pair of shiny black boots that clicked on the ancient enamel floor.

[bookmark: p981]He stopped beside her, and brushed her hand away, as if he were afraid she was going to get something noxious on his precious relics. "What is it you want to see?"

[bookmark: p982]"The tooth," she said.

[bookmark: p983]A slight tension seemed to run through his body, then he nodded once. He opened a small cupboard beneath the shelves and removed a single leather glove. 

[bookmark: p984]As he slipped it on, Tara realized how quiet the shop had grown. She could no longer hear the constant shush-shush of traffic or the conversations of passing tourists. Instead, all she heard was her own breathing, short and raspy, and the rustle of the shopkeeper's expensive clothing.

[bookmark: p985]He slipped his gloved fingers beneath the tooth, moving gingerly. The tooth hung off both ends of his hand, looking impossibly large as he lifted it away from the light.

[bookmark: p986]"You may not touch," he said. "It is too sharp and you might get the cut."

[bookmark: p987]His voice had lost some of its surliness now that she had responded in her native language, so she did not think to correct his English nor did she give any indication that he had misspoken.

[bookmark: p988]Instead she studied the tooth, itching to touch it, to see if the lines in the surface ran deep or were a result of use, like the chips seemed to be.

[bookmark: p989]"What kind of tooth is it?" she asked.

[bookmark: p990]"A tooth of the dragon," he said.

[bookmark: p991]Even though a part of her had expected that answer, a chill ran down her spine. All of her desire to touch it vanished. She had to resist the urge to clasp her hands behind her back.

[bookmark: p992]"If that's true," she said, "it's a dangerous item to have lying around." 

[bookmark: p993]His gaze met hers. Obviously, most tourists did not have that response. 

[bookmark: p994]"It guards my treasures as it was meant to," he said, finally reverting to French. "And my signs do warn you not to touch."

[bookmark: p995]Not to touch. Such a simple command for such a complex action. She had never seen a dragon's tooth outside of the Academy, and that tooth had been defanged, so to speak. It had had centuries of white magic practiced over it and in later years, it had been bleached to remove the poisons.

[bookmark: p996]Still, that tooth had throbbed with an energy that she hadn't encountered anywhere else, an energy that could easily become addictive if she wasn't careful.

[bookmark: p997]And the memory of that energy left her struggling to keep her hands clasped in front of her, to play the part of a curious tourist instead of a former employee of Abracadabra Inc.

[bookmark: p998]"Are you sure it's authentic?" she asked.

[bookmark: p999]His gaze met hers. He recognized the game she was playing.

[bookmark: p1000]"It is not for sale," he said.

[bookmark: p1001]They were speaking French and his surliness was gone. In fact, he seemed a little frightened, as if he did not want to think about the liability he held.

[bookmark: p1002]"Then why is it on the shelf?" she asked.

[bookmark: p1003]"I have told you. To protect my merchandise."

[bookmark: p1004]"So you have something even more valuable than a dragon's tooth?"

[bookmark: p1005]That would be hard—and rare. Pure dragon's teeth were priceless, as difficult to find as the creatures that they came from. She had never met a dragon. She'd heard that a few still survived, but then she'd also heard that dragons were the comedians of the magical set, which she didn't believe.

[bookmark: p1006]A funny dragon couldn't be scary, and a scary dragon couldn't be funny. She knew that much.

[bookmark: p1007]She also knew that modified dragon's teeth were somewhat common. In the Middle Ages, wealthy mages drilled holes in the poisonless back teeth, and inserted precious gems. Those teeth could still be found in most of the real magic shops throughout Europe, although they too commanded a hefty price.

[bookmark: p1008]"I have items," the shopkeeper said, sotto voce, "if you are certified."

[bookmark: p1009]He almost made it sound like he kept pornography in the back. She half expected him to show her a dirty picture.

[bookmark: p1010]But she knew what he meant. He wanted to know if she had a magic certification, a convenience certain areas had adopted to make the sale of magical items easier. Shops that required certification from strangers were more common in places with a heavy tourist trade. 

[bookmark: p1011]She supposed she should not be surprised that she encountered one on the Right Bank.

[bookmark: p1012]But she was surprised. Paris had been her home base, more or less, for the decade she ran around the world like an insane person, trying to make sure that all the little magic shops franchised by Abracadabra Inc. followed corporate policy. Eventually, she gave up trying to find an apartment—it was difficult for the French to get an apartment in Paris; an oft-traveling American had an even tougher time—and got a permanent suite at the Hotel Intercontinental.

[bookmark: p1013]She was staying at that hotel this time. They had missed her, called her by name, told her that they had been quite reluctant to give up her suite.

[bookmark: p1014]She hadn't really missed them. She had spent most of her time in that suite asleep on the decadently thick mattress of the queen-sized bed. Asleep or being awakened by yet another urgent phone call.

[bookmark: p1015]Initially she had liked the hotel because it was close to La Place de l'Opera and the Vendôme and some of the best shopping in a city that was made for shopping. But in those days, she never had time to go on anything except an emergency spree when she needed new clothing for yet another country in yet another climate.

[bookmark: p1016]So when she came back to Paris, she promised herself that she would spend three whole days shopping, sightseeing, and partaking of the heady nightlife. Then she would get down to business, visiting the dusty shops behind twisty stairwells in Le Marais and the less-traveled areas of the Left Bank as well as the arrondissements where the tourists never went.

[bookmark: p1017]A buying trip, she had told her new employee—but she had never said all that she would buy. Yes, things for the shop, but also a few things for her like an extraordinarily expensive pair of shoes that she would probably never wear at home, a skimpy little designer dress that would sit in the back of her closet waiting for a special occasion, and the most perfect scarf she could find—one that cost more than the shoes, one that was made of the finest silk and yet was casual enough to wear in Enchanté every day of the year.

[bookmark: p1018]"Mademoiselle," the shopkeeper said, and Tara blinked at him, looking up slowly.

[bookmark: p1019]She had been staring at the relic and thinking about her trip. Imagine if something else had been on her mind—the amount of money in her pockets, for example, or the safety of her jewelry in the hotel safe.

[bookmark: p1020]She had heard about magics that pulled surface details from the mind. She had never so easily succumbed before.

[bookmark: p1021]"You are certified?" he asked, only this time he was speaking English.

[bookmark: p1022]And he had called her Mademoiselle, which was accurate. She was thirty-five, and she'd had surprisingly few relationships—certainly none strong enough to turn her into a Madame.

[bookmark: p1023]She smiled at the thought. It didn't play in English. The shopkeeper looked at her strangely.

[bookmark: p1024]"Yes," she said. "I am certified."

[bookmark: p1025]Then she dug into her bag—a terrible Gucci knock-off that she'd brought along precisely because she was going into a touristy area. She had wanted the pickpockets to think she was a poor tourist, not worth their time, rather than a woman whose decade of overwork had left her moderately wealthy.

[bookmark: p1026]She showed the shopkeeper the ridiculous piece of parchment that the Society of French Mages had given her gratis for all the work she had done, controlling and destroying the dark arts throughout France. Normally, certification through the Society cost several thousand dollars and included a long (exceedingly dull) course on the history of magic, as well as a test for the most basic skills. She'd been able to skip all of that. First, because it was more than clear she had the skills, secondly because in her position as Chief Troubleshooter for Abracadabra Inc, she probably knew more magical history than most mages, and thirdly because they wanted her on their side.

[bookmark: p1027]Certification lasted a lifetime. They couldn't revoke it.

[bookmark: p1028]The shopkeeper's bushy dark eyebrow raised. "Your certification is French."

[bookmark: p1029]His voice held surprise. She was getting irritated enough at his attitude that she almost added she had been certified in each country that had joined the program, but she didn't. The French Society had the strictest regulations, the toughest test, and the most prestige.

[bookmark: p1030]So far as she knew, she was the only American to have their blessing.

[bookmark: p1031]"I wouldn't have thought French certification a problem," she said.

[bookmark: p1032]"No, no, it is not," he said. "It is simply—unusual."

[bookmark: p1033]She smiled at him. "Then we are both full of surprises."

[bookmark: p1034]"Oui." He set the dragon's tooth back on its shelf. The ivory glistened in the light. Then he pressed a button on the side of the counter. "One moment."

[bookmark: p1035]She crossed her arms and resisted the urge to tap her toe. She didn't like being this close to the tooth. The longing to touch it had returned. Just one finger along its edge, to see if the ridges were scaly like she remembered. . .

[bookmark: p1036]A poster moved toward her, startling her. Then she realized she was looking at a door as it opened. The door obviously led to the supply room. A delicate woman came out, her black hair cut in a perfect wedge, her make-up—in varying shades of red—dramatic against her pale skin.

[bookmark: p1037]She was yelling at the proprietor even before she stepped into the shop—something about interrupting her valuable work.

[bookmark: p1038]He snorted. "Watching soap operas is not valuable, except to the television, nor is it work, not even for you."

[bookmark: p1039]The woman's eyes narrowed. Her black turtleneck and tight black Capri pants showed off a perfect Cyd Charisse figure. 

[bookmark: p1040]It wasn't until she turned toward Tara that Tara realized the woman wasn't beautiful at all. Her nose was too big, her eyes too small, but with that alchemy that all French women seemed to know, she had transformed those features into something more than beauty, something arresting. 

[bookmark: p1041]That aspect of French femininity, or more precisely, Parisian femininity, had always unsettled Tara, and made her feel like the hayseed American no matter how trim her figure or how perfect her clothes. 

[bookmark: p1042]Perhaps that was how the shopkeeper had recognized her nationality—it was innate, revealed in each movement, each gesture.

[bookmark: p1043]"You do not look magical," the woman said with all the spite she had shown the shopkeeper.

[bookmark: p1044]Tara shrugged. "That's probably a good thing."

[bookmark: p1045]The woman made a dismissive noise and moved to the back of the counter. There she picked up a fistful of postcards and shook them at the man.

[bookmark: p1046]"They do not sell if they are not on display," she said as she stomped toward the spinning racks in the front.

[bookmark: p1047]The man turned to Tara. His movements were slightly courtly now, as if she were the one he wanted to charm. Perhaps he wanted her to forget the other woman's rudeness.

[bookmark: p1048]"The items are in the back," he said, as if the interruption had not happened. 

[bookmark: p1049]Tara got that vague sense of the pornographic again, as if he were leading her to something unbelievably dirty.

[bookmark: p1050]But she also knew that was her innate Americanness coming out. The things Americans thought were pornographic, the French often called art.

[bookmark: p1051]The man looked over his shoulder. "Come with me."

[bookmark: p1052]He took a key from the counter, and walked to a gap in the shelves. The gap was covered with a floor-to-ceiling poster of the Eiffel Tower in various stages of completion. All of the images were black and white photographs, clearly taken by the same photographer nearly 120 years before. 

[bookmark: p1053]He stuck the key into what appeared to be a girder on the side of the half-finished tower. The tumblers clicked audibly, and a door opened.

[bookmark: p1054]With his left hand, he flicked on a light, and beckoned Tara to follow him.

[bookmark: p1055]Tara walked around the counter and to the door. The air here smelled faintly of vanilla candlewax and Chanel perfume—probably from the woman outside. The light coming from that back room was thin and narrow.

[bookmark: p1056]Tara went through the door.

[bookmark: p1057]And stopped so suddenly that it felt like a hand had shoved her backwards. The shopkeeper frowned at her from across the space.

[bookmark: p1058]"I thought you were certified," he said.

[bookmark: p1059]She was. But she also had long-established protections against dark magic. They would not let her go any further.

[bookmark: p1060]"How long has this room been here?" she asked.

[bookmark: p1061]He shrugged. "As long as the building has, I suppose."

[bookmark: p1062]Clearly he had no idea how long that was. But she did. At least a hundred years. This close to the Louvre, probably more like two hundred years. 

[bookmark: p1063]The room, and its terrible secrets, had been here just as long.

[bookmark: p1064]If she squinted, she could see potions foaming in the distance, sending noxious fumes into the air, a thin shade of a former resident working on even more nostrums, and an entire cabinet—built into the wall and invisible to the untrained eye—filled with body parts from someone's former enemies.

[bookmark: p1065]Tara shuddered. She couldn't hide her reaction, but she doubted the shopkeeper noticed. 

[bookmark: p1066]"You did not build this then," she said. "And you are not certified."

[bookmark: p1067]He smiled at her. "You are smarter than you seem. I can't go all the way back, not yet. There are spells in place that are older than I am."

[bookmark: p1068]She could see through most of them. He had no idea what he had here. "Yet you managed to collect these things."

[bookmark: p1069]She was playing dumb, hoping he would talk. Pride. Pride often worked, no matter who the person was, no matter how guarded he seemed.

[bookmark: p1070]"I wish I could claim that," he said. "But it is a treasury, that much I know."

[bookmark: p1071]And his wife—or whomever that woman was—did not agree.

[bookmark: p1072]Tara didn't want to seem too inquisitive. Now her main goal was to leave without disturbing too many of the old spells. 

[bookmark: p1073]"Did you discover this when you bought the shop?"

[bookmark: p1074]"Oh, no," he said. "I've known about it for years. Is there anything you would like to see?"

[bookmark: p1075]All the dragon's teeth he had would be a nice start. The box of spell recipes in the very back—something on the edge of it looked like Rasputin's mark. If something of his was here, she wondered if she might find something from Robespierre or even Charlemagne.

[bookmark: p1076]And she shivered again.

[bookmark: p1077]"Do you have an inventory?" she asked.

[bookmark: p1078]The shopkeeper looked at her oddly.

[bookmark: p1079]She shrugged, making the movement as Gallic as possible. "I did not get into the French Society by being incautious."

[bookmark: p1080]His eyes narrowed, just like his wife's had. He was probably trying to figure out if the American was being naturally rude or if she was trying to tell him that he had been careless, coming into this place without the proper training.

[bookmark: p1081]"I have no listing. I suppose I could make one."

[bookmark: p1082]"No," she said. "That's all right. I am on a buying trip for my own shop—a little magical place in the Loire Valley. That shop's been there since the 12th century, and I must call my assistant before I explore too deeply in a treasure trove like this. I didn't expect to find something this untouched on the rue de Rivoli."

[bookmark: p1083]"No one does," he said, coming back out. He didn't seem to notice the green cobwebby film that encased him. Tara backed away. When she reached the door, she paused, waiting for him. He stepped out, then stopped to turn the key in the lock.

[bookmark: p1084]As he did, she ran her fingers together in a remove and dissolve spell. The web disappeared in a cloud of green smoke.

[bookmark: p1085]He saw the smoke. "Did you do that?"

[bookmark: p1086]She shook her head, and told him only half a lie. "It came from inside your room."

[bookmark: p1087]"The room unsettled you, no?"

[bookmark: p1088]"Yes," she said. "I thought I knew all the magical places in this part of Paris."

[bookmark: p1089]"I am gathering it was a secret for a long time. Even I did not know for ten years, and I worked here for nearly fifteen years before buying the place."

[bookmark: p1090]Now she was getting somewhere. "When did you buy it?"

[bookmark: p1091]"Just last year. The previous owner—he—" and again, the shrug "—did not come to work one day. And then the next, and the next, until I finally called the family. They never found him, but he never came back."

[bookmark: p1092]Maybe the previous owner was the shade she had seen inside the room.

[bookmark: p1093]"Eventually, they had him declared dead or unfit or something like that. Anyway, they received the ability to dispose of his things. His family sold me the shop and its wares at a bargain price."

[bookmark: p1094]"And that's when you found the dragon's tooth," she said.

[bookmark: p1095]The shopkeeper shook his head. "I had always known of that. Only he had it on a different shelf, closer to this door. I was not to touch it except like I showed you."

[bookmark: p1096]Even then, that was dangerous. But she didn't tell him.

[bookmark: p1097]"Nor was I supposed to sell it. I suppose I could now, but it seems—I don't know—disrespectful, somehow."

[bookmark: p1098]"I would be most interested in it if we can come to a price," she said.

[bookmark: p1099]"Let me consult my books," he said. "How long are you in Paris?" 

[bookmark: p1100]"Only a few days," she said.

[bookmark: p1101]"Tomorrow, then," he said. "Come back and we'll see if we can reach an agreement."

* * *

[bookmark: p1102]She escaped the shop, careful not to make a grimace of disgust as she stepped out the door. The wife/girlfriend watched her with undisguised hostility, and Tara made certain to smile at her.

[bookmark: p1103]The woman did not smile back.

[bookmark: p1104]Then Tara meandered down the sidewalk, pretending to look in the windows of the other shops, when really she was checking her reflection for any other spell that might have been placed on her.

[bookmark: p1105]She had suffered two that she knew of: the superficial scan of her mind, started by the dragon's tooth, and the wall of dark magic that her own protections had stopped her from going through. She had no idea how many others lurked in that place, taking unsuspecting innocents by surprise.

[bookmark: p1106]Fortunately, the man who owned the shop now had so little magical ability that he couldn't go through that dark wall—not because he wasn't certified, as he believed, but because the darkness didn't want him.

[bookmark: p1107]The dark arts, particularly the old and subtle kind practiced in that hidden room, required a certain level of innate ability. Obviously the man didn't have it. Tara doubted his wife did either.

[bookmark: p1108]As she stepped past Angélina's, her gaze caught the pastries displayed in the window. She loved this restaurant, often having breakfast here on the days when she had time. She resisted the urge to turn inside now, recognizing the urge for what it was: a need for comfort.

[bookmark: p1109]She glanced over her shoulder, but could no longer see the magic shop and the grumpy woman manning the sidewalk displays. So Tara picked up her pace.

[bookmark: p1110]Some of the spells in that store could have been repeaters: the scan most likely was, one that triggered whenever anyone stared at the dragon's tooth too long. The spell would happen whether anyone was nearby to receive the information or not. And the scan spell had been powerful to get through her defenses.

[bookmark: p1111]Tara shuddered, and nearly ran the last few blocks to the hotel. A row of cabs was parked haphazardly outside the doors, disgorging that day's round of new guests. Tara didn't want to get near any of them.

[bookmark: p1112]If the spells she'd been contaminated with rubbed off, then she was sending unfiltered magic throughout Paris. She wondered how many visitors to that shop stared at the tooth, and how many carried that magic throughout the city.

[bookmark: p1113]Fewer now that the tooth had been moved to the back of the main room. Quite a few when the previous owner had been around.

[bookmark: p1114]The low-ceilinged lobby was filled with tourists, dropping their bags, talking, looking around. The bellmen were scurrying from one set of dropped luggage to another, handing out claim checks so that the luggage would get delivered to the correct room.

[bookmark: p1115]Check-in was one of the few times she saw the leisurely French move with any sense of purpose. She always thought that was because they hated the foreign clutter in the lobby, preferring its usual pristine state to the chaos that currently reigned.

[bookmark: p1116]Another cluster of people waited in front of the elevators. She avoided them, and headed for the stairs, careful not to touch anything. Fortunately, she was in good shape—her room was on an upper floor. She got there, opened the door with her keycard, stepped inside, and heard the door latch closed.

[bookmark: p1117]Then she slapped the magic off her as if it were a cluster of nasty spiders. She brushed and recited neutralizing spells, and actually dug into her herb bag for secondary remedies. 

[bookmark: p1118]Each remedy she tried took another layer of magic off her. That place had been poisonous, and her defenses hadn't caught it.

[bookmark: p1119]Either the mage who had set up the spells was extremely powerful, or the magic was really old.

[bookmark: p1120]Or, most terrifyingly, both.

[bookmark: p1121]She showered, washed her hair with a special shampoo Abracadabra had designed for its troubleshooters, something she hadn't had to use in months (and she hadn't missed it—the stuff smelled like sulfur), and when she got done, she used a spell to gather her clothes, bind them, and stuff them in a laundry bag. The bag would go into a garbage bag she got from the maid, and then they would go off to the one professional cleaner in Paris who could handle magically contaminated items.

[bookmark: p1122]She hoped her scarf would survive. She loved that thing, and like most Hermes, it was old enough to be irreplaceable.

[bookmark: p1123]When she was dry, dressed, and calmer, she sat on the edge of the bed, and contemplated her options. 

[bookmark: p1124]If she were still a troubleshooter, she would contact the home office, send the specs about the store, and ask for back-up. But she wasn't a troubleshooter any more. Her status with Abracadabra Inc was as an affiliate now, an owner of a magic shop who, if she followed the corporation's rules, would hear from them only through the monthly letter and at dues time.

[bookmark: p1125]One of the rules for affiliates was no interference in other businesses. She couldn't even act as a concerned citizen. Instead, she had to go through the baroque reporting procedure, which had only been slightly updated since the baroque era, and the update was not an improvement.

[bookmark: p1126]It was a phone number—a phone number connected to a phone tree.

[bookmark: p1127]She hated phone trees. She often thought of zapping them out of existence, but that would be an inappropriate use of magic.

[bookmark: p1128]Although she had always felt there couldn't be a use more appropriate than zapping the annoyances of the world into oblivion.

[bookmark: p1129]Fifteen minutes of answering questions and pushing buttons on her cell phone later, she finally got a person, who rudely told her that there was no magic shop at that address on the rue de Rivoli, and hung up.

[bookmark: p1130]Tara stared at her phone for a long moment, and resisted the urge to fry its internal components and send the entire thing to gadget hell. She shrugged mentally, gave up, and dialed a number she was supposed to have forgotten when she quit her troubleshooting job.

[bookmark: p1131]She called Quinn.

* * *

[bookmark: p1132]Quinn was the coordinator, a man she had never met, one who sent the troubleshooters to their newest jobs. He had held the position since Abracadabra Inc opened in the 19th century, or so the joke went, although Tara didn't believe it was a joke.

[bookmark: p1133]She had never met him. The entire time she'd worked for Abracadabra Inc, she had only communicated with him via e-mail, fax and phone. 

[bookmark: p1134]For the first time ever, she counted six rings before someone picked up. Quinn, who said gruffly, "This line's now forbidden to you."

[bookmark: p1135]"Well, I've come across a serious problem, and the voice at the end of your reporting line wasn't that cooperative. What're you doing, hiring college students these days?"

[bookmark: p1136]"Of course not," he said, but the gruffness had left his tone. He knew Tara well enough to know that when she said "serious problem," she wasn't bluffing. "Is there a problem at Enchanté?"

[bookmark: p1137]"No," she said. "In fact, business is so good, I decided to splurge and treat myself to a Paris buying trip. I'm calling from the Hotel Intercontinental now."

[bookmark: p1138]He didn't chit-chat. "Then what's the issue?"

[bookmark: p1139]"I walked into one of those little tourist shops near the Louvre, and found a dragon's tooth."

[bookmark: p1140]"Along with a piece of the True Cross, I'm sure." 

[bookmark: p1141]She could almost imagine him rolling his eyes. Almost, because she wasn't really sure what he looked like.

[bookmark: p1142]"As a matter of fact, there was a splinter of wood next to it, and if that's the True Cross, I'll give you a box of La Maison chocolates. But the dragon's tooth is real."

[bookmark: p1143]"Real?" That caught his attention, just like she knew it would. She recounted everything that had happened to her in the store as well as her suppositions and her fears.

[bookmark: p1144]Then she ended with, "If this is an Abracadabra Inc. store, you need to shut it down. This owner isn't powerful enough to maintain what he has. But I don't remember anything on our listing about a rue de Rivoli store, and this was my territory."

[bookmark: p1145]"We don't have anything there," Quinn said, and she could tell from his tone, he was about to end the call and take care of the matter.

[bookmark: p1146]"I want to help your troubleshooter," Tara said.

[bookmark: p1147]"It's not your job any more," Quinn said.

[bookmark: p1148]"I know." She wiped a hand over her face. The skin was smooth—no green cobwebs covering it. She would be checking that for days. "But almost no one has the skill to deal with this kind of magic, especially alone. It might take months to get two of your best operatives together, right?"

[bookmark: p1149]Quinn sighed. "It feels like you never left."

[bookmark: p1150]That wasn't a yes or a no, so she continued. "I think this is too much of a threat to leave on its own while your people gather, particularly with that undetectable magic being spread around. Pull your best troubleshooter from whatever she's doing—"

[bookmark: p1151]"He," Quinn said.

[bookmark: p1152]"—and I'll help him."

[bookmark: p1153]"You haven't done the updated training work," Quinn said, which was required of all troubleshooters.

[bookmark: p1154]"And I won't, since you're not hiring me," Tara said. "You're bringing me out of retirement for one last shot."

[bookmark: p1155]"I worry that you're not current with the spells," Quinn said.

[bookmark: p1156]"Neither is the mage running the place. He's pretty clueless. We should be able to neutralize the shop until you decide what to do with it."

[bookmark: p1157]"Why are you arguing so hard to be involved?" Quinn asked. "I thought you had burned out of this work."

[bookmark: p1158]Good question. It was Tara's turn to sigh. She had learned over the years that the only way to deal with Quinn was to tell him the truth.

[bookmark: p1159]"This place scares me," she said. 

[bookmark: p1160]"You're never scared," Quinn said.

[bookmark: p1161]"I used to be," she said, "when I started."

[bookmark: p1162]"And then you learned how powerful you are," Quinn said.

[bookmark: p1163]"Which is something I still know." Tara's voice was soft. "I certainly wouldn't go after this place alone, not even if my training was up-to-date."

[bookmark: p1164]He whistled softly. She moved her ear away from the phone until the sound ended.

[bookmark: p1165]She had finally impressed him.

[bookmark: p1166]"I must warn you," he said softly, "that our best, while excellent, is not quite as good as you."

[bookmark: p1167]She nodded, but didn't say anything. She wasn't sure if Quinn was flattering her now that she was on the team or if he actually meant it, and she didn't care. She wanted to get rid of this place, finish her shopping (that as-yet unknown pair of shoes called to her), and go home.

[bookmark: p1168]She missed home.

[bookmark: p1169]Then she smiled. It was actually nice to have one.

[bookmark: p1170]"His name is Alistair Grint. I'll have him contact you."

[bookmark: p1171]"Grint," she muttered. Had she heard of him? The name sounded vaguely familiar. "You know I have an appointment to go back there tomorrow."

[bookmark: p1172]"If Grint hasn't reached you by then, keep the appointment, but don't do anything," Quinn said. "He's on some remote island in the Pacific. Getting him to France is going to take some time."

[bookmark: p1173]Since the corporation didn't allow its employees to travel via magic, claiming such travel sapped them of their magical reserves and drew attention to their strangeness, it would take at least a full day.

[bookmark: p1174]"In the meantime," Quinn said, "I'll contact a few others. They're all on major cases, but they should be able to free themselves in a week or so. You'll have back-up. I just don't know when."

[bookmark: p1175]"Thanks, Quinn."

[bookmark: p1176]"Don't do anything stupid."

[bookmark: p1177]"Have I ever?" she asked.

[bookmark: p1178]"Not until today." 

[bookmark: p1179]She couldn't tell if he was serious or teasing her. Probably serious. Who would jump back into the fray after declaring herself free of all that? Especially on a project like this one?

[bookmark: p1180]"I'll let you know when we have this thing under control."

[bookmark: p1181]"Do that," Quinn said. "I'll be waiting."

* * *

[bookmark: p1182]Quinn wasn't the only one who waited. Tara had her cell set on its loudest ringtone. She avoided crowded places, getting herself a baguette at a boulangerie, some camembert and ham from a nearby grocer's, and making do with a picnic supper in the Tuileries.

[bookmark: p1183]Making do was a little dramatic. The Tuileries were amazing at this time of year—the trees in full leaf, the flowers blooming. Children rode on the carousel, and half a dozen American tourists jogged along the paths, looking trim and important.

[bookmark: p1184]The French meandered, staring at the various statues or leaning against them while talking on the phone. The French were trim as well, but Tara blamed that on the prevalence of smoking.

[bookmark: p1185]She did get some shopping in, splurging on an Hermés bag to go with her favorite scarf, but left every store she was in the moment the voices of the other patrons grew too loud.

[bookmark: p1186]She no longer felt like she was on vacation. She felt like a woman who had managed to sneak an afternoon off work. And that brought back the raggedy panic of those last few years at Abracadabra Inc. Not panic that she was unable to do her job, or panic caused by fear of the black magics she saw, but panic that came from exhaustion, burn-out, and a sense of being trapped.

[bookmark: p1187]The sooner she was done with this project, the better.

[bookmark: p1188]And that made her wish for Grint's call all the more.

[bookmark: p1189]So of course the call never came.

* * *

[bookmark: p1190]Tara dressed differently for her second visit to the shop. She wore a white blouse she had purchased the night before at one of the lesser fashion stores in the Galeries Lafayette, and a pair of all purpose black pants. Her shoes were reliable black walkers, and she carried that same Gucci knock-off purse she had during the first visit, only this time it had bags of herbs inside and half a dozen protection spells around its outside.

[bookmark: p1191]She figured she might be searched for the prevalence of white magic, but she knew her bag wouldn't be.

[bookmark: p1192]It didn't help that she was irritated. Grint could have called from anywhere, telling her when to expect him. But no. The man was inconsiderate enough to believe that the work would wait until he got there.

[bookmark: p1193]He probably didn't care that she had an appointment at the store. It would have been nice to coordinate something with him in advance—maybe even a time to make another appointment—but of course, he wasn't even that considerate.

[bookmark: p1194]Quinn knew that she liked planning and schedules and everything done to the letter, and he would have communicated that to Grint. Grint had clearly chosen to ignore it, which irritated her even more.

[bookmark: p1195]Her walk down the rue de Rivoli was reluctant. She pretended at window-shopping, but her heart wasn't in it. She was thinking, as she had been all morning, about whether or not she really wanted to buy that dragon's tooth. If she paid for it and removed it from the shop, would she really make the area safer? Or would she be making things worse by altering the magic that so clearly flowed from that secret room?

[bookmark: p1196]She had no real way of knowing, not without some study.

[bookmark: p1197]She had looked at her old databases, which she still kept on her handheld. Nothing Abracadabra Inc showed that a magic shop had ever stood on that site.

[bookmark: p1198]But that didn't mean anything. The darkest magics could be hidden for generations, only to reappear with viciousness if their flows were obstructed.

[bookmark: p1199]Caution told her to leave the tooth there. Which meant she was going to have to be a difficult negotiator, accepting no price except something so outrageously cheap that the owner would have to refuse.

[bookmark: p1200]The postcards rack and a stand of tiny Eiffel towers stood outside the door to the shop. That woman was nowhere to be seen. No tourists stopped either. They walked by, looking at the same postcards or perusing the t-shirts in another store along the way.

[bookmark: p1201]Tara paused as she reached the stand of Eiffel towers. Someone was inside the store. She could hear a booming male voice, followed by the owner's sullen one. She peered in.

[bookmark: p1202]The owner stood behind his counter, arms crossed. He wasn't quite leaning on the display behind him, but it seemed like he was. He was watching the man on the other side of the counter with a mixture of reserve and curiosity.

[bookmark: p1203]That man was taller than the owner, with blond-brown hair that brushed his collar. He wore cowboy boots, tight jeans, and a leather jacket that seemed too warm for the weather.

[bookmark: p1204]His attitude—and that booming voice—limited him to two groups: German or American. As she stepped inside, she realized she was hearing French spoken with a Texas twang—something as bad as hearing The Marriage of Figaro sung off-key. 

[bookmark: p1205]American then.

[bookmark: p1206]Both men glanced at her. The owner looked relieved. "I have an appointment," he said in English.

[bookmark: p1207]Tara recognized the game as the same one the owner had played with her the day before. 

[bookmark: p1208]"Well, Tara can help us," the customer said in French.

[bookmark: p1209]She had to hold herself rigid so that she didn't start in surprise. This was Alistair Grint?

[bookmark: p1210]She'd expected a prissy British guy in a bespoke suit, maybe even carrying an umbrella. She hadn't expected a cowboy with a broad Texas twang.

[bookmark: p1211]He was continuing in that twang: "Her store, Enchanté, in the Loire Valley, has been part of the corporation since—when, Tar?"

[bookmark: p1212]She hated being called Tar. She hated being surprised. And she hated losing control of her own investigation.

[bookmark: p1213]"It predates me," she said with a smile, coming all the way inside. She spoke French as well. "I had no idea you were in Paris, Al."

[bookmark: p1214]She couldn't call someone from Texas Alistair. She just couldn't.

[bookmark: p1215]"Doll," he said—and that word was in English, although the rest of what he had to say wasn't—"I live for this city, you know that. How come you didn't look me up when you got here? There's some new places in the 18th Arrondissement that you gotta see."

[bookmark: p1216]In spite of herself, she blushed. Many of the businesses there still provoked an American good-girl reaction out of her. The bisexual theaters, the gay lounge acts, the naked revues shocked her, even though she had seen all sorts of bizarre things in the magical community.

[bookmark: p1217]"Lookie there," Grint said to the owner, and this was in English too, "I got her to blush. Works every time."

[bookmark: p1218]Her blush deepened, and for a moment, she felt like she had as a new hire at Abracadabra Inc.

[bookmark: p1219]"Doll, tell him about our company. Seems he's never heard of us."

[bookmark: p1220]She hated the "our company" part. She hadn't planned on identifying herself at all. She was going to let Grint be the bad cop. Maybe she still would.

[bookmark: p1221]"I'm not sure how much you'd call it mine," she said, still speaking French. "I'm like you, Monsieur—? I never did catch your name."

[bookmark: p1222]"du Vigneaud," the owner said, his surly tone even worse.

[bookmark: p1223]"Monsieur du Vigneaud," Tara said. "I'm Tara Miller."

[bookmark: p1224]He nodded, clearly not pleased at the introduction.

[bookmark: p1225]Grint said, "Mademoiselle Miller has owned her shop for, what?, a year?"

[bookmark: p1226]"Two," she said, her tone as sullen as du Vigneaud's.

[bookmark: p1227]"And I'm sure she's quite happy with us."

[bookmark: p1228]Her gaze met du Vigneaud. He didn't look happy. She wasn't either, at least at the moment. She wasn't even sure how to play along.

[bookmark: p1229]"I barely notice the corporation," she said. "It's really more of an affiliation. I can get supplies cheaper than anywhere else, and if I have magical troubles, I can send for one of their experts. Fortunately, I didn't have to suffer a sales pitch though—"

[bookmark: p1230]And with that she glared at Grint.

[bookmark: p1231]"—since the previous owner had already joined the organization. It was a condition of sale that I stay in." She made herself sound reluctant. 

[bookmark: p1232]Grint's blue eyes narrowed just a little, as if in annoyance. He had one of those angular American faces—the kind that suggested too many years outdoors, not enough vegetables, and a lot of hard living. 

[bookmark: p1233]"Honestly," she added, "you probably don't need the corporation. You're primarily a tourist shop with some magical wares. I'm mostly a specialty magic shop. I get almost all my supplies through them, but you have many other suppliers. I can't see any great benefit."

[bookmark: p1234]"Except the protection of more mages than you know what to do with," said Grint, who had switched completely to English now. "This close to the Louvre, and all that nasty Paris history, God knows what could be around here. You could stumble into a pile of leftover spells and not even know what hit you."

[bookmark: p1235]"I have an appointment," du Vigneaud said. He hadn't said anything else since Tara arrived. 

[bookmark: p1236]"I assume that appointment's with you?" Grint asked.

[bookmark: p1237]"We made it yesterday."

[bookmark: p1238]"Can it wait? I'd love to buy you lunch, catch up on old times."

[bookmark: p1239]"Perhaps dinner," Tara said. "Perhaps tomorrow. Call my hotel. I'm at the usual place."

[bookmark: p1240]"The usual place." He nodded as if he knew where that was, then smiled winsomely at du Vigneaud. "She's quite the catch, you know. Every time she comes to Paris, I try to convince her to stay, but she won't. You know how women are."

[bookmark: p1241]"Most certainly I do," du Vigneaud said. "It is quite the coincidence that she is here and you are here. Odd that you would meet in a place with magical items."

[bookmark: p1242]He didn't say a magic shop. Tara found that interesting.

[bookmark: p1243]"Well, we initially met in one. I'm the one who told her that Enchanté was up for sale. I was just gossiping, I had no idea she was looking for a place of her own, or I wouldn't've said anything. I really didn't want her in the far reaches of the country, if you know what I mean."

[bookmark: p1244]"One could always follow her. Salesmen seem—what is the expression?—footless?"

[bookmark: p1245]"Footloose," Grint said. "Yeah, and that's the problem. There's more for us footloose types in Paris than in those tiny villages out there in wine country."

[bookmark: p1246]"I do not live in a tiny village and we do not call the Loire valley wine country," Tara said stiffly. She had decided. She hated Alistair Grint. "Listen, I'll come back. It's clear that you and Monsieur du Vigneaud have much to discuss."

[bookmark: p1247]"No!" du Vigneaud sounded panicked. "My appointment is with you, Mademoiselle. He just came in, saw my shelf, and started telling me about this corporation of his. You do not think it worth my time?"

[bookmark: p1248]"Magic isn't your focus," Tara said. "Or at least it doesn't seem that way."

[bookmark: p1249]"But with my—" And he nodded toward that door. It would have looked to Grint like he had nodded at the dragon's tooth. "—you do not think it would help with sales or perhaps my own training?"

[bookmark: p1250]"Your training's another matter," Tara said, but Grint spoke over her.

[bookmark: p1251]"We offer continuing ed classes all the time, and not all of them here. You and the wife—you're married, right?"

[bookmark: p1252]du Vigneaud nodded, his expression tight.

[bookmark: p1253]"Well, you and the wife could go to New York or Saigon or Sydney all in the name of continuing ed. Sometimes, if your skill level requires it, you can get a grant that'll pay your way. A few of these places take newer members for free, just to get them acquainted. Imagine a trip to the far reaches of the—"

[bookmark: p1254]"I'm leaving," Tara said again, feeling irritated. She almost had him convinced to join, not that it mattered. She had no idea why Grint was pursuing this path.

[bookmark: p1255]"No!" du Vigneaud said. "Please, don't leave."

[bookmark: p1256]He turned to Grint. "Leave some literature. I will think of your proposition."

[bookmark: p1257]Grint sighed. He took some brochures that had Abracadabra Inc. written across them in red out of his leather jacket and set them on the desk. Then he turned to Tara.

[bookmark: p1258]"The usual hotel?" he asked with a leer.

[bookmark: p1259]"The usual hotel." She kept her voice cool. She decided it didn't matter if she showed how annoyed she was. Her mood matched du Vigneaud's.

[bookmark: p1260]Maybe she could use that to build commeraderie.

[bookmark: p1261]"I'll call you later, then," Grint said, saluting her with a single finger to the forehead. She hadn't seen that move in years—it was very American, and very out of place here.

[bookmark: p1262]Then he sauntered out of the shop, whistling as if nothing had gone wrong.

[bookmark: p1263]She shook her head. 

[bookmark: p1264]"I'm sorry about that," she said to du Vigneaud.

[bookmark: p1265]"Why should you apologize?" he replied in French, which startled her. She had reverted to her Midwestern roots, apologizing as a way of opening a conversation. She hadn't done that in a very long time.

[bookmark: p1266]"I feel embarrassed that I even know him."

[bookmark: p1267]"You know him well, it seems."

[bookmark: p1268]"I knew him well," she lied. "Once. Suffice to say that I'm not at the usual hotel."

[bookmark: p1269]It took du Vigneaud a moment to understand what she meant, but once he did, he grinned. "You are sly, Mademoiselle."

[bookmark: p1270]"I'm tired of pushy American men," she said.

[bookmark: p1271]"I can understand that." du Vigneaud shoved the brochures aside. "May we talk about the tooth then?"

[bookmark: p1272]She smiled, even though she didn't really want to do this negotiation now. She really wanted to chase after Grint, berate him for ruining the moment and not even setting up a plan. 

[bookmark: p1273]Instead, she said, "I've been doing some research on pricing. Even then, I'm not quite done."

[bookmark: p1274]"Research can take forever," du Vigneaud said.

[bookmark: p1275]"It can, can't it?" She had to pull herself together. She needed just a momentary diversion. "May I see the tooth again?"

[bookmark: p1276]He walked over to the shelf, removed the tooth as he had done the day before, and draped it over his hand. It seemed even larger than she remembered.

[bookmark: p1277]She took her jeweler's loupe from her purse, mostly as a pretense, yet another stall. The tooth didn't intrigue her as much today. She didn't feel her eye drawn to it, nor did she feel that sense of getting lost in her own thoughts.

[bookmark: p1278]Perhaps the spells on her purse were working. Or maybe something in those brochures blocked the magic. She wouldn't put it past Grint.

[bookmark: p1279]She leaned over the tooth, put the loupe in place, and studied the tooth. It lacked the ridges that held the poison, and the ivory itself seemed too smooth.

[bookmark: p1280]"May I?" she asked, and without waiting for du Vigneaud's permission, she ran a finger on the tooth.

[bookmark: p1281]No frisson of magic, no sense of panic. The tooth didn't even feel odd. Instead it seemed like—

[bookmark: p1282]"Plastic," she said.

[bookmark: p1283]"What?" du Vigneaud asked.

[bookmark: p1284]"This is plastic," she said. "The one from yesterday, it was real. But this is not."

[bookmark: p1285]He peered at the tooth as if he had never seen it before. "It's. . ."

[bookmark: p1286]Then he ran his finger over it, closed his fist on it, and glanced at the shelf, as if he expected the real tooth to materialize.

[bookmark: p1287]"It's not real," he muttered, as if he hadn't noticed before.

[bookmark: p1288]"Nice scam," she said. "But if you wanted me to pay you for the tooth, you shouldn't have let me touch it."

[bookmark: p1289]He shot her a wild-eyed look. "We were going to negotiate. I wasn't even sure I was going to sell it."

[bookmark: p1290]"So take it out of that back room, and let me see it," she said. "I'm glad you decided it was too dangerous to leave out front, but really, my magic is strong enough that I can tell a fake tooth from a real one with only a cursory glance. You shouldn't have underestimated—"

[bookmark: p1291]"Mademoiselle," he said with panic in his voice. "I did not take my tooth to the back room. It was here, where it always is, when I closed the shop last night. The only time someone touched it. . .."

[bookmark: p1292]And again, his voice trailed off.

[bookmark: p1293]Tara felt her back tense. "Yes? The only time you touched it?"

[bookmark: p1294]"Was to show it to your friend." du Vigneaud looked at her as if Grint was all her fault. And actually, his presence was her fault. Kinda. She would never have brought him in here like this. She had had a completely different scheme in mind.

[bookmark: p1295]She would have told him that if he had bothered to consult her.

[bookmark: p1296]Which, of course, he hadn't.

[bookmark: p1297]"You didn't notice the tooth was different when you showed it to me just now," she said. "How could you have noticed if it was different when you showed it to Al?"

[bookmark: p1298]"I didn't," du Vigneaud said. "But he was studying it like you had yesterday for some time. I left him there, praying he would leave, and when he did not, that was when I finally talked to him."

[bookmark: p1299]Only the French. Tara resisted the urge to shake her head. Customers had to be worthy of a proprietor's time here, and if they weren't, they were welcome to leave. It seemed worse in Paris than anywhere else, but she had noticed it in Nantes and a few other cities as well.

[bookmark: p1300]"Did he touch it?" she asked.

[bookmark: p1301]"I don't think so," du Vigneaud said. "But how am I to know?"

[bookmark: p1302]"A dragon's tooth is a powerful thing to steal," she said. "He would have had trouble conversing with us the way that he had. Did you have other customers today?"

[bookmark: p1303]"None that were near the tooth."

[bookmark: p1304]"Were you here the entire time?"

[bookmark: p1305]His eyes narrowed. "My wife, she opened the shop."

[bookmark: p1306]Tara shrugged, making sure the movement was smooth and Gallic. "Then perhaps she took it to the back and put the fake tooth out here. Why don't you see if you can track it down, and I'll be back tomorrow. We can have the discussion then."

[bookmark: p1307]"What of your friend?" du Vigneaud asked.

[bookmark: p1308]"What about him?" Tara asked.

[bookmark: p1309]"What if he took it?" 

[bookmark: p1310]Tara sighed. He probably had, the bastard. "I can't imagine it. I've been assured that the employees of Abracadabra Inc are honest people."

[bookmark: p1311]"Assured?" du Vigneaud asked.

[bookmark: p1312]"It is uncomfortable to give an organization so much control over your livelihood," she said, lying again. She really liked the corporation. It had been good to her. "That's why I wasn't very enthusiastic when he tried to sell you on it. I can't see any benefit for you."

[bookmark: p1313]"What if he's not honest?" du Vigneaud asked.

[bookmark: p1314]"I still can't imagine him stealing something like that tooth," she said, and this time she wasn't lying. He would have had to use a powerful spell to overcome the tooth's magic.

[bookmark: p1315]"He asked you to dinner. Perhaps you could call him? Perhaps you could find out for me?"

[bookmark: p1316]Tara frowned. He was trusting her. Had that been Grint's plan? Did Grint even have a plan? 

[bookmark: p1317]"I'll find out," she said, making herself shiver. "Even though that means dinner with him."

[bookmark: p1318]"Thank you, Mademoiselle."

[bookmark: p1319]"But," Tara said, "I won't take it from him. I'll just tell you what I find out, if I find out anything. All right?"

[bookmark: p1320]"Yes, fine," du Vigneaud said. "I will see you tomorrow, no?"

[bookmark: p1321]"Tomorrow, then," she said, and walked out of the shop. As she turned toward her hotel, she noticed du Vigneaud through the window. He was staring at the fake tooth as if his heart had been broken.

[bookmark: p1322]She had made it to Angélina's when someone grabbed her arm. Without turning around, she elbowed her assailant in the stomach, heard a satisfying "oof!" as he let go of her, and kept walking. She clutched her purse tightly to her chest, wondering what else could go wrong on this day.

[bookmark: p1323]Footsteps sounded behind her, determined footsteps, not the footsteps of some window-shopper. Heavy breathing, and a little bit of moaning.

[bookmark: p1324]She braced herself for another elbow defense, but this time as the assailant grabbed her arm, he said, "It's Grint, you idiot."

[bookmark: p1325]Only the words came out rather breathy. She had gotten him good. Amazing that he could follow her—usually someone who got her elbow in his stomach was down for the count, even if she didn't use magic (which she hadn't, this time).

[bookmark: p1326]"I'm the idiot?" she said, shaking him off. "You're the one who decided to go the case alone. You're the one who handled the entire thing like an ugly American, a move that guaranteed du Vigneaud would be angry at you. You're the one—"

[bookmark: p1327]"Tara, please." He still sounded winded.

[bookmark: p1328]She eyed him sideways. "I found this place. I reported it, and frankly, I could have handled it with a lesser trouble-shooter, but they insisted on their best, who decided not to call me."

[bookmark: p1329]She stopped, forcing him to bang into her. She turned, pushed him back so that they were at arm's length, and added, "I used to be the best troubleshooter at Abracadabra Inc. You were working there at the time, so don't play ignorant. Just because I retired doesn't mean I've lost my skills. You could have at least had the courtesy to call me and tell me you had arrived. When you hadn't, I assumed you weren't there. Then I run into you and have to play along like a rookie, watching you ruin the entire thing—"

[bookmark: p1330]"I didn't ruin it," he said

[bookmark: p1331]"You stole—" 

[bookmark: p1332]People looked at them. She lowered her voice, almost to a whisper.

[bookmark: p1333]"You stole the dragon's tooth. Did you think he wouldn't notice?"

[bookmark: p1334]"I hoped he would," Grint said.

[bookmark: p1335]"Do you know how dangerous that is, carrying a dragon's tooth around with you?"

[bookmark: p1336]"Would you put it in your purse then?" he asked with a grin. "It's amazingly well shielded. What did you do? Shrink down Fort Knox and hide it in there?"

[bookmark: p1337]Her face heated. She hated blushing, and he'd gotten her to do it twice now.

[bookmark: p1338]"We have no plan, and he thinks you're a thief. Which you are. Maybe when he gets over the shock of losing his most prized possession, he'll realize that you and I know each other and that we might both be involved."

[bookmark: p1339]"So?" Grint asked. "We got the tooth. Troubleshooting done. You've got enough spells on that purse that we could send it to Headquarters with the tooth inside and no one would be the wiser."

[bookmark: p1340]"You are dumber than you look!" she snapped. "The tooth was never the issue. Didn't you talk to Quinn?"

[bookmark: p1341]"He said the shop'd been there forever, and the tooth twigged you to the power hidden at the site. So? If you had played along better, maybe du Vigneaud would have joined Abracadabra Inc, and we wouldn't have had any issues at all. Now we're just going to have to keep an eye on the place—"

[bookmark: p1342]"Were you jet-lagged when you talked to Quinn or were you just drunk?" she asked.

[bookmark: p1343]Grint frowned. "Why?"

[bookmark: p1344]"Because there's an entire other level, filled with things so powerful that I can't even get inside. My wardings won't let me. And you just notified whatever's down there that someone is onto it."

[bookmark: p1345]"Huh?"

[bookmark: p1346]"The tooth, you idiot. Who do you think is controlling it? Not du Vigneaud. He didn't even realize you put a fake one there until I pointed it out."

[bookmark: p1347]"You pointed it out? Why? I used an excellent replica that would have bought us days if not weeks."

[bookmark: p1348]"Bought us days, not weeks, for what?" she asked.

[bookmark: p1349]Grint shrugged. Apparently he hadn't thought that far ahead. "Getting him to join our little club."

[bookmark: p1350]Tara rolled her eyes, pivoted, and continued walking. 

[bookmark: p1351]"Tara, wait!"

[bookmark: p1352]But she didn't stop. She was done with this. Their best troubleshooter had come in, shot at trouble, and missed. It was no longer her problem. She wasn't even going back tomorrow to finish her "negotiation" with du Vigneaud.

[bookmark: p1353]"Tara!"

[bookmark: p1354]She hurried, staying ahead of Grint, and as she entered the Hotel Intercontinental, she murmured to the doorman, "That man is harassing me."

[bookmark: p1355]The doorman nodded, and put a solid arm out to stop Grint from following her inside.

[bookmark: p1356]She made her way to the elevator before turning to see what was going on. Grint was arguing with the valets and doorman, waving at her as if she wanted to save him.

[bookmark: p1357]She turned her back on him. Idiot. Fool. What the hell had he been trying to prove, anyway? How brilliant he was?

[bookmark: p1358]Because if that was the case, he had failed.

* * *

[bookmark: p1359]The phone in her room rang incessantly. She finally unplugged the thing. Grint could call all he wanted, but she wasn't going to talk with him. 

[bookmark: p1360]She had already called Quinn and complained, saying their boy had screwed things up, and she was done. The shop on the rue de Rivoli was their problem; she wasn't going to work with a certified nutcase.

[bookmark: p1361]Quinn's response had surprised her. He had chuckled. "There's a reason Alistair works alone," he had said, and then had thanked her and hung up.

[bookmark: p1362]Tara fell back on her bed, feeling at loose ends, angry and concerned all at the same time. She knew the shop wasn't her problem, but she worried about it anyway. A person didn't simply discard ten years of training in an afternoon. And the magnitude of the problem bothered her as well—all that magic being distributed over one of the most cosmopolitan cities in the world. Probably being distributed all over Europe as well.

[bookmark: p1363]The fact that they'd sent someone as incompetent as Grint—and called him their best—also bothered her. She knew the other troubleshooters weren't on her scale, but she had never realized how sub-par they actually were.

[bookmark: p1364]Which meant that the problem in that shop might remain.

[bookmark: p1365]She rolled over, balled her fist, and closed her eyes. She should go to a shoe store, head to a clothing store, or buy herself some chocolate. Maybe the concierge could tell her what was at the Opera tonight. Something—anything—to keep her out of that back room.

[bookmark: p1366]But nothing would.

[bookmark: p1367]She knew it, and Quinn probably knew it. In fact, he probably counted on it.

[bookmark: p1368]Knowing the old bastard, he had probably sent Grint just to make her this angry, so that she would do her very best work one more time.

[bookmark: p1369]What was it about her that made her so worried about stray magic? Whatever it was, it had made her a troubleshooter with a hundred percent clearance rate, and it had nearly destroyed her life.

[bookmark: p1370]Now that she found peace, she was going to give it all up for a basement magic lab that had probably existed when Paris was a walled Roman city.

[bookmark: p1371]She sat up. If she got caught, she would have no back-up, no help, no one to turn to. This would be the most dangerous job she had ever done—and dammit, she was looking forward to every minute of it.

* * *

[bookmark: p1372]She dressed all in black, hiding her hair beneath a very ugly black ski cap that she still carried everywhere, even though she thought she would have no legitimate reason to sneak into legitimate businesses any more. She wrapped her workbelt around her waist. The belt carried all her herbs and her dispel potion. She had thrown it into her suitcase at the last minute, wondering why she was bringing it along.

[bookmark: p1373]Maybe she had had a premonition.

[bookmark: p1374]She smiled. She never used to believe in premonitions. Maybe she had been giving herself a subconscious message—one that she hadn't realized she needed.

[bookmark: p1375]She didn't want to think about that. She left her cell phone on the table beside her bed—if things went wrong, calling for help wouldn't work—and then she tucked fifty euros in various pockets scattered around her skin-tight pants.

[bookmark: p1376]Cat burglars always had to be prepared.

[bookmark: p1377]Now for the tough part. She couldn't teleport directly from her hotel room—anyone with minor magical skill could follow her magic trail and figure out where she originated—so she had to leave the hotel. She could double-teleport—go to one location, and then to the next, which still left a magical trail, albeit one that was harder to trace—or she could walk out of the hotel, looking like Grace Kelly in To Catch a Thief. Only without the patrician features or Cary Grant lurking at the other end.

[bookmark: p1378]Tara sighed. The hotel was used to her. If someone noticed something out of the ordinary, they'd attribute it to her strange personality or her occasional American lapses.

[bookmark: p1379]She slipped her keycard into the only pocket on her shirt, and then left the room.

[bookmark: p1380]No one gave her a second glance on the elevator, or as she walked through the lobby, or as she stepped into the street. Apparently black was considered stylish in Paris, in any combination. She crossed the street, and headed down the stairs at the entrance to the Tuileries. 

[bookmark: p1381]Mages used the gardens all the time. If she did a reveal spell, she'd find a dozen fresh magical trails, all of them leading to different parts of the city. That was the reason Abracadabra Inc had put her up in the Hotel Intercontinental in the first place—easy access to the Tuileries and the Louvre. The magic trails died off the closer one got to the more modern marvels of Parisian life: the Arc de Triomphe and the Eiffel Tower. Magic's most important Paris enclaves were nearest the Seine—the Louvre, the Tuileries, and on the Left Bank, the Sorbonne. (There were a few trails that led past Notre Dame, but no one discussed them, out of respect.)

[bookmark: p1382]She stopped near a statue of a horse, put her hand on its stone flank, and waited until no one was within eyesight. Then she recited a very old, very slow-moving transport spell.

[bookmark: p1383]As usual, it took a moment before the magic swirled around her. This spell was less of a disappear-from-one-location, reappear-in-another kind of spell, and more of a fade-to-black, find-yourself-somewhere-new kind of spell.

[bookmark: p1384]If anyone did watch at all, they'd see a woman grow more and more transparent as she stood near the stone horse, until they wondered if she had ever been there at all. 

[bookmark: p1385]Eventually the cool stone ceased to touch her hand, and she was in that dark limbo which used to unnerve her. As an early mage, she wondered if this was what death felt like. Now she found the silence, the darkness, and the warmth comforting, rather like falling into a deep sleep in the perfect bed.

[bookmark: p1386]Moments later, she felt something dig into her hip. She was gaining solidity near the stupid counter of the stupid shop, and she didn't dare move. Moving during this spell could have tragic consequences. A few practitioners died each year using it, but even more got the wrong body part attached to the wrong part of the body.

[bookmark: p1387]She hissed in her breath, noting a sulfur smell that had not followed her from the Tuileries, and wishing the transport would hurry up. When the spell finally ended, she banged, literally, against the counter, as if she had stumbled into it, just like she knew she would.

[bookmark: p1388]She cursed, rubbed her sore hip, and took note of her surroundings.

[bookmark: p1389]The mundane world security was as poor as she had expected. The cameras above her were for show: they weren't working at all. The magical security was present, but low-key—at least the stuff du Vigneaud had put into place. It was rudimentary but solid, more than enough to catch the average non-magical thief.

[bookmark: p1390]Which she wasn't.

[bookmark: p1391]She neutralized his work in a matter of seconds. But that sulfur smell remained, unnerving her. Did someone want her to notice it? And trace it? Or was that a sign of the older magical security system, the one that Grint had probably damaged when he removed the tooth?

[bookmark: p1392]She didn't have any answers for that.

[bookmark: p1393]Still, she went back to that shelf with the relics, just to make sure du Vigneaud hadn't replaced the fake tooth with another real one. He hadn't. The piece of the True Cross looked like the splinter that it was, and the other relics had even less splendor to them. Apparently du Vigneaud added a glamour every day to his shelves, just to make the merchandise that much more attractive.

[bookmark: p1394]Poor guy. He had no idea that his little tricks wasted what little magical potential he had. And they probably played right into the hands of whomever or whatever controlled that room behind the Eiffel Tower poster.

[bookmark: p1395]Tara squared her shoulders and faced it. The poster glowed redly. She turned, to see if any lights from the street caused that red glow, but she couldn't see any. 

[bookmark: p1396]The glow was coming from the hidden room itself.

[bookmark: p1397]"Creepy, huh?"

[bookmark: p1398]Tara jumped, so startled that she had to stifle a yelp. No one ever caught her off-guard, and yet someone had.

[bookmark: p1399]She turned toward the voice. Grint was leaning on the counter, right about the place where she had banged her hip. He grinned at her, and held up the real tooth.

[bookmark: p1400]"It started to glow about five minutes ago," he said. "Just like that little red space back there. Then what happens? I see my pretty little partner staring at the shelves in that goofy magic shop she'd been yelling at me about."

[bookmark: p1401]She wasn't sure what to correct first, the fact that she wasn't his partner, she wasn't little, or that she wasn't paranoid. Then she realized how defensive she was feeling, and how off balance he kept her, and she wanted to turn him into a toad, something she hadn't done to an annoying male since she was twelve.

[bookmark: p1402]"What're you doing here?" she whispered.

[bookmark: p1403]"Getting your back," he said. "Isn't that what I'm supposed to do? Or am I supposed to lead? Or are we really a team? I can't remember. I'm jet-lagged, you know."

[bookmark: p1404]She glared at him. 

[bookmark: p1405]"You shouldn't have brought that here." She nodded toward the tooth. "It's the center for all the exterior magic in this place."

[bookmark: p1406]"Oh, you think?" And his snide smile faded as his sarcasm grew. "You're acting like I had a choice."

[bookmark: p1407]Her breath caught. "What do you mean?"

[bookmark: p1408]"I mean, I saw you, and then got teleported right here, against orders."

[bookmark: p1409]She wasn't sure if against orders meant that he shouldn't teleport (which was a major rule) or that he shouldn't help her any more than necessary. 

[bookmark: p1410]She decided not to ask.

[bookmark: p1411]"Since you have the key to the kingdom," she said looking at the strangely pulsating tooth, "you get to go first."

[bookmark: p1412]His face paled noticeably, even in the weird red light. "You're kidding. Through that poster? What do you think I look like, a French version of Alice?"

[bookmark: p1413]The image that provoked in her mind was so ludicrous that she had to swallow a laugh. 

[bookmark: p1414]"Yep," she said. "Let's go through the looking glass, Mademoiselle."

[bookmark: p1415]"That's not funny," he said, gave her one more glare for good measure, then felt around the poster for the door latch. 

[bookmark: p1416]Tara crossed her arms. If he simply asked her where the latch was, she'd tell him, having gone through that door before. But of course, he was annoyingly independent, and right at the point when she was going to show him, the door clicked open.

[bookmark: p1417]Revealing a smoky, hazy room beyond, filled with that pulsating red light.

[bookmark: p1418]The sulfur smell grew.

[bookmark: p1419]"I don't like this," Grint said.

[bookmark: p1420]"That's not what it looked like before," she said, more to herself than to him.

[bookmark: p1421]He glared at her for the third time. "You've been in there?"

[bookmark: p1422]"If you had bothered to consult with me before you barged in here today, and if you had tried to talk to me like an equal before you stole the tooth, and if you hadn't accosted me on the rue de Rivoli this afternoon, you might have learned that there's an entire room back there, maybe even a sub-basement or an old Roman construction, something that goes very deep. It's filled with all sorts of scary things, most of which my warding spells wouldn't have let me near. But since you didn't, and since Quinn seems to have neglected to tell you, then you get to go in that space first."

[bookmark: p1423]"Huh?" Grint asked.

[bookmark: p1424]She grinned. "You get to go first."

[bookmark: p1425]"Fine." He shoved the tooth in his shirt pocket—upside down so that the pointed end stuck out over the fabric—and went inside. The smoke swallowed him, swirling as if he'd never been.

[bookmark: p1426]Then it dissipated.

[bookmark: p1427]The room was there, but there was no Grint, and there was no tooth.

[bookmark: p1428]"Wonderful," Tara said, this time to herself since there was no one else around. "That's just great."

[bookmark: p1429]Now she had to not only figure out what was going on here, she also had to rescue Grint.

[bookmark: p1430]That was why she had always worked alone.

[bookmark: p1431]She hated rescuing people, particularly men. Men were always too embarrassed to say thank you.

[bookmark: p1432]Since the pulsing light and the swirling smoke had swallowed him up so quickly, she hesitated near the door. She wanted to find the spells that he had triggered.

[bookmark: p1433]There were the usual warnings, wardings, and weak wizardings, nothing serious enough that a troubleshooter for Abracadabra Inc could get caught in. She extended her hand and did another reveal spell, looking for magical trails or some subtle indications of warding spells. But she didn't find any—and that unnerved her.

[bookmark: p1434]Until she realized what had happened.

[bookmark: p1435]Grint had the dragon's tooth, which coordinated the exterior magic in this building. The building had been broken into, and the tooth did its job. In its nonsentient, magical way, it brought what it considered the perpetrator to the entrance of the magical chamber, where he got sucked into the magical punishment area—wherever and whatever that was.

[bookmark: p1436]She shuddered. Early in her training, she'd been subjected to a few of those spells, just so that she could figure out how to extract herself from them. She hoped Grint had had the same kind of training.

[bookmark: p1437]The sulfur smell was gone. The potion bottles in the very back of the secret room no longer bubbled like they had the first time she'd seen them, and she couldn't see the shade of a former patron. Maybe the shade had gone to take care of Grint.

[bookmark: p1438]She shuddered again.

[bookmark: p1439]Then she squared her shoulders, sighed heavily, and removed several of her own warding spells. This was the part that frightened her the most. She knew she'd have to remove some protections she'd had for years just to go back into that area. She would have to keep her wits about her at all times—the worst thing about older magical areas was that some of the spells around them warped thoughts, and she didn't know any counter spells for that.

[bookmark: p1440]The thought-warping spells had been banned for centuries, and the counterspells lost—if there ever had been counterspells.

[bookmark: p1441]A tinge of excitement sent butterflies through her stomach, and she tamped them down. The place she got hooked—the place she was the weakest—was on historical spells: discovering what had been lost. If she was honest with herself, she wanted to see those spell recipes in the very back. They'd intrigued her from the first.

[bookmark: p1442]And since she wasn't working for Abracadabra Inc, she could keep them if she wanted to.

[bookmark: p1443]She shook that thought away, wishing she could blame it on a warp and knowing that she couldn't. She'd had similar thoughts in Venice when she'd found a secret passage that actually went under the waters of the canal and led to an old magic potion bottle disposal site. She'd wanted to dig through those bottles as well, keep the secrets for herself, and not tell anyone what she'd found.

[bookmark: p1444]But she'd overcome that. Just like she would overcome this. So long as she cleared her mind before she went in.

[bookmark: p1445]She spread her arms, and did not use a magical spell to clear her mind. She'd tried that on half a dozen occasions, only to have stronger magics sniff out the spell and reverse it.

[bookmark: p1446]Nope. She'd found the best way to clear her mind had nothing to do with magic, and everything to do with the physical world around her. She took several deep breaths, used some calming techniques she'd learned in a long-ago yoga class, and then counted to fifty. Her heart rate slowed, the butterflies left her stomach, and some tension she hadn't even realized she'd had eased out of her shoulders.

[bookmark: p1447]She felt stronger, more able, and ready to face what was ahead. She stepped through the poster-covered door into the barely lit room beyond—

[bookmark: p1448]—and nearly gasped at its size. The room seemed narrow from the outside, but inside it went back away from the front door for what seemed like blocks. (Which wasn't possible: yes, there were large buildings here, but they ended, and other buildings started on the other side of the block, and then there were other streets like the Rue St.-Honoré and her favorite chocolate store, and traffic and—she sighed. It wasn't an illusion, but it was something like an illusion. She'd have to figure that out too.)

[bookmark: p1449]To her left and right, the room extended as well, going through the back of the building as if it were a corridor or a long river that served as a divider between sections. When she turned to examine this, the blocks-like illusion which ran in front of her, seemed narrow again, as if whatever it was that went left to right bisected the longer area in front of her.

[bookmark: p1450]Confusion started to swirl in her brain, and she couldn't allow that. Confusion let other magics in. If the confusion remained, she would have to do more calming techniques, which she really didn't want to do.

[bookmark: p1451]Instead, she took another step forward. The images shivered and shook, the potion bottles bounced on their shelves, and a cat walked across a dusty table. Tara smiled. Finally she understood. She was going through waves of spells, designed by various owners of this space, all of whom had their own theories about what an intruder should see.

[bookmark: p1452]Maybe Grint's initial ploy hadn't been bad after all. If du Vigneaud had joined Abracadabra Inc, the shop would technically have belonged to the corporation and a lot of these security spells would have been neutralized. Instead, she was going to have to go through a long magical procedure, one that could take most of the night, to make them go away.

[bookmark: p1453]She raised her hands to start the spell, when she realized she could try something else. She backed out of the room, closed the door, and did a simpler spell, one that made her look and seem—for all intents and purposes—like du Vigneaud's wife. The illusion would only last a few minutes, but that was all she needed to get to the heart of that room.

[bookmark: p1454]The "intruder" had already been caught by the most recent security spell. Grint had helped her in that way. The magic would have no idea that she wasn't who she seemed.

[bookmark: p1455]She pulled the door open. Then she went inside again. The room—the real room—was old and smelled of damp. The Seine or Paris's famous sewers had backed up in here one too many times. She resisted the urge to sneeze, never knowing what might tip the magic to her disguise.

[bookmark: p1456]The room was as small as it had initially looked. It was narrow and dark, with cobwebs looping off the stone walls and ceilings. This then, was how du Vigneaud had gotten covered with cobwebs on their first visit in, and probably what had stopped Tara in her tracks. 

[bookmark: p1457]She shivered, knowing that this time, with her protections gone, she was probably getting covered with the same greenish webby stuff that had covered him the first time.

[bookmark: p1458]She stepped forward. Normally, she would do a small spell for illumination, but she didn't dare. There had to be a system in place, one that triggered when someone who had the right to enter this room did.

[bookmark: p1459]And sure enough, her disguise worked well enough to activate the light spell. Lights flared as she passed the first column of stone. The lights, magical as they were, imitated the original creator's time period—so instead of electricity or even gaslight, she was faced with a candle floating before her, and torches hanging off the stone walls.

[bookmark: p1460]Water dripped past the torches, adding to the chill. The room veered slightly to the left, revealing a staircase that went down, down, down with no end in sight.

[bookmark: p1461]If she were still with Abracadabra Inc., she would go back outside and double-check her back-up. But she wasn't, and the corporation had actually failed her this time.

[bookmark: p1462]So she crossed her fingers and hoped that whatever she found down here—whatever she learned—would be worth it.

[bookmark: p1463]The steps were sunken in the middle as if time and many feet had worn them away. The water dribbled down the side, a constant trickle that should have worn away even more of the stone decades ago.

[bookmark: p1464]Some of her deepest protections had awakened now, but she had muted their automatic powers, so all she heard were the occasional warning voices in her mind. She paid attention: each warning indicated a particularly nasty spell, and there seemed to be one every five steps or so. 

[bookmark: p1465]She counted the steps, but lost track after 180. She had no idea how deep underground she was going, but she knew there was some distance to travel. A lot of this city was underground, and much of it had been walled off over the centuries. It shouldn't have surprised her that some magical being had taken part of Underground Paris as his very own.

[bookmark: p1466]Finally, the steps leveled off. The air was fetid down here, the mildew and mold stenches even stronger. A corridor disappeared into the distance, with no torches lit.

[bookmark: p1467]She wondered if that was another illusion, one the woman she was still pretending to be fell for.

[bookmark: p1468]Tara didn't dare challenge it, not wearing this guise, and she didn't dare change the guise this deep into the dark magics of this place. So she turned to the right, which was the only direction in which the torches were lit. She followed them only a few meters before reaching one last door.

[bookmark: p1469]This one was oak with metal reinforcements. The wood had grayed, and the metal had rusted around all of the very old bolts that held it in place.

[bookmark: p1470]As she pushed the door open, it creaked. A man, younger than she was, looked up from his place behind a solid mahogany table. He had dark eyes, long dark hair pulled back into a queue, and a thin, narrow mouth.

[bookmark: p1471]"You're not Suzette," he said in modern French.

[bookmark: p1472]She hadn't expected to be caught so easily, nor had she expected to hear someone down here speak the modern version of the language. 

[bookmark: p1473]"No, I'm not," she said, but she kept her disguise, knowing that sometimes the magic could be tricked even when the mage wasn't. The last thing she wanted was to change back to her normal form down here, only to have the dark magic form around her, trapping her in place.

[bookmark: p1474]"What're you doing here?" the man asked.

[bookmark: p1475]"I could ask you the same thing," she said. "You're running a dark arts shop. That's against all the covenants of the modern era."

[bookmark: p1476]It was a weak argument, but the only one she had since the shop wasn't a member of Abracadabra Inc. All members of the corporation swore off the dark arts the moment they joined. She had had to enforce that little provision more times than she cared to think about.

[bookmark: p1477]Only once before had she faced a dark arts practitioner without the backing of the corporation's bylaws. And that particular little meeting hadn't gone well.

[bookmark: p1478]"Do I know you?" he asked, and this time, she was convinced he was trying to get her to reveal herself so that the magic could take her. Which might mean that she had an unexpected advantage.

[bookmark: p1479]If he was truly worried about her (and the repetition suggested he was), then he should have used his own powers to stop her. He wasn't. Or he was unwilling to. Which meant he either had no dark powers or he had no access to them.

[bookmark: p1480]Or, conversely, he could simply be lazy, not willing to use his powers until he absolutely had to.

[bookmark: p1481]She hoped against lazy. "I doubt it. I work for Abracadabra Incorporated."

[bookmark: p1482]Or at least she had on previous jobs. She had to mentally qualify her statement because sometimes lies were dark magic magnets.

[bookmark: p1483]"For what?" he asked.

[bookmark: p1484]"Abracadabra Incorporated? You might recognize it by its old name—Alchemists United For the Common Good," she said that last in English, and added the acronym. "You know, AUCG." Which she pronounced Oooo-guck.

[bookmark: p1485]"AUGC?" He frowned. "You've changed your name?"

[bookmark: p1486]Bingo. She had a time frame for this guy. Abracadabra Incorporated had gone through a number of incarnations over the years, all as legal business entities. The first was in the 16th century, and put together under England's Guild laws. Then it had been the Pure Alchemists' Guild—pure as in white magic, not as in sexual purity. AUGC was the 19th century version of the organization.

[bookmark: p1487]"We changed the name to Abracadabra Incorporated, yes," she said, returning to French.

[bookmark: p1488]He stayed in that language as well. "Mon Dieu, I thought you people were wedded to your Common Good moniker. I always hated that."

[bookmark: p1489]I bet you did, she thought but didn't say. She didn't need to argue with him about morality and magic which, if his training was pre-Victorian, was where the conversation was headed.

[bookmark: p1490]"Obviously so did many other members," she said. "I take it you're not one."

[bookmark: p1491]"Do I look like a do-gooder to you?" 

[bookmark: p1492]Actually he did, with that smooth face, the warmth in his eyes, and the sparkle about him. But the sparkle was what clued her. No one looked that friendly, especially not someone who'd been working in the dark arts for the better part of two centuries.

[bookmark: p1493]"You look like a man at work," she said. "I found your security system. Quite elaborate. But you shouldn't have based it on that tooth. It can be moved, you know."

[bookmark: p1494]"Not without killing its mover," he said.

[bookmark: p1495]"You haven't kept up with modern spell protections, have you?" she asked. "Most anyone with a bit of training can hold a dragon's tooth. Your assistant did so all the time."

[bookmark: p1496]"Suzette?" he asked again.

[bookmark: p1497]"Her husband," Tara said.

[bookmark: p1498]"The idiot," the mage said. "She was supposed to warn him to stay away from it."

[bookmark: p1499]"Obviously that worked," Tara said, then wondered if the mage before her would get the sarcasm. He pursed his lips at her tone, and she realized she needn't have worried.

[bookmark: p1500]The room around him was curiously blank. Tara found it hard to focus on the walls, the floor, the ceiling. And she couldn't really see any objects in there besides the man and the table. Another illusion spell? Or was he yet another protection, buried deep in the magical system.

[bookmark: p1501]"Suzette's new, isn't she?" Tara asked.

[bookmark: p1502]"More or less," he said, looking down at the paper before him (paper, when there hadn't been any a moment ago). He was feigning disinterest, but he also might have been showing her that there were other things in the room.

[bookmark: p1503]He was another protection, one designed for the shop's owners. How many generations of mages had he tricked?

[bookmark: p1504]"How new?" Tara asked.

[bookmark: p1505]He shrugged. "Why do you care?"

[bookmark: p1506]"Because," she said, "I want to know what you're hiding here."

[bookmark: p1507]He looked up. "Nothing. As you can see."

[bookmark: p1508]That was it. The room was filled with nothing. Not so subtle after all.

[bookmark: p1509]She decided to go for broke—or whatever suitable cliché she could think of. She wrapped her own magic tight around her disguise and went into the room.

[bookmark: p1510]Suddenly the pulsating red light was back, along with the sulfur smell. She half-expected a demon to appear before her, but none did. She was grateful: she hated demons. Most of them were simply mages with puffed up egos. 

[bookmark: p1511]The man had disappeared. In fact, the entire room had disappeared. Instead, she found a gaping hole that opened even deeper into Paris's underground.

[bookmark: p1512]"Hey, Tar?" Grint's voice floated up from the deep hole. "You here yet?"

[bookmark: p1513]He was trying to sound cool, but he actually sounded panicked. Terrified. About-to-lose-everything-including-his-mind crazy.

[bookmark: p1514]She decided not to answer him—not because she was being mean, but because she didn't want to tip off whatever was there, holding him.

[bookmark: p1515]Instead, she pulled her tool belt so that it was as tight as it could be, plugged her nose, and cannonballed into the billowing smoke.

* * *

[bookmark: p1516]An hour later, maybe more, she surfaced. She had no other word for it; it wasn't like her brain was being probed or she had lost consciousness. No, it was more like it was off, the way it went off under anesthesia—no dreams, no thoughts, no nothing. One minute there and the next minute not-there. She had no memory of falling, yet she knew she had fallen for a long time, and was still falling.

[bookmark: p1517]She hit some kind of surface, bounced, and realized that she wasn't in France any more. Or any France she recognized. The surface beneath her hands, her feet, her butt, was a clayish mud. The air still smelled of sulfur, but the naturally occurring kind, the kind she'd seen around hot springs.

[bookmark: p1518]The pulsating red light was now above her and looked a lot more like a short-circuiting neon light than some kind of glowing pulsating evil. The walls arched over her, and even though the ceiling was open, in other sections, it had already closed.

[bookmark: p1519]She had landed in a cave.

[bookmark: p1520]Of course.

[bookmark: p1521]She smiled and shook her head. Then she stood up, brushed as much of the clay off herself as she could, and called out, "Hello!" 

[bookmark: p1522]When all that echoed back to her was her own voice, she added greetings in every modern language she knew. Then she went for the medieval versions of the same things. It wasn't until she tried Latin that she got an answer.

[bookmark: p1523]In English.

[bookmark: p1524]"All right, already. If you're going to shout all day, I'm going to end up with a headache."

[bookmark: p1525]The voice was twenty times louder than hers had been. It literally shook the walls.

[bookmark: p1526]"Come visit, come on. You're so damned determined, I suppose we may as well be face-to-face. But I have to tell you if there's armor or a sword, tell me now. I like my knight roasted."

[bookmark: p1527]Tara's smile grew. A dragon. A dragon that, for some reason, had a shop on the rue de Rivoli. A dragon that, for an even more inexplicable reason, was trying to sell one of its own teeth.

[bookmark: p1528]Tara walked forward, past very old and yellowed skulls, some suitably charred bits of metal, and one rather unnerving mummified hand. After a few minutes, she reached the section of the cave where the ceiling was still intact, and she braced herself for some old claustrophobia, but it didn't hit. Apparently her brain registered the size of the cave—more suitably called a cavern—and deemed it large enough to keep her blood pressure level.

[bookmark: p1529]A slight incline, a forced corner, and she was in an even larger cavern, one with some kind of natural light that came through the ceiling. The ceiling material—she couldn't quite call it rock—glowed whitely, like opaque skylights. And in the very back of the cavern the dragon huddled.

[bookmark: p1530]It looked rather small and a little plain. Even though the creature was twenty to fifty times Tara's size (she never was good at comparisons), it still seemed unprepossessing.

[bookmark: p1531]"All in black," the dragon said, lifting its snout to talk rather like an alligator in a cartoon. "How disappointing. I thought fashion in the 21st century would give up on the basic black."

[bookmark: p1532]Tara moved to a rock near the dragon's right eye. Even though she'd never encountered a dragon, she did remember her lessons about them: 1) Never stand directly in front of one; 2) be polite; and 3) always look them in the eye.

[bookmark: p1533][image: v3n207.jpg]

[bookmark: p1534]That last was specific. Eye, not eyes. Eye was polite. Eyes was impossible unless you violated Rule Number One, which often led to accidentally charring and a particularly hideous death.

[bookmark: p1535]"I dressed like this because I was entering your shop after hours," Tara said.

[bookmark: p1536]"Cat burglar." The dragon sighed. "Which is an odd phrase, considering that you don't look like a cat. Then I guess the black makes sense. I had just hoped, you know, for a green season, or perhaps the return of pink."

[bookmark: p1537]The return of pink? Was the dragon being serious or were the rumors true? Was the dragon trying to be funny?

[bookmark: p1538]The idea actually chilled Tara. She finally understood how something could be amusing and dangerous at the same time. 

[bookmark: p1539]"You brought me down here to discuss fashion?" Tara asked.

[bookmark: p1540]"I didn't bring you down here. You jumped, insane human that you are. I actually had to hit the air currents so that you wouldn't splat against my lovely floor. I hate it when humans splat. Everything gets mushed, and the bones usually shatter, taking all the fun out of breaking them for marrow."

[bookmark: p1541]The threats sounded like the dragon didn't have his (her?) heart into them. They seemed almost rote.

[bookmark: p1542]"I just wanted to see what was down here," Tara said. "I work for Abracadabra Inc—"

[bookmark: p1543]"Yes, I heard the entire tedious conversation, and realized that you were going to get past every fail safe every half assed mage I hired over the centuries tried to assemble. So I resigned myself to having a visitor. I haven't had a female one in nearly two centuries. There is only so much information you can pick up from the Style Network."

[bookmark: p1544]Tara frowned. "You get television down here?"

[bookmark: p1545]"A rather elaborate and at times magical theft from the roving satellite systems. I much prefer the variety of American television, but I can get everything from Al Jazeera—which isn't nearly as biased as your American newscasters make it out to be, to Telemundo. The Mexicans have the best soap operas, by the way, but no fashion sense."

[bookmark: p1546]Tara had a distinct feeling of unreality, even stronger than it had been when she'd been dealing with illusions.

[bookmark: p1547]"You spend your time down here watching television?" 

[bookmark: p1548]"And movies," the dragon said. "And I still read when I get the chance, but it's hard. Books are very fragile things. I'm beginning to prefer the audio downloads."

[bookmark: p1549]"A computer too?"

[bookmark: p1550]"A new one every week. I still can't manage a keyboard for long." The dragon rolled its eye. The eye looked very reptilian—gray-green-brown, with no visible lid and no lashes, and a lot of cold intelligence.

[bookmark: p1551]Tara shook her own head slightly. "I can't believe I'm having this conversation."

[bookmark: p1552]The dragon's eye slitted, making this side of its face, at least, look menacing. "You're humoring me."

[bookmark: p1553]Tara sighed. She hadn't expected to be caught, but this creature was so much older than she was. Longevity always bred its own wisdom.

[bookmark: p1554]"You're right, I am humoring you," Tara said. "I've never encountered a real dragon before. I'd been expecting—I don't know—the shade of a mage who couldn't let go or a power reservoir designed by Charlemagne or something."

[bookmark: p1555]"Romantic." The dragon curled its paws under its chin. "That's your problem. Charlemagne. As if he would ever need a place like this."

[bookmark: p1556]"You knew him?" Tara asked.

[bookmark: p1557]"Of him." The dragon's eye widened. "As I said, I don't get out much. And you people have the lifespan of fruit flies, comparatively speaking."

[bookmark: p1558]"Then why set up the decoy shop? Why not lose the entrance to this cave altogether?"

[bookmark: p1559]"eBay, child."

[bookmark: p1560]"Hmmm?" Whatever Tara had expected, it hadn't been that.

[bookmark: p1561]"I get shipments like everyone else. Every treasure ever invented gets auctioned at one time or another." The dragon's scaly lips pulled back in something that might have looked like a smile—at least from the front. But Tara wasn't going around front to check.

[bookmark: p1562]"You order things from eBay?" Tara couldn't quite wrap her mind around it. "How do you pay?"

[bookmark: p1563]The dragon sighed. "Really. A thousand years of hoarding does give one enough wealth to open a PayPal account."

[bookmark: p1564]Tara frowned.

[bookmark: p1565]The dragon let out a disgusted moan. Smoke curled from its nostrils, and a small lick of fire escaped between its teeth. It put its claw over its mouth.

[bookmark: p1566]"Sorry," it said, "but I do that when I'm annoyed."

[bookmark: p1567]Tara's stomach clenched. "I didn't mean to annoy you."

[bookmark: p1568]"I know, dear." The dragon burped, and the stink of sulfur grew. "It's just that I thought you were more intelligent than you really are. Here's how it works. I get a minion. What's her name this time? Suzette? And appear to her in human form. She has never been down here, thank the gods. I hand her a gold piece or a ruby or some such nonsense, tell her to sell it, let her keep ten percent for herself, and give the rest of the funds to me. That keeps my little PayPal account active for some time."

[bookmark: p1569]"How do you know she's not cheating you?"

[bookmark: p1570]More smoke curled. "I can get satellite reception down here. How hard do you think it is to do a little magical spying of my own? That's how I lost the last minion. He decided to keep 90% for himself, and give me ten."

[bookmark: p1571]The dragon sighed again.

[bookmark: p1572]"I should have known, too. He was always a problem, even when we were dealing in real commodities. And he was stringy."

[bookmark: p1573]"Stringy?"

[bookmark: p1574]"I actually had to send the new minion for some special floss. His tough skin got caught in my teeth." The dragon raised one lip and pointed with a claw. "See?"

[bookmark: p1575]Tara didn't want to look. "You still have some skin there?"

[bookmark: p1576]"No, silly. But I do have a puncture in my gum that has yet to heal. See?"

[bookmark: p1577]Tara squared her shoulders and peered into the recesses of the dragon's mouth without getting close. Sure enough, there was an indentation that looked inflamed.

[bookmark: p1578]"Surely you can magic that away," Tara said.

[bookmark: p1579]"Do I look like a dentist to you?" the dragon snapped. "Some things are harder than they look."

[bookmark: p1580]For someone who could create a hole in the earth? Monitor what was happening on a Paris street from whatever this distance was? Get satellite and computer technology without getting caught?

[bookmark: p1581]Tara wanted to ask those questions, but didn't. Instead, she asked another.

[bookmark: p1582]"So what about the tooth?"

[bookmark: p1583]The dragon closed its mouth. "You belong to that whiny jerk?"

[bookmark: p1584]"You have Grint?" Tara asked.

[bookmark: p1585]"If that's what he's called. He looks stringy too."

[bookmark: p1586]"It's the times," Tara said. "Thin is in."

[bookmark: p1587]The dragon made a note of disgust. "Is he yours?"

[bookmark: p1588]"Never met him before yesterday," Tara said, wondering if she was dooming him, and if she was, how she could save him. "He's been annoying me too."

[bookmark: p1589]"These creatures don't seem to think about how their bossiness and their complaining plays. They act tough, and then when they're trapped, they blubber like a baby. It's not attractive." The dragon's pupil moved oddly, as if it were focusing on Tara in a whole new way. "You're not blubbering."

[bookmark: p1590]"I'm not trapped," Tara said. Then her stomach clenched tighter. "Am I?"

[bookmark: p1591]That weird smile raised the side of the dragon's lip. "That depends. Are you going to tell Abracadabra Inc. about me?"

[bookmark: p1592]Tara had to force herself to keep breathing. She promised herself she wouldn't lie to this creature—it seemed to sense lies. "They need to know what this well of magic is."

[bookmark: p1593]"If we concoct some kind of story that allows me to have my minion and my connection to the center of human commerce—"

[bookmark: p1594]"You think Paris is the center of human commerce?" Tara asked, unable to stop herself.

[bookmark: p1595]"No," the dragon snapped. "Of course not. But it's only five hours from New York, and I can force the minion to go there if I have to. Besides, New York is an island. I loathe water."

[bookmark: p1596]"You've already investigated moving there."

[bookmark: p1597]That eye movement again, like a camera lens focusing, focusing. "I did, about fifty years ago. Seems like yesterday. I didn't like the bedrock, the silt, or the smell. None of the buildings are old enough and the culture is still too brash for me."

[bookmark: p1598]"In other words, you couldn't find a good location for your shop."

[bookmark: p1599]"Actually," the dragon said, "call me old-fashioned, but it still feels like I'm heading to the provinces. I prefer a city with history. My first minion was a Gaul, you know. I liked him. Not whiny or bossy."

[bookmark: p1600]Reminded of Grint, Tara realized a thread had been left dangling. "You never told me about that tooth. Why would you sacrifice a tooth, even for all the protection it buys?"

[bookmark: p1601]"You're an inquisitive one, aren't you?" the dragon said. It moved back slightly, and what had looked like bulges on its back unfolded and then folded again. Wings. 

[bookmark: p1602]The dragon turned so that it was looking at Tara straight on. Her heart started to pound, but she didn't want to move, at least not right away. She didn't want the creature to realize how very scared she was.

[bookmark: p1603]"The tooth is my ex-husband's. It was the only part of him worth saving."

[bookmark: p1604]In spite of herself, Tara grinned. "Ex-husband. Dragons have divorce?"

[bookmark: p1605]"Good heavens, we live forever. Imagine our society if we didn't have divorce."

[bookmark: p1606]"But you got his tooth. Is he dead?"

[bookmark: p1607]"Just defanged, honey," the dragon said and chuckled. More flame crept out, licking dangerously close to Tara's feet. Tara scrambled to the side of the dragon's head.

[bookmark: p1608]"You're using your ex-husband's tooth to protect your shop, control your minions, and fund your eBay addiction?" Tara asked.

[bookmark: p1609]"I don't control the minions," the dragon said with a huff. "I buy them off."

[bookmark: p1610]Then the dragon tilted her head sideways. 

[bookmark: p1611]"Say," the dragon said, "can you be bought off?"

[bookmark: p1612]"Of course not," Tara said, truly offended this time. How many dark arts practitioners had tried bribe her? How many had offered her powers they thought she couldn't refuse?

[bookmark: p1613]More than she cared to count.

[bookmark: p1614]"Really?" the dragon said. "What about the stringy fellow?"

[bookmark: p1615]"I'm sure he can be bought off," Tara said with disgust.

[bookmark: p1616]The dragon chuckled again. "You really don't like him."

[bookmark: p1617]The dragon picked at her teeth with her claw. Then she said, "What I meant was, could saving him work as a bribe?"

[bookmark: p1618]Tara finally understood. The dragon wanted something from her.

[bookmark: p1619]Tara moved slightly out of the line of fire and sat on a nearby rock. "What do you want?"

[bookmark: p1620]"I need a new minion," the dragon said. "These people are too dumb and I'm really unhappy with the level of talent I've seen in the past few generations. I'd like someone with great power to work with me, not for me. You have great power."

[bookmark: p1621]Tara felt cold, even though the air here was hot and clammy. "I'm also sworn against the dark arts."

[bookmark: p1622]The dragon exhaled a stream of fire. It scorched the earth next to Tara but didn't touch her although the heat seared her skin.

[bookmark: p1623]"You humans always assume we dragons are practitioners of the dark arts. We have never gone dark. We just don't like being stabbed in the eye with swords and having our teeth plucked out for magical gain." Each word emerged with a tiny lick of flame. The dragon really was annoyed.

[bookmark: p1624]"Tara? Is that you?" Grint's voice was shaking. It sounded very small, as if he were far away.

[bookmark: p1625]"What are you doing to him?" Tara asked.

[bookmark: p1626]"Nothing," the dragon said a little too innocently. "Except making him hold the tooth."

[bookmark: p1627]Tara's chill increased. "You realize the magical vibration could kill him."

[bookmark: p1628]"It can do that," the dragon said. "It can also tenderize the stringy ones."

[bookmark: p1629]"Tara!"

[bookmark: p1630]"All right," Tara said. "Let him go and I'll talk with you."

[bookmark: p1631]"About partnering up?"

[bookmark: p1632]"As long as you promise not to eat me," Tara said, adding, "I've always heard how dragons keep their promises."

[bookmark: p1633]The dragon's eye twinkled. 

[bookmark: p1634]"Liar," she said, then tilted her head back. 

[bookmark: p1635]Grint appeared next to Tara, his bare feet on the scorched rocks. He screeched and jumped aside. The tooth clattered between them. 

[bookmark: p1636]Tara felt the tooth's power, even from that distance.

[bookmark: p1637]"The woman has freed you," the dragon said. "But before I send you back to your world, I will bind you. You cannot speak of me. You cannot think of me, and you can never come here again."

[bookmark: p1638]Then she flicked her tail, and Grint disappeared—without saying thank you, of course.

[bookmark: p1639]Tara's stomach jumped. Now she was alone with the dragon, and she wasn't sure she wanted to be.

[bookmark: p1640]"If we were to partner, what do I have to do?" Tara asked, when she was sure her voice wouldn't shake.

[bookmark: p1641]"Not much. Make sure my internet works. Help with the occasional cable connection. Get my packages down here in a timely manner. And keep quiet about what I'm doing."

[bookmark: p1642]Tara wouldn't tell anyone about the dragon. She didn't dare. She would lose Enchanté. A bargain with another magical creature was against Abracadabra's rules.

[bookmark: p1643]"That's all?" Tara asked. "I don't have to bring you food? I don't have to help you locate treasure?"

[bookmark: p1644]"Child, I've been stuffing myself these last few years. Don't you know anything about dragons? I only have to eat once every half century or so."

[bookmark: p1645]Like a snake. The food had to work its way through the system.

[bookmark: p1646]The idea that Grint could have been that struck Tara as gross. A long Texas stick, stringy, working its way through the dragon's gullet.

[bookmark: p1647]Tara bit her lower lip and forced herself to focus. "What happens if I choose not to be your minion?"

[bookmark: p1648]"Partner, child. I prefer partner." 

[bookmark: p1649]"Partner, then."

[bookmark: p1650]The dragon smiled—if that's what that teeth-baring really was. "If I were younger, I'd threaten to kill you or remove your magic or send you back in time or something. But I'm not. And I like you. I like how you manipulated both of those men."

[bookmark: p1651]Tara waited.

[bookmark: p1652]"You can walk away," the dragon said. "You'll never be able to come to this part of the rue de Rivoli again."

[bookmark: p1653]"This isn't the rue de Rivoli," Tara said. "I don't know where we are, but we're not in Paris any more."

[bookmark: p1654]The dragon chuckled. "See? Too smart for your own good. The point is, you can walk away with your life, your magic, and your memories intact."

[bookmark: p1655]"What do I gain if I help you?"

[bookmark: p1656]"Protection for that little store of yours," the dragon said. "You do realize that your precious corporation is going to shut it down?"

[bookmark: p1657]A shiver ran down Tara's back. "They won't. I'm a franchise owner."

[bookmark: p1658]The dragon snorted. "You're so American. And so are they. That's the problem. Stores older than a century are starting to frighten them. Seems the magic has been around too long to be contained."

[bookmark: p1659]Tara frowned. "How come you know this and I don't?"

[bookmark: p1660]"You're not corporate any more, darling," the dragon said. "I did some digging when your friend Grint came here. And I have nothing but time. Nothing but time, internet files, and vast curiosity. They'll compensate you, of course. But the store goes."

[bookmark: p1661]Tara wondered if that was true. She wondered if she was being manipulated by the dragon.

[bookmark: p1662]Then she thought of Quinn and the way he had treated her, not letting her solve the dragon's tooth problem, even after ten years of exemplary service. Of Grint, and the way he had looked at her, as if she didn't matter at all.

[bookmark: p1663]And of that anonymous woman on the phone at the Abracadabra Affiliates help line, the woman who had snapped at her and hung up.

[bookmark: p1664]Tara had been around corporations long enough to recognize the signs of cutbacks. She just hadn't been paying attention. She'd focused on her own store for too long.

[bookmark: p1665]"What if I don't want the protection?" Tara asked.

[bookmark: p1666]The dragon's wings opened, then closed. It was the dragon equivalent of a shrug. "Then we can come up with something else. The point is, darling, that I need a new partner."

[bookmark: p1667]"Minion," Tara said.

[bookmark: p1668]"Partner," the dragon said, "and you need a friend. Not to mention some style tips. What do you say?"

[bookmark: p1669]Tara frowned. "May I think about it?" 

[bookmark: p1670]"Be my guest," the dragon said. "I have all the time in the world."

[bookmark: p1671]It took Tara a moment to realize that the dragon wasn't just using a turn of phrase. "Much as I'd love to be your guest," she said, "I'd prefer some time in my hotel room. Some time to research things for myself."

[bookmark: p1672]"Time to figure out if I'm compromising you?" the dragon asked.

[bookmark: p1673]"That too," Tara said.

[bookmark: p1674]The dragon nodded. "You can leave any time you want. However, I do sincerely hope that you come back."

[bookmark: p1675]Tara actually believed that. She wondered if the depth of the belief came from her own intuition or some kind of dragonish manipulation.

[bookmark: p1676]She didn't wait to find out. Instead, she headed to the first cavern. But before she left the dragon's lair, she stopped.

[bookmark: p1677]"When I come back," she said, "what should I call you?"

[bookmark: p1678]The dragon blinked at her. 

[bookmark: p1679]"You know my name," Tara said. "You heard me give it to Monsieur du Vigneaud. If you want a fair consideration, give me yours."

[bookmark: p1680]The dragon studied her for a long time. Then she said, "Frieda."

[bookmark: p1681]It felt right. It felt natural. Like true names did.

[bookmark: p1682]Tara thanked her, then returned to the spot in the first cavern, the spot she had landed on. She waved a hand in a transport.

[bookmark: p1683]She didn't go through the darkness or the sulfur or anything like what she had gone through to enter.

[bookmark: p1684]Instead, she simply ended up near the statue in the Tuileries. She slapped herself, dusting off the magical residue, and slowly worked herself toward the Hotel Intercontinental.

[bookmark: p1685]While she was there, looking up the P&Ls for Abracadabra Incorporated, she had a realization.

[bookmark: p1686]The dragon's name had been real. True names had power. In the wrong hands, a true name could be used to control, to bind, even to kill.

[bookmark: p1687]The dragon had made herself vulnerable.

[bookmark: p1688]Tara's heart pounded.

[bookmark: p1689]The offer was for real.

* * *

[bookmark: p1690]She shouldn't have accepted. That's what the experts at Abracadabra Incorporated would have told her.

[bookmark: p1691]But the dragon was right: Abracadabra Inc. was an American-held corporation, and much as it valued research, it didn't always understand history.

[bookmark: p1692]Dragons and humans had partnered since time immemorial, to the benefit of them both.

[bookmark: p1693]Only most people believed all the dragons were gone. 

[bookmark: p1694]Tara looked through her documentation on dragons and realized a lot of dragons were gone, but a few famous ones remained.

[bookmark: p1695]Including a canny female with an eye for silk skirts and amazing rubies. A female believed to answer to the name Frieda.

[bookmark: p1696]That detail was the clincher. Along with the internal memo Tara had found when she hacked into Abracadabra's corporate network, the memo that suggested a compensation rate of no more than one million euros for each store closed. The million would go to stores that did 100K in euros per year.

[bookmark: p1697]Stores that did less than 20K would get 250K compensation. Her store hadn't even done that well; she wouldn't even get a full return on her investment.

[bookmark: p1698]Ten years of faithful service. Ten years of four hours sleep per night, of more stress than a human could tolerate, of skipped meals and intercontinental flights. Ten years of fighting dark arts practitioners, putting her life on the line, and what would she get?

[bookmark: p1699]Nothing.

[bookmark: p1700]She would lose her store, her dream, and she wouldn't even recover her savings.

[bookmark: p1701]That, more than anything, made her take Frieda's bargain.

[bookmark: p1702]The first thing Tara did was cancel her affiliation with Abracadabra Inc, paying a 5K Euro fee and suffering through more threats than she wanted to think about.

[bookmark: p1703]Then she and Frieda moved the opening of the cavern to Tara's store, warding it, and guarding it with the ex-husband's tooth (although deep underground, where no innocents could stumble on the wayward magic).

[bookmark: p1704]So far, the deal was paying off. Within a year, Abracadabra Inc divested itself of 90 stores all across Europe. The cutbacks sent awful ripples through the magical world, and made Abracadabra's share price plummet.

[bookmark: p1705]Not that it mattered to Tara. She had a new routine. She got six packages from eBay providers every day, a new computer system that she had to install in the cavern every week, and an upgrade of the dragon's television/DVR set-up every year.

[bookmark: p1706]And that was all—except for the occasional pink dress, and lifetime subscription to the French Vogue.

[bookmark: p1707]She read it so that she and Frieda had something to talk about. But she didn't take advice from the magazine. And she kept wearing her basic black.

[bookmark: p1708]She also stayed thin—or as Frieda would say, stringy and unappetizing. 

[bookmark: p1709]Because it was one thing to believe a dragon's promises. It was another to rely on them.
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[bookmark: Chap_7]Twinkletoes

Written by J. A. Howe
Illustrated by: Jesus & Javier Carmona

[bookmark: p1710]I'm here walking up Broadside on a nice spring day, decided not to take the bus it was so nice and anyway I'm in a good mood. Prospects look good this year. Heller's hitting .309 already, we just acquired an amazing arm from Detroit. Oh, if they only knew what they had—but we have it now. Gonna be a good year for betting. Gonna make a lot of dough, I'm thinking.

[bookmark: p1711]So here I am, whistling "Take Me Out to the Ballgame" under my breath, and I hear footsteps behind. A kid in a cap I don't recognize but I figure it's baseball. What other sport is there, really?

[bookmark: p1712]"Hey, mister." 

[bookmark: p1713]Cute kid, can't tell the age. I got my own memory of youth when I hit that long homer and they all cheered. Got a dime, I figured, but that's not the question. Can I have your autograph doesn't make it either. 

[bookmark: p1714]"You work for the team around here, right?"

[bookmark: p1715]"That's right. Team broadcaster, kid." I give my signature imitation of an ump: "Out at first!" Straighten. "Loopy Lou, named for the guy who broke the Chicago curse." Kid looked at me blankly, unimpressed. Well, I'm past the time for him (her?) to remember . . .

[bookmark: p1716]"Terry Hammer, son of Thor, at your service," kid finally says, holding out a tiny, delicate hand. 

[bookmark: p1717]If he hadn't said "son," I wouldn't have been able to tell. Too cute to be a guy, too butch to really be female. Then again . . . 

[bookmark: p1718]". . . Owner of the Wooden Stakes."

[bookmark: p1719]Never heard of 'em, except with regards to vampires. 

[bookmark: p1720]As confusion crosses my face, kid says, "you know, the baseball team."

[bookmark: p1721]"Oh. Yeah." Great . . . here's some kid with a fantasy club to beat all fantasy clubs. Bet he roleplays too.

[bookmark: p1722]"We beat the Dragons last moon," he goes on. "They so wanted to eat us, too."

[bookmark: p1723]"Right . . . Well, nice talking to you."

[bookmark: p1724]"Wait! Phil said you'd be the one to get through to first, since you're the Voice." Mentions the last word in hushed, awed tones. 

[bookmark: p1725]Good to know the kid at least has respect for broadcasters. I feel my chest swelling a bit unintentionally with pride. 

[bookmark: p1726]"You could speak for me." 

[bookmark: p1727]Then again . . .

[bookmark: p1728]"To whom?"

[bookmark: p1729]Kid looks impatient. "To the GM, of course."

[bookmark: p1730]"You want to meet our General Manager?"

[bookmark: p1731]"No, your Games Master."

[bookmark: p1732]"Umm . . ."

[bookmark: p1733]Kid whacks his forehead. 

[bookmark: p1734]Definitely a guy. 

[bookmark: p1735]"Oh, hold a minute. I'd forgotten I was not speaking with one of our world. Yes, your—Gen-er-al Man-a-ger." Says the last part slowly, as if trying to make it sink into his mind in the proper manner. "This is who is in charge of the game, right?"

[bookmark: p1736]Maybe it's a friend of some baseball fan, or a kid who's just been introduced to the game this spring. . . .

[bookmark: p1737]"Well, there's some dispute: General Manager picks out the team with the Manager's help, you see. But a good game's called by the catcher. He knows best what's going on and what should be done." 

[bookmark: p1738]Kid looks confused again.

[bookmark: p1739]"The wrinkled tree at home plate?"

[bookmark: p1740]"Umm, yes . . . anyway . . ."

[bookmark: p1741]When he sees me trying to edge away, he moves. Fast. Like Itchy used to do in the outfield. I jump when I find him right by my side, clutching an arm from behind. 

[bookmark: p1742]"Please, mister . . ."

[bookmark: p1743]One of these days these fans are gonna give me a heart attack. "Okay, okay, you can meet the GM—tomorrow."

[bookmark: p1744]"But I must see him soon!"

[bookmark: p1745]"Well, Lacy's not around right now. Isn't as if I could conjure her up in an instant." Don't mention that she was my wife. 

[bookmark: p1746]Kid looks disappointed but nods.

[bookmark: p1747]"Yes, yes, of course you can't. Not here, at least." Kid sighs. "Then I will see you tomorrow. My thanks."

[bookmark: p1748]And then he vanishes.

[bookmark: p1749]You know, I've seen a lot of things in my thirty-two years with the Sox. Players with odd habits, religions, some of the most amazing rituals and superstitions. Used to know one hitter who refused to have sex during the season. And then there was the guy who stocked his locker with a specific type of gum—Choco mint by Bubbles, and god help the clubhouse guy if he couldn't find it. And oh yeah, I have seen a few pagan ball players and some very colorful fans. But nothing like that.

* * *

[bookmark: p1750]Sure enough, bright and early—bright being the applicable word here—Hammer appears right in front of the park as Lacy and I are heading in to work. Last night, she gathered I'd met some crazed fan or other. But the look on her face when she talks to him now—it's a study. 

[bookmark: p1751]Worse, he has this huge guy Thor with him. Says, ". . . since you seem to need convincing." 

[bookmark: p1752]Thor is fingering this mallet he carries. 

[bookmark: p1753]"Um, step into my office, Mister Hammer, and we'll discuss terms," Lacy says. 

[bookmark: p1754]I have to hand it to her, she was always professional, even with the crazies. 

[bookmark: p1755]"Mister Thor, you stay here please—with my husband."

[bookmark: p1756]Great.

[bookmark: p1757]So I'm here with this six-foot four linebacker type, and I have stuff to do at the booth so I say, "Okay, come with me, sir. You play what position?"

[bookmark: p1758]"Hitter." He makes a smashing movement. 

[bookmark: p1759]Suddenly I'm very glad I took wrestling in college and still have good reflexes. That wall came very close to needing serious repairs.

[bookmark: p1760]"So I see . . . and in the field?"

[bookmark: p1761]"Thor is DH. Designated Hwacker."

[bookmark: p1762]"Right . . ." 

[bookmark: p1763]I'm thinking I'll keep him far away from the reporters.

[bookmark: p1764]I have to spend the next three hours trying to keep Thor's hammer from anything sensitive . . .

[bookmark: p1765]. . . and dealing with an intern who keeps hitting on him—"I bet you've got a real nice hammer . . ." 

[bookmark: p1766]Then I have to keep Thor from grabbing her by the hair and dragging her off—"You ever done it with a real thunder god?" 

[bookmark: p1767]Finally, Lacy comes by the booth, without Terry, I'm very glad to see. 

[bookmark: p1768]Then I have close to a seizure.

[bookmark: p1769]"We're going to play the Stakes on Thursday." She looks at Thor and grins.

[bookmark: p1770]"You've got to be kidding. Lacy . . ."

[bookmark: p1771]"Press loves it. A fairy-human game? It's unheard of. And we're the first!" She kisses me on the cheek, winks at Thor. 

[bookmark: p1772]What is it with this guy? 

[bookmark: p1773]"Got to go, Hammer's talking to them now and I have to be on the Show at three." And she's gone. 

[bookmark: p1774]Thor looks at me. "Mmm, good," he says, flexing those huge muscles. "Must go practice." And he disappears in an instant.

[bookmark: p1775]This is what I get for marrying a Wiccan.

[bookmark: p1776]Press bills it as the greatest game ever to be played—a landmark. Hey, in this town, what with Ruth's ghost still about and some of the strangest games ever to be played under full moons, not to mention Salem up north, I guess it makes sense. Besides everyone loves Lacy (except New York who headline next day with "Has there Finally Been a Rip in the Lace?"—what do you expect from those people?). Guys around the clubhouse and dugout aren't sure what to say or think, except our catcher who just pores over his books like it would be any other game. Our manager, Bill, just grins and says "ah, well, I figured the Otherworld would come around to play us sometime. Best team in baseball—who else would they ask? Can't wait." 

* * *

[bookmark: p1777]So Monday comes, and you should hear the people on (and off) the Lemon Line. Someone does a great version of "Puff the Magic Dragon" and later calls in with "Do You Believe in Magic?" They play "Witchy Woman" bits all day. Fans come out in droves with that slogan, on t-shirts and posters and caps. The band who wrote it think of suing, then get talked out of it by our canny lawyer who offers them the glory of singing at the start. Aerosmith gets the seventh inning. They're all psyched, I hear.

[bookmark: p1778]Am I the only person in Boston who sees a problem with this?

[bookmark: p1779]Then they appear Wednesday night and I have to believe it.

[bookmark: p1780]"Sir! Sir! They're here!" Max, my stats whiz, comes running into my office. "You have to see this!"

[bookmark: p1781]"Bill down there?" 

[bookmark: p1782]As if I couldn't have figured on that. For all I know, Bill sees fairies on a regular basis . . . 

[bookmark: p1783]"He's there, all the reporters are there, Lacy's there, all our guys are there, it's amazing! There's this woman who keeps insisting no one touch her giant horse . . . c'mon, Sir, you can get a good view from the booth!"

[bookmark: p1784]We head up there, and sure enough, it's a sight to see. 

* * *

[bookmark: p1785]The paper I'm handed next day by Pansy—who'd had a lot of fun with Thor night before, rumor has it—is even more interesting. "There are a couple tweaks," she says. 

[bookmark: p1786]I take a very deep breath. 

[bookmark: p1787]They really do have a tree for a catcher.

[bookmark: p1788]Eagles—the band, thankfully they didn't bring too many birds—gets a rousing cheer. A tall guy named Watermark gets thrown out for flying to first. Through the air. He turns into a puddle and gooes his way into the dugout, as the crowd starts chanting "Witchy Woman". Guys in the field look at each other. Bill just sits back and enjoys it all, grinning. 

[bookmark: p1789]They eventually get used to it. Cat Overholt has a great time with Thistle the Pixie. He spends five minutes chasing her around the bases with a ball, trying to tag her. Thistle keeps showing up behind the guy yelling "boo!" Crowd goes into hysterics. Ump gives it up after a while; Thistle pouts but dances back to the dugout to a rousing cheer from the vampires and goblins and other freaks in the audience, not to mention our fans who are enjoying this game immensely.

[bookmark: p1790]The tree man who throws next inning looks more imposing than the guy who blew up a bird ten years ago with a fastball. He's apparently been told to slow his speed to at least 100 and he has amazing control. Crowd goes wild when Buchanan slugs an infield homer off of him. Thistle dashes in from outfield after that and whispers something to the tree, and nobody else manages to hit him, but that was the damage. Bill later calls him on throwing with fairy dust. 

[bookmark: p1791]How it is that Bill can figure something like that out, is beyond me. Then again it's Bill.

[bookmark: p1792]The tree guy kind of wilts coming off the mound, and a few teammates try to cheer him up in the dugout by making funny faces and dancing.

[bookmark: p1793]By the fifth inning, the park's alive. You can feel the electricity dancing in the air, and it isn't from any coming thunderstorms—I checked the weather reports beforehand. 

[bookmark: p1794]I watch a vampire whose name is Snooky and a rather cute elf both get on base. 

[bookmark: p1795]Then, Thor comes up to bat.

[bookmark: p1796]Entire park gets quiet every time they see him. And even from up in the booth, he is an imposing figure. Even his stride, that intense, focused walk, says power. He crinkles the bat around in his hands like he could crush it with just the right amount of force. We believe it; Thor has already broken four bats in this game alone, and he is apparently famous for doing so in the fairylands or whatever they call their home. Camera zooms in on our pitcher Zack Walters gulping visibly as he tries to collect himself. 

[bookmark: p1797]It's hard being a baseball announcer, you know. Guys like me, we have to describe the game to everyone sitting at home and make them feel like they're there watching. Every pitch, every little thing the players on the field—and sometimes out in the dugout—are doing, needs to be in that description. It's really an art, I guess you'd say. My wife sometimes jokes at me when she sees me going over game notes "and now here we see the artist in his home environment . . ."

[bookmark: p1798]So here I am, describing how nervous Zack looks, and so on, but then again he's faced great hitters before, maybe he will calm down after this pitch. I know ahead of time what it'll be, as Zack throws.

[bookmark: p1799]Ball one.

[bookmark: p1800]Yep, I knew it.

[bookmark: p1801]On the second throw, he hits Thor. 

[bookmark: p1802]And then . . .

[bookmark: p1803]Thor charges the mound.

[bookmark: p1804]I'm too shocked by what I'm seeing to at first say anything, so we have radio silence for a good couple heartbeats. I mean, I've seen guys charge the mound before, with and without the bat, I've seen guys knock over the pitcher on the mound, I've seen the pitcher deck the guy charging him. 

[bookmark: p1805][image: v3n208.jpg]

[bookmark: p1806]You know you've seen it all when you see Thor the great thunder god charge the mound, and the sky goes black, and lightning crackles in the air. "Thor is Designated Hwacker!" I miss Zack for a few seconds, then see he's crumpled on the mound into a ball, trying to protect himself. The rest of the teams pours out towards them, for a good brawl. The vampire gets a nice bleeder and turns into a bat to limp off towards their dugout. The tree catcher thing is throwing people left and right. And there is Thor in the middle, howling at the top of his lungs "Nobody throws at Thor! Thor is designated hwacker!" 

[bookmark: p1807]"Well, folks," I say, taking a deep breath, "there's really no way to properly describe this, unless you wanted to think of maybe some of the fights from the Ring movies . . . no, that doesn't exactly do it either. Aw, hell, I give up . . ." 

[bookmark: p1808]I duck just as a bolt of lightning goes down in the middle of left field. 

[bookmark: p1809]People are screaming. 

[bookmark: p1810]As I get up, I notice that both Bill and Terry, the respective managers, are standing off to one side casually watching the whole thing. "They seem to be discussing something, people—maybe they're just letting each team get their frustrations out. But what a way to be doing it!" 

[bookmark: p1811]Another bolt goes down and smashes into one of the cameras, causing sparks to fly. More screaming.

[bookmark: p1812]Then it starts to rain. Players stop fighting fast, and head for the dugouts, at least the humans. I notice that Bill is checking out Heller, who's almost been strangled by that tree they have with them. The pitcher, not the catcher tree. 

[bookmark: p1813]Then I see my wife.

[bookmark: p1814]She was first in the Sox dugout, chatting with Bill, checking for injuries, I guess. Heller is sent into the clubhouse, I see. Then I notice the megaphone in her hands, just as she and Bill finish talking. We have a rain delay for an hour.

[bookmark: p1815]This is the most fun I've ever had during a rain delay. The fairies, unbothered by the rain at all, are still fooling around out there—except Thor, who's been benched by his manager. Someone gets the bright idea to start blasting Witchy Woman from the loudspeakers, and our visitors make a nice show of dancing to it. Some of the guys in the dugout join them from there; McCoon almost collapses laughing when Yarlton starts to moonwalk. The crowd starts singing. 

[bookmark: p1816]I start to breathe again.

[bookmark: p1817]Finally, the rain begins tapering off. My wife strides out towards the pitchers' mound with all the intensity of a player. I can see the guys sobering up; they know what Lacy is like when she's in a temper. Thankfully, she's pretty calm about it.

[bookmark: p1818]"Both teams will resume their positions," she says into the megaphone. "Those directly involved in the fight will be fined accordingly." 

[bookmark: p1819]I see Thor hanging his head shamefully. 

[bookmark: p1820]"The game will recommence. I would like to remind Bostonians that these are our guests and should be treated with respect. I'm sure that we can resume play without further damage on both sides." 

[bookmark: p1821]Then, Bill says, "Yeah, peace man." 

[bookmark: p1822]Terry says "I want to remind my players that we are guests here, and that if we would like to ever return, you guys should learn to behave yourselves and remember that we are not playing at home."

[bookmark: p1823]"And now, if Thor could stop the rain?"

[bookmark: p1824]". . . and so play resumes in Boston, folks, after one of the strangest fights and rain delays I've ever seen," I say. "Looks like Thor's not coming back this game, but the report from the clubhouse is that both Zack and Heller are fine, and Jones only got a sprain from his fall. We haven't got the information on the amount of finage yet for each team, but we'll let you know . . . and there's Udly warming up now. Udly likes curveballs, folks, and he's pretty good at 'em—nice 2.34 ERA last year, after a year with a torn hamstring. So here's Buttercup coming up to bat, a real cutie of an elf . . ."

[bookmark: p1825]Seventh inning: Aerosmith really cranks it up. You can tell Tyler's enjoying himself. The fairy folk are having an even better time, fluttering around him. Crowd belts out the anthem along with them, encouraged. All has been forgiven by now about the fight earlier on, it seems.

* * *

[bookmark: p1826]What was it about that game, I still wonder. The rocket Jack Glavine got in the eighth when the score was tied, and Loki was pitching curveballs that reminded me of Pedro in the old days? Those broken-bat pounders from Thor before the fight, that went everywhere except near a base? 

[bookmark: p1827]. . . Watching Thistle in the outfield and never knowing exactly where he was or where he was going to be next? 

[bookmark: p1828]Was it the moment in the ninth when the score was tied again, Loki was unbeatable, and Jack Muffin of all people got a little grounder off him that got the crowd roaring so loud you could feel the ground vibrate?

[bookmark: p1829]It's been a long while since we won a World Series. Fellowship of the Miserable still argues and haggles and dreams every season, each year. And we lost the game that Thursday night too, when a tiny pixie named Walnut shocked the crowd when he managed to hit something far over the Monster. 

[bookmark: p1830]I hear it ended up in Boston Harbor somewhere. 

[bookmark: p1831]But you see smiles in Boston these days, and the old timers still talk about that game.

[bookmark: p1832]Let the Yankees have their 400 World Series rings. Once a year, every year since 2013, we get to play with the fairies.
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[bookmark: Chap_8]CLASSIC STORIES:

A Martian Odyssey

Written by Stanley G. Weinbaum
Illustrated by: Bob Greyvenstein
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[bookmark: p1834]Jarvis stretched himself as luxuriously as he could in the cramped general quarters of the Ares.

[bookmark: p1835]"Air you can breathe!" he exulted. "It feels as thick as soup after the thin stuff out there!" He nodded at the Martian landscape stretching flat and desolate in the light of the nearer moon, beyond the glass of the port.

[bookmark: p1836]The other three stared at him sympathetically—Putz, the engineer, Leroy, the biologist, and Harrison, the astronomer and captain of the expedition. Dick Jarvis was chemist of the famous crew, the Ares expedition, first human beings to set foot on the mysterious neighbor of the earth, the planet Mars. This, of course, was in the old days, less than twenty years after the mad American Doheny perfected the atomic blast at the cost of his life, and only a decade after the equally mad Cardoza rode on it to the moon. They were true pioneers, these four of the Ares. Except for a half-dozen moon expeditions and the ill-fated de Lancey flight aimed at the seductive orb of Venus, they were the first men to feel other gravity than earth's, and certainly the first successful crew to leave the earth-moon system. And they deserved that success when one considers the difficulties and discomforts—the months spent in acclimatization chambers back on earth, learning to breathe the air as tenuous as that of Mars, the challenging of the void in the tiny rocket driven by the cranky reaction motors of the twenty-first century, and mostly the facing of an absolutely unknown world.

[bookmark: p1837]Jarvis stretched and fingered the raw and peeling tip of his frost-bitten nose. He sighed again contentedly.

[bookmark: p1838]"Well," exploded Harrison abruptly, "are we going to hear what happened? You set out all shipshape in an auxiliary rocket, we don't get a peep for ten days, and finally Putz here picks you out of a lunatic ant-heap with a freak ostrich as your pal! Spill it, man!"

[bookmark: p1839]"Speel?" queried Leroy perplexedly. "Speel what?"

[bookmark: p1840]"He means 'spiel'," explained Putz soberly. "It iss to tell."

[bookmark: p1841]Jarvis met Harrison's amused glance without the shadow of a smile. "That's right, Karl," he said in grave agreement with Putz. "Ich spiel es!" He grunted comfortably and began.

[bookmark: p1842]"According to orders," he said, "I watched Karl here take off toward the North, and then I got into my flying sweat-box and headed South. You'll remember, Cap—we had orders not to land, but just scout about for points of interest. I set the two cameras clicking and buzzed along, riding pretty high—about two thousand feet—for a couple of reasons. First, it gave the cameras a greater field, and second, the under-jets travel so far in this half-vacuum they call air here that they stir up dust if you move low."

[bookmark: p1843]"We know all that from Putz," grunted Harrison. "I wish you'd saved the films, though. They'd have paid the cost of this junket; remember how the public mobbed the first moon pictures?"

[bookmark: p1844]"The films are safe," retorted Jarvis. "Well," he resumed, "as I said, I buzzed along at a pretty good clip; just as we figured, the wings haven't much lift in this air at less than a hundred miles per hour, and even then I had to use the under-jets.

[bookmark: p1845]"So, with the speed and the altitude and the blurring caused by the under-jets, the seeing wasn't any too good. I could see enough, though, to distinguish that what I sailed over was just more of this grey plain that we'd been examining the whole week since our landing—same blobby growths and the same eternal carpet of crawling little plant-animals, or biopods, as Leroy calls them. So I sailed along, calling back my position every hour as instructed, and not knowing whether you heard me."

[bookmark: p1846]"I did!" snapped Harrison.

[bookmark: p1847]"A hundred and fifty miles south," continued Jarvis imperturbably, "the surface changed to a sort of low plateau, nothing but desert and orange-tinted sand. I figured that we were right in our guess, then, and this grey plain we dropped on was really the Mare Cimmerium which would make my orange desert the region called Xanthus. If I were right, I ought to hit another grey plain, the Mare Chronium in another couple of hundred miles, and then another orange desert, Thyle I or II. And so I did."

[bookmark: p1848]"Putz verified our position a week and a half ago!" grumbled the captain. "Let's get to the point."

[bookmark: p1849]"Coming!" remarked Jarvis. "Twenty miles into Thyle—believe it or not—I crossed a canal!"

[bookmark: p1850]"Putz photographed a hundred! Let's hear something new!"

[bookmark: p1851]"And did he also see a city?"

[bookmark: p1852]"Twenty of 'em, if you call those heaps of mud cities!"

[bookmark: p1853]"Well," observed Jarvis, "from here on I'll be telling a few things Putz didn't see!" He rubbed his tingling nose, and continued. "I knew that I had sixteen hours of daylight at this season, so eight hours—eight hundred miles—from here, I decided to turn back. I was still over Thyle, whether I or II I'm not sure, not more than twenty-five miles into it. And right there, Putz's pet motor quit!"

[bookmark: p1854]"Quit? How?" Putz was solicitous.

[bookmark: p1855]"The atomic blast got weak. I started losing altitude right away, and suddenly there I was with a thump right in the middle of Thyle! Smashed my nose on the window, too!" He rubbed the injured member ruefully.

[bookmark: p1856]"Did you maybe try vashing der combustion chamber mit acid sulphuric?" inquired Putz. "Sometimes der lead giffs a secondary radiation—"

[bookmark: p1857]"Naw!" said Jarvis disgustedly. "I wouldn't try that, of course—not more than ten times! Besides, the bump flattened the landing gear and busted off the under-jets. Suppose I got the thing working—what then? Ten miles with the blast coming right out of the bottom and I'd have melted the floor from under me!" He rubbed his nose again. "Lucky for me a pound only weighs seven ounces here, or I'd have been mashed flat!"

[bookmark: p1858]"I could have fixed!" ejaculated the engineer. "I bet it vas not serious."

[bookmark: p1859]"Probably not," agreed Jarvis sarcastically. "Only it wouldn't fly. Nothing serious, but I had my choice of waiting to be picked up or trying to walk back—eight hundred miles, and perhaps twenty days before we had to leave! Forty miles a day! Well," he concluded, "I chose to walk. Just as much chance of being picked up, and it kept me busy."

[bookmark: p1860]"We'd have found you," said Harrison.

[bookmark: p1861]"No doubt. Anyway, I rigged up a harness from some seat straps, and put the water tank on my back, took a cartridge belt and revolver, and some iron rations, and started out."

[bookmark: p1862]"Water tank!" exclaimed the little biologist, Leroy. "She weigh one-quarter ton!"

[bookmark: p1863]"Wasn't full. Weighed about two hundred and fifty pounds earth-weight, which is eighty-five here. Then, besides, my own personal two hundred and ten pounds is only seventy on Mars, so, tank and all, I grossed a hundred and fifty-five, or fifty-five pounds less than my everyday earth-weight. I figured on that when I undertook the forty-mile daily stroll. Oh—of course I took a thermo-skin sleeping bag for these wintry Martian nights.

[bookmark: p1864]"Off I went, bouncing along pretty quickly. Eight hours of daylight meant twenty miles or more. It got tiresome, of course—plugging along over a soft sand desert with nothing to see, not even Leroy's crawling biopods. But an hour or so brought me to the canal—just a dry ditch about four hundred feet wide, and straight as a railroad on its own company map.

[bookmark: p1865]"There'd been water in it sometime, though. The ditch was covered with what looked like a nice green lawn. Only, as I approached, the lawn moved out of my way!"

[bookmark: p1866]"Eh?" said Leroy.

[bookmark: p1867]"Yeah, it was a relative of your biopods. I caught one—a little grass-like blade about as long as my finger, with two thin, stemmy legs."

[bookmark: p1868]"He is where?" Leroy was eager.

[bookmark: p1869]"He is let go! I had to move, so I plowed along with the walking grass opening in front and closing behind. And then I was out on the orange desert of Thyle again.

[bookmark: p1870]"I plugged steadily along, cussing the sand that made going so tiresome, and, incidentally, cussing that cranky motor of yours, Karl. It was just before twilight that I reached the edge of Thyle, and looked down over the gray Mare Chronium. And I knew there was seventy-five miles of that to be walked over, and then a couple of hundred miles of that Xanthus desert, and about as much more Mare Cimmerium. Was I pleased? I started cussing you fellows for not picking me up!"

[bookmark: p1871]"We were trying, you sap!" said Harrison.

[bookmark: p1872]"That didn't help. Well, I figured I might as well use what was left of daylight in getting down the cliff that bounded Thyle. I found an easy place, and down I went. Mare Chronium was just the same sort of place as this—crazy leafless plants and a bunch of crawlers; I gave it a glance and hauled out my sleeping bag. Up to that time, you know, I hadn't seen anything worth worrying about on this half-dead world—nothing dangerous, that is."

[bookmark: p1873]"Did you?" queried Harrison.

[bookmark: p1874]"Did I! You'll hear about it when I come to it. Well, I was just about to turn in when suddenly I heard the wildest sort of shenanigans!"

[bookmark: p1875]"Vot iss shenanigans?" inquired Putz.

[bookmark: p1876]"He says, 'Je ne sais quoi,'" explained Leroy. "It is to say, 'I don't know what.'"

[bookmark: p1877]"That's right," agreed Jarvis. "I didn't know what, so I sneaked over to find out. There was a racket like a flock of crows eating a bunch of canaries—whistles, cackles, caws, trills, and what have you. I rounded a clump of stumps, and there was Tweel!"

[bookmark: p1878]"Tweel?" said Harrison, and "Tveel?" said Leroy and Putz.

[bookmark: p1879]"That freak ostrich," explained the narrator. "At least, Tweel is as near as I can pronounce it without sputtering. He called it something like 'Trrrweerrlll.'"

[bookmark: p1880]"What was he doing?" asked the Captain.

[bookmark: p1881]"He was being eaten! And squealing, of course, as any one would."

[bookmark: p1882]"Eaten! By what?"

[bookmark: p1883]"I found out later. All I could see then was a bunch of black ropy arms tangled around what looked like, as Putz described it to you, an ostrich. I wasn't going to interfere, naturally; if both creatures were dangerous, I'd have one less to worry about.

[bookmark: p1884][image: v3n210.jpg]

[bookmark: p1885]"But the bird-like thing was putting up a good battle, dealing vicious blows with an eighteen-inch beak, between screeches. And besides, I caught a glimpse or two of what was on the end of those arms!" Jarvis shuddered. "But the clincher was when I noticed a little black bag or case hung about the neck of the bird-thing! It was intelligent! That or tame, I assumed. Anyway, it clinched my decision. I pulled out my automatic and fired into what I could see of its antagonist.

[bookmark: p1886]"There was a flurry of tentacles and a spurt of black corruption, and then the thing, with a disgusting sucking noise, pulled itself and its arms into a hole in the ground. The other let out a series of clacks, staggered around on legs about as thick as golf sticks, and turned suddenly to face me. I held my weapon ready, and the two of us stared at each other.

[bookmark: p1887]"The Martian wasn't a bird, really. It wasn't even bird-like, except just at first glance. It had a beak all right, and a few feathery appendages, but the beak wasn't really a beak. It was somewhat flexible; I could see the tip bend slowly from side to side; it was almost like a cross between a beak and a trunk. It had four-toed feet, and four fingered things—hands, you'd have to call them, and a little roundish body, and a long neck ending in a tiny head—and that beak. It stood an inch or so taller than I, and—well, Putz saw it!"

[bookmark: p1888]The engineer nodded. "Ja! I saw!"

[bookmark: p1889]Jarvis continued. "So—we stared at each other. Finally the creature went into a series of clackings and twitterings and held out its hands toward me, empty. I took that as a gesture of friendship."

[bookmark: p1890]"Perhaps," suggested Harrison, "it looked at that nose of yours and thought you were its brother!"

[bookmark: p1891]"Huh! You can be funny without talking! Anyway, I put up my gun and said 'Aw, don't mention it,' or something of the sort, and the thing came over and we were pals.

[bookmark: p1892]"By that time, the sun was pretty low and I knew that I'd better build a fire or get into my thermo-skin. I decided on the fire. I picked a spot at the base of the Thyle cliff, where the rock could reflect a little heat on my back. I started breaking off chunks of this desiccated Martian vegetation, and my companion caught the idea and brought in an armful. I reached for a match, but the Martian fished into his pouch and brought out something that looked like a glowing coal; one touch of it, and the fire was blazing—and you all know what a job we have starting a fire in this atmosphere!

[bookmark: p1893]"And that bag of his!" continued the narrator. "That was a manufactured article, my friends; press an end and she popped open—press the middle and she sealed so perfectly you couldn't see the line. Better than zippers.

[bookmark: p1894]"Well, we stared at the fire a while and I decided to attempt some sort of communication with the Martian. I pointed at myself and said 'Dick'; he caught the drift immediately, stretched a bony claw at me and repeated 'Tick.' Then I pointed at him, and he gave that whistle I called Tweel; I can't imitate his accent. Things were going smoothly; to emphasize the names, I repeated 'Dick,' and then, pointing at him, 'Tweel.'

[bookmark: p1895]"There we stuck! He gave some clacks that sounded negative, and said something like 'P-p-p-proot.' And that was just the beginning; I was always 'Tick,' but as for him—part of the time he was 'Tweel,' and part of the time he was 'P-p-p-proot,' and part of the time he was sixteen other noises!

[bookmark: p1896]"We just couldn't connect. I tried 'rock,' and I tried 'star,' and 'tree,' and 'fire,' and Lord knows what else, and try as I would, I couldn't get a single word! Nothing was the same for two successive minutes, and if that's a language, I'm an alchemist! Finally I gave it up and called him Tweel, and that seemed to do.

[bookmark: p1897]"But Tweel hung on to some of my words. He remembered a couple of them, which I suppose is a great achievement if you're used to a language you have to make up as you go along. But I couldn't get the hang of his talk; either I missed some subtle point or we just didn't think alike—and I rather believe the latter view.

[bookmark: p1898]"I've other reasons for believing that. After a while I gave up the language business, and tried mathematics. I scratched two plus two equals four on the ground, and demonstrated it with pebbles. Again Tweel caught the idea, and informed me that three plus three equals six. Once more we seemed to be getting somewhere.

[bookmark: p1899]"So, knowing that Tweel had at least a grammar school education, I drew a circle for the sun, pointing first at it, and then at the last glow of the sun. Then I sketched in Mercury, and Venus, and Mother Earth, and Mars, and finally, pointing to Mars, I swept my hand around in a sort of inclusive gesture to indicate that Mars was our current environment. I was working up to putting over the idea that my home was on the earth.

[bookmark: p1900]"Tweel understood my diagram all right. He poked his beak at it, and with a great deal of trilling and clucking, he added Deimos and Phobos to Mars, and then sketched in the earth's moon!

[bookmark: p1901]"Do you see what that proves? It proves that Tweel's race uses telescopes—that they're civilized!"

[bookmark: p1902]"Does not!" snapped Harrison. "The moon is visible from here as a fifth magnitude star. They could see its revolution with the naked eye."

[bookmark: p1903]"The moon, yes!" said Jarvis. "You've missed my point. Mercury isn't visible! And Tweel knew of Mercury because he placed the Moon at the third planet, not the second. If he didn't know Mercury, he'd put the earth second, and Mars third, instead of fourth! See?"

[bookmark: p1904]"Humph!" said Harrison.

[bookmark: p1905]"Anyway," proceeded Jarvis, "I went on with my lesson. Things were going smoothly, and it looked as if I could put the idea over. I pointed at the earth on my diagram, and then at myself, and then, to clinch it, I pointed to myself and then to the earth itself shining bright green almost at the zenith.

[bookmark: p1906]"Tweel set up such an excited clacking that I was certain he understood. He jumped up and down, and suddenly he pointed at himself and then at the sky, and then at himself and at the sky again. He pointed at his middle and then at Arcturus, at his head and then at Spica, at his feet and then at half a dozen stars, while I just gaped at him. Then, all of a sudden, he gave a tremendous leap. Man, what a hop! He shot straight up into the starlight, seventy-five feet if an inch! I saw him silhouetted against the sky, saw him turn and come down at me head first, and land smack on his beak like a javelin! There he stuck square in the center of my sun-circle in the sand—a bull's eye!"

[bookmark: p1907]"Nuts!" observed the captain. "Plain nuts!"

[bookmark: p1908]"That's what I thought, too! I just stared at him open-mouthed while he pulled his head out of the sand and stood up. Then I figured he'd missed my point, and I went through the whole blamed rigamarole again, and it ended the same way, with Tweel on his nose in the middle of my picture!"

[bookmark: p1909]"Maybe it's a religious rite," suggested Harrison.

[bookmark: p1910]"Maybe," said Jarvis dubiously. "Well, there we were. We could exchange ideas up to a certain point, and then—blooey! Something in us was different, unrelated; I don't doubt that Tweel thought me just as screwy as I thought him. Our minds simply looked at the world from different viewpoints, and perhaps his viewpoint is as true as ours. But—we couldn't get together, that's all. Yet, in spite of all difficulties, I liked Tweel, and I have a queer certainty that he liked me."

[bookmark: p1911]"Nuts!" repeated the captain. "Just daffy!"

[bookmark: p1912]"Yeah? Wait and see. A couple of times I've thought that perhaps we—" He paused, and then resumed his narrative. "Anyway, I finally gave it up, and got into my thermo-skin to sleep. The fire hadn't kept me any too warm, but that damned sleeping bag did. Got stuffy five minutes after I closed myself in. I opened it a little and bingo! Some eighty-below-zero air hit my nose, and that's when I got this pleasant little frostbite to add to the bump I acquired during the crash of my rocket.

[bookmark: p1913]"I don't know what Tweel made of my sleeping. He sat around, but when I woke up, he was gone. I'd just crawled out of my bag, though, when I heard some twittering, and there he came, sailing down from that three-story Thyle cliff to alight on his beak beside me. I pointed to myself and toward the north, and he pointed at himself and toward the south, but when I loaded up and started away, he came along.

[bookmark: p1914]"Man, how he traveled! A hundred and fifty feet at a jump, sailing through the air stretched out like a spear, and landing on his beak. He seemed surprised at my plodding, but after a few moments he fell in beside me, only every few minutes he'd go into one of his leaps, and stick his nose into the sand a block ahead of me. Then he'd come shooting back at me; it made me nervous at first to see that beak of his coming at me like a spear, but he always ended in the sand at my side.

[bookmark: p1915]"So the two of us plugged along across the Mare Chronium. Same sort of place as this—same crazy plants and same little green biopods growing in the sand, or crawling out of your way. We talked—not that we understood each other, you know, but just for company. I sang songs, and I suspect Tweel did too; at least, some of his trillings and twitterings had a subtle sort of rhythm.

[bookmark: p1916]"Then, for variety, Tweel would display his smattering of English words. He'd point to an outcropping and say 'rock,' and point to a pebble and say it again; or he'd touch my arm and say 'Tick,' and then repeat it. He seemed terrifically amused that the same word meant the same thing twice in succession, or that the same word could apply to two different objects. It set me wondering if perhaps his language wasn't like the primitive speech of some earth people—you know, Captain, like the Negritoes, for instance, who haven't any generic words. No word for food or water or man—words for good food and bad food, or rain water and sea water, or strong man and weak man—but no names for general classes. They're too primitive to understand that rain water and sea water are just different aspects of the same thing. But that wasn't the case with Tweel; it was just that we were somehow mysteriously different—our minds were alien to each other. And yet—we liked each other!"

[bookmark: p1917]"Looney, that's all," remarked Harrison. "That's why you two were so fond of each other."

[bookmark: p1918]"Well, I like you!" countered Jarvis wickedly. "Anyway," he resumed, "don't get the idea that there was anything screwy about Tweel. In fact, I'm not so sure but that he couldn't teach our highly praised human intelligence a trick or two. Oh, he wasn't an intellectual superman, I guess; but don't overlook the point that he managed to understand a little of my mental workings, and I never even got a glimmering of his."

[bookmark: p1919]"Because he didn't have any!" suggested the captain, while Putz and Leroy blinked attentively.

[bookmark: p1920]"You can judge of that when I'm through," said Jarvis. "Well, we plugged along across the Mare Chronium all that day, and all the next. Mare Chronium—Sea of Time! Say, I was willing to agree with Schiaparelli's name by the end of that march! Just that grey, endless plain of weird plants, and never a sign of any other life. It was so monotonous that I was even glad to see the desert of Xanthus toward the evening of the second day.

[bookmark: p1921]"I was fair worn out, but Tweel seemed as fresh as ever, for all I never saw him drink or eat. I think he could have crossed the Mare Chronium in a couple of hours with those block-long nose dives of his, but he stuck along with me. I offered him some water once or twice; he took the cup from me and sucked the liquid into his beak, and then carefully squirted it all back into the cup and gravely returned it.

[bookmark: p1922]"Just as we sighted Xanthus, or the cliffs that bounded it, one of those nasty sand clouds blew along, not as bad as the one we had here, but mean to travel against. I pulled the transparent flap of my thermo-skin bag across my face and managed pretty well, and I noticed that Tweel used some feathery appendages growing like a mustache at the base of his beak to cover his nostrils, and some similar fuzz to shield his eyes."

[bookmark: p1923]"He is a desert creature!" ejaculated the little biologist, Leroy.

[bookmark: p1924]"Huh? Why?"

[bookmark: p1925]"He drink no water—he is adapt' for sand storm—"

[bookmark: p1926]"Proves nothing! There's not enough water to waste any where on this desiccated pill called Mars. We'd call all of it desert on earth, you know." He paused. "Anyway, after the sand storm blew over, a little wind kept blowing in our faces, not strong enough to stir the sand. But suddenly things came drifting along from the Xanthus cliffs—small, transparent spheres, for all the world like glass tennis balls! But light—they were almost light enough to float even in this thin air—empty, too; at least, I cracked open a couple and nothing came out but a bad smell. I asked Tweel about them, but all he said was 'No, no, no,' which I took to mean that he knew nothing about them. So they went bouncing by like tumbleweeds, or like soap bubbles, and we plugged on toward Xanthus. Tweel pointed at one of the crystal balls once and said 'rock,' but I was too tired to argue with him. Later I discovered what he meant.

[bookmark: p1927]"We came to the bottom of the Xanthus cliffs finally, when there wasn't much daylight left. I decided to sleep on the plateau if possible; anything dangerous, I reasoned, would be more likely to prowl through the vegetation of the Mare Chronium than the sand of Xanthus. Not that I'd seen a single sign of menace, except the rope-armed black thing that had trapped Tweel, and apparently that didn't prowl at all, but lured its victims within reach. It couldn't lure me while I slept, especially as Tweel didn't seem to sleep at all, but simply sat patiently around all night. I wondered how the creature had managed to trap Tweel, but there wasn't any way of asking him. I found that out too, later; it's devilish!

[bookmark: p1928]"However, we were ambling around the base of the Xanthus barrier looking for an easy spot to climb. At least, I was. Tweel could have leaped it easily, for the cliffs were lower than Thyle—perhaps sixty feet. I found a place and started up, swearing at the water tank strapped to my back—it didn't bother me except when climbing—and suddenly I heard a sound that I thought I recognized!

[bookmark: p1929]"You know how deceptive sounds are in this thin air. A shot sounds like the pop of a cork. But this sound was the drone of a rocket, and sure enough, there went our second auxiliary about ten miles to westward, between me and the sunset!"

[bookmark: p1930]"Vas me!" said Putz. "I hunt for you."

[bookmark: p1931]"Yeah; I knew that, but what good did it do me? I hung on to the cliff and yelled and waved with one hand. Tweel saw it too, and set up a trilling and twittering, leaping to the top of the barrier and then high into the air. And while I watched, the machine droned on into the shadows to the south.

[bookmark: p1932]"I scrambled to the top of the cliff. Tweel was still pointing and trilling excitedly, shooting up toward the sky and coming down head-on to stick upside down on his beak in the sand. I pointed toward the south and at myself, and he said, 'Yes—Yes—Yes'; but somehow I gathered that he thought the flying thing was a relative of mine, probably a parent. Perhaps I did his intellect an injustice; I think now that I did.

[bookmark: p1933]"I was bitterly disappointed by the failure to attract attention. I pulled out my thermo-skin bag and crawled into it, as the night chill was already apparent. Tweel stuck his beak into the sand and drew up his legs and arms and looked for all the world like one of those leafless shrubs out there. I think he stayed that way all night."

[bookmark: p1934]"Protective mimicry!" ejaculated Leroy. "See? He is desert creature!"

[bookmark: p1935]"In the morning," resumed Jarvis, "we started off again. We hadn't gone a hundred yards into Xanthus when I saw something queer! This is one thing Putz didn't photograph, I'll wager!

[bookmark: p1936]"There was a line of little pyramids—tiny ones, not more than six inches high, stretching across Xanthus as far as I could see! Little buildings made of pygmy bricks, they were, hollow inside and truncated, or at least broken at the top and empty. I pointed at them and said 'What?' to Tweel, but he gave some negative twitters to indicate, I suppose, that he didn't know. So off we went, following the row of pyramids because they ran north, and I was going north.

[bookmark: p1937]"Man, we trailed that line for hours! After a while, I noticed another queer thing: they were getting larger. Same number of bricks in each one, but the bricks were larger.

[bookmark: p1938]"By noon they were shoulder high. I looked into a couple—all just the same, broken at the top and empty. I examined a brick or two as well; they were silica, and old as creation itself!"

[bookmark: p1939]"How you know?" asked Leroy.

[bookmark: p1940]"They were weathered—edges rounded. Silica doesn't weather easily even on earth, and in this climate—!"

[bookmark: p1941]"How old you think?"

[bookmark: p1942]"Fifty thousand—a hundred thousand years. How can I tell? The little ones we saw in the morning were older—perhaps ten times as old. Crumbling. How old would that make them? Half a million years? Who knows?" Jarvis paused a moment. "Well," he resumed, "we followed the line. Tweel pointed at them and said 'rock' once or twice, but he'd done that many times before. Besides, he was more or less right about these.

[bookmark: p1943]"I tried questioning him. I pointed at a pyramid and asked 'People?' and indicated the two of us. He set up a negative sort of clucking and said, 'No, no, no. No one-one-two. No two-two-four,' meanwhile rubbing his stomach. I just stared at him and he went through the business again. 'No one-one-two. No two-two-four.' I just gaped at him."

[bookmark: p1944]"That proves it!" exclaimed Harrison. "Nuts!"

[bookmark: p1945]"You think so?" queried Jarvis sardonically. "Well, I figured it out different! 'No one-one-two!' You don't get it, of course, do you?"

[bookmark: p1946]"Nope—nor do you!"

[bookmark: p1947]"I think I do! Tweel was using the few English words he knew to put over a very complex idea. What, let me ask, does mathematics make you think of?"

[bookmark: p1948]"Why—of astronomy. Or—or logic!"

[bookmark: p1949]"That's it! 'No one-one-two!' Tweel was telling me that the builders of the pyramids weren't people—or that they weren't intelligent, that they weren't reasoning creatures! Get it?"

[bookmark: p1950]"Huh! I'll be damned!"

[bookmark: p1951]"You probably will."

[bookmark: p1952]"Why," put in Leroy, "he rub his belly?"

[bookmark: p1953]"Why? Because, my dear biologist, that's where his brains are! Not in his tiny head—in his middle!"

[bookmark: p1954]"C'est impossible!"

[bookmark: p1955]"Not on Mars, it isn't! This flora and fauna aren't earthly; your biopods prove that!" Jarvis grinned and took up his narrative. "Anyway, we plugged along across Xanthus and in about the middle of the afternoon, something else queer happened. The pyramids ended."

[bookmark: p1956]"Ended!"

[bookmark: p1957]"Yeah; the queer part was that the last one—and now they were ten-footers—was capped! See? Whatever built it was still inside; we'd trailed 'em from their half-million-year-old origin to the present.

[bookmark: p1958]"Tweel and I noticed it about the same time. I yanked out my automatic (I had a clip of Boland explosive bullets in it) and Tweel, quick as a sleight-of-hand trick, snapped a queer little glass revolver out of his bag. It was much like our weapons, except that the grip was larger to accommodate his four-taloned hand. And we held our weapons ready while we sneaked up along the lines of empty pyramids.

[bookmark: p1959]"Tweel saw the movement first. The top tiers of bricks were heaving, shaking, and suddenly slid down the sides with a thin crash. And then—something—something was coming out!

[bookmark: p1960]"A long, silvery-grey arm appeared, dragging after it an armored body. Armored, I mean, with scales, silver-grey and dull-shining. The arm heaved the body out of the hole; the beast crashed to the sand.

[bookmark: p1961]"It was a nondescript creature—body like a big grey cask, arm and a sort of mouth-hole at one end; stiff, pointed tail at the other—and that's all. No other limbs, no eyes, ears, nose—nothing! The thing dragged itself a few yards, inserted its pointed tail in the sand, pushed itself upright, and just sat.

[bookmark: p1962]"Tweel and I watched it for ten minutes before it moved. Then, with a creaking and rustling like—oh, like crumpling stiff paper—its arm moved to the mouth-hole and out came a brick! The arm placed the brick carefully on the ground, and the thing was still again.

[bookmark: p1963]"Another ten minutes—another brick. Just one of Nature's bricklayers. I was about to slip away and move on when Tweel pointed at the thing and said 'rock'! I went 'huh?' and he said it again. Then, to the accompaniment of some of his trilling, he said, 'No—no—,' and gave two or three whistling breaths.

[bookmark: p1964]"Well, I got his meaning, for a wonder! I said, 'No breath?' and demonstrated the word. Tweel was ecstatic; he said, 'Yes, yes, yes! No, no, no breet!' Then he gave a leap and sailed out to land on his nose about one pace from the monster!

[bookmark: p1965]"I was startled, you can imagine! The arm was going up for a brick, and I expected to see Tweel caught and mangled, but—nothing happened! Tweel pounded on the creature, and the arm took the brick and placed it neatly beside the first. Tweel rapped on its body again, and said 'rock,' and I got up nerve enough to take a look myself.

[bookmark: p1966]"Tweel was right again. The creature was rock, and it didn't breathe!"

[bookmark: p1967]"How you know?" snapped Leroy, his black eyes blazing interest.

[bookmark: p1968]"Because I'm a chemist. The beast was made of silica! There must have been pure silicon in the sand, and it lived on that. Get it? We, and Tweel, and those plants out there, and even the biopods are carbon life; this thing lived by a different set of chemical reactions. It was silicon life!"

[bookmark: p1969]"La vie silicieuse!" shouted Leroy. "I have suspect, and now it is proof! I must go see! Il faut que je—"

[bookmark: p1970]"All right! All right!" said Jarvis. "You can go see. Anyhow, there the thing was, alive and yet not alive, moving every ten minutes, and then only to remove a brick. Those bricks were its waste matter. See, Frenchy? We're carbon, and our waste is carbon dioxide, and this thing is silicon, and its waste is silicon dioxide—silica. But silica is a solid, hence the bricks. And it builds itself in, and when it is covered, it moves over to a fresh place to start over. No wonder it creaked! A living creature half a million years old!"

[bookmark: p1971]"How you know how old?" Leroy was frantic.

[bookmark: p1972]"We trailed its pyramids from the beginning, didn't we? If this weren't the original pyramid builder, the series would have ended somewhere before we found him, wouldn't it?—ended and started over with the small ones. That's simple enough, isn't it?

[bookmark: p1973]"But he reproduces, or tries to. Before the third brick came out, there was a little rustle and out popped a whole stream of those little crystal balls. They're his spores, or eggs, or seeds—call 'em what you want. They went bouncing by across Xanthus just as they'd bounced by us back in the Mare Chronium. I've a hunch how they work, too—this is for your information, Leroy. I think the crystal shell of silica is no more than a protective covering, like an eggshell, and that the active principle is the smell inside. It's some sort of gas that attacks silicon, and if the shell is broken near a supply of that element, some reaction starts that ultimately develops into a beast like that one."

[bookmark: p1974]"You should try!" exclaimed the little Frenchman. "We must break one to see!"

[bookmark: p1975]"Yeah? Well, I did. I smashed a couple against the sand. Would you like to come back in about ten thousand years to see if I planted some pyramid monsters? You'd most likely be able to tell by that time!" Jarvis paused and drew a deep breath. "Lord! That queer creature! Do you picture it? Blind, deaf, nerveless, brainless—just a mechanism, and yet—immortal! Bound to go on making bricks, building pyramids, as long as silicon and oxygen exist, and even afterwards it'll just stop. It won't be dead. If the accidents of a million years bring it its food again, there it'll be, ready to run again, while brains and civilizations are part of the past. A queer beast—yet I met a stranger one!"

[bookmark: p1976]"If you did, it must have been in your dreams!" growled Harrison.

[bookmark: p1977]"You're right!" said Jarvis soberly. "In a way, you're right. The dream-beast! That's the best name for it—and it's the most fiendish, terrifying creation one could imagine! More dangerous than a lion, more insidious than a snake!"

[bookmark: p1978]"Tell me!" begged Leroy. "I must go see!"

[bookmark: p1979]"Not this devil!" He paused again. "Well," he resumed, "Tweel and I left the pyramid creature and plowed along through Xanthus. I was tired and a little disheartened by Putz's failure to pick me up, and Tweel's trilling got on my nerves, as did his flying nosedives. So I just strode along without a word, hour after hour across that monotonous desert.

[bookmark: p1980]"Toward mid-afternoon we came in sight of a low dark line on the horizon. I knew what it was. It was a canal; I'd crossed it in the rocket and it meant that we were just one-third of the way across Xanthus. Pleasant thought, wasn't it? And still, I was keeping up to schedule.

[bookmark: p1981]"We approached the canal slowly; I remembered that this one was bordered by a wide fringe of vegetation and that Mud-heap City was on it.

[bookmark: p1982]"I was tired, as I said. I kept thinking of a good hot meal, and then from that I jumped to reflections of how nice and home-like even Borneo would seem after this crazy planet, and from that, to thoughts of little old New York, and then to thinking about a girl I know there—Fancy Long. Know her?"

[bookmark: p1983]"Vision entertainer," said Harrison. "I've tuned her in. Nice blonde—dances and sings on the Yerba Mate hour."

[bookmark: p1984]"That's her," said Jarvis ungrammatically. "I know her pretty well—just friends, get me?—though she came down to see us off in the Ares. Well, I was thinking about her, feeling pretty lonesome, and all the time we were approaching that line of rubbery plants.

[bookmark: p1985]"And then—I said, 'What 'n Hell!' and stared. And there she was—Fancy Long, standing plain as day under one of those crack-brained trees, and smiling and waving just the way I remembered her when we left!"

[bookmark: p1986]"Now you're nuts, too!" observed the captain.

[bookmark: p1987]"Boy, I almost agreed with you! I stared and pinched myself and closed my eyes and then stared again—and every time, there was Fancy Long smiling and waving! Tweel saw something, too; he was trilling and clucking away, but I scarcely heard him. I was bounding toward her over the sand, too amazed even to ask myself questions.

[bookmark: p1988]"I wasn't twenty feet from her when Tweel caught me with one of his flying leaps. He grabbed my arm, yelling, 'No—no—no!' in his squeaky voice. I tried to shake him off—he was as light as if he were built of bamboo—but he dug his claws in and yelled. And finally some sort of sanity returned to me and I stopped less than ten feet from her. There she stood, looking as solid as Putz's head!"

[bookmark: p1989]"Vot?" said the engineer.

[bookmark: p1990]"She smiled and waved, and waved and smiled, and I stood there dumb as Leroy, while Tweel squeaked and chattered. I knew it couldn't be real, yet—there she was!

[bookmark: p1991]"Finally I said, 'Fancy! Fancy Long!' She just kept on smiling and waving, but looking as real as if I hadn't left her thirty-seven million miles away.

[bookmark: p1992]"Tweel had his glass pistol out, pointing it at her. I grabbed his arm, but he tried to push me away. He pointed at her and said, 'No breet! No breet!' and I understood that he meant that the Fancy Long thing wasn't alive. Man, my head was whirling!

[bookmark: p1993]"Still, it gave me the jitters to see him pointing his weapon at her. I don't know why I stood there watching him take careful aim, but I did. Then he squeezed the handle of his weapon; there was a little puff of steam, and Fancy Long was gone! And in her place was one of those writhing, black, rope-armed horrors like the one I'd saved Tweel from!

[bookmark: p1994]"The dream-beast! I stood there dizzy, watching it die while Tweel trilled and whistled. Finally he touched my arm, pointed at the twisting thing, and said, 'You one-one-two, he one-one-two.' After he'd repeated it eight or ten times, I got it. Do any of you?"

[bookmark: p1995]"Oui!" shrilled Leroy. "Moi—je le comprends! He mean you think of something, the beast he know, and you see it! Un chien—a hungry dog, he would see the big bone with meat! Or smell it—not?"

[bookmark: p1996]"Right!" said Jarvis. "The dream-beast uses its victim's longings and desires to trap its prey. The bird at nesting season would see its mate, the fox, prowling for its own prey, would see a helpless rabbit!"

[bookmark: p1997]"How he do?" queried Leroy.

[bookmark: p1998]"How do I know? How does a snake back on earth charm a bird into its very jaws? And aren't there deep-sea fish that lure their victims into their mouths? Lord!" Jarvis shuddered. "Do you see how insidious the monster is? We're warned now—but henceforth we can't trust even our eyes. You might see me—I might see one of you—and back of it may be nothing but another of those black horrors!"

[bookmark: p1999]"How'd your friend know?" asked the captain abruptly.

[bookmark: p2000]"Tweel? I wonder! Perhaps he was thinking of something that couldn't possibly have interested me, and when I started to run, he realized that I saw something different and was warned. Or perhaps the dream-beast can only project a single vision, and Tweel saw what I saw—or nothing. I couldn't ask him. But it's just another proof that his intelligence is equal to ours or greater."

[bookmark: p2001]"He's daffy, I tell you!" said Harrison. "What makes you think his intellect ranks with the human?"

[bookmark: p2002]"Plenty of things! First, the pyramid-beast. He hadn't seen one before; he said as much. Yet he recognized it as a dead-alive automaton of silicon."

[bookmark: p2003]"He could have heard of it," objected Harrison. "He lives around here, you know."

[bookmark: p2004]"Well how about the language? I couldn't pick up a single idea of his and he learned six or seven words of mine. And do you realize what complex ideas he put over with no more than those six or seven words? The pyramid-monster—the dream-beast! In a single phrase he told me that one was a harmless automaton and the other a deadly hypnotist. What about that?"

[bookmark: p2005]"Huh!" said the captain.

[bookmark: p2006]"Huh if you wish! Could you have done it knowing only six words of English? Could you go even further, as Tweel did, and tell me that another creature was of a sort of intelligence so different from ours that understanding was impossible—even more impossible than that between Tweel and me?"

[bookmark: p2007]"Eh? What was that?"

[bookmark: p2008]"Later. The point I'm making is that Tweel and his race are worthy of our friendship. Somewhere on Mars—and you'll find I'm right—is a civilization and culture equal to ours, and maybe more than equal. And communication is possible between them and us; Tweel proves that. It may take years of patient trial, for their minds are alien, but less alien than the next minds we encountered—if they are minds."

[bookmark: p2009]"The next ones? What next ones?"

[bookmark: p2010]"The people of the mud cities along the canals." Jarvis frowned, then resumed his narrative. "I thought the dream-beast and the silicon-monster were the strangest beings conceivable, but I was wrong. These creatures are still more alien, less understandable than either and far less comprehensible than Tweel, with whom friendship is possible, and even, by patience and concentration, the exchange of ideas.

[bookmark: p2011]"Well," he continued, "we left the dream-beast dying, dragging itself back into its hole, and we moved toward the canal. There was a carpet of that queer walking-grass scampering out of our way, and when we reached the bank, there was a yellow trickle of water flowing. The mound city I'd noticed from the rocket was a mile or so to the right and I was curious enough to want to take a look at it.

[bookmark: p2012]"It had seemed deserted from my previous glimpse of it, and if any creatures were lurking in it—well, Tweel and I were both armed. And by the way, that crystal weapon of Tweel's was an interesting device; I took a look at it after the dream-beast episode. It fired a little glass splinter, poisoned, I suppose, and I guess it held at least a hundred of 'em to a load. The propellent was steam—just plain steam!"

[bookmark: p2013]"Shteam!" echoed Putz. "From vot come, shteam?"

[bookmark: p2014]"From water, of course! You could see the water through the transparent handle and about a gill of another liquid, thick and yellowish. When Tweel squeezed the handle—there was no trigger—a drop of water and a drop of the yellow stuff squirted into the firing chamber, and the water vaporized—pop!—like that. It's not so difficult; I think we could develop the same principle. Concentrated sulphuric acid will heat water almost to boiling, and so will quicklime, and there's potassium and sodium—

[bookmark: p2015]"Of course, his weapon hadn't the range of mine, but it wasn't so bad in this thin air, and it did hold as many shots as a cowboy's gun in a Western movie. It was effective, too, at least against Martian life; I tried it out, aiming at one of the crazy plants, and darned if the plant didn't wither up and fall apart! That's why I think the glass splinters were poisoned.

[bookmark: p2016]"Anyway, we trudged along toward the mud-heap city and I began to wonder whether the city builders dug the canals. I pointed to the city and then at the canal, and Tweel said 'No—no—no!' and gestured toward the south. I took it to mean that some other race had created the canal system, perhaps Tweel's people. I don't know; maybe there's still another intelligent race on the planet, or a dozen others. Mars is a queer little world.

[bookmark: p2017]"A hundred yards from the city we crossed a sort of road—just a hard-packed mud trail, and then, all of a sudden, along came one of the mound builders!
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[bookmark: p2019]"Man, talk about fantastic beings! It looked rather like a barrel trotting along on four legs with four other arms or tentacles. It had no head, just body and members and a row of eyes completely around it. The top end of the barrel-body was a diaphragm stretched as tight as a drum head, and that was all. It was pushing a little coppery cart and tore right past us like the proverbial bat out of Hell. It didn't even notice us, although I thought the eyes on my side shifted a little as it passed.

[bookmark: p2020]"A moment later another came along, pushing another empty cart. Same thing—it just scooted past us. Well, I wasn't going to be ignored by a bunch of barrels playing train, so when the third one approached, I planted myself in the way—ready to jump, of course, if the thing didn't stop.

[bookmark: p2021]"But it did. It stopped and set up a sort of drumming from the diaphragm on top. And I held out both hands and said, 'We are friends!' And what do you suppose the thing did?"

[bookmark: p2022]"Said, 'Pleased to meet you,' I'll bet!" suggested Harrison.

[bookmark: p2023]"I couldn't have been more surprised if it had! It drummed on its diaphragm, and then suddenly boomed out, 'We are v-r-r-riends!' and gave its pushcart a vicious poke at me! I jumped aside, and away it went while I stared dumbly after it.

[bookmark: p2024]"A minute later another one came hurrying along. This one didn't pause, but simply drummed out, 'We are v-r-r-riends!' and scurried by. How did it learn the phrase? Were all of the creatures in some sort of communication with each other? Were they all parts of some central organism? I don't know, though I think Tweel does.

[bookmark: p2025]"Anyway, the creatures went sailing past us, every one greeting us with the same statement. It got to be funny; I never thought to find so many friends on this God-forsaken ball! Finally I made a puzzled gesture to Tweel; I guess he understood, for he said, 'One-one-two—yes!—two-two-four—no!' Get it?"

[bookmark: p2026]"Sure," said Harrison, "It's a Martian nursery rhyme."

[bookmark: p2027]"Yeah! Well, I was getting used to Tweel's symbolism, and I figured it out this way. 'One-one-two—yes!' The creatures were intelligent. 'Two-two-four—no!' Their intelligence was not of our order, but something different and beyond the logic of two and two is four. Maybe I missed his meaning. Perhaps he meant that their minds were of low degree, able to figure out the simple things—'One-one-two—yes!'—but not more difficult things—'Two-two-four—no!' But I think from what we saw later that he meant the other.

[bookmark: p2028]"After a few moments, the creatures came rushing back—first one, then another. Their pushcarts were full of stones, sand, chunks of rubbery plants, and such rubbish as that. They droned out their friendly greeting, which didn't really sound so friendly, and dashed on. The third one I assumed to be my first acquaintance and I decided to have another chat with him. I stepped into his path again and waited.

[bookmark: p2029]"Up he came, booming out his 'We are v-r-r-riends' and stopped. I looked at him; four or five of his eyes looked at me. He tried his password again and gave a shove on his cart, but I stood firm. And then the—the dashed creature reached out one of his arms, and two finger-like nippers tweaked my nose!"

[bookmark: p2030]"Haw!" roared Harrison. "Maybe the things have a sense of beauty!"

[bookmark: p2031]"Laugh!" grumbled Jarvis. "I'd already had a nasty bump and a mean frostbite on that nose. Anyway, I yelled 'Ouch!' and jumped aside and the creature dashed away; but from then on, their greeting was 'We are v-r-r-riends! Ouch!' Queer beasts!

[bookmark: p2032]"Tweel and I followed the road squarely up to the nearest mound. The creatures were coming and going, paying us not the slightest attention, fetching their loads of rubbish. The road simply dived into an opening, and slanted down like an old mine, and in and out darted the barrel-people, greeting us with their eternal phrase.

[bookmark: p2033]"I looked in; there was a light somewhere below, and I was curious to see it. It didn't look like a flame or torch, you understand, but more like a civilized light, and I thought that I might get some clue as to the creatures' development. So in I went and Tweel tagged along, not without a few trills and twitters, however.

[bookmark: p2034]"The light was curious; it sputtered and flared like an old arc light, but came from a single black rod set in the wall of the corridor. It was electric, beyond doubt. The creatures were fairly civilized, apparently.

[bookmark: p2035]"Then I saw another light shining on something that glittered and I went on to look at that, but it was only a heap of shiny sand. I turned toward the entrance to leave, and the Devil take me if it wasn't gone!

[bookmark: p2036]"I suppose the corridor had curved, or I'd stepped into a side passage. Anyway, I walked back in that direction I thought we'd come, and all I saw was more dimlit corridor. The place was a labyrinth! There was nothing but twisting passages running every way, lit by occasional lights, and now and then a creature running by, sometimes with a pushcart, sometimes without.

[bookmark: p2037]"Well, I wasn't much worried at first. Tweel and I had only come a few steps from the entrance. But every move we made after that seemed to get us in deeper. Finally I tried following one of the creatures with an empty cart, thinking that he'd be going out for his rubbish, but he ran around aimlessly, into one passage and out another. When he started dashing around a pillar like one of these Japanese waltzing mice, I gave up, dumped my water tank on the floor, and sat down.

[bookmark: p2038]"Tweel was as lost as I. I pointed up and he said 'No—no—no!' in a sort of helpless trill. And we couldn't get any help from the natives. They paid no attention at all, except to assure us they were friends—ouch!

[bookmark: p2039]"Lord! I don't know how many hours or days we wandered around there! I slept twice from sheer exhaustion; Tweel never seemed to need sleep. We tried following only the upward corridors, but they'd run uphill a ways and then curve downwards. The temperature in that damned ant hill was constant; you couldn't tell night from day and after my first sleep I didn't know whether I'd slept one hour or thirteen, so I couldn't tell from my watch whether it was midnight or noon.

[bookmark: p2040]"We saw plenty of strange things. There were machines running in some of the corridors, but they didn't seem to be doing anything—just wheels turning. And several times I saw two barrel-beasts with a little one growing between them, joined to both."

[bookmark: p2041]"Parthenogenesis!" exulted Leroy. "Parthenogenesis by budding like les tulipes!"

[bookmark: p2042]"If you say so, Frenchy," agreed Jarvis. "The things never noticed us at all, except, as I say, to greet us with 'We are v-r-r-riends! Ouch!' They seemed to have no home-life of any sort, but just scurried around with their pushcarts, bringing in rubbish. And finally I discovered what they did with it.

[bookmark: p2043]"We'd had a little luck with a corridor, one that slanted upwards for a great distance. I was feeling that we ought to be close to the surface when suddenly the passage debouched into a domed chamber, the only one we'd seen. And man!—I felt like dancing when I saw what looked like daylight through a crevice in the roof.

[bookmark: p2044]"There was a—a sort of machine in the chamber, just an enormous wheel that turned slowly, and one of the creatures was in the act of dumping his rubbish below it. The wheel ground it with a crunch—sand, stones, plants, all into powder that sifted away somewhere. While we watched, others filed in, repeating the process, and that seemed to be all. No rhyme nor reason to the whole thing—but that's characteristic of this crazy planet. And there was another fact that's almost too bizarre to believe.

[bookmark: p2045]"One of the creatures, having dumped his load, pushed his cart aside with a crash and calmly shoved himself under the wheel! I watched him being crushed, too stupefied to make a sound, and a moment later, another followed him! They were perfectly methodical about it, too; one of the cartless creatures took the abandoned pushcart.

[bookmark: p2046]"Tweel didn't seem surprised; I pointed out the next suicide to him, and he just gave the most human-like shrug imaginable, as much as to say, 'What can I do about it?' He must have known more or less about these creatures.

[bookmark: p2047]"Then I saw something else. There was something beyond the wheel, something shining on a sort of low pedestal. I walked over; there was a little crystal about the size of an egg, fluorescing to beat Tophet. The light from it stung my hands and face, almost like a static discharge, and then I noticed another funny thing. Remember that wart I had on my left thumb? Look!" Jarvis extended his hand. "It dried up and fell off—just like that! And my abused nose—say, the pain went out of it like magic! The thing had the property of hard x-rays or gamma radiations, only more so; it destroyed diseased tissue and left healthy tissue unharmed!

[bookmark: p2048]"I was thinking what a present that'd be to take back to Mother Earth when a lot of racket interrupted. We dashed back to the other side of the wheel in time to see one of the pushcarts ground up. Some suicide had been careless, it seems.

[bookmark: p2049]"Then suddenly the creatures were booming and drumming all around us and their noise was decidedly menacing. A crowd of them advanced toward us; we backed out of what I thought was the passage we'd entered by, and they came rumbling after us, some pushing carts and some not. Crazy brutes! There was a whole chorus of 'We are v-r-r-riends! Ouch!' I didn't like the 'ouch'; it was rather suggestive.

[bookmark: p2050]"Tweel had his glass gun out and I dumped my water tank for greater freedom and got mine. We backed up the corridor with the barrel-beasts following—about twenty of them. Queer thing—the ones coming in with loaded carts moved past us inches away without a sign.

[bookmark: p2051]"Tweel must have noticed that. Suddenly, he snatched out that glowing coal cigar-lighter of his and touched a cart-load of plant limbs. Puff! The whole load was burning—and the crazy beast pushing it went right along without a change of pace! It created some disturbance among our 'V-r-r-riends,' however—and then I noticed the smoke eddying and swirling past us, and sure enough, there was the entrance!

[bookmark: p2052]"I grabbed Tweel and out we dashed and after us our twenty pursuers. The daylight felt like Heaven, though I saw at first glance that the sun was all but set, and that was bad, since I couldn't live outside my thermo-skin bag in a Martian night—at least, without a fire.

[bookmark: p2053]"And things got worse in a hurry. They cornered us in an angle between two mounds, and there we stood. I hadn't fired nor had Tweel; there wasn't any use in irritating the brutes. They stopped a little distance away and began their booming about friendship and ouches.

[bookmark: p2054]"Then things got still worse! A barrel-brute came out with a pushcart and they all grabbed into it and came out with handfuls of foot-long copper darts—sharp-looking ones—and all of a sudden one sailed past my ear—zing! And it was shoot or die then.

[bookmark: p2055]"We were doing pretty well for a while. We picked off the ones next to the pushcart and managed to keep the darts at a minimum, but suddenly there was a thunderous booming of 'v-r-r-riends' and 'ouches,' and a whole army of 'em came out of their hole.

[bookmark: p2056]"Man! We were through and I knew it! Then I realized that Tweel wasn't. He could have leaped the mound behind us as easily as not. He was staying for me!

[bookmark: p2057]"Say, I could have cried if there'd been time! I'd liked Tweel from the first, but whether I'd have had gratitude to do what he was doing—suppose I had saved him from the first dream-beast—he'd done as much for me, hadn't he? I grabbed his arm, and said 'Tweel,' and pointed up, and he understood. He said, 'No—no—no, Tick!' and popped away with his glass pistol.

[bookmark: p2058]"What could I do? I'd be a goner anyway when the sun set, but I couldn't explain that to him. I said, 'Thanks, Tweel. You're a man!' and felt that I wasn't paying him any compliment at all. A man! There are mighty few men who'd do that.

[bookmark: p2059]"So I went 'bang' with my gun and Tweel went 'puff' with his, and the barrels were throwing darts and getting ready to rush us, and booming about being friends. I had given up hope. Then suddenly an angel dropped right down from Heaven in the shape of Putz, with his under-jets blasting the barrels into very small pieces!

[bookmark: p2060]"Wow! I let out a yell and dashed for the rocket; Putz opened the door and in I went, laughing and crying and shouting! It was a moment or so before I remembered Tweel; I looked around in time to see him rising in one of his nosedives over the mound and away.

[bookmark: p2061]"I had a devil of a job arguing Putz into following! By the time we got the rocket aloft, darkness was down; you know how it comes here—like turning off a light. We sailed out over the desert and put down once or twice. I yelled 'Tweel!' and yelled it a hundred times, I guess. We couldn't find him; he could travel like the wind and all I got—or else I imagined it—was a faint trilling and twittering drifting out of the south. He'd gone, and damn it! I wish—I wish he hadn't!"

[bookmark: p2062]The four men of the Ares were silent—even the sardonic Harrison. At last little Leroy broke the stillness.

[bookmark: p2063]"I should like to see," he murmured.

[bookmark: p2064]"Yeah," said Harrison. "And the wart-cure. Too bad you missed that; it might be the cancer cure they've been hunting for a century and a half."

[bookmark: p2065]"Oh, that!" muttered Jarvis gloomily. "That's what started the fight!" He drew a glistening object from his pocket.

[bookmark: p2066]"Here it is."
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[bookmark: Chap_9]NSF CONTEST WINNER:

Letting Go

Written by David Walton
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[bookmark: p2068]I never wanted Rachel to go into space. Space was my passion, but for my daughter, I wanted a normal American life: Barbie dolls and pony rides, makeup and boys, the senior prom. A good college, a good career, marriage, kids. Only I wasn't there, most of the time, to see it happen. When she played Mary in her Sunday School pageant, I was on the ISS. When she graduated high school, I was on the moon, already starting the Gravity Train project. But there must be some truth to the argument for nature over nurture, because despite my long absences, she took after me instead of her mother. Joined the academy, earned her pin, and followed me to the moon.

[bookmark: p2069]The morning of the accident, we were all ready to celebrate. We gathered in the control room, Rachel holding my hand, Commander André Gretzsin, Jr. beside her, and the rest of the crew pressed in close behind. On screen, a Herrenknecht Tunnel Boring Machine named Big Betsy churned through the lunar rock at the bottom of The Hole, as it had been doing without stop for almost eight years. Today was different, though. Today, Big Betsy would finally reach the end of her task. No one dared to speak. The only sound was the bass growl of the machine, transmitted back to us through the video feed.

[bookmark: p2070]The Hole was two meters wide and more than three thousand kilometers deep, stretching from Mare Serenitatis straight down to the core. On the other side of the Moon, starting at Farside Station and plunging nearly as far, was the dig known affectionately as The Other Hole. The boring machine on that side had been redirected the day before to get it out of the way. As we watched, the last bit of rock tumbled forward in a loose spray as Big Betsy connected the two holes into one long tunnel, the longest ever dug, nearly seven thousand kilometers long.

[bookmark: p2071]We broke into cheers. On another video display, the team at Farside danced and hugged each other. It was finished. We'd actually done it.

[bookmark: p2072]Four hundred years ago, Robert Hooke proposed the perfect transportation system to Isaac Newton: a straight tunnel through the Earth from any two points on its surface. A frictionless sled dropped down the hole at one end would arrive at the other side forty-two minutes later with perfect conservation of energy. For Hooke and Newton, it was a thought experiment—a puzzle on which to apply the new laws of geometry and gravitation. On the Moon, however, with modern drilling techniques and no atmosphere to cause friction, their idea had become a reality. In a few months, when the train capsules were completed and put into service, a thousand pounds of helium-3 a day would be scooped up from the vast deposits around Farside and transported by gravity train to the near side.

[bookmark: p2073]"So there it is," said Rachel. "A really, really deep hole."

[bookmark: p2074]I snorted. "That's all we hear from the media." The project had required almost twice the originally planned budget, and most of their news coverage revolved around how much money the government was sinking into a very deep hole. "One of those helium-3 capsules will provide enough fusion energy to power New York for a year. We're going to solve the world's energy crisis, and all they can talk about is the Guinness Book of World Records."

[bookmark: p2075]Rachel squeezed my hand. "When I was little, I was always out digging holes in the backyard."

[bookmark: p2076]I smiled, but it gave me a pang for her to mention her childhood. The childhood I had missed. "Digging a hole to China?"

[bookmark: p2077]"Digging a hole to anywhere, as long as it wasn't home."

[bookmark: p2078]"You wanted to get away that badly?"

[bookmark: p2079]"Mostly I just wanted to be with you."

[bookmark: p2080]"You and Mom . . ." I began, but she put a finger on my mouth.

[bookmark: p2081]"Let it go, Dad. We were too different. Not your fault."

[bookmark: p2082]Her blond hair was cropped close, a concession to the hardships of space, and her face showed the fluid swelling typical of long stints in low gravity. She was my height, slender, strong, and independent. She was different than her mother, all right. But she wasn't what I had wanted her to be.

[bookmark: p2083]"Dad?"

[bookmark: p2084]Her tone worried me. "What's wrong?"

[bookmark: p2085]"Nothing. I wanted to pile on some more good news."

[bookmark: p2086]Something was wrong. Rachel was never hesitant.

[bookmark: p2087]"André and I are going to be married."

[bookmark: p2088]I pressed my lips together. She knew my opinion of astronauts and marriage. That's why she chose that moment to tell me. "What happened to 'single forever'?"

[bookmark: p2089]"I changed my mind."

[bookmark: p2090]I glanced around the control room and spotted André at his terminal, watching us.

[bookmark: p2091]"What do you want, my blessing or something?"

[bookmark: p2092]"I just want you to be happy for us."

[bookmark: p2093]"I probably won't make it to the wedding."

[bookmark: p2094]"Sure you will. We'll have it as soon as we get home."

[bookmark: p2095]"I might have to stay here longer than you, make sure everything keeps running."

[bookmark: p2096]"Then we'll wait. You have to come back to Earth eventually."

[bookmark: p2097]I shook my head. Against all odds, she'd beaten her mother's influence and made a career for herself. Now she wanted to throw it away for domestic life?

[bookmark: p2098]But she knew what I thought; I didn't have to say it. Back to work. Big Betsy had to be redirected to drill into the side of the tunnel, where she would be left forever—it wasn't worth the energy to pull her back to the surface. The other boring machine was already snug in its own little grave, ten meters into the rock.

[bookmark: p2099]André must have snuck up behind me, because I heard him say, "I'll take good care of her, Frank."

[bookmark: p2100]I wanted to hit him, but I kept my voice soft. "You're on the short list for Mars, André. She's not. What are you going to do, leave her in a Florida apartment with a baby in her belly while you go away for seven years?"

[bookmark: p2101]André looked angry, but he didn't snap back.

[bookmark: p2102]Rachel said, "Dad . . ."

[bookmark: p2103]"Forget it. It's your life. I have work and so do you."

[bookmark: p2104]I sat down and ignored them. Eventually they left.

* * *

[bookmark: p2105]An hour later, I watched her on screen as she worked inside Capsule A. Our command center partially encircled the Hole in a rough U-shape, inside of which were the oxygen tanks for the complex, fuel and extra cutting blades for the Tunnel Boring Machines, construction materials, and in the center, the capsule itself. It was held in place above the chasm of the Hole by the electromagnetic capture system, but for safety, a series of bolts prevented accidental release. She was inside, suited up, spraying the capsule with insulator before its virgin drop the next day. She barely fit; at just shy of two meters wide, the capsule had been designed for cargo, not human passengers.

[bookmark: p2106]I watched her work, confident, at ease in a spacesuit, skilled at her task. I had been unfair. André was a talented spacer, a third-generation astronaut whose grandfather had been on the Mir. He was stable, trustworthy, a great commander. He had lost his own father in a training accident when he was young; he knew the risks of space. I knew my reaction had more to do with guilt about my own failed marriage than about him, but I still couldn't see past it. A life in space and a family just didn't fit together. Even so, I owed her an apology. I reached for the comm.

[bookmark: p2107]Then it happened. The video feed dropped to static, and I felt a deep vibration in the floor. The moment froze, like a shuttle when the last booster drops away and the battering five-G ascent becomes instantly silent and perfectly still. I ran to the windows, my body sluggish, underwater. My eyes met André's across the room, and we both knew. An explosion. Disaster.

[bookmark: p2108]We looked out and saw the impossible: a fire on the Moon. The capsule platform was engulfed in flames. It would be months before we found out what happened—lunar dust had fouled a valve, causing pressure to build up. The resulting explosion had doused the platform with burning fuel and pierced an oxygen tank at the same time, providing the fire with a steady supply of fresh oxygen to keep it alight. At the time, all we knew was that Rachel was in trouble.

[bookmark: p2109]Crew members packed the airlock, frantically suiting up for a rescue attempt, but I could see they would be too late. I rushed back to the comm.

[bookmark: p2110]"Rachel? Are you there?"

[bookmark: p2111]"Roger that, Control," came her calm voice, just as she'd been trained to react in a crisis. "The temperature is rising fast in here. Can I get out the hatch?"

[bookmark: p2112]"Negative. Egress is completely blocked."

[bookmark: p2113]"Can they put it out?"

[bookmark: p2114]The two men who had reached the fire with extinguishers backed away, unable to get any closer.

[bookmark: p2115]"Not in time."

[bookmark: p2116]My mind raced, trying to keep the horror out so I could think clearly. It wasn't my daughter; it was a problem to be solved. And then the solution was obvious.

[bookmark: p2117]"Drop her!"

[bookmark: p2118]André turned from the window to stare at me.

[bookmark: p2119]"Come on, help me. Release the bolts and drop the capsule."

[bookmark: p2120]André shook his head. "Big Betsy hasn't cleared the tunnel yet. She'll die."

[bookmark: p2121]"She's dying right now; that fire's going to cook her before anyone can stop it. It's her only chance. Do it!"

[bookmark: p2122]We kicked chairs out of the way and grabbed our consoles. It didn't take long. The bolts retracted and the capsule, released, plummeted into the Hole.

[bookmark: p2123]André grabbed the comm, thumbed the global override, and bellowed into it. "I need every hand back to Control right now. The capsule is in the Hole. Repeat, everyone back to the control room at once."

[bookmark: p2124]He turned back to me. "Big Betsy has twenty minutes to get out of the way."

* * *

[bookmark: p2125]The Herrenknecht Tunnel Boring Machines were the fastest ever built, advertised to excavate at a rate of a kilometer a day. Their real progress was slower, of course, because worn drill bits had to be changed regularly, and dirt had to be removed. The boring machines used to dig the Chunnel under the English Channel pulled out eight million cubic meters of dirt, which was used to reclaim 90 acres of oceanfront property near Folkestone, creating a public park frequented by children and picnickers. On the moon, the removed dirt was also thrown into the "sea"—a huge pile at the bottom of Mare Serenitatis.

[bookmark: p2126]Under normal circumstances, Big Betsy could have covered two meters well before the falling capsule reached the core, but in this case, it had to turn, and the boring machine did not turn quickly. It tunneled like an earthworm, the back half gripping the rock while the front half pushed forward, then the front half gripping the rock while the back half pulled back in, spraying plasticized concrete on the new walls to help stabilize the tunnel. To change direction, it gripped on only one side, its thrusts altering its attitude by several degrees each time. I didn't know how long it would take, or if it would clear the tunnel in time. There was nothing to do but watch Rachel float weightlessly in freefall inside the capsule, counting down the minutes.

[bookmark: p2127]Just days before I had left for the moon, six months before Rachel graduated high school, I bought her a graduation present: a gold necklace of a bird flying out of an open cage. It was my joke to her, a symbol of freedom from her life at home, a fatherly invitation to go out and do whatever she wanted with her life. Only I'd never given it to her.

[bookmark: p2128]I'd come home late that morning from an exhausting all-night training simulation to find a lawyer waiting. He gave me the divorce papers and my wife's message that she would throw out anything I didn't remove from the house before I left.

[bookmark: p2129]The necklace didn't seem so funny anymore. I found Rachel at school and kissed her goodbye. I bunked at Kennedy for my last few days on Earth and never went home again.

[bookmark: p2130]"Thirty seconds until imp . . . until she passes the core," said André.

[bookmark: p2131]The entire team was gathered in the control room, none of them breathing, eyes flicking back and forth between Big Betsy's coordinates and the clock. Ten seconds. Five. Zero.

[bookmark: p2132]Nothing. Big Betsy pressed on. The video inside the capsule continued to show Rachel, unharmed. She'd made it through.

[bookmark: p2133]I punched the comm for Farside. "Tanager, she's heading your way. Are you ready for the catch?"

[bookmark: p2134]Captain Matt Tanager's voice was matter-of-fact, as if this were nothing but a routine drill. "Roger that, Control. The generators are spinning and the magnets are hot. We'll catch her more gently than her own mother."

[bookmark: p2135]I thought about Rachel's mother, and hoped for better.

[bookmark: p2136]"Just be ready, Farside. I'm counting on you."

[bookmark: p2137]"Relax, Papa Bear. She's in good hands."

[bookmark: p2138]"Frank!" André called from his terminal.

[bookmark: p2139]"What is it?"

[bookmark: p2140]"She passed the first sensor."

[bookmark: p2141]"And?"

[bookmark: p2142]"She was more than two seconds late."

[bookmark: p2143]I didn't have to ask why that mattered. Two seconds didn't drop out of a precise gravitational calculation for no reason; something was slowing her down.

[bookmark: p2144]"You're sure?"

[bookmark: p2145]"I checked it three times."

[bookmark: p2146]Then I realized what it must have been. "The dirt."

[bookmark: p2147]"What?"

[bookmark: p2148]"The dirt dislodged by Big Betsy. In any other tunnel, loose dirt would fall out of harm's way, but in the exact center of the Moon . . ."

[bookmark: p2149]". . . the dirt would fall to the center of the tunnel," André finished. "Her capsule plowed right through it."

[bookmark: p2150]We were silent for a moment. We both knew a miss would be fatal. If the capsule didn't reach high enough for Farside to catch it, it would oscillate back and forth over a matter of days, slowing gradually and finally coming to a rest at the core of the Moon. Rachel would run out of oxygen long before then.

[bookmark: p2151]"Will she make it?" I asked.

[bookmark: p2152]André didn't answer. He loaded an analysis tool and started typing furiously. I couldn't wait. I grabbed a pen and a safety manual and started writing equations on the back. The math was complex, but it was also the basis for the project I'd been working on for eight years. The catching mechanism was designed to be extended down into the tunnel to account for slight variations in velocity; the question was, could it extend far enough to catch Rachel? We reached the answer at almost the same moment and looked at each other without speaking, both praying that we were wrong.

[bookmark: p2153]Finally, I said, "She'll fall ten meters short."

[bookmark: p2154]André nodded.

[bookmark: p2155]The comm beeped. I punched it and growled, "What is it?"

[bookmark: p2156]"Dad?"

[bookmark: p2157]"Rachel! Are you safe? Everything okay?"

[bookmark: p2158]"I'm fine, Dad. My air is good, my temp is good. Farside's going to catch me . . . right?"

[bookmark: p2159]I didn't hesitate. If there was anything I knew as an astronaut, it was that people do better when they have all the information. "Negative. Repeat, negative. You hit some friction at the core. You won't reach the magnets." I coughed, then said, "We're going to catch you on this side."

[bookmark: p2160]She knew as well as I did that the loose dirt would cut her velocity even more on the return trip. Her response was quiet and simple. "How?"

[bookmark: p2161]I shook my head. "I don't know."

* * *

[bookmark: p2162]Rachel's capsule fell short exactly as our calculations predicted and started the long fall back toward the core.

[bookmark: p2163]"If there were only some way to speed her up . . ." André tapped a pencil on the screen in nervous frustration.

[bookmark: p2164]"Forget about it. No rockets, no means of propulsion, nothing to push out the back. Propulsion means energy, and there's no more energy in the system."

[bookmark: p2165]"Could we fire the laser at the capsule, cut a hole in the top?"

[bookmark: p2166]"What, and have her jump out?"

[bookmark: p2167]André shrugged. "If she jumped just at the top of its rise, in the moment the capsule was completely still, she could prop herself up in the tunnel with her legs and arms until we could pull her out."

[bookmark: p2168]"Hold herself up in a sheer concrete tunnel over a several thousand kilometer drop?"

[bookmark: p2169]"If it's her only chance, it's better than nothing."

[bookmark: p2170]I held up my hands. "I'm sorry. But it won't work. The tunnel is gravitationally straight, but it's not actually straight, remember? It has to account for mascons and mountains. You can't reach her with a laser until she's too close to do any good."

[bookmark: p2171]We argued for several more minutes, but finally settled on the only possibility. We had no more time to talk if we wanted time to prepare. The only remaining disagreement was who would go down the Hole.

[bookmark: p2172]"There's no question, André. You have to work the numbers. They need to be perfect—correct to the centimeter. This isn't something you want me doing on the back of an envelope. If it isn't right . . . well, we'll only get one chance at this."

[bookmark: p2173]André nodded. "I'll get it right."

[bookmark: p2174]"You do that."

* * *

[bookmark: p2175]They attached the cable to my spacesuit, the same cable and winch we'd used to lower Big Betsy into the initial hole. It was easily thick enough to handle the strain. I stood, fully suited, at the edge of the Hole. There was no time for second thoughts. I checked my connections and my air, then dove down into blackness.

[bookmark: p2176]The cable slowed my descent while above me, another member of the team kept a precise measurement of the length of the cable. At two hundred meters, they slowed me to a stop. On the surface, André was measuring how much the core debris had slowed Rachel's capsule on her second pass. He would make precise measurements of her ascent and adjust his calculations accordingly. I felt the cable vibrate as it was pulled a few feet higher, then lowered by tiny increments, then raised again.

[bookmark: p2177]It was dark. I turned on my flashlight and pointed it down the shaft. Living in space had accustomed me to enormous distances, but the sight of that endless tunnel set my heart pounding. I checked my watch, which glowed a faint green. Three minutes.

[bookmark: p2178]The cable continued to hum, adjusting my position by small amounts. Why did it take so much adjustment? Was her acceleration still changing? I thought about hailing André on the comm to ask him what the problem was, but rejected the idea. There was nothing I could do to help now.

[bookmark: p2179]Less than two minutes left. I couldn't see it yet, but the capsule was coming. I hefted the hook in my right hand, knowing I would only get one chance. If André's calculations were off, I would get no chance at all—either the capsule would fall short, plummeting back toward the core before I could reach it, or else . . . or else it would rise too high, and two people would die instead of just one.

[bookmark: p2180]Where was it? Why couldn't I see it? Had it already reached its peak and fallen back down? I didn't dare look at my watch again, lest the capsule appear in that split second.

[bookmark: p2181]Suddenly, there it was, flying up toward me. The lack of reference points made it hard to gauge its speed; one moment it looked too slow, others like it would plow right into me. I shrank back, adrenaline pumping, unable to dodge it or move any higher. Then, just as I braced for the impact, it stopped just inches away. I gaped at it, frozen with shock, and almost didn't move fast enough. I swung out desperately with the hook and wrapped it under a bar on the top of the capsule, just in time. It shrieked and held, jerking the cable with a force that set it thrumming like a bass fiddle. But it did not fall.

* * *

[bookmark: p2182]When the hatch finally opened and Rachel stumbled out, she ran straight into André's arms. My hands were shaking. During the crisis, there was no time to be afraid for her; now that it was over, the emotions flooded me. At that moment, life seemed so fragile, so fleeting. I watched Rachel and André hold each other and wondered if they could really hold a marriage together. Rachel wasn't her mother, and André wasn't me; maybe they could. Even if they couldn't, what good would I do by standing in the way?

[bookmark: p2183]After removing my spacesuit, I retreated to my sleeping quarters, just a closet barely large enough for a narrow bed. I rummaged in my trunk and finally pulled from the bottom a gold necklace, a bird with wings spread wide flying free from a cage. I had kept it long enough.
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[bookmark: p2184] 

WEST-CENTRAL FRANCIA, 732

[bookmark: p2185]The fallen covered hills and plain for as far as the eye could see. The moans of the wounded and dying echoed everywhere. The best that a wounded Saracen could hope for was a speedy dispatch.

[bookmark: p2186]Jackals and vultures and human scavengers swarmed over the corpses, each seeking his own form of booty. There were far too many dead to bury; black smoke and the sickeningly sweet smell of burning human flesh rose from the funeral pyres to profane the sky. The stench, the cries, the sights . . . this was surely as close to Purgatory as it was possible to come. 

[bookmark: p2187]And so, this being the Dark Ages, the Frankish priests prepared to celebrate a mass of thanksgiving. 

[bookmark: p2188]The one impediment to the solemn service had been deciding where to hold it. The nearest church of any size was at the monastery of St. Martin in Tours, but that had been thoroughly desecrated and sacked just days earlier. Its sacred relics and beautiful golden decorations, and those of countless hundreds of other churches, lay jumbled somewhere in the enormous wagon train just captured from the invaders. 

[bookmark: p2189]With uncharacteristic rapidity, the priests and nobles agreed: The ceremony would be held near the enemy's abandoned camp, amid the recaptured holy pieces themselves. There were no alternatives. A feast of celebration would be prepared from the enemy's supplies. 

[bookmark: p2190]The observance would be held that evening as an extension of vespers. Word filtered out. Slowly, the victorious army began to assemble. As afternoon shadows lengthened, cavalry companies galloped toward the site of the service. They crowded around the improvised altar; as full-blooded Franks, they gave no thought to the peasant infantry plodding along behind them. The nobles had places reserved for themselves at the very front of the gathering crowd.

* * *

[bookmark: p2191]Harry and Terrence had examined thousands of bodies: stabbed, hacked, burned, trampled, gnawed by scavengers. It was like hell on Earth.

[bookmark: p2192]They did not find Faisel.

[bookmark: p2193]At a loss how to proceed, they watched in awe as the victorious army gathered in its tens of thousands. 

[bookmark: p2194]The Saracens had encamped in a beautiful grassy valley: a natural amphitheater. Karl's men now covered its slopes. In the center of the valley, priests scurried about, tending to last-minute details. 

[bookmark: p2195]Harry and Terrence observed from the crest of one of the hills that delimited the vale. All the nobility of Western Europe was gathered in this one spot. Terrence thought: Oh, for a camera with a telephoto lens.

[bookmark: p2196]Terrence froze. Could it be? He sifted through the facts and circumstances of the recent campaign, rummaged through what little he knew about their nemesis, desperately seeking a flaw in his reasoning. 

[bookmark: p2197]He found none.

[bookmark: p2198]"Harry?"

[bookmark: p2199]"Hmm." It was an answering grunt, not yet attention. His friend was rapt in the incredible scene. 

[bookmark: p2200]"Harry! What's always been the big question about Faisel's plans?"

[bookmark: p2201]"For me, it's always been how he planned to deliver the nuke. Horses make lousy strategic delivery systems." Bowen gestured at the victorious forces below. "Be glad the bastard never found an answer either."

[bookmark: p2202]In the heart of the valley, the wagon train was surrounded by warriors. Terrence shivered. "What if he has?

[bookmark: p2203]"What if it's hidden down there?"

* * *

[bookmark: p2204]Schooled by years of banditry, Salah-ad-Din and his most trusted men slipped through the enemy countryside unseen by Firanji patrols. Like the Green Berets, he thought ironically. They sneaked through the forest, ever closer to the abandoned camp of their own defeated army, the army now running for Iberia and the shelter of the tall Pyrenees. But this was all according to plan. 

[bookmark: p2205]It was best that Allah's army be far away when he actuated the small radio transmitter in his pocket.

* * *

[bookmark: p2206]Terrence plowed downhill through the crowd, Bowen in pursuit, talking as they ran. They couldn't cause a panic by speaking in English. Warriors, jostled and shoved, cursed angrily, but they knew better than to misuse Karl's strangely favored outland friends. 

[bookmark: p2207]"This year is the centennial of Muhammad's death. Think of it! How will the Islamic world respond to the apocalyptic destruction of Christendom's greatest army? To that army and the nobility of half a continent vanishing in a blinding flash and a mushroom cloud that towers to the heavens? To the incomprehensible plague of fallout? To the lingering death, for countless years after, of anyone who dares to visit here?"

[bookmark: p2208]"But where do we begin to look?"

[bookmark: p2209]Terrence wasn't done explaining. "I know now why Faisel has been terrorizing Europe for the last few years, making himself, and all Saracens, hated."

[bookmark: p2210]Harry had figured it out, too. "To draw that many more Christian forces into the battle. That's also why at the last he attacked Aquitainia and drove Odo over to Karl. Faisel wanted all of the area's leaders killed at once."

[bookmark: p2211]"Right."

[bookmark: p2212]They fell silent for a while, saving their breath for the downhill dash. Harry, in a sudden premonition, saw the multitudes all around as the legions of the damned, dead without yet knowing it. It made his skin crawl. Could they possibly locate the bomb in time among the hundreds of wagons?

[bookmark: p2213]Because if they didn't find it, surely they, and Karl's army, and everything that any of them had ever held dear, were doomed.

* * *

[bookmark: p2214]Salah-ad-Din settled back against the trunk of the sturdy pine that he had just climbed. The tree grew from a tall hill no more than eighty meters back from the rim of the natural valley into which the condemned army streamed. 

[bookmark: p2215]They were antlike at his feet; none more so than the nobles gathered at the center of the clearing. The foolish priests of a false god scurried all about, performing their misguided tasks. Well, they also had their part to play today.

[bookmark: p2216]The murmur of the army, now rising, now falling, mesmerized him. Nothing could be heard over the noise of the many thousands, nothing short of the voice of God.

[bookmark: p2217]Which, the terrorist smiled, would soon speak.

* * *

[bookmark: p2218]Bertchramm cursed as someone tried to shove past him. The leaders had gathered hours ago; whoever this was had not the rank for a position on the valley floor. He turned to see who had such nerve and lack of sense.

[bookmark: p2219]"Boy, am I glad to see you!"

[bookmark: p2220]The strange wording didn't discomfit Bertchramm, but Harry's sudden appearance did. "You should not be here. You know that this area is—" 

[bookmark: p2221]Harry cut him off. "Do you remember the campfire demonstration we gave Karl after saving Bertha?" The mention of Bertchramm's indebtedness was intentional. There was no time for lengthy explanations. 

[bookmark: p2222]Nor did Bertchramm demand any. "What can I do?"

[bookmark: p2223]"Salah-ad-Din's magical weapon is here. Gather a few trusted men and have each of them gather a few more. All the captured wagons, even the food wagons, must be searched quickly but thoroughly for any large object out of the ordinary." Harry held out his hands to show how bulky the homemade bomb must certainly be. "At least this big. But anything suspicious that is found must not be touched. We do not know what will set off the bomb."

[bookmark: p2224]Harry looked worriedly over his shoulder at he knew not what. Here in the clearing at the bottom of the valley, he felt as exposed as a goldfish in a bowl. Shooting fish in a barrel—the phrase, unbidden and unwelcome, came to him. 

[bookmark: p2225]"And for God's sake, don't let anyone see what they're doing."

* * *

[bookmark: p2226]Hours sitting immobile in the tall tree were beginning to paralyze Salah-ad-Din's legs. His hand in his pocket idly fingered the control as he waited. Still, although the Firanji army had been fully assembled for a while, although he could have destroyed these infidels at any time, he waited. A moment of high drama would come, and he would know it when he saw it. Soon . . .

[bookmark: p2227]In the anthill of the damned, the mass, at long last, had begun. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2228]Bertchramm organized the search with all his characteristic Frankish efficiency, then returned to wait with Harry and Terrence. The warrior seemed, if it were possible, more nervous than his companions. He answered slowly, reluctantly, when Harry finally asked why. "It's not only Saracens who will place a meaning on this great magic."

[bookmark: p2229]"What do you mean?"

[bookmark: p2230]Bertchramm stared incredulously. "Have you never seen a trial by ordeal or by combat?"

[bookmark: p2231]Harry shuddered: He had. 

[bookmark: p2232]The standard means of Frankish "justice" was trial by compurgation. This was essentially the testimony of character witnesses. The more serious the accusation, the more witnesses were needed. If the accused had too few witnesses—seventy-two for murder trials, for example—God's guidance was sought. In a trial by ordeal, the accused might be forced to grasp a red-hot iron, or to plunge his bare arm into boiling water to retrieve a submerged object. God, it was believed, protected the innocent from harm. 

[bookmark: p2233]Trial by combat operated on the same premise: God would surely grant victory to the justly aggrieved party, whether that be the truly injured or the falsely accused. 

[bookmark: p2234]"Of course I have," Harry said. "What do trials have to do with our situation?"

[bookmark: p2235]"After two years among us, you still do not think like a Frank." Bertchramm studied the discreet search now under way. He hesitated, as though expressing his fears would make them real. Perhaps that was exactly what he dreaded. Finally, he sighed, and asked his own question. "Why do you think that we use such techniques to settle accusations?"

[bookmark: p2236]Barbarism, Harry thought, an answer he kept to himself. You'll grow out of it.

[bookmark: p2237]Terrence broke the awkward silence. "The possibility of trial by combat, with the risk of God's intervention, keeps false allegations to a minimum."

[bookmark: p2238]"True, but that's like saying that a lack of money causes poverty. It misses the point." The warlord looked again, in desperate hope, at his men digging through and prodding at everything in the wagons. 

[bookmark: p2239]"We believe that God intervenes in the outcome of every event. If He were to visit a catastrophe such as you have described, if our victory were to meet such Divine punishment, how many of our surviving people would assume that God must indeed be this Allah?"

* * *

[bookmark: p2240]One by one, Bertchramm's searchers returned. To a man, they reported nothing out of the ordinary. Bertchramm ignored the occasional glint of gold from deep within folds of fabric. Sticky fingers were the least of their worries.

[bookmark: p2241]Could I be wrong? Terrence wondered. 

[bookmark: p2242]It was hard to imagine they had overlooked something the size and weight of the bomb. Terrence slumped to the ground, perplexed. It made so much sense that the nuke would be here. "So where is the damned thing?"

[bookmark: p2243]"Let me think." Harry had sat down earlier. He seemed to be following the mass with uncharacteristic attentiveness. Perhaps there were no atheists at Ground Zero. 

[bookmark: p2244]"Think about what?"

[bookmark: p2245]"The altar." Harry stared at that object for what seemed forever. "What would you call that color?"

[bookmark: p2246]A corner of the improvised altar was just barely visible beneath the cloth draped over it. Staring into the setting sun didn't help Terrence's color sense. "Silver? No, not quite. Grey?"

[bookmark: p2247]"Yes, and a very particular shade of gray at that. It goes with the size and shape."

[bookmark: p2248]Terrence looked again, this time in a twenty-first-century frame of mind. Mentally he stood the box on end, colored it entirely in the dreary hue that peeked out from under the altar cloth.

[bookmark: p2249]"Bloody hell," he marveled aloud. "It's a bloomin' office storage cabinet, in standard office grey."

* * *

[bookmark: p2250]The Christian hymns swelled to a crescendo; the valley gathered up the sound, focused it, and sent it soaring skyward. In his own way, Salah-ad-Din also exulted in the sound. Soon, he thought. Soon.

[bookmark: p2251]An almost electric silence came over the landscape. The officiating priest said something that the Arab, from his distant perch, could not make out. The army, however, responded with heartfelt sincerity. "Karl Martel. Karl Martel. Karl Martel. Karl Martel!" The ground seemed to shake with their shouts. "Karl Martel, the Hammer of God!"

[bookmark: p2252]Salah-ad-Din lifted his eyes to the sky, to the glorious sunset that Allah had painted across the heavens. As he prayed, he took from his pocket the small radio transmitter. He unlocked its safety and extended its telescoping antenna.

[bookmark: p2253]Soon, indeed, these infidels would experience the hammer of God.

* * *

[bookmark: p2254]A great army filled the valley. Its shouts were almost deafening. 

[bookmark: p2255]They cheered for the man who had led them to an almost miraculous victory. Scant centuries earlier, as Rome was falling, men had cried out similar words, but in fear. Those cries had named Attila the Hun as the Scourge of God. 

[bookmark: p2256]A sunbeam broke through the thin cloud cover to illuminate the priests and the altar. At this further proof of God's favor, the multitudes redoubled their efforts. "Karl Martel! Karl Martel, the Hammer of God!"

[bookmark: p2257]There was no way Harry could make himself understood.

[bookmark: p2258]To the core of his being, Harry knew he had no time to spare. He leapt to his feet and ran. Dagger in his right hand, he swept everything off the altar with his left. The altar cloth slid to the ground.

[bookmark: p2259]Terrence and Bertchramm tried to hold back enraged priests and nobles. Only Frankish reticence to unsheathe their swords at a mass, however improvised the surroundings, saved any of them. 

[bookmark: p2260]Harry forced the tip of his knife between the locked doors of the drab cabinet. His friends crashed and bumped into him. He tried to ignore them, ignore everything. Even if he were right, he might not live long enough to do anything about it. He pried—and the blade snapped.

[bookmark: p2261]The army's shouts had turned angry. 

[bookmark: p2262]Cursing, Harry forced the broken dagger between the cabinet doors. He heaved. The stub of the blade took the strain; with metallic pings, something inside broke and the latch sagged. Harry flung open the doors.

[bookmark: p2263]What could only be Faisel's atomic bomb sat inside.

* * *

[bookmark: p2264]Salah-ad-Din exulted to Allah as the doomed infidels cried out their final, mistaken words. "La Ilaha illa-l-Lah," he sang out in answer. There is no God whatsoever but God. "Muhammadun rasulu-l-Lah." Muhammad is the Messenger of God. 

[bookmark: p2265]Below him, almost unheard in his fervor, the Christians kept shouting. "Karl Martel, the Hammer of God!"

[bookmark: p2266]One last time he would recite the opening chapter of the Koran. His fingertip suspended over the button that would send him to heaven, and these infidels to perdition, he recited from memory: 

[bookmark: p2267]"Praise be to God, Lord of the universe, 

[bookmark: p2268]the Merciful, the Compassionate,

[bookmark: p2269]Ruler on the day of judgment.

[bookmark: p2270]Thee alone we worship; Thee alone we ask for aid.

[bookmark: p2271]Guide us on the straight path, 

[bookmark: p2272]The path of those whom Thou has favored, 

[bookmark: p2273]not of those against whom Thou are wrathful, 

[bookmark: p2274]nor of those . . ."

[bookmark: p2275]Lost in his devotion, he did not hear hesitation in the Frankish cheers, nor the roar of anger that took its place. 

[bookmark: p2276]Not immediately.

[bookmark: p2277]He gazed one last time over the panorama at his feet. In horror he saw people were fighting over the cabinet from his lab that had so amusingly been used for their idolatrous altar. 

[bookmark: p2278]Faisel was so shocked that he almost forgot the device in his hands. Those devils who had pursued him, then escaped from his camp . . . even now they hoped to stop him. His fingers turned white from the pressure with which he clutched the radio transmitter.

[bookmark: p2279]Allah would understand why he had not the time to finish his prayers. Carefully, he aimed the antenna and stabbed his finger downward toward the large red button.

* * *

[bookmark: p2280]Into the stunned hush between paeans to Karl and outcries of rage, Terrence screamed, "It's the bomb!"

[bookmark: p2281]Few understood—but the major domus did. At Karl's command, his bodyguards rushed to Harry's aid. 

[bookmark: p2282]Men swarmed, howling, fervid to avenge blasphemy. 

[bookmark: p2283]Battered and bruised, Harry tried to concentrate on the bomb. Only wires and a massive amount of what he assumed to be plastique for the trigger were visible. This wouldn't be a precise, controlled implosion, he thought. Lots of the plutonium would be vaporized and scattered, poisoning this area for millennia. That was probably by intent. 

[bookmark: p2284][image: v3n213.jpg]

[bookmark: p2285]No point of vulnerability suggested itself. 

[bookmark: p2286]With a grunt, he turned over the bomb, almost dropping it as a fist grazed his head. Aha! An electronics module. 

[bookmark: p2287]He goggled at a radio receiver wired to the thin plastic tube of a magnetic reed relay. He couldn't spot the batteries that had to be there. They must be beneath the circuit board.

[bookmark: p2288]Where was that damned broken dagger? There, beside his knee. He groped for the knife, and a heavy boot kicked it out of reach. Another boot stomped his hand. 

[bookmark: p2289]Cursing, Harry jerked back. He wrapped several turns of slack wire around his injured hand. He tugged hard; the looped wire ripped into his flesh. 

[bookmark: p2290]Harry yanked with all of his might, screaming in agony. 

[bookmark: p2291]Blood streamed from a cut that encircled his hand, the wire deep in a gory wound. But one end of the wire now waved wildly in the air, torn loose by his final effort.

[bookmark: p2292]It was only the crystal clarity of the moment that allowed him to hear, amid the insanity and chaos, the impotent click from the radio receiver.

* * *

[bookmark: p2293]Salah-ad-Din mashed the red button into the box. 

[bookmark: p2294]Nothing happened. 

[bookmark: p2295]He jabbed at the button, again and again. Nothing. Rage overwhelmed him. He beat the useless box against the trunk of the tree, reducing the transmitter to a shapeless mass, screaming wordlessly all the while.

[bookmark: p2296]Reason finally mastered his fury. He started down from the tree, wincing as the bark scraped the bloody mess he had made of his hands. He tore off his keffiyeh, sawed the headdress in two with his dagger, and wrapped the pieces around his palms.

[bookmark: p2297]In a way, failure made sense. He had taken great pride in the thought of his victory. Perhaps Allah had denied him holy martyrdom for his self-importance. 

[bookmark: p2298]But the failure was momentary, of that he was certain.

* * *

[bookmark: p2299]Harry slumped to the ground.

[bookmark: p2300]He was almost content now, if such be his fate, for the mob to tear him to pieces. The bomb was disarmed. 

[bookmark: p2301]Or so he thought until an unnatural red glow, a flickering light, caught his eye. Flashing crimson numbers . . .

[bookmark: p2302]The digital timer of a fail-safe device had awakened. It was counting downward from three hours.

* * *

[bookmark: p2303]Karl's shouted orders quickly restored order. 

[bookmark: p2304]Harry, Terrence, and Bertchramm were taken away. They were thrown into a tent to await their fate. At least twenty warriors stood guard. 

[bookmark: p2305]One way or another, Harry thought, they didn't have long to wait.

[bookmark: p2306]Karl flung back a tent flap and stormed inside. "Have you taken leave of your senses? What devil possessed you to behave so at a mass? Could you not wait to remove this bomb?"

[bookmark: p2307]Bertchramm looked from man to man, indebted to all, perhaps wondering how to serve everyone at once. He seemed naked without an ax at his side. 

[bookmark: p2308]Neither Karl's fiery eyes nor his set jaw deterred Harry. "And damned lucky for you that I did. This entire army was moments from total destruction!" 

[bookmark: p2309]Karl had not gone from disowned bastard son to the master of Francia without control over his temper. "Are you sure?"

[bookmark: p2310]"Very." Harry took a deep breath, and plunged on. "And we're still on the brink of catastrophe." 

[bookmark: p2311]"Explain." Karl said.

[bookmark: p2312]"I delayed the bomb's explosion. I have not yet stopped it." (Terrence nodded. He, too, had seen the timer in its deadly backward count.) "We cannot possibly move the army to safety before it will go off."

[bookmark: p2313]Karl studied first Harry's face, then Terrence's. Whatever he saw there satisfied him. "Then I suggest, my strange friends, that you find a way to stop it. You will have whatever aid I can give you."

[bookmark: p2314]Without waiting for a response Karl strode from the tent.

* * *

[bookmark: p2315]"Like hell I'll go!" 

[bookmark: p2316]Terrence paced the small tent, trying to make Harry see reason. They were alone; Bertchramm, even as they argued, was supervising the army's dispersal. There was always the chance that Faisel's homemade bomb wouldn't fission completely, or even that only the nonnuclear trigger would go off. 

[bookmark: p2317]Getting people out of the valley—upwind—might yet save many lives.

[bookmark: p2318]"Look," Terrence tried in his most reasonable tone of voice, "there's no point in both of us getting blown up."

[bookmark: p2319]"So? What the hell do you know about atomic bombs?"

[bookmark: p2320]"And which of your physics classes covered booby traps? We're damned lucky that you didn't set it off out there."

[bookmark: p2321]"We're luckier yet that I didn't stop to worry about that."

[bookmark: p2322]Terrence raised a cautionary finger. "Hold that thought." He turned toward the tent flap. "Yes?"

[bookmark: p2323]And when Harry turned to look at the nonexistent visitor, Terrence decked him with a totally unexpected fist to the jaw.

* * *

[bookmark: p2324]"All right," Terrence shouted, pointing at the nuke. "Let's get this sunovabitch onto a wagon and haul ass." The guards stared blankly until he calmed down enough to repeat the command in Frankish. 

[bookmark: p2325]They were hitching horses to the wagon when Bertchramm galloped up. "Where is Harry?"

[bookmark: p2326]Terrence said, "He's done what he can, so I sent him on ahead."

[bookmark: p2327]"Then what are you doing?"

[bookmark: p2328]"Taking the bomb as far away as I possibly can—in the opposite direction from the army."

[bookmark: p2329]Bertchramm didn't hesitate. "I will come with you."

* * *

[bookmark: p2330]Harry awoke with a groan, asprawl on the ground in the dark. 

[bookmark: p2331]He felt like something a cat had thrown up. Where was he? Trying groggily to stand, he leaned onto his deeply cut hand. The pain unleashed a flood of memory: the bomb, imprisonment, the argument with Terrence. That damned do-gooder had knocked him out!

[bookmark: p2332]Harry staggered toward slightly paler darkness that suggested a tent flap. Throwing it open, he saw the source of that light: a dying campfire. Hundreds of warriors remained, but far fewer than . . . when? How long had he been unconscious?

[bookmark: p2333]Just one among so many aches, the shooting pain in his chest did not immediately register. Odd, his pectoral muscle felt like it had been jabbed. By his pen? 

[bookmark: p2334]Harry took the long cherished ballpoint pen from his pocket. Reclipping it, the pen snagged on something: a wadded-up scrap of white cloth apparently torn from the tent. 

[bookmark: p2335]He hadn't put it there. Harry unrolled the fabric and angled it to catch the firelight. The material was covered with writing, a note from Terrence:

[bookmark: p2336] 

[bookmark: p2337]I'm taking the bomb away from camp and will try to disarm it. Sorry about hitting you, but there was no time to argue. Besides, I'm the obvious choice: Clearly I'm too stupid to reproduce. When you find a way back, give my best to Julia.

[bookmark: p2338]And you must find a way back, Harry. That is Bertha's only hope for a normal life.

[bookmark: p2339] 

* * *

[bookmark: p2340]"Who has seen Terrence?" Harry bellowed. No one answered. "Where is Terrence?" He ran about the rapidly emptying camp, calling in vain.

[bookmark: p2341]In vain, that was, until he stumbled into Bertha. "Have you seen Terrence?"

[bookmark: p2342]"Yes. He left just after sundown with Bertchramm and a few his men. They had a wagon. They wouldn't let me go with."

[bookmark: p2343]"Dammit! Do you know where they went?"

[bookmark: p2344]Bertha flinched, making him feel small. She pointed toward a moonlit pass to the south. An empty pass. "There."

[bookmark: p2345]If the wagon was already over the pass, Terrence had at least an hour's head start. Harry wondered how much time remained on the accursed counter. "I need a horse."

[bookmark: p2346]"I'll bring two."

* * *

[bookmark: p2347]It was a great relief when they encountered a muddy path with wagon ruts and fresh horse droppings. They stepped up the pace to a full gallop. If these tracks were from Terrence's wagon, they had a hope of catching up. 

[bookmark: p2348]They were charging ahead at full tilt when they heard the unmistakable clatter of sword striking sword.

[bookmark: p2349]Harry and Bertha rode across the countryside, with only a general direction to guide them. At that, the men they pursued might well have changed directions as soon as they left the valley. With the woods full of stragglers from both armies, calling out for Terrence as they rode would be virtual suicide. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2350]Only Bertchramm and two of his men were left standing, but there were also far fewer of the Saracens than when the assault began.

[bookmark: p2351]Eight to three was still poor odds.

[bookmark: p2352]His francisca had been taken after the commotion at the altar. When Karl had released them, Bertchramm had had no time to find it. He felt awkward without the ax, but the scramasax he had borrowed, now slippery with sweat and splattered blood, had served him well. He tightened his grip. The Saracens were closing in again. Let them: He had sworn Terrence a terrible oath that none would pass. While he lived, no one would.

[bookmark: p2353]And then, as Bertchramm feared, the Arabs charged. Two galloped straight at each surviving Frank; the final two started into the woods to go around them. He couldn't stop them all. What should he do?

[bookmark: p2354]Ignoring the warriors heading straight for him, Bertchramm spurred his mount into its own charge. "For Karl Martel!" he screamed, racing after those attempting to slip past him. He must give Terrence the time that he had promised.

[bookmark: p2355]And so, Bertchramm's back was turned when Harry and Bertha raced out of the darkness to take the Saracens by surprise from the rear.

* * *

[bookmark: p2356]Straight sword crashed upon curved; sparks flew. When the survivors separated, Harry's and Bertha's charge had almost evened the odds. There were only six Saracens remaining, and five of what Harry considered the good guys. 

[bookmark: p2357]"You bastard," Bertha screamed, seeing Salah-ad-Din. She knew him as the leader of the cutthroats who had enslaved her.

[bookmark: p2358]Bertchramm had to gallop ahead, to cut her off, to stop her suicidal attack. "He is mine."

[bookmark: p2359]"You'll have to get in line," Harry panted.

[bookmark: p2360]There was no time for talk. The enemy had already regrouped, were once again upon them. Harry slashed and jabbed, but landed no blows. Then he was desperately parrying an enemy's frenzied attack. Harry's left hand, so badly cut, dropped his shield at the shock of the first solid blow. 

[bookmark: p2361]And then, somehow, the swirl of battle separated them. Harry found himself face-to-face with Gamal Abdul Salah-ad-Din himself. With Abdul Faisel. 

[bookmark: p2362]Faisel's face was a mask of hatred. "You, again!"

[bookmark: p2363]Harry thrust his scramasax at the villain's heart. 

[bookmark: p2364]Faisel parried the blow easily. "You'll have to do better than that," he said, laughing, and pressed his own assault. With a flurry of blows, he drove Harry backward down the road until Bertchramm rode to his aid. 

[bookmark: p2365]The Arab broke off his attack and retreated a few paces to a less exposed position. He saluted Harry with his scimitar. "Congratulations. The old man has saved you."

[bookmark: p2366]Harry ignored the taunt. It had been in modern French; Bertchramm would not have understood. "Bertchramm, where is Terrence?"

[bookmark: p2367]"One of my men grew up in these hills. Once Terrence heard that, he asked about caves nearby. Childeberht mentioned an abandoned tin mine, and Terrence became very excited. They were taking the wagon ahead, I believe to the mine, when we were ambushed."

[bookmark: p2368]That update was completed between blows, for Faisel and his men had renewed their attack. Harry once more found himself battling the man whose diabolical plot he had crossed the centuries to foil. Harry fought as never before, thanking Sigismund for those long-ago lessons and every educational whack with the side of his instructor's blade. Thrust and parry. Feint and riposte. Thrust, lunge, thrust. Those painful lessons had kept him alive for this day.

[bookmark: p2369]Would they get him through this day?

[bookmark: p2370]Although blood ran from at least a dozen cuts, a few of them serious, Harry's spirits had lifted. If Terrence got the bomb into a mine shaft, and if the shaft were deep enough, the blast need not be cataclysmic. 

[bookmark: p2371]He had to buy Terrence that time. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2372]By the light of a single torch, it was almost impossible to judge whether the twisting mine tunnel trended downward. Terrence relied on instinct—he felt that there was a slight downward grade. He hoped he was going deeper underground, not just following a contour of the surface. If not, he was wasting time he did not have.

[bookmark: p2373]Childeberht slogged on ahead of him. The young Frank must be bearing most of the weight, since the bomb seemed lighter than when they had taken it down from the wagon. Maybe they were heading in the right direction: down. At least it gave him a reason for hope.

[bookmark: p2374]In the rough-hewn subterranean passage, the blood-red flickering of the LED numerals seemed positively hellish—all the more so as the numbers raced ever closer to zero. 

[bookmark: p2375]With five minutes remaining, Terrence called a halt. They gently set down the bomb on his signal. He took the torch that Childeberht had somehow clutched under an arm as he walked. "Run now like the Devil himself is chasing you." If the explosive trigger failed to set off a nuclear reaction, distance might save the Frank. 

[bookmark: p2376]Terrence wedged the flaming brand into a nearby torch sconce. He settled down to the tunnel floor as flashing numbers moved him ever closer to immolation: 4:18, 4:17, 4:16 . . .

[bookmark: p2377]With a shudder, he looked away from the hypnotic countdown. The timer ticked to 3:21. In an exhausted stupor, he had lost an irreplaceable minute. 

[bookmark: p2378]He unscrewed the cover plate of the electronics module with the tip of his dirk. By the flickering, smoky torchlight, the shadows of wires writhed like snakes. He spread out the wires as best he could and tried to trace the circuits. There was just enough light to tell that the wires were of different colors, but not enough to tell the hues apart. Subtle nuances of shade, of relative lightness and darkness, danced maddeningly just beyond his ken. 

[bookmark: p2379]1:08, 1:07, 1:06 . . .

[bookmark: p2380]He cursed at the tangled cables. There just wasn't time! He couldn't even decipher the main circuit, let alone identify booby traps. 0:37, 0:36, 0:35 . . .

[bookmark: p2381]With ten seconds remaining, he began sawing on a randomly chosen wire. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2382]Harry was again on the attack when the earth groaned. 

[bookmark: p2383][image: v3n214.jpg]

[bookmark: p2384]The ground rose and fell beneath him like a great wave, pitching him from his horse. He bounced into the air, oblivious to the screams of man and beast. Trees crashed down all around him. The horses bolted. 

[bookmark: p2385]The nuclear explosion vaporized a huge sphere of rock and soil. Tortured earth ruptured, venting vapors into the atmosphere and relieving the enormous pressure. With a shudder and a sickening moan, the ground collapsed into an unseen but monstrous cavity.

[bookmark: p2386]Harry clawed desperately at the steep slope on which he found himself. He climbed up out of the pit to lie gasping on the quivering ground. With only a moment's pause to catch his breath, he reached back over the edge, extending an arm to Bertha. 

[bookmark: p2387]He couldn't quite reach her. He staggered to a fallen tree and hacked off a branch with a discarded sword. He stumbled back to the gaping hole with the limb, and lowered an end to her. Choking on the thick dust, he raised her from the abyss. He pushed her away roughly, for the precipice on which they crouched was rapidly crumbling.

[bookmark: p2388]A scream rose from the inky depths. Harry peered cautiously over the edge. 

[bookmark: p2389]"Help!" Faisel shouted. His feet scrabbled uselessly at the ever-steepening slope as he clung to a tree root laid bare by the earth's convulsions. His eyes were impossibly round. "Help me!"

[bookmark: p2390]Harry might have been able to get him out. Might. Instead, he reached once more for the sword. "This is for Terrence." With a vicious slash that almost sent him tumbling back into the pit, Harry severed the root. Faisel dropped into stygian darkness, shrieking.

[bookmark: p2391]As earthen walls slammed shut around Faisel, Harry thought that he heard words. Or perhaps it was a single word.

[bookmark: p2392]Leila.

[bookmark: p2393] 

[bookmark: p2394]About the Author

[bookmark: p2395] 

[bookmark: p2396]Edward M. Lerner has degrees in physics and computer science (and, curiously enough, an MBA). Now writing SF full-time, Lerner worked in high tech for thirty years (including seven years as a NASA contractor), as everything from engineer to senior vice president. That experience includes techie havens (such as Bell Labs and Northrop Grumman), an Internet company, and a software start-up. It all shows up in his fiction.

[bookmark: p2397]
His books include Probe, Moonstruck, the cyber-themed collection Creative Destruction, and, in collaboration with Larry Niven, the Known Space novel Fleet of Worlds. His short fiction has appeared in Analog, Artemis, Darker Matter and Jim Baen's Universe magazines, on Amazon Shorts, and in the anthologies Year's Best SF 7 and Future Washington.
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[bookmark: Chap_11]Fish Story, Episode Fourteen, Punctiphobia: An Inordinate Fear of Spots

Written by Andrew Dennis, Dave Freer and Eric Flint
Illustrated by: Barb Jernigan
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[bookmark: p2401]"You!" 

[bookmark: p2402]"You!"

[bookmark: p2403]I confess I found the opening gambits in this particular conversation, from Sheila and Dexter respectively, less than scintillating. Although, following our unpleasant manner of arrival and the constitutional shocks I'd endured in the preceding few moments, I was barely able to manage more than a grimace of surprise myself.

[bookmark: p2404]I'll gloss over the lengthy session in the Dog and Bikechain, whence this narrative departed some chapters ago—although watching Modi and Magni try and get fresh with Big Ron the barman is a sight I'll not forget in a hurry, especially when I want a cheap laugh. I mean, your Norse gods are all very well but Mine Host at the Dog and Bikechain is ex-forces (Catering Corps, and those lads you'd be better inviting the entire SAS outside to Say That Again) turned Hell's Angel.

[bookmark: p2405]Anyway, one mild recreational slapping later we discovered what was behind the mysterious door in the Dog's gents' conveniences: a churnel. In this one the smell of ammonia had nothing to do with cleaning fluid. And there I was in my good shoes. Ron was unapologetic. "Got to have the ammonia. Quickest and easiest way to get it in my opinion."

[bookmark: p2406]Cheapest, too, was my unspoken thought. Ron was fanatical about real ale in a way unusual even by biker-pub-barman standards, and tended to let the other details of hostelry management slide. Like hygiene. Since most of his clientele considered hygiene to be sufficiently satisfied if they washed their hands before degunking their bike engines, this didn't impact his trade any. Although the lunchtime pie menu was an ordeal of courage and fortitude.

[bookmark: p2407]McCann cut in as I hesitated on the threshold of the churnel. "Break it up, will ye? Daylight's wasting."

[bookmark: p2408]I shot him a look that ought to have left him in smoking holes on the suspiciously-stained tile floor, and stepped into the seething vortex before he could quote again.

[bookmark: p2409]"I better not get any spots out of this," Sheila remarked as she staggered out of the churnel at the far end. "This vessel's proverbial for the measles."

[bookmark: p2410]"I've had my shots," I remarked, as indeed I had. The upside to a nurse for a mother (the downside being that her distrust of anything that hadn't been boiled sterile extended to the culinary arts—I was nineteen before I realised that vegetables actually had a flavour) being that my immunisations were kept up to date with pitiless efficiency.

[bookmark: p2411]"So has everyone aboard," McCann remarked. "Welcome aboard."

[bookmark: p2412]"What?" It looked like a pub to me, albeit a fairly dingy, low ceilinged one. And then I took in the details. Low ceiling. Small, round windows. Everything secured against the motion of, for example, waves. Either this was a nautical-themed bar in a severe earthquake zone or—"You actually have a pub aboard?"

[bookmark: p2413]"Yup," McCann confirmed. "We've been known to sail seven years before the measles breaks out."

[bookmark: p2414]"Spots," moaned Sheila. "I knew it."

[bookmark: p2415]I forbore to comment on the inevitable skin complaints that arose from the abuse of steroids. It's a rare fool that pushes his luck around Ms. Rowen when she's in a low humour. "If this business takes seven years I shall be putting in for overtime," I said, "not to mention requiring compensation for the loss of a promising career. I can't see getting a sicknote to cover that level of absence from work."

[bookmark: p2416]"Big fish." McCann shrugged. "But a mighty big ocean. Might could be it takes a while."

[bookmark: p2417]"Right," I said, hiccupping slightly as I realised there was a bar present but no drink in my hand, a situation that always gives me a hint of the queasies. "We need a drink and a plan, in that order."

[bookmark: p2418]Some hours later, with McCann taking regular breaks to go aloft or above decks or whatever the nautical nonsense might be to shout suitably salty commands at his crew, we hit on the scintillating idea of just sailing about a bit—which by this time we were doing anyway—and seeing what happened.

[bookmark: p2419]"Seven years is our limit," I said, "after that it's the measles."

[bookmark: p2420]"Spots," Sheila moaned, having become maudlin on the subject some time since.

[bookmark: p2421]"Not just that," McCann said, with some relish. "This ain't your regular measles. This is folkloric measles."

[bookmark: p2422]"Folkloric spots," Sheila moaned.

[bookmark: p2423]I confess I went a little cross-eyed while I tried to imagine how a spot might be folkloric. The facial kind, that is. I tried to imagine minstrels singing about facial pustules, but it wasn't happening.

[bookmark: p2424]"Mortality rate's remarkable. Whatever the crew size, only ever two survivors. One of 'em a dog." 

[bookmark: p2425]"Ah, not a zoonotic disease, then," I averred, that being a word I'd only recently learned and was pleased to find a chance to use. 

[bookmark: p2426]"No, folkloric," McCann insisted. "Subject to the imperatives and conventions of folklore." 

[bookmark: p2427]"What, it goes wack-fol-a-diddle at the end of every line?" I was, you understand, trying to get a handle on this new concept. 

[bookmark: p2428]"No," McCann said, shaking his head and shuddering, "That's folk music. I'm talking your actual folklore. You can't get immune, the third time you get it it kills you. If you're a minor character, it kills you. If you're on a quest that has already claimed your two older brothers, killed or missing in action, you're completely safe." 

[bookmark: p2429]"Now hold on," I protested, "this strains all credulity, how does such a thing evolve? Diseases are organisms that—"

[bookmark: p2430]McCann slapped a hand down on the table, halting me in mid objection and rousing Sheila to a more alert state. "You're on the Irish Rover, out to hunt the Midgard Serpent on a mission from Odin, inducted into a secret war against the fishy menace, and you're insisting on science?"

[bookmark: p2431]"You also haff gotts in the room," Modi, or possibly Magni put in.

[bookmark: p2432]"Well, if you put it like that—" I began, but there was a sudden, not to put too fine a point on it, bang.

[bookmark: p2433]A chorus of "What was that?"s later, McCann fanned himself with a beermat. "Lord, what a shock," he said.

[bookmark: p2434]All present glowered at him.

[bookmark: p2435]"Just kiddin'" he said. "I'll see what's afoot." 

[bookmark: p2436]"'ting on de end of your leg," said a grinning Magni, or possibly Modi, to general facepalming.

[bookmark: p2437]Unfortunately for my general peace of mind, McCann left the door, or hatch, or whatever they call it on board a ship, open behind him. From somewhere up on deck came the cry of "'ware tentacle!" followed by a good five seconds of Authentic Seagoing Profanity (which is like landlubber profanity but with more 'aaaar-ing' in it.)

[bookmark: p2438]"I like calamari," Sheila said, and rose to her feet.

[bookmark: p2439]Well, what's a gentleman (no sniggering at the back there) to do? I rose and followed her on deck. The sight that greeted me made me swear to treat every future portion of squid and chips with a great deal more respect. Gigantic, squamous and rugose tentacles were curled across the deck in best 40,000 leagues under the sea style, with swearing, sweating swabbies slashing and hacking at them with axes, cutlasses and kitchen utensils.

[bookmark: p2440]"Architeuthis redux," I swore, looking around in the fond hope that the finest, most erudite pun ever to pass my lips had not passed unnoticed.

[bookmark: p2441]It was not to be. McCann was bellowing orders, counter-orders and utter disorder in all directions, while generations of seafood took a vicarious revenge on the Irish Rover. Timber shattered and cracked under the remorseless pressure of the gripping tentacles, crewmen swore and hacked, the wounded screamed and the ocean thundered.

[bookmark: p2442]Modi and Magni as one screamed and charged, war-axes in one hand and the other making the sign of the horns. You could practically hear the power-metal guitar solos as they laid into the cephalopod menace.

[bookmark: p2443]If I sound like I'm trying to give the impression of a stirring tale of heroic battle against the odds, here, it's because I am. At the time, all I could think was 'where's Doug McClure when you need the bugger?' but there was derring being done on all sides.

[bookmark: p2444]A tentacle—possibly an arm, I've since been corrected with the news that squid have both, apparently, but when the bugger's trying to eat you it's hard to keep anatomical details like that as straight as the pedants would have you do—lashed over the rail and took Sheila by the wrist. A braver squid than I, this. She staggered with it a step, then two, and with a sudden grimness of expression that has since gone on to make judges quail, witnesses gibber and clients pay promptly, she jammed a spiked heel into the deck just short of the gunwales, planted an elbow firmly on the rail and flexed for all she was worth. I've never arm-wrestled Sheila, I think it a silly sport in general and would like to keep my arm attached in particular, but as I looked on in horrified fascination I realised that if anyone was going to beat her at that game we had a likely candidate in our friendly neighbourhood cephalopod.

[bookmark: p2445]My own hopes of beating the thing rather depended on being able to get it to sit down for a friendly game of three-card brag, for just enough stake to make it sporting, and given a few hours I could have had the shirt off its back, if it wore a shirt, and the deeds to its home, if it had a home. It was not to be. Lacking a true insight into the three-dimensionality of the conflict at hand, while I was watching the thunderous titanomachia of Sheila arm-wrestling a giant squid, one of its other tentacles, or possibly an arm, shanghaied me from the deck and with a splash and a rush of saltwater to the sinuses, I was out of the fight and shortly thereafter, out of consciousness.

[bookmark: p2446]It is an unfortunate truth that, while the surest way to avoid a hangover is to sleep right through it, you have no chance of doing so. You are, after all, in the unhappy situation of having gone to bed with a skinful of a potent diuretic down you. Never mind your nose-painting and lechery, the one thing more certain than death and taxes is that you're going to have to leave your nice, warm bed to get as near the lavatory as you can in your befuddled state.

[bookmark: p2447]This was the state I was in when I realised that something was prodding me awake. I realised I was prostrate on a hard surface. Taking a quick mental inventory I realised that if I'd made it home, I'd not managed to make it to bed. Well, not the first time. And then the events of the preceding hours made themselves forcefully known to my not-yet-fully-spun-up-to-speed consciousness. Bad dream, surely? I resolved to try my willpower against my urgently-protesting bladder.

[bookmark: p2448]"Urk," I said. "Need the loo."

[bookmark: p2449]"Not in here," came an all-too-familiar voice. Wherever I'd ended up, Sheila was there too. 

[bookmark: p2450]"Where are we?" I opened my eyes. Which was a mistake and a half. Now, I am a man of more than reasonable firmness in the face of ordinary threats to life, limb and sanity—did I not set out in quest of the Wandle Pike of legend? Crack the clam joke to an audience of bishops? Be that as it may, there is a crack in my armour.

[bookmark: p2451]Bugs.

[bookmark: p2452]I won't even eat prawns, the phobia runs that deep. I could wax psychological about childhood traumas and things of like kidney but at that moment the pressing thing on my mind was the presence of a honking great beetle-scorpion-spider thing.

[bookmark: p2453]"Aaaaaaaargh!" I said, and entirely lost bladder control.

[bookmark: p2454]"Oh well, it was wet in here anyway," Sheila said.

[bookmark: p2455]The next moments are confused in memory, but I do recall scrabbling backward over a hard stone floor away from the chitinous monstrosity. "What . . . what . . . ?" I burbled and then realised I was entirely underwater. And wearing some sort of beaded hat with a fringe of tasselly things around it. I reached up to feel what it was.

[bookmark: p2456]"Don't take that off!" yelled Sheila and the bug-thing at one and the same time.

[bookmark: p2457]I snatched my hand back. "It—it talks!" I stammered, glaring at the bug, which looked like the a nightmare sired on a horseshoe crab by a scorpion.

[bookmark: p2458][image: v3n216.jpg]

[bookmark: p2459]"It," the thing said with a definite air of sarcasm, "happens to have a name."

[bookmark: p2460]"Ishmael," Sheila said—and I noticed now that she was wearing the same damned silly hat I was, "allow me to introduce Earl Manning, who is a Eurypterid."

[bookmark: p2461]Entomophobia is all very well, but there's a definite advantage to being brought up in England, to wit, politeness is an ingrained reflex.

[bookmark: p2462]"Pleased to meet you," I said, although not so far gone as to offer my hand to shake Manning's claw. "Can I get a drink?"

[bookmark: p2463]Manning sniffed, or at least did something that sounded like a sniff that involved the wriggling of chelicerae that haunts my nightmares yet. "I think you've had enough."

[bookmark: p2464]"Oh, now steady on," I said, drawing up in as much dignity as I could manage with my suit sodden with the seawater I was immersed in and a spreading cloud of second-hand beer spreading about me, "I'll be polite to a sea scorpion and never mind the deep-seated phobias, but damn me if I'll take the sneers of some bluenosed teetotaller!"

[bookmark: p2465]"Steady on," Sheila warned me, "I was just trying to sort out whether Manning here is our host or our jailer. He certainly seems to be responsible for the squid that snatched us off the boat."

[bookmark: p2466]"Well, yes, but only indirectly. I convinced Cthulhu to have you brought down here. Much easier than sending out search parties. An elegant solution to our little problem."

[bookmark: p2467]"When you say little problem," I asked, "you mean what exactly?" While I've long had a sneaking suspicion that H. P. Lovecraft was definitely on to something vis a vis the whole uncaring-universe-too-maddeningly-strange-for-man-to-comprehend, see the continuing popularity of golf for a prime example, I found the mention of one of his more famous creations a little bit tricky to grasp. I mean, if a weedy little pulp writer from New England had been getting his story ideas from a seagoing beast that lacked the basic decency to wear its skeleton on the inside, I was going to have to review my tastes in reading matter.

[bookmark: p2468]"Primordial slime," Dexter said as he drifted in to the chamber we were in.

[bookmark: p2469]Which is where we came in, with him and Sheila performing the double-take and . . .

[bookmark: p2470]He sniffed and made a face. Speairs followed him in. "Smells like someone lost bladder control in here."

[bookmark: p2471]"Don't harp on it," I said. "They got you too?"

[bookmark: p2472]"More like we volunteered," Dexter said, "what with the primordial slime and all."

[bookmark: p2473]"Second mention of that slime," Sheila said, "I fancy it warrants an explanation."

[bookmark: p2474]Well, with Manning vigourously fanning fresh water into the chamber with his swimming paddles to clear the odour of my little indiscretion—I maintain that in an aquatic environment this is no more to be remarked on than discreetly cutting one above the surface might be, although Manning made pointed remarks about me having the manners of a lobster—Dexter brought us up to date with the story so far as he understood it.

[bookmark: p2475]And, for our part, Sheila and I complained heartily about our role in the whole business. Yes, complained, on all fronts. Wouldn't you? By the time we were all done chipping in our two coins of your chosen denomination, we were about ready to compose a strongly-worded complaint to the management, whoever they might be. We had Odin in the frame, the multiple entity known as Cthulhu—thankfully not the dread elder god but a collective consciousness of cephalopods—and everyone else down to and including the minor demons that govern the unwise drinking of cocktails, Manning having furnished us with an elegant logical proof of the existence of the same.

[bookmark: p2476]"Be that as it may," I said, when we were all quite done, "we have at hand a fourfold mission. Foil Cthulhu, rechain the Midgard Serpent, get ourselves home in time for tea and finally, and most importantly, get me a hair of the dog that bit me." I was, you understand, hung quite remarkably far over, hence the tetchiness and general air of complaint.

[bookmark: p2477]"An elegant statement of the problem," Guptill said, "and I heartily second the motion for further drink—"clearly the committee-forming habits and ways of our newfound undersea allies and confederates had rubbed off on him a little more than he might have liked—"but we're going to have to plan a little more closely than that. And manage to conceal our plans from Cthulhu when we meet them in a short while. Manning's plan to get you down here—concocted without reference to the rest of us, to be sure—has that little drawback. Cthulhu was persuaded to send the kraken to get you, but that means he wants to see you. See what Odin's latest conscripts look like, and doubtless rend you horribly into screaming madness and likely wobbling chunks into the bargain. He may even offer you a drink."

[bookmark: p2478]"I'm with that plan," I said, before my poor abused brain had managed to parse anything other than the last two words. And then the rest of the sea-scorpion's speech caught up with my frontal lobes in their mad dash for the bar to order a pint and a whisky chaser. "Chunks? Wobbling chunks?" I didn't like that above half, let me tell you.

[bookmark: p2479]"Well, the Ammonites are a dread mad god from the dawn of time," Manning averred. "Such things are only to be expected."

[bookmark: p2480]"That and primordial slime," Sheila added, helpfully.

[bookmark: p2481]"Where are we, anyway?" I asked, urgently desiring a change of subject away from wobbling chunks and primordial slime.

[bookmark: p2482]"In the roots of Yggdrasil, apparently," Sheila said. "And before you butt in, not the one in Asgard. The primordial one."

[bookmark: p2483]"Ah, right. This is Yggdrasil before it got famous, right? Before it sold out and went mainstream."

[bookmark: p2484]"Pretty much," Dexter said, indecently cheerful. "Up above there's a treefort as well, built of timbers from the Flying Dutchman."

[bookmark: p2485]I harrumphed. We were now cruising at an essential unreality label that I'd previously only experienced after a particularly dodgy mushroom omelette. If giant slinky springs had begun roaring across a sky that flowed with neon maggots I would likely not have batted an eyelid. "We still need a plan for dealing with the Midgard Serpent and Cthulhu both. How long till the serpent finds us here?"

[bookmark: p2486]"Louella's already here," Dexter said, with more calm than I felt right for a man announcing the presence of a murderous world-destroying ophidian.

[bookmark: p2487]Reader, I blustered. I cried in alarm. I yelled "WHAT??!!!?!," multiple exclamation points and all.

[bookmark: p2488]"You weren't paying attention," Sheila schoolmarmed at me. "Again. She's part of the plot to keep the world from ending next Thursday."

[bookmark: p2489]"That I am," came a basso profundo and profoundly unfeminine rumble.

[bookmark: p2490]Well, I say unfeminine, but I'm human and insisting on a human viewpoint—for all I knew that was the sea-serpent version of a pleasant, cool contralto fit to send shivers down the spine of all gentleman sea-serpents within earshot. Probably a good thing she was one of a kind, since the thought of shivers going down a spine that large and long would fill even the stoutest heart with dread. Earthquakes, tsunami, division by zero, all the traditional calamities would be bound to follow.

[bookmark: p2491]I winced slightly. "She's right behind me, isn't she?"

[bookmark: p2492]"Yup," Sheila said, and as she spoke I realised she'd been looking a little pale when she spoke a moment ago. I turned and saw the huge slit-pupiled eye in the window of the chamber we were in. 

[bookmark: p2493]"I hate to be the one to raise a difficult subject," I said, addressing the eye as being the only bit of the serpent I could see, "but the last time we met you were making a spirited attempt to kill me? Are we, ah, friends now?"

[bookmark: p2494]The answering chuckle doubtless caused a couple of low-lying coastal villages to be washed away, their fishing boats stranded miles inland along with mounds of very surprised fishes. "You were collateral casualties, no more, or would have been if there hadn't been some bungling of the business."

[bookmark: p2495]"Oh, well," I said, momentarily forgetting who and what it was I addressed, "that's all right then. If I'd been hammered into a squishy paste and consumed by a world-devouring maw entirely by accident that would have been an entirely acceptable matter."

[bookmark: p2496]"Oh, glad you think so," Louella the Sea-Serpent said. "It's so good we can begin again on a friendly basis."

[bookmark: p2497]I examined the remark for any trace of answering sarcasm and found none. With hindsight, I suspect that for members of the gigantic world-devouring snake persuasion the incidence of cutting remarks is so low—who in his right mind, after all, gets snarky with a monster able to swallow a planet whole?-that they just don't recognise the few they actually do hear. That or the Great Serpent was profoundly literal-minded and emotionally tone-deaf to boot. If the latter, it leads me to suspect the influence of the beast on nearly every low-level local government bureaucrat I've ever dealt with.

[bookmark: p2498]It was some moments before I could speak again, and I suspect everyone else was silent for the same reason. "Well," I said, "do you have a plan?"

[bookmark: p2499]"Not really," Louella said, "I just don't want to eat the world next Thursday, not if it's going to be covered in primordial slime. I can't abide dressings on my food. Anyway I'm not hungry and I'll get fat if I go snacking between millennia—"

[bookmark: p2500]"Now HOLD ON JUST ONE MINUTE!" Sheila roared, and as she did so I realised with despair what Louella had done. 

[bookmark: p2501]Fat may or may not be a feminist issue, but it is very, very definitely a Sheila Rowen issue. She is, after all, a bodybuilder. And like all such, has Very Definite Ideas on the subject of diet and exercise. I went for cover, jammed fingers in my ears and opened my mouth to equalise the pressure against the incoming explosion. When Sheila gets in to full-on rant mode "danger close" is measured in large numbers, and with the well-known transmission of sound under water, world-spanning communications of whales for the use of, things were apt to get very dicey very quickly.

[bookmark: p2502]The great eye recoiled from the window; even for giant serpents from beyond space and time there are very real limits. "All I said was—" Louella rumbled, but was cut off as Sheila stomped up to the window, no easy task in the weightless environment of deep under water.

[bookmark: p2503]"All you said was that you're too DAMNED LAZY to take proper exercise, and whine about how life's genuine pleasures are denied you by the deficiencies of your character! I swear it's the biggest argument against feminism there has ever been, the way women carry on like that. You want to let the patriarchy assume that we're all spineless ninnies who—"

[bookmark: p2504]And there, dear readers, I will cut her off in mid flow and spare you the rest. As feminists go Sheila has never been what you might call the Standard Model, but on that issue she could bury all your Kleins and Steinems and Dworkins and Greers so deep they'd never see daylight this side of Ragnarok. Which was, at the moment in question, next Thursday, but you take my point.

[bookmark: p2505]Louella the world-eating Midgard Serpent took the point as well, all but yes-ma'aming Sheila in a vain effort to get her to turn the volume down. She was forced to agree to the proposition that a healthy mind positively required a healthy body, that all forms of dieting other than achieving a balance appropriate to activity levels constituted self-abuse at the best of patriarchal oppression and furthermore that any attempt to watch one's weight was a betrayal of everything the sisterhood, from Mary Wollstonecraft onward, had fought for.

[bookmark: p2506]Now, in theory, we should have been pressing on with the effort to save the world, and indeed given the choice I'd have gone and faced tentacled monstrosities inimical to all life before I tried to engage with Sheila on this topic. I've alluded to her occasional habit of administering violence to my person to make a point before, but this carried not just the risk of minor injury but the certainty of total dismemberment. And, indeed, in order to face the aforementioned tentacled horrors I'd have to get Sheila off the topic. See preceding regarding the total dismemberment. 

[bookmark: p2507]Of course, I was up against the possibility of quivering chunks either way.

[bookmark: p2508]"I'll, er, get some exercise by giving you a ride to R'Lyeh then, shall I?" Louella asked.

[bookmark: p2509]Sheila's world-famous hairy eyeball scrutinised the Midgard Serpent for any sign of anti-feminist backsliding, or even of not taking the issue seriously and finally assented that that would, indeed, be a good form of exercise.

[bookmark: p2510]"But the plan," Marshall said, waving his telson in a plaintive manner, "what about the plan?"

[bookmark: p2511]"What plan?" I asked, curious myself and wondering if I'd missed something.

[bookmark: p2512]"My point exactly," he sniffed, endearing himself to me not a whit further—he could hardly, as a giant talking bug (and no sniggering at the back, taxonomical pedants, they're all damned bugs to me and make me wish for the urgent presence of Casper van Dien with a machine gun, you start by letting them on your barbecue and it ends with god-damned BUG METEORS taking out Buenos Aires, mark my words) endear himself to me any less.

[bookmark: p2513]"Point?" I was sceptical that anyone could have any point in the proceedings so far, never mind the general urgency of the whole save-the-universe deal.

[bookmark: p2514]It sighed (and I will never to my dying day refer to it as a he. Call me a phylumist—like a racist but more so—if you will.) "The plan for defeating Cthulhu, of course. The Midgard Serpent is already on-side, so that point becomes moot, but we must, must I say, have a plan. I move that this meeting come to order." It produced a piece of paper with the word "agenda" clearly visible on the head of it.

[bookmark: p2515]Ah. Now, you see, we've already seen one of Sheila's buttons get pushed in this instalment of the whole sorry business that began on the banks of the Wandle, reckoning from the time in question, a couple of days ago but, from the time of writing, next Thursday. Here, I very much regret to say, having maintained hitherto my image in your mind as a person of reasonable and even temperament, I felt the red mist descend. My sinews stiffened, I replaced fair nature with hard-favour'd rage, and I came to imitate the action of a tiger with poor impulse control, dyspepsia, advanced haemorrhoids and Tourette's syndrome.

[bookmark: p2516]Meaningless meetings. I have had to sit through a fair boiling of the misbegotten things, had to listen to uncounted windbags drone on and on long past the point where useful contributions stopped being made and the case for justifiable homicide was opened, shut, and decided without the jury taking even a moment to retire.

[bookmark: p2517]It is said that a writer once toasted Napoleon, the tyrant of his age and the ogre of contemporary public affairs because he once shot a publisher. I, in my turn, would wish to raise a glass to the unquiet shade of Saddam Hussein al-Tikriti, in honour of the occasion when he, it is said, drew his pistol and shot one of his functionaries for failing to be suitably brief during a meeting. Since hearing that I have entertained such visions, such glorious, tempting visions of following his sanguinary example. Although I'm sick enough of meetings by now that I'd prefer the use of a chainsaw to a pistol.

[bookmark: p2518]"You'll move your chitinous arse out of here before I take your agenda, fold it so it's all sharp corners and shove it up your spiracles, bug-boy, and if you ever suggest a pointless meeting again I'll—" Well, in the interests of not shattering your illusions of me as a peaceable and gentlemanly chap, I'll not tell what I threatened him with. Or which household utensils would have been involved.

[bookmark: p2519]I've no idea if Sea-Scorpions can go pale with dread or how the hell you'd tell if they did, but he shut up. Or she shut up. I presume they can tell, or there'd be no little sea-scorpions (I'm shuddering at the thought of them, horrid little scuttling things swarming over the sea-bed, hungry for the flesh of, well, me.)

[bookmark: p2520]"To R'Lyeh, then," Dexter said, "and hope things come out for the best. More of that Ouzo stuff."

[bookmark: p2521]"Ouzo?" I said, brightening at the prospect, "Cthulhu serves Ouzo?" There are a number of things the Greeks got very much right—comedy dress uniform, incredibly strong coffee, insanely punctual scheduled boat services—but foremost among their triumphs is the aniseed goodness that is Ouzo.

[bookmark: p2522]"Not as you know it, grasshopper, not as you know it," Dexter said, shaking his head.

[bookmark: p2523]With which warning we embarked aboard the Midgard Serpent for R'Lyeh and aperitifs with Cthulhu. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2524]To be continued

[bookmark: p2525]
To read more work by these authors, visit the Baen Free Library at: 

[bookmark: p2526]http://www.baen.com/library/
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Playing Nice With God's Bowling Ball
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[bookmark: p2528]"I didn't mean for anything to happen to Timmy." Jeffy Hanson sat before Grace in a chair big enough to swallow him, his head bowed and hands limp in his lap. "I told him not to feed it like that. I told him what would happen."

[bookmark: p2529]"Let's just start at the beginning." Detective Grace Anneton gave Jeffy a reassuring smile, though he didn't lift his eyes to see it. In spite of herself, Grace felt sorry for the kid. She knew better; he could be some sweet-talking little punk, trying to snow job her with his big, brown, puppy eyes. Or a sociopath, already skilled enough at only seven years old to emulate emotions he didn't feel. She shouldn't feel sorry for any confessed murderer, no matter how improbable the murder sounded. But she did.

[bookmark: p2530]He took a deep breath and let it out in a sigh. "It was for my mom. The card. I wanted to get it back from Timmy. You know Monster Fusion King?"

[bookmark: p2531]Grace sifted through her memory and came up with an image: a sign in the window of the local convenience store. MONSTER FUSION KING SOLD HERE! "Some sort of card game?"

[bookmark: p2532]He nodded. "Me and Timmy, we get new packs on Fridays. Timmy always gets four or five. I only buy one. My mom used to give me an allowance, but when Dad went away and we moved here to the city she had to stop. We don't have a lot of money anymore."

[bookmark: p2533]"So how do you get a new pack every week if you don't have an allowance, Jeffy?"

[bookmark: p2534]"Mom gives me lunch money. But at lunchtime I get water instead of juice and I save up what's left and I use that to buy my pack for the week." He looked up at Grace, a different sort of guilt flickering in his eyes. "Do you have to tell my mom that? I think she'd be mad if she knew I wasn't using all my lunch money for, well, lunch."

[bookmark: p2535]Grace smiled and made a mental note to check for a financial motive if the kid's confession turned out to be more than a load of hooey. "I don't think we'll have to tell her that, Jeffy. So. This all started when Timmy got a card you liked?"

[bookmark: p2536]"No." He looked down at his hands again. "I mean, yeah, he always had cards I liked, but that wasn't what started it. Timmy was a real collector. He even got MONSTER KING magazine. He had almost all the cards ever made."

[bookmark: p2537]"I see. And how many cards did you have?"

[bookmark: p2538]He shrugged a little. "Not so many."

[bookmark: p2539]Of course. "So this started last Friday when you got your new pack?"

[bookmark: p2540]He nodded. "I got a really good card, the Cuckoo Chimera. It's a special contest card, only a few ever made. Only I didn't know that, not then. Timmy said he'd trade me for three of his repeats—ones he already had, I mean. I said yes." He frowned and squirmed in his seat.

[bookmark: p2541]Grace read his restlessness. "I'm guessing it was worth more than three cards."

[bookmark: p2542]"Yeah. My friend, Eduardo, said he saw one for three hundred dollars on eBay."

[bookmark: p2543]Holy shit, Grace thought. I gotta start collecting cards. "When did you find this out, Jeffy?"

[bookmark: p2544]"At school on Monday. That's when I talked to Eduardo. A lot of the kids in my class are into Monster King."

[bookmark: p2545]"I see. And you got mad."

[bookmark: p2546]"No." He looked up at her, frowning again. "I didn't care about stuff like that. Timmy was my friend. But that night when I got home, my mom was crying."

[bookmark: p2547]"Why?"

[bookmark: p2548]"Her car—it's really old—broke down at work. She said she couldn't afford to get it fixed. My dad, he . . ." Another of those little shifts of discomfort. "He doesn't send money to take care of me like he's supposed to. He doesn't think I'm his."

[bookmark: p2549]Grace's eyebrows shot up. What kind of parents would tell their child something like that?

[bookmark: p2550]"They argued a lot, before he left. Sometimes I listened."

[bookmark: p2551]"I see. So your mom was upset."

[bookmark: p2552]"Yeah. She couldn't afford to get the car fixed unless she took money out of the rent and if she did that we'd lose the apartment."

[bookmark: p2553]"That must have made you feel really bad."

[bookmark: p2554]An unhappy nod. "I asked her what she needed to fix the car and she said, 'Three hundred dollars.'"

[bookmark: p2555]Definitely a financial motive. And definitely more than manslaughter. Grace kept her voice even. "So then you wanted your card back."

[bookmark: p2556]"Yeah. I called Timmy that night and told him I knew he'd made a bad trade and it wasn't fair and we should reverse it. And he said it wasn't his fault I didn't know about the contest cards." Jeffy's brow tightened. "And then I told him about my mom and he said yeah, right it was a good story but he wasn't falling for it and too bad, so sad." Jeffy looked up at her. "I got mad then."

[bookmark: p2557]"I can imagine." Revenge motive too, maybe. Damn, the poor little brat might be looking at murder one. "So what did you do, Jeffy?"

[bookmark: p2558]"I told him I'd do anything to get the card back. I offered him everything I had—all my cards and my roller blades and even my Click-n-Go robot set. But he said he was going to keep the card because in a year it might be worth twice as much. He said he would only give it to me if I gave him something really, really cool for it. And then he laughed and said I'd never be able to give him anything that cool because I was poor, so that was like asking me to give him the moon or a black hole or something."

[bookmark: p2559]Grace shook her head. Kids could be real little monsters sometimes. Then she shoved that thought aside; she was feeling sorry for the kid again. 

[bookmark: p2560]She leaned across the table and folded her hands. "Jeffy, when you came into the precinct, you told the officer at the front desk that you might've killed Timmy Johnson. Is this why you killed him? Because he wouldn't give your card back?"

[bookmark: p2561]Jeffy frowned again. "No. I told you, I didn't mean to. It was an accident."

[bookmark: p2562]"But if you were angry with him—"

[bookmark: p2563]"I wasn't, not once he said what he wanted. I gave it to him and I told him how to take care of it. But he didn't pay attention."

[bookmark: p2564]Neither had Grace, apparently. She frowned in confusion, trying to figure out what she'd missed. "Gave what to him, Jeffy?"

[bookmark: p2565]"I already told you," Jeffy said, with an exasperated air. "Timmy said he would give me the card back if I gave him something like the moon or a black hole. I couldn't think of anything else, and the moon was too big, so I made a black hole and gave it to him. It was just a little one. But he started feeding it this giant stuffed panda he got from Coney Island last year. The panda was even bigger than he was. I tried to stop him. I told him it was too big. But he dented the special container it was in, and the black hole got loose and ate him." 
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[bookmark: p2567]Then, apparently oblivious to Grace's stare, the boy burst into tears. "I told him to be careful."

* * *

[bookmark: p2568]In the observation room, Grace rubbed her face with her hands. Beyond the one-way glass, little Jeffy sat with his head down on his folded arms.

[bookmark: p2569]"So the kid is crazy," said Captain Dewitt.

[bookmark: p2570]"Not necessarily." Taliafero, Grace's partner, regarded the boy through the glass. "Could be a cry for attention or some bullshit like that. He killed somebody but can't say where the body is; no, wait, he only thinks he killed him; no, wait . . ." He shook his head. "Prank, maybe. Or just a flat-out lie."

[bookmark: p2571]Grace shook her head. "Put a kid that age in front of a cop and they might tell little white lies, but not the kinds of whoppers this kid is spinning. He actually believes what he's saying." 

[bookmark: p2572]"Could he be . . ." Taliafero waved a hand. "I don't know, confused? Maybe the Johnson kid fell into a sinkhole. This kid sees what happens, doesn't know the word for it and calls it a black hole. And he feels guilty because maybe he wished something bad would happen to little Timmy 'cause little Timmy's an asshole, and he comes up with this story."

[bookmark: p2573]Dewitt shook his head. "We can get Dr. Howard to examine the kid if it comes to that. In the meantime, get his mother in here and take an official statement. If the kid did kill somebody, I don't want him getting off on a technicality."

* * *

[bookmark: p2574]They took another statement from Jeffy once his mother arrived. Grace watched closely while Taliafero conducted the interview. Taliafero asked Jeffy the same questions in different ways, urged him to repeat certain details, made him describe the three hundred-dollar card and retrace his steps from school to home every afternoon. But despite all that, Grace detected no inconsistencies in the boy's story. 

[bookmark: p2575]She watched the mother, too. Mrs. Hanson, a thin woman in a faded dress, who had perpetually-tired eyes, listened to the story with a little frown on her face, showing surprise only once. Not when Taliafero mentioned "possible harm to Timmy Johnson"—that had only made her frown deepen. But when Jeffy gave his black hole explanation, her eyes widened, her breath caught and her body language screamed anxiety in a way that no detective could have missed.

[bookmark: p2576]Dewitt noticed it too, and rapped on the door to bring Taliafero out. Closing the door, he turned to them and folded his arms. "So?"

[bookmark: p2577]Taliafero shook his head. "I can't crack the kid, but the mom sure is interesting."

[bookmark: p2578]Dewitt sighed and nodded. "And here I was ready to call this a case of too much high fructose corn syrup."

[bookmark: p2579]"Shouldn't we send a forensics team over to the Johnson's?" Grace asked. "Hard to indict anybody for murder if there's no evidence that a murder actually occurred."

[bookmark: p2580]"I don't want to send a team yet. I'm with Tally on this maybe turning out to be a prank. But you two go check it out. Holler if you see any black holes."

* * *

[bookmark: p2581]Mr. Johnson wasn't home. Mrs. Johnson let them in. She was a pretty woman, but there was a dull sort of glaze to her eyes that Grace had seen before. Denial, probably, or shock. That desperate creeping fear that only the parents of a missing child could ever know. 

[bookmark: p2582]"It's about time," she said when Grace and Taliafero entered the house. Despite the words, her voice was without heat. Without any emotion, in fact, spilling out of her in a soft, droning babble. "I called in the missing persons' report this morning. You want a description of what he was wearing? I've been trying to find a good photograph—"

[bookmark: p2583]Grace cleared her throat uneasily. "We're not exactly here about the missing persons' report, Mrs. Johnson." She glanced around the foyer of the place—a four-bedroom duplex in a nice brownstone, worth a lot these days but probably not when they'd bought it. There was something strange about the place, she noticed at once. Something off-kilter. But she couldn't put her finger on the source of that feeling.

[bookmark: p2584]Mrs. Johnson walked past them toward the living room. A half-burnt cigarette smoldered in an ashtray on the table; she picked it up and waved them toward the couch. "Talk to me about what?" Her eyes lit in sudden hungry anxiety. "You found Timmy?"

[bookmark: p2585]"No, Mrs. Johnson. I'm sorry." Taliafero looked uncomfortable. "Do you know a friend of Timmy's named Jeffrey Hanson?"

[bookmark: p2586]The Johnson woman seemed to wilt; her dull glaze returned. "Jeffy? Sure I know him. Weird kid, but nice enough. What's this about?"

[bookmark: p2587]"Why do you say he's weird, Mrs. Johnson?"

[bookmark: p2588]"He just . . . is." She made a vague gesture with the cigarette; smoke swirled in loops around her. "Quiet. Polite." Her lips quirked in a faint, fleeting smile. "Well, maybe I'm just used to Timmy. But I've heard weird things about his mom." She shook her head. "Anyway, what does he have to do with my son?"

[bookmark: p2589]Taliafero cleared his throat. "This afternoon, ma'am, Jeffy came into the precinct and asked to be arrested. He said, and I quote—" He flipped through his notepad. "'I think I killed Timmy Johnson. It was an accident, but I think maybe I should go to jail.'"

[bookmark: p2590]The Johnson woman's face went slack for an instant. "Timmy's dead?"

[bookmark: p2591]Quickly, Grace spoke up. "We're not certain, Mrs. Johnson. Jeffy says it happened here, in Timmy's bedroom, but obviously you would have been the first to know if that was true. And Jeffy appears to be . . . confused . . . about the details of the crime. So we can't jump to any conclusions about Timmy yet."

[bookmark: p2592]The shock began to clear from Mrs. Johnson's face. She swallowed, took a breath, noticed that her cigarette was about to drop some ashes, and absently stubbed it out. "When . . . when will you know more?"

[bookmark: p2593]"Well, first we'd like to examine the crime sc—the place where it supposedly happened," Grace said. "May we?"

[bookmark: p2594]The woman nodded and waved them toward the stairwell. "Up on the left." She fell silent then, lost in the daze of her own terrible thoughts. Grace and Taliafero glanced at each other, then made an awkward exit to go check out the scene.

[bookmark: p2595]But when they opened the door to the Johnson boy's room, they both stopped in shock.

[bookmark: p2596]Parts of the room were still normal. A bookcase set into one wall held all of the usual accoutrements of the small-boy lifestyle: large binders labeled "MONSTER KING" in a blocky hand, an open box of Legos, a row of books arranged with a mother's neatness. On a nearby wall were posters, one of the Yankees' Derek Jeter and another of some spiky-haired anime character. Below the posters was a bed, more or less in order. They could see that at one point it had been neatly-made, but now the sheets hung half on the floor and the bed itself had been partially pulled away from the wall. It dipped at a precarious angle toward the yawning, splintered pit in the middle of the hardwood floor.

[bookmark: p2597]"What the . . .?" Taliafero murmured aloud. Grace stepped into the bedroom, moving gingerly even though the outermost edges of the floor seemed stable. The pit started a foot or two into the room. From there the floor had been demolished in a rough circle, bits of plaster and wood sloping dangerously toward a hole maybe five inches across at the center. They could glimpse the room below—the kitchen—through the opening.

[bookmark: p2598]Grace had a sudden vision of a whirlpool made of wood and lathing rather than water, twisting with hellish speed as it descended into . . . what?

[bookmark: p2599]A black hole, like the kid said.

[bookmark: p2600]She pushed that thought aside.

[bookmark: p2601]"Looks like somebody dropped God's bowling ball in here," Taliafero muttered.

[bookmark: p2602]"We thought he'd run away," said Mrs. Johnson. Grace spun around. She'd been too stunned by the hole to hear the woman coming up the steps behind them.

[bookmark: p2603]"That's why we waited 'til today to file the report," Mrs. Johnson said in her heatless, spiritless voice. "We thought he'd gotten into something—fireworks maybe—and run away because he thought we'd be angry. But I don't care about the floor." She rubbed her eyes; Grace's heart ached for her. "If you find him, tell him that. The floor doesn't matter, I just want him home."

[bookmark: p2604]Grace pointed at the floor. "Mrs. Johnson . . . do you have any idea what could have caused that?"

[bookmark: p2605]The woman looked up, her eyes haunted and very, very lost. 

[bookmark: p2606]"No," said Mrs. Johnson, "but there's one in the kitchen, too."

[bookmark: p2607][bookmark: OLE_LINK2]* * *

[bookmark: p2608]They searched the basement as carefully as they could in the area under the kitchen. But there was nothing—no blood, no fireworks residue that they could see, no signs of a struggle. The basement had been set up as Mr. Johnson's den, with an old couch and TV and ugly carpeting. The couch was out of position just as the Johnson kid's bed had been, and the TV stand lay on its side, the TV a shattered wreck beside it. Aside from that, the room was clean. There was no sign of whatever had punched its way down through two floors.

[bookmark: p2609]"And there's something else weird," Grace said. Taliafero, who stood under the kitchen hole peering up at it, glanced around at her. 

[bookmark: p2610]"What?"

[bookmark: p2611]She gestured at the couch and the floor. "Where's the debris? There should be a pile of lathing down here, but there's nothing. Not even dust."

[bookmark: p2612]Taliafero frowned and gave the room a second look. "No nest-lining, either."

[bookmark: p2613]"Huh?"

[bookmark: p2614]"This is a guy's private hang-out zone. There should be chip bags, sports magazines, beer cans and stuff."

[bookmark: p2615]"Maybe he's the wine spritzer type."

[bookmark: p2616]"There's no remote for the TV. You think he's a Luddite, too?"

[bookmark: p2617]It was all weird, Grace agreed privately. All part of the off-kilter feel of the place. Now that she'd seen the damage, Grace suspected most of the floors in the brownstone sloped a little. That was what she'd noticed before, at least subconsciously—perspectives gone skewy, her balance slightly disrupted. If a forensics team measured the place, they would probably find all of the furniture just a teensy bit out of position, and all the walls minutely warped. All pulled toward whatever had started eating its way through the Johnson's house.

[bookmark: p2618]"Whoa—hold up." Taliafero, peering into a corner beside the couch, straightened with something in his hand. Grace came over. It was a child's toy, or partly one. The outermost portion of the object was made of Legos, built into a boxlike frame. The inner portion was a mass of what looked like quartz, bits of it charred, threaded through with strands of colored spaghetti. Fiber optic wire? Or something else? Whatever it was, it seemed to be growing out of the crystals.

[bookmark: p2619]"Busted, whatever it is," Taliafero said. He poked the burnt portions with the tip of a pencil.

[bookmark: p2620]"Bag it," Grace said. "Maybe the lab boys can figure it out."

* * *

[bookmark: p2621]The lab boys sent back a report a few days later. No blood traces, no fireworks residue, and the crystalline portion was simple rock sugar. The spaghetti strands were some polymer they were still trying to identify, but it would have to wait as three higher-priority cases had come in. Across the bottom of the report, some wit had scrawled, "Chalk this one up for the X-Files!" and a happy face.

[bookmark: p2622]Without a body or evidence that a murder had even occurred, they couldn't charge the Hanson kid. The holes in the Johnson's floor could have been caused by anything. And although they had the kid's confession, the assistant DA laughed at the notion of filing an indictment with the evidence they had. So Captain Dewitt ordered Grace and Taliafero off the case.

[bookmark: p2623]But the case lingered in Grace's thoughts for the whole week afterward. She lay awake in bed contemplating little Jeffy Hanson's unhappy face and the yawning pit where Timmy Johnson had last been seen. Finally, she decided to follow one last lead.

[bookmark: p2624]She got up early one morning and went over to the Hanson's. Mrs. Hanson met her at the door, looking more tired than ever. She didn't seem surprised to see Grace.

[bookmark: p2625]"I'm keeping Jeffy home from school today," she said. "He hasn't been sleeping well lately. Do you have to talk to him again? I'd like to start putting this behind us."

[bookmark: p2626]"A child is still missing, Mrs. Hanson," Grace said.

[bookmark: p2627]The woman sighed and held the door open. Jeffy stepped into the hallway as Grace came inside. 

[bookmark: p2628]"You didn't believe me," he said. He was scowling. "I don't want to talk to you." He stomped out of sight.

[bookmark: p2629]Mrs. Hanson sighed again and closed the door behind Grace. "Come have a cup of coffee at least." 

[bookmark: p2630]They sat in the claustrophobic kitchen, at a table whose center was piled high with bills. The one on top bore a past-due notice. 

[bookmark: p2631]Mrs. Hanson caught Grace looking and offered a thin smile. "Haven't quite mastered the financials of the single-mother thing yet."

[bookmark: p2632]Grace sipped coffee. "Jeffy's father doesn't help out much?"

[bookmark: p2633]"Try 'at all.'"

[bookmark: p2634]"You can file a claim with the state, you know. They'd track him down for you."

[bookmark: p2635]Hanson shook her head, running one hand over her graying hair. "No. I don't need his money."

[bookmark: p2636]Grace tried to use a delicate tone. "Jeffy might."

[bookmark: p2637]"I know. But I can't afford a lawyer right now."

[bookmark: p2638]"All you need is proof of paternity."

[bookmark: p2639]Abruptly that peculiar, anxious tension was there again in the woman's body language. Grace watched closely as Hanson looked into her cup of coffee, fidgeted with the handle, shifted on her chair. "I don't want Jeffy taking any blood tests. Besides, it's not that important."

[bookmark: p2640]"If Jeffy killed someone because he wanted to get money for you, it's important, Mrs. Hanson."

[bookmark: p2641]She winced. "He said he didn't mean for anyone to get hurt."

[bookmark: p2642]"It sounds like you believe him. His whole story, I mean."

[bookmark: p2643]Now the woman's face tightened in an odd expression—half proud, half rueful. "Oh, yes. Jeffy never lies."

[bookmark: p2644]Tension gathered in the pit of Grace's belly. "There have been other incidents like this?"

[bookmark: p2645]"No one's gone missing or been hurt before, if that's what you mean."

[bookmark: p2646]It wasn't, and the woman damn well knew it. 

[bookmark: p2647]Grace leaned forward. "Mrs. Hanson, if you know anything about Timmy Johnson and you don't tell us, you'll be an accomplice in whatever's happened to him."

[bookmark: p2648]The woman shook her head. Curiously, she seemed to relax a bit as well. "I don't know anything about that. Really. I'll admit I didn't like the boy much. This wasn't the first time he'd taken advantage of Jeffy, though Jeffy's the forgiving sort. But I certainly wouldn't have wished harm on him."

[bookmark: p2649]"You believe the Johnson boy is dead, then."

[bookmark: p2650]Mrs. Hanson smiled, knowingly and utterly without humor. "I asked Jeffy about that last night. You know what he said?"

[bookmark: p2651]"What?"

[bookmark: p2652]"'Things are different in there, Mom.'" She imitated Jeffy Hanson's solemn soprano perfectly. "He said Timmy still existed, sort of. That's what he said, sort of. So I looked up black holes on the internet to try and understand. You see, the flow of time around Timmy, close to the black hole, is bent. It's a matter of perception. To us, outside the hole, he vanished quickly but will slow down as he gets closer to the hole. Eventually, if we could see at the microscopic level, he'd look to us as if he was frozen in place. But for Timmy, time is stretched out. Only an eyeblink has passed since he started to fall in; he probably doesn't even know he's in trouble yet. It might take him years—by our reckoning—to fall in all the way. Or he might already be gone; it really depends on which theory you pick." She sipped her coffee, then swirled the remainder around in her cup. The dark liquid swirled about the center in a miniature whirlpool.

[bookmark: p2653]Grace took a swallow of coffee as well, mostly to offset the chill that moved down her spine. "What are you saying? That Timmy's not dead?"

[bookmark: p2654]"I'm saying Timmy Johnson may very well live forever." Mrs. Hanson gave Grace another of those strange, bleak smiles. "You still want to arrest my son for murder?"

* * *

[bookmark: p2655]"Crazy son, crazy mother," Taliafero said, later that day when Grace told him about the impromptu interview. "You didn't believe her, did you? It's not the first time she's pulled this loon job."

[bookmark: p2656]"What?"

[bookmark: p2657]"Check this out." Taliafero woke up his computer and googled the name of Jeffy Hanson's mother. The top of the list of responses was a site for THE AQUARIAN ASSOCIATION OF ABDUCTEES.

[bookmark: p2658]Grace groaned. "Is that what I think it is?"

[bookmark: p2659]"Ee-yep. Our black hole boy is, according to his mother's testimony on this site, the 'demi-human result of a transcendental visitation by otherworldly beings.' If this is what the kid's father had to put up with, no wonder he booked."

[bookmark: p2660]"No doubt. But . . ." The Hanson woman hadn't seemed crazy, Grace recalled. Far from it. Neither had little Jeffy. "Any chance she might be telling the truth?"

[bookmark: p2661]Taliafero stared at her.

[bookmark: p2662]She felt her cheeks grow warm. "That Jeffy isn't her ex-husband's kid, I mean. You know, maybe his mom had an affair—" with Steve Hawking "—and came up with this to explain it."

[bookmark: p2663]"Hell of a way to tell the kid he's an accident." He sat back in his chair. "We could always call Child Protective Services."

[bookmark: p2664]Grace shook her head. "I don't think there's any abuse or neglect here. This sounds like just another of those gentle lies parents tell their kids. 'Fido ran away' instead of 'Fido got creamed by an eighteen-wheeler.'"

[bookmark: p2665]"Either way, now we know who's been putting ideas in the kid's head. Just as well we gave up on this one." He leveled a look at her then. "You should let it go, too."

[bookmark: p2666]He was right, of course. Though it troubled Grace deeply that the Johnson boy was still missing, he was just another of the ugly little loose ends that never seemed to get tied up in her job. She had done the best she could; it was time to move on.

[bookmark: p2667]And yet.

[bookmark: p2668]Another week passed. Timmy Johnson was put on the state and national lists of missing and exploited children. His father went on the evening news, weeping and begging his son to come home. Several dozen Timmy sightings poured into the division after that, then trickled off in twenty-four hours; all of them were false alarms.

[bookmark: p2669]Grace wrote one last report for the file. The most likely theory of the crime was that Timmy Johnson had used some sort of explosive to severely damage his parents' home, then run away rather than face the music. There were ten thousand predators on the street who would target a scared, vulnerable little boy. The confession by Timmy's friend Jeffy was assumed to be a lonely, unhappy child's bid for attention, fueled by his lonely, unhappy mother's long term quest for same.

[bookmark: p2670]She put the file on her captain's desk, then got out a phone book and started making some calls.

[bookmark: p2671]That afternoon, Grace took off work early. She made one stop along the way, then drove to P.S. 1138 around 3 p.m. She waited while children filled the courtyard and began trickling away on foot and in buses and carpools. After a half hour she caught a glimpse of a familiar dark head of hair. Jeffy Hanson walked away from the school alone, his head down, bookbag sagging and hands in pockets. Grace got out of the car and trotted over to join him.

[bookmark: p2672]He spotted her coming and stopped. "I still don't want to talk to you."

[bookmark: p2673]"Just one last thing, Jeffy. Can I walk with you, at least? Won't waste your time that way."

[bookmark: p2674]He heaved a sigh. "Okay." He resumed walking, still at the same slow pace. 

[bookmark: p2675]"You usually walk home alone, Jeffy?"

[bookmark: p2676]"No. I used to walk with Timmy." There was deep sorrow in the boy's voice. That, more than anything else, reassured Grace that she'd made the right decision.

[bookmark: p2677]"Tell me something, Jeffy. What happened to the black hole?"

[bookmark: p2678]He paused for just a step, though he resumed walking quickly. "You didn't believe me before."

[bookmark: p2679]"Well, you can't really blame me for that. Nobody's ever made a black hole before. But I did some reading on it, after I met you." She slipped her hands into her pockets, looking up at the bright autumn sky. "The black hole started to fall into the Earth, didn't it? After it ate Timmy. It would have gone to the center of the planet and kept growing there. It might have eventually eaten us all. But you stopped it."

[bookmark: p2680]He said nothing for several seconds, and then finally: "Yeah. It went kind of slow at first. So I ran down to the basement and built something to stop it. Then I built something else to hold it, and I took it away."

[bookmark: p2681]Grace felt her heart speed up; she swallowed. Never mind the sensible, skeptical questions. Never mind how he'd stopped it or how he'd contained it or how he'd created the damn thing in the first place. Those weren't the important questions right now. "Where, Jeffy? Where did you take it?"

[bookmark: p2682]"I haven't figured out where I can put it that's safe." He slipped his backpack off one shoulder, reached inside, and pulled out a lidded coffee can. Or at least, part of the strange object was a coffee can. The rest was a bizarre conglomeration of crystalline masses, colored spaghetti, assorted oddities—she glimpsed a silver chewing-gum wrapper twisted into an odd shape inside one of the crystals—and components from what had to be Mr. Johnson's TV remote. A "mute" button poked out of the object's side. 

[bookmark: p2683]"I'm scared to leave it at home," he said very softly. "Sometimes my mom cleans my room."

[bookmark: p2684]Grace stared at the can, aware that if she once looked inside it, the universe would change. Not in the ways that mattered. Murders wouldn't stop, bad things would still happen to good people, and kids whose only crime was selfishness would still suffer fates they didn't deserve. But her place in the universe, her conceptualization of it, would be altered beyond all recognition, and perhaps destroyed. For how important could her job, her life, her very existence be in a world where seven-year-olds carried black holes around in their school bags?

[bookmark: p2685]Then the moment passed, and she lifted her eyes from the coffee can to look at the solemn face of the boy beyond it. A boy whose eyes were ringed in dark circles because he hadn't slept well in weeks. A boy who held the earth's death in his hands, too afraid to let go. 

[bookmark: p2686]"You can't destroy it?" she asked.

[bookmark: p2687]"No. Not yet. Maybe when I'm older. I'll understand it better, then. Maybe I'll be able to get Timmy out, too."

[bookmark: p2688]She made herself reach out and take hold of the can. The crystals felt slightly warm under her fingertips. 

[bookmark: p2689]"Then I'd better hold onto this for awhile," she said. "In the interest of public safety—at least until you're old enough to get rid of it. But you have to promise not to make any more. Agreed?"

[bookmark: p2690]Jeffy brightened at once, the burden of responsibility lifting from him almost palpably. "Really? Okay!" Then his small face clouded. "But you have to promise not to play with it. Not even a little. You're a policewoman, so you have to do what's right."

[bookmark: p2691]"Not even a little," Grace agreed. "In fact, I won't even open it."

[bookmark: p2692]Then she reached into her blazer pocket and pulled out a small paper bag, which she handed to him.

[bookmark: p2693]He frowned, opened it, and took out the Monster Fusion King card. His mouth formed a big silent "o".

[bookmark: p2694]"That's the one, right?"

[bookmark: p2695]"It sure is! But . . ." He frowned in confusion. "It can't be the same one." Timmy had taken that one with him. 

[bookmark: p2696]"It's not. But the original deal was the card for this, so I figured the price was the same." She lifted the coffee can. "Fair is fair."

[bookmark: p2697]He grinned up at her in delight. Grace couldn't help grinning back. One day, when Jeffy grew up and came into the full power and genius that was his true father's gift, she hoped he would remember this day. Maybe one small act of kindness would stay with him despite the abandonment and loneliness and cruelty he'd experienced in his life. Maybe his destiny could be shaped by the small joys of human life: a mother's love, the games of childhood, the satisfaction of making someone else's life a little easier. Maybe then little Jeffy would grow up to build miracles instead of nightmares.

[bookmark: p2698]"Now." Grace put a hand on his shoulder. "I hear the comic book shop around the corner buys rare cards. They're expecting you."

[bookmark: p2699]"Okay!" He tucked the precious card into his backpack. "And I'll come find you when I know how to get rid of it. I promise."

[bookmark: p2700]"All right."

[bookmark: p2701]He waved and ran off. Grace watched him go, then headed back to her car, where she tucked the coffee can into the storage net in her trunk. That would do until she could take it up to Poughkeepsie and stow it in her mother's attic. It would be all right there for a decade or two.

[bookmark: p2702]She drove very, very carefully on the way home.
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[bookmark: Chap_13]Quality of Life
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Illustrated by: Lee Kuruganti

[bookmark: p2703]It's not easy to barricade a door in zero gravity. Lee looked at the shambles she'd made of her apartment. She'd torn out every article of furniture she could detach, and tried to wedge it all into the little entry hall so that the door couldn't be opened. It was all flimsy stuff, though—even these days, with nuclear rockets, it was still expensive to lift anything heavy into orbit.

[bookmark: p2704]She had no idea if it would be enough of a barrier to keep out her would-be rescuers. It sounded like things were getting a little chaotic, so yeah, maybe. Under normal circumstances, they'd surely find some way to handle an old rich bitch refusing to be evacuated from the station—but the whole reason for the evacuation was that these weren't normal circumstances, so maybe they'd just take the hint and bug off. Well, she wasn't going back down there, no way. Gravity would mean wheelchairs and motorized beds. Hmph! Take you to the potty, watch to make sure you didn't fall in.

[bookmark: p2705]No thank you. Lee intended to stay right where she was, in orbit. Hell, a hundred and six years ought to be enough for anyone. And riding down in a ball of fire, on a space station reentering the atmosphere—now that had style!

* * *

[bookmark: p2706]What could be more frustrating? You get all nerved up for a good pissing match, and then they stand you up. No busybodies insisting on saving your life, no fresh-faced young astronauts pleading ever-so-sincerely. So now the irony of biology took over: she was hungry, and her belly didn't care that it was all going to be over in a few days anyway. Her larder was empty, and it was time to go shopping.

[bookmark: p2707]She opened the door for the first time in two days, and launched herself down the corridor. The lights were on, but it looked like nobody else was home. Someone's ball-point pen was floating loose, and she reached out and grabbed it absentmindedly as she went by.

[bookmark: p2708]She came around the corner into the observation lounge. Drop-dead-gorgeous view of Earth. She wondered idly what continent her ashes would flutter down over. Turn another corner, and there was someone there, floating with his back to her. One of the other residents of the geriatric wing?

[bookmark: p2709]"Hello?"

[bookmark: p2710]No response, no movement. Was he asleep? She grabbed a railing and tapped him on the shoulder.

[bookmark: p2711]"Sir? Excuse me?"

[bookmark: p2712]He didn't answer, but her tap had started him rotating slowly. She retreated a short distance back along the railing to keep his feet from hitting her, and then his face slowly rotated into view, upside-down from her perspective. Dead. She remembered his face. Larry? Carey? Didn't have all his marbles left, but he'd been a nice enough guy. He'd been a diabetic, and both those feet were prostheses. He'd probably been left behind, and died because he didn't get his medication.

[bookmark: p2713]It didn't paint a pretty picture, did it? Not enough lifeboats on the Titanic. Women, children, and scoundrels first. With hindsight, it wasn't so surprising that the evacuation had been a mess. First Brazil had canceled their lunar program, and all those handsome Brazilian boys had gone home. After that, SkyLife's bottom line had sunk into the red, and this silly asteroid scare had been the last straw. Their shares were trading almost in the penny stock range these days—she'd picked some up herself when the price had first dipped below two bucks—and with their market capitalization that low, it meant that their investors had written off the station itself as a complete loss. You couldn't even salvage the office furniture out of a bankrupt orbital business. She'd been naive to think they'd try so hard to make her leave. If they couldn't afford the boosts to keep their main asset out of the stratosphere, then it shouldn't have been a surprise that they'd cut corners on the evacuation.

[bookmark: p2714]She went through his pockets and fished out his wallet: Carey Guelich. She should call his family and let them know. It seemed wrong to leave him floating out here in the corridor. She found his apartment number on his ID, towed him down the hall to it, and used his thumbprint to open the door and deposit him inside. Poor guy. Even on a good day, he hadn't always seemed too sure of what was going on. He'd probably been scared and confused when he died. She felt a twinge of guilt for huddling in her room, thinking only of herself while he'd been out there dying.

[bookmark: p2715]She went on to the station's little overpriced grocery store. Its storefront was closed and locked. Well, that figured. The glass looked pretty flimsy, though—everybody used lightweight construction materials up here. She went back to her apartment, got her biggest barbell (four kilograms worth of inertia), and returned to the store. She flung it at the glass, and it shattered with a satisfying crash. All those boring sessions of waving the weights around had come in handy after all. An alarm went off, but at least it was safety glass, so not much was left floating around. The cleaning bots would get it.

[bookmark: p2716]She found herself a bag of pre-sliced bagels and a tub of cream cheese, and spread the cream cheese onto a slice with a finger. She'd paid an obscene amount of money for dental work last year, booking an appointment every time the dentist came up from the surface. Objectively, it was a sorry waste of money, but she was still glad to have a working set of choppers today, especially because the bagel was a little stale. Come to think of it, if she only had a few days left to live, maybe she should take the opportunity to eat some of the foods the dentist had warned her away from. Hadn't she seen some beef jerky by the register?

[bookmark: p2717]The alarm was still sounding. She set herself gliding up the aisle toward the checkout counter, and was confronted by a metal spider the size of a small dog, crouching on a rack of potato chips. She grabbed a rail and brought herself to a panicky stop, sending a bunch of plastic beer bulbs flying out of their holders.

[bookmark: p2718]"Ms. Lewicki?"

[bookmark: p2719]It was a human voice, coming from the spider. She realized how foolish she'd been. It was just a waldo, probably controlled by someone down on the surface. Two of its legs were actually short little arms, with manlike hands on the ends.

[bookmark: p2720]"Yes?" She tried to regain her dignity, realizing how she must look. She stuck her hand into the pocket of her robe, and furtively tried to wipe the cream cheese off of her finger.

[bookmark: p2721]"I'm glad we found you. Please don't be alarmed." It turned around so that it was right-side up from her point of view.

[bookmark: p2722]"Who are you?"

[bookmark: p2723]"Joao Linhares. I'm in Sao Paulo."

[bookmark: p2724]"Joao?" She recalled a dark brown kid with the muscles of a dancer. "We met, didn't we?"

[bookmark: p2725]"Yes, you bought me a drink, if I recall correctly."

[bookmark: p2726]"So now they've got you doing waldo work?"

[bookmark: p2727]"Yes. With the cancellation of the moon program . . ." The spider turned its palms up, and managed to suggest a Latin-style shrug, despite its lack of shoulders. He even made the binocular cameras rise a little to suggest raising his eyebrows.

[bookmark: p2728]"Yeah, that was a shame. You know, I saw the first moon landing in 1969. They let us out of Sunday school, and I stayed glued to the tube all day. It was amazing what they could do back then, with just chemical rockets." She realized she was babbling to cover up her embarrassment. "You must think I'm pretty stupid."

[bookmark: p2729]"I cannot imagine why you say that, Lee. But perhaps we can go somewhere more commodious to talk."

* * *

[bookmark: p2730]It seemed like yesterday that she had floated here in the big, fancy Stardust Lounge with Joao. It was surprisingly easy to forget that the waldo wasn't really him.

[bookmark: p2731]"Is anybody else listening in on this channel?" Lee asked.

[bookmark: p2732]"I am afraid yes, but it is not public. Only the other people working directly on the mission can hear, plus my boss, her boss, the boss of her boss, and so on."

[bookmark: p2733]"Well, that's all right. What exactly is your mission?"

[bookmark: p2734]"Indirectly, it may be to save your life, but I regret to say that that may still be impossible, and it is not the most important part of the mission. This waldo did not come in a crewed vehicle, and we do not have one that can be launched very soon."

[bookmark: p2735]"That's okay. I didn't miss the evacuation by accident, Joao. I have Guillain-Barre syndrome—you know, like Roosevelt. My legs work, but not well enough to walk. Down on the surface, my quality of life wouldn't be much to speak of. I was lucky to be able to afford to live up here, but everybody has to die someday. I made the decision to die on reentry, instead of lying in a hospital bed, waiting to catch pneumonia. I'm actually glad they didn't send you back here just for my sake, but then why did they?"

[bookmark: p2736]"You know about the Meyer-Iwakura object?"

[bookmark: p2737]"The asteroid? It's supposed to miss Earth, right?"

[bookmark: p2738]"It is not an asteroid. It is an alien spacecraft."

[bookmark: p2739]"You're kidding."

[bookmark: p2740]"No. We think it must be uncrewed. The acceleration is very high, and also it is emitting a great quantity of radiation, so probably nothing could stay alive inside it. It is like a car's engine, you know—there is waste heat, and it must get rid of it by radiating."

[bookmark: p2741]"Fantastic! Too bad I'm not going to live long enough to see what happens when it lands."

[bookmark: p2742]"Probably it can't land. Its trajectory is a very exact mathematical shape, and when we extrapolate, it makes a flyby. There has been much worry about the gamma radiation. It emits seventy terawatts of gammas, and if the flyby is close enough, that can have bad effects. Indonesia and Malaysia will be near its point of closest approach, and there have been riots in Jakarta. The radio emissions are also very strong, and already it is making interference. The first job I had to do here at the station was to install a laser link."

[bookmark: p2743]"So what does all this have to do with me, or the station?"

[bookmark: p2744]"As it is getting closer, we are collecting more and more precise tracking data. If it continues the same mathematical pattern, it will match orbits exactly with this station."

[bookmark: p2745]"Jesus."

[bookmark: p2746]"Yes." The spider crossed itself.

[bookmark: p2747]"When does it get here?"

[bookmark: p2748]"That is the problem. It gets here in three days, and unless we can do something, the station will have reentered before then."

[bookmark: p2749]"That's a hell of a note. Quite a coincidence, that they're catching the human race with our pants down like this." She thought of the image she must have presented to the Brazilians, back there in the grocery store.

[bookmark: p2750]"It is not completely a coincidence. There was an attempt to keep the trajectory data secret, but the astronomers, they do not like to be censored. A few weeks ago, the error bars became small enough that they could see the probe will be coming somewhat close to the station. SkyLife's stock went down very rapidly,"—the spider made a diving motion with one hand—"and their creditors became worried about 'preserving assets and minimizing liability.' "

[bookmark: p2751]"And now it turns out the station was exactly where the bug-eyed monsters were planning to pull over and take a snapshot."

[bookmark: p2752]"Yes."

[bookmark: p2753]"Can we, uh, ask them to change their itinerary a little?"

[bookmark: p2754]"We have tried to send them messages by radio, but we don't hope very much for it to work. Their receiver would be surrounded by their own radio noise. It is like trying to talk to someone on the telephone while a nuclear bomb is exploding in his living room."

[bookmark: p2755]"So what's your plan?"

[bookmark: p2756]"The station's solar panels are like sails that catch the wind. If we can detach them, the station can stay up for longer. With only one person inside, life support can run from the fuel cells."

[bookmark: p2757]"You said 'we'?"

[bookmark: p2758]"Yes. This waldo is made for working on small communications satellites, and the satellites are made so they can be worked on by such a waldo. This station was not designed that way. We have attempted to plan a disassembly using only the waldo, and it cannot be done."

[bookmark: p2759]"You need another pair of hands, and I'm it."

[bookmark: p2760]"If you are willing." The Latin shrug again.

[bookmark: p2761]"Of course I'm willing. Able is a different matter. I've never been in a spacesuit, and I'm not that strong, even in my upper body. I do all my exercises, and the zero-g drugs these days are wonderful, but I'm just not as fit as I was in my nineties. Do you realistically think I could do it?"

[bookmark: p2762]"Our engineers have made a procedure that we think can work."

* * *

[bookmark: p2763]She'd always enjoyed socializing with the professional astronauts (especially the Brazilians, who didn't seem as uncomfortable around old people), so she'd already picked up some idea of the mechanics of an EVA: the diaper, the prebreathing, the checklist as long as your arm. They didn't try to make her memorize the whole plan for detaching the panels, or even learn how to maneuver. Basically the spider would drive her to various places outside the hull, set her down on her magnetic boots, tether her to a safety hook, and then she'd pull a lever, remove an access plate, or whatever was required of her.

[bookmark: p2764]It went well at first. She could tell they were afraid she'd wig out with agoraphobia, or puke in her helmet or something, but after all, she'd been living in space for over a decade. It wasn't really so different from skygazing in the lounge, except that the suit was uncomfortable, and the fans were noisy. They said the alien probe was a naked-eye object now, if you knew where to look, but she'd told Joao not to bother trying to point it out to her. Her vision was the best that money could buy, but there was a limit to what medical technology could do for a centenarian.

[bookmark: p2765]What she hadn't anticipated was how hard it would be to bend her arms in a spacesuit. The astronauts had told her how much better the suits were these days, with improved constant-volume joints and all, but "better" was a relative term, and those young men all had bodies like Greek gods. The jobs they needed Lee for were all the ones that required arms with a longer reach than the spider's, and she found herself in some damned awkward positions. She kept trying to reassure Joao that she was okay, but they could monitor her pulse and breathing through the suit, so she couldn't hide how tough it was physically. The hardest part was that she kept getting out of breath. The pressure had to be low to allow the suit to remain as flexible as possible, but that meant she always felt like she was climbing Mount Everest. At least she had plenty of time to rest while the spider did the steps she wasn't needed for.

[bookmark: p2766][image: v3n219.jpg]

[bookmark: p2767]There were three of the solar arrays, two small ones and one big one. The two small ones went, and she shared a high-five with Joao. It was when they got to the final, big one that she ran into problems. She had to lift off an access plate, and the damn thing was in the most awkward possible location: in a cavity set into the hull, surrounded by radio doodads. She just wasn't flexible enough to thread her body into the cramped space, especially with the suit so rigid.

[bookmark: p2768]Joao told her to take a break and drink some water while he removed the radio equipment. She shook her head to get the sweat out of her eyes. When he'd sent the last piece flying away, he came over and hovered in front of her faceplate.

[bookmark: p2769]"How you feel now, Lee?"

[bookmark: p2770]"Ready to wrestle alligators."

[bookmark: p2771]"This step is still difficult, maybe. Sao Paulo wants you to rest for another thirty minutes before you try again." She had to admit to herself that that sounded like a good idea. "You drinking plenty of water?"

[bookmark: p2772]"Yeah."

[bookmark: p2773]"You want some music?"

[bookmark: p2774]Lee had always detested elevator music, but Joao was trying to be nice, and maybe it would help her to relax while she waited. "Does Sao Paulo have any samba music they can pipe in?"

[bookmark: p2775]"They should, or it's a bad hurt to the national honor."

[bookmark: p2776]Joao was a sweet kid. A minute later, a bouncy tune came through the speaker in her helmet. She looked out over the vast panorama of Earth, filling half the sky. It didn't look any closer than it ever had, but she knew it was. All around them, the wisps of the atmosphere would be tugging on the station, trying to bring it down.

[bookmark: p2777]Finally it was time to try again. The access cover had handles a meter and a half apart, just a little more than the spider's arms could reach, and now she just had to wedge herself into the cavity, crouch down, grab the handles, and lift. She tried, and still couldn't fold herself into the tight space. The stiff, inflated suit was fighting her every inch of the way.

[bookmark: p2778]"It's okay, Lee. We know it's hard."

[bookmark: p2779]"Dammit Joao, I'm trying. It's this lousy suit that's killing me. I feel like I'm trying to fight my way out of a sausage skin."

[bookmark: p2780]"Sorry."

[bookmark: p2781]"I shouldn't have snapped at you. It's just frustrating."

[bookmark: p2782]"I know."

[bookmark: p2783]"Can't we let off a little of the pressure?" Lee asked. "I bet I could do it if my suit wasn't inflated quite so much."

[bookmark: p2784]"You need the air for breathing."

[bookmark: p2785]"I'll take deep breaths. There's got to be some safety margin built in, right?"

[bookmark: p2786]"Let me check with the flight medic." There was a long silence. "Okay, I have clearance to cut the pressure from point three of an atmosphere to point two two. It will take twenty minutes. If you're ready, I can start the venting."

[bookmark: p2787]"Go ahead."

[bookmark: p2788]The spider's hands did things to her chestplate, and then she waited.

[bookmark: p2789]"Okay," said Joao after a while, "let's see how good your brain is working with less oxygen. Who's president of the United States?"

[bookmark: p2790]"Paulette Lufting."

[bookmark: p2791]"Vice president?"

[bookmark: p2792]"Hell, I don't know. I don't keep up with surface politics. The last election with a candidate I liked was in 1964."

[bookmark: p2793]"You said they excused you from Sunday school in 1969."

[bookmark: p2794]"I didn't say I actually voted for Goldwater."

[bookmark: p2795]"What's eighteen times three?"

[bookmark: p2796]"I didn't bring my slide rule. Tell the doctor I'm fine, Joao." She'd acquired a pounding headache, but she wasn't about to tell them that.

[bookmark: p2797]"Please, Lee. They were very worried about the low pressure idea."

[bookmark: p2798]"Okay, eighteen times three, you said?"

[bookmark: p2799]"Yes."

[bookmark: p2800]"Fifty-four."

[bookmark: p2801]"That's good. You want to try now?"

[bookmark: p2802]She could tell that the suit flexed more easily now. She got her fingertips behind her knees, and tried to pull them up close to her chest. "Can you maneuver me in there once I'm bent tight enough?"

[bookmark: p2803]"Yes. Can you bend a little more?"

[bookmark: p2804]She took three deep breaths, blew out hard, and pulled on her knees as hard as she could.

* * *

[bookmark: p2805]When she regained consciousness, she was in the airlock, with her helmet off.

[bookmark: p2806]"Lee?" The spider was peering at her anxiously.

[bookmark: p2807]"I blew it."

[bookmark: p2808]"You tried hard."

[bookmark: p2809]"Trying's not good enough, dammit!" She couldn't tell if the sting in her eyes was tears, or sweat.

[bookmark: p2810]"I have some good news, though. The probe seems to be operating its drive in a different mode now, with a lower exhaust velocity. Same flyby trajectory, but it doesn't emit the gammas."

[bookmark: p2811]"I guess that's good news for Indonesia. Lot of people there won't get nuked, huh?"

[bookmark: p2812]"Not just them. The original gamma flux would have been enough to kill you when the probe came close to the station. It seems that the probe can adapt to circumstances. Perhaps its builders are a compassionate race."

[bookmark: p2813]"If we don't finish the job with the solar panels, the aliens' bleeding hearts won't make any difference. The station will already be gone by then."

[bookmark: p2814]"Maybe not. Remember, we got two panels off. The engineers think the station will still be in orbit when the probe flies past."

[bookmark: p2815]"Really? We did it?" She pounded a gloved fist into a gloved hand.

[bookmark: p2816][image: v3n220.jpg]

[bookmark: p2817]"But I'm sorry, it still doesn't look like it will stay up long enough for a launch to get here and do a boost. They are trying hard, but honestly, I don't think they will be in time. Already SkyLife was decommissioning the launch vehicles. They had to ship in more uranium, and the bearings seized up when they started the engine for a test burn. I'm sorry, but I think after the probe is gone, the station will reenter. You have been a brave comrade, Lee." The spider patted the shoulder of her suit.

[bookmark: p2818]"I'm a hundred and six, Joao. Don't worry about me." But somehow she wasn't feeling quite that philosophical about it. "Can't we rig up something else to get that access plate off? Maybe a rope and a pulley or something?"

[bookmark: p2819]"Time is running out. You're back up to cabin pressure again, and another prebreathing would take a long time. Changing the station's trajectory makes much more difference if you do it earlier, less if you do it later. And that access plate wasn't the hardest part of the job."

[bookmark: p2820]"Oh. Well that's okay, then. I'm a big girl." She tried to smile. She'd accomplished something important—more important than anything else in her life, that was for sure. The station would survive until after the probe's flyby. The aliens wouldn't see the human race act like a bunch of monkeys who climbed a tree, jumped off in an attempt to fly, and landed face-down in the dirt. That counted for something, and she should be proud that she'd done so much, so close to the finish line of her life. Should be, should be. So why wasn't she satisfied?

* * *

[bookmark: p2821]When it was time for the probe to swoop in, they went to the Stardust Lounge and watched through the big glass dome, which faced away from the Earth. Joao probably could have had a better view from outside the hull, but he parked the spider next to her and kept her company. Lee had taken a bath and washed her hair, and was wearing her best suit.

[bookmark: p2822]She didn't need a young woman's eyesight to see the probe now. Even with its engines cooled down, and still four hundred kilometers out, it was bright enough to cast shadows across the lounge. She had to remind herself that Joao was only seeing those shadows on a TV screen, just as she'd seen the moon landing on that Sunday in 1969. She remembered being back in Sunday school the following week, how different it had seemed. Prissy old Miss Wendy had talked about Heaven, but for Lee, sitting at a too-small desk in the Fresno heat, it felt like she had come back to Earth. She had sat there with half-formed questions bubbling through her mind, questions that she knew better than to ask out loud.

[bookmark: p2823]"Two hundred kilometers," said Joao. There were some questions that only seemed important when you were either very young or very old. She knew now why she wasn't satisfied with what she'd accomplished here. It was because the probe might have some answers to those barely remembered questions from a century ago. Other people might get answers, but she wouldn't.

[bookmark: p2824]"Thirty kilometers," said the spider. The probe's flame was still brightening. She could feel its heat on her skin. The whole planet must be watching the video feed, but she was the only human who'd ever feel that heat.

[bookmark: p2825]Brighter and hotter still. Her heart beat faster. "Can you see anything through the glare?" she asked. "I think I see something."

[bookmark: p2826]"A triangle?"

[bookmark: p2827]"Yeah."

[bookmark: p2828]"Ten kilometers."

[bookmark: p2829]She reached over and took the spider's cold metal hand in hers. Joao squeezed gently. The light from the probe dimmed suddenly, and the metallic triangular shape kept growing. It came in, impossibly fast and impossibly big, and then they were seeing it from the side. It came to rest, and filled their entire field of view, a vast wall of silver.

[bookmark: p2830]The spider crossed itself with its free hand. "Sao Paulo wants to know if you have anything to say to the world." Damn, she should have prepared something. One small step? She looked down at her flaccid legs and smiled at the irony.

[bookmark: p2831]She was still searching for words when she noticed that she was falling slowly away from the glass dome, toward the back corner of the lounge. No, it wasn't that she was falling, it was that the station was rising up under her. She heard the structure groan under the strain of the acceleration. It wasn't much acceleration, and when she hit the wall, it wasn't enough of an impact to break even her aged bones.

[bookmark: p2832]She finally found the right words. "Thank you," she whispered.

[bookmark: p2833]"The probe is pulling the station up into a higher orbit." It sounded like Joao was yelling into his mic.

[bookmark: p2834]"I know." She watched while the ship, implacable but seemingly compassionate, kept lifting the station—by what method, she had no idea. Joao piped through the channel from the control room in Sao Paulo, and translated for her now and then. They were chattering excitedly about a stream of information being beamed from the probe to the station. There would be answers in that radio squeal, at least some kind of answers, maybe to questions she'd never even thought of. Finally she felt the wall stop pressing against her, and when she looked out at the dome again, the probe was a dwindling candle in the sky.
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[bookmark: Chap_14]NONFICTION:

Tales of the Prozines

Written by Mike Resnick

[bookmark: p2835]There is a lot more to the science fiction magazines than the stories they run. More than the cover art, more than the articles. They have an almost secret history of their own. I'd like to share some of the more interesting incidents with you before there's no one left to remember them. 

[bookmark: p2836]The Shaver Mystery 

[bookmark: p2837]In 1938, Ray Palmer, an undersized hunchback with a pretty thorough understanding of his readership, took over the editorship of Amazing Stories. At the time, John Campbell's Astounding Science Fiction, featuring the best of Heinlein, Asimov, Sturgeon, Hubbard, van Vogt, de Camp, Simak, and Kuttner, ruled supreme among the magazines—but then Palmer came up with a gimmick the changed everything: the Shaver Mystery. 

[bookmark: p2838]He ran a novel—rather generic, rather poorly written—called I Remember Lemuria! It was all about these creatures called Deros that lived hidden away from humanity, but were preparing to do dire things to us. Nothing special in any way—

[bookmark: p2839]—except that Palmer swore to his readers, who consisted mostly of impressionable teen-aged boys, that the story was true, and that Richard Shaver was forced by the Powers That Be to present it as fiction or no one—including Ziff-Davis, Palmer's bosses—would dare risk publishing it. 

[bookmark: p2840]Sounds silly, doesn't it? 

[bookmark: p2841]Well, the really silly part came next: while Palmer was running another dozen or so "Shaver Mystery novels"—each worse than the last—from 1945 to 1948, his circulation skyrocketed. Amazing passed Astounding, spread-eagled the field, and became the top-selling science fiction magazine, not only of that era, but of any era. 

[bookmark: p2842]I'll tell you a little story about the Shaver Mystery. Back when I was editing men's magazines in Chicago in the late 1960s, I used, among others, a very talented artist, slightly older than myself, named Bill Dichtl. One day we got to talking, and found out we were both science fiction fans, and Bill told me about his adventures with the Shaver Mystery. 

[bookmark: p2843]He was a 14-year-old subscriber to Amazing in the late 1940s, living in Chicago (where Amazing was published), and one day he got a mysterious phone call, asking if he would like to help in the secret war against the Deros. Of course he said he would. He was given an address to go to that Friday night, and was warned to tell no one about this assignation. 

[bookmark: p2844]So on Friday night, Bill sneaked out of his house and dutifully went to the address, which happened to be the building that housed the Ziff-Davis publishing empire. He took the elevator up to the appointed floor, found himself in a darkened corridor, saw a single light coming out from beneath a door at the far end of it, walked to the door, saw it was the room number he had been given, and entered. There was a long table, and maybe a dozen other earnest teen-aged boys were sitting at it. 

[bookmark: p2845]Bill took a seat, and they all waited in silence. About ten minutes later a little hunchbacked man entered the room. It was Ray Palmer, of course. He explained that the Deros would soon be making their move against an unsuspecting humanity, and it was the duty of the boys in that room to spend the rest of the night warning as many people as possible of the coming struggle so they wouldn't be caught unaware. 

[bookmark: p2846]He had lists of thousands of addresses, which the boys dutifully copied onto blank envelopes. He had thousands of folded and stapled "warnings" that they stuffed into the envelopes. He had thousands of stamps that they licked and stuck onto the envelopes. They finished at sunrise, and Palmer swore them all to secrecy and thanked them for helping to save humanity. 

[bookmark: p2847]Bill had stuffed a copy of the warning into his pocket to give to his parents, just in case they had somehow been omitted from the mailing list. On the subway home, he opened it and read it—and found out that Palmer had duped the boys into mailing out thousands of subscription renewal notices. 

[bookmark: p2848]By 1949 Palmer was gone. He started Other Worlds, hired a gorgeous Cincinnati fan, Bea Mahaffey, to edit it for him, and even brought Shaver along. (To this day, some people think Palmer was Shaver. They were wrong; he was actually seen with Palmer by some fans and pros. Someone purporting to be Shaver wrote some letters to Richard Geis' Hugo-winning fanzine, Science Fiction Review, in the 1970s, but no one ever saw him or followed up on it.) 

[bookmark: p2849]Palmer's gimmick at Other Worlds was to get readers to pressure Edgar Rice Burroughs, Inc. to hire his discovery, "John Bloodstone," as the legal successor to Burroughs. ("Bloodstone" was actually Palmer's pal, hack writer Stuart J. Byrne, who had written a copyright-infringing novel, Tarzan On Mars, that Palmer wanted to publish.) ERB Inc. refused, and that was the end of that, and pretty much the end of Other Worlds (though you can still find illegally-photocopied copies of Tarzan On Mars for sale here and there). 

[bookmark: p2850]Palmer's final stop was at Fate Magazine, begun in 1949, where he got rich one last time off a gullible reading public. 

[bookmark: p2851]As for Shaver, not a single word of the million-plus that he wrote remains in print. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2852]The Prediction Issue 

[bookmark: p2853]The November, 1948 issue of Astounding was typical of its era. It was not the best issue that John Campbell edited that year, nor was it the worst, and like all other issues of Astounding prior to 1950, it was far superior to its competitors. 

[bookmark: p2854]Astounding's letter column was (and still is) "Brass Tacks," and in that particular issue there was a cute letter by a Richard A. Hoen who, like most fanboys, went over the most recent issue story by story, explaining in goshwowboyoboy fashion what he liked and disliked and why. Robert A. Heinlein's "Gulf" was pretty good, though not quite up to Beyond This Horizon, opined Mr. Hoen. He ranked it second best in the issue, just ahead of A. E. van Vogt's "Final Command," with Lester del Rey's "Over the Top" coming in fourth. He wasn't much impressed with L. Sprague de Camp's "Finished," which was fifth, and he absolutely hated Theodore Sturgeon's "What Dead Men Tell," ranking it last. Mr. Hoen also words of praise for the cover painting by Hubert Rogers. 

[bookmark: p2855]Only one problem: he was ranking the stories in the November, 1949 issue, and of course none of them existed. It was a cute conceit, everyone got a chuckle out of it, and everyone immediately forgot it. 

[bookmark: p2856]Except Campbell, who went out of his way to make it come true. 

[bookmark: p2857]The November, 1949 issue of Astounding featured the first part of Heinlein's serial, "Gulf"; Sturgeon's "What Dead Men Tell"; de Camp's "Finished"; van Vogt's "Final Command"; and del Rey's "Over the Top." And of course it had a cover by Rogers. 

[bookmark: p2858]There was only one place the prediction fell short. Mr. Hoen had ranked a story called "We Hail," by Don A. Stuart, first. Don A. Stuart was Campbell's pseudonym when he was writing works of ambition (such as "Twilight") rather than space opera, and was taken from his first wife's maiden name, Dona Stuart. Well, Campbell didn't write a story for the issue—but in its place he ran the first part of "And Now You Don't," the three-part serial that formed the climax of Isaac Asimov's Foundation Trilogy. I don't imagine anyone had any serious objections to the substitution. 

[bookmark: p2859]So when you hear writers like me say that science fiction isn't really in the predicting business, just remind us of the November, 1948 Astounding. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2860]The Prozines are Officially Noticed 

[bookmark: p2861]Science fiction tends to cry and carry on because no one pays any attention to it, that it's a ghetto beneath the notice of the New York Literary Establishment and most of the Powers That Be in academia. 

[bookmark: p2862]And yet science fiction has been officially Noticed (and more than once) by the United States Government, and that was long before that government started naming weapons and defense systems after rather silly science fiction movies. 

[bookmark: p2863]Back in the Good Old Days of the pulps, more often than not the cover art showed a partially-clad (or, if you prefer, a mostly-unclad) girl, usually at the mercy of aliens who seemed more interested in ripping off the rest of her clothes than doing anything practical, like killing or communicating with her. 

[bookmark: p2864]The thing is (and I refer you to the two introductory articles in my anthology, Girls For the Slime God), only one magazine actually delivered the salacious stories that went hand- in-glove with those cover illos, and that magazine was Marvel Science Stories. The first issue, back in August of 1938, featured Henry Kuttner's "The Avengers of Space," a rather pedestrian novella to which I suspect he added all the sex scenes to after it had been turned down by the major markets. Then out came issue number two, and there was Kuttner with another novella of the same ilk: "The Time Trap." 

[bookmark: p2865]What was the result? 

[bookmark: p2866]Well, there were two results. The first was that Kuttner was labeled a debased and perverted hack, and had to create Lewis Padgett and Lawrence O'Donnell, his two most famous pseudonyms (but far from his only ones) in order to make a living, since it would be a few years before the top editors wanted to buy from Henry Kuttner again. 

[bookmark: p2867]The second was that the United States government, through its postal branch, gave science fiction its very first official recognition. They explained to the publisher that if the third issue of Marvel was as sexy as the first two, they were shutting him down and sending him to jail. 

[bookmark: p2868]And with that, Marvel Science Stories became the most sedate and—let's be honest—dull science fiction magazine on the market. It died not too long thereafter, the first prozine to be slain by the government. 

[bookmark: p2869]But the government wasn't quite through Noticing the prozines. Move the clock ahead five years, to March, 1944, which was when Astounding, under the editorship of John Campbell, published a forgettable little story called "Deadline," by Cleve Cartmill. 

[bookmark: p2870]It became one of the most famous stories in the history of the prozines—not because of its quality, which was minimal, but because it brought the prozines to the official notice of the government for the second time. 

[bookmark: p2871]We were embroiled in World War II, and in early 1944 the Manhattan Project—the project that resulted in the atomic bomb—was still our most carefully-guarded secret. 

[bookmark: p2872]And Cartmill's story, which used knowledge and facts that were available to anyone, concerned the construction of an atomic bomb that used U-235. 

[bookmark: p2873]Cartmill was visited by the FBI and other select governmental agencies the week the story came out, each demanding to know how he had managed to steal the secrets of the bomb. He pointed out that his "secrets" were a matter of public record. He was nonetheless warned never to breach national security again, upon pain of truly dire consequences. 

[bookmark: p2874]The government representatives then went to Campbell's office, where he explained to them, as only Campbell could, that if they were not uneducated, subliterate dolts they would know exactly where Cartmill got his information, and that Astounding had been running stories about atomic power for years. They tried to threaten him into promising not to run any more stories of atomic power until the war was over. Campbell didn't take kindly to threats, and allowed them to leave only after giving them a thorough tongue-lashing and an absolute refusal to censor his writers. 

[bookmark: p2875]So the next time you hear a writer or editor bemoaning the fact that science fiction doesn't get any notice, point out to him that there were actually a couple of occasions in the past when we got a little more official notice than we wanted. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2876]Vietnam and the Prozines 

[bookmark: p2877]Nothing since the War Between the States aroused more passions on both sides than did the Vietnam War. In 1968 Judith Merril and Kate Wilhelm decided to do something about it: they enlisted a large number of writers—the final total was 82—and took out ads against the war in the March issue of F&SF and the June issues of Galaxy and If. Included in their number were most of the younger New Wave writers such as Harlan Ellison, Barry Malzberg, Norman Spinrad, Robert Silverberg, Philip K. Dick, Terry Carr, and Ursula K. Le Guin, as well as a smattering of old masters like Isaac Asimov, Ray Bradbury, and Fritz Leiber. 

[bookmark: p2878]Word got out—the rumor is that it was leaked by Fred Pohl, Merril's ex-husband—and the pro-war faction also ran ads in all three magazines. (Pohl had them on facing pages in his two magazines.) Included in the ads were Robert A. Heinlein, Poul Anderson, John W. Campbell Jr. (the only then-current editor to appear on either list), Fredric Brown, Hal Clement, Larry Niven, Jack Vance, and Jack Williamson. The pro-war ads contained only 72 names, leading the anti-war faction to claim that they had "won." 

[bookmark: p2879]Pohl was editing both Galaxy and If, and he offered to donate the ad revenues to the person who came up with the best "solution" to the Vietnam War. It was won by Mack Reynolds, but Pohl never published his "solution"; runners-up were Hubert Humphrey, Lyndon Johnson, and Richard Nixon. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2880]The Man Who Saved the Lensman 

[bookmark: p2881]E. E. "Doc" Smith was clearly the most famous and most popular writer of the late 1920s and most of the 1930s as well. He broke new ground with the Skylark series, but it was the four Lensman books upon which his fame and adoration rests. (Yes, four; the first two in the six-book series were afterthoughts, Triplanetary being expanded and rewritten to become the chronological first in the series, First Lensman written last of all to fill a gap between Triplanetary and the four Kimball Kinnison books.) 

[bookmark: p2882]Doc introduced Kimball Kinnison, the Gray Lensman, to the world in 1937, with Galactic Patrol, which ran in Astounding from September, 1937 to February, 1938—just about the time a young John Campbell was beginning his lifelong tenure as editor and preparing to reshape the field. This was followed in a few years by The Gray Lensman and then Second Stage Lensman. 

[bookmark: p2883]But while Doc was slowly completing the saga of the Kinnison clan, Campbell was bringing Robert A. Heinlein, Isaac Asimov, Theodore Sturgeon, and A. E. van Vogt into the field, and finding room for Fritz Leiber, Clifford D. Simak, and L. Sprague de Camp. 

[bookmark: p2884]Doc was many things as a writer, but graceful wasn't one of them, and subtle wasn't another. It didn't matter when he was competing against the likes of Nat Schachner and Ray Cummings and Stanton A. Coblentz—but against Campbell's stable he seemed like a dinosaur, thousands of evolutionary eons behind where Campbell had pushed, pulled and dragged the field. 

[bookmark: p2885]So when he delivered the climactic volume of the Lensman saga, Children of the Lens, Campbell didn't want to run it. It just didn't belong in a magazine that had published "Nightfall" and "Sixth Column" and "Slan" years earlier. 

[bookmark: p2886]One fan had the courage to seek Campbell out and disagree. He's the one who told me this story, and Campbell later kind of sort of grudgingly agreed that it was pretty much the truth. Ed Wood, who'd been active in fandom for a few years, and would be active for another 50, cornered Campbell and explained that he owed it to Doc, who had given him the original Lensman story when Astounding badly needed it, to buy Children of the Lens. Moreover, he owed it to the field, for we were not then a book field, and if Doc's novel didn't run in Astounding, there was an excellent chance that it would never see the light of day. Campbell finally agreed. The novel appeared without the customary fanfare accorded to a new Doc Smith book, and was the only Lensman novel to receive a single cover, though it ran for six issues beginning in November of 1947. 

[bookmark: p2887]So for those of you who are Lensman fans—and tens of thousands of people still are, more than half a century later—you owe two debts of gratitude, one to Doc for writing it, and another to a motivated fan, Ed Wood, for making sure you got to find out how it all ended for Kimball Kinnison and his offspring. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2888]The Writers Revolt 

[bookmark: p2889]Horace Gold was known for his inability to keep his hands off stories. As one author said, he could turn a good story into a very good one—but he could also turn a great story into a very good one. 

[bookmark: p2890]Theodore Sturgeon used to cross out his favorite words and phrases, then pencil them in again above the scratchmarks. One day Gold complained that Sturgeon left him no room in which to change those particular words and phrases. "I know," replied Sturgeon. "That's why I do it." 

[bookmark: p2891]Science fiction writers didn't have anything like SFWA in those days, but they did have the equivalent of the SFWA Forum. It was called PITFCS, an acronym for The Proceedings of the Institute for Twenty-First Century Studies, and it was the brainchild of Theodore R. Cogswell, who edited and published it. It went to almost every active science fiction writer and editor, and once they discovered they were all having the same problem with Gold (who of course also received the magazine) they began debating what to do about him, while he adamantly insisted that as editor he had every right to edit any story he bought. Eventually the writers threatened a boycott of Galaxy, and at last Gold caved in to their demands: from that day forth he would buy or reject only, but would not change a word. Any changes had to be made by the writers themselves. 

[bookmark: p2892]It's a policy that's still in effect throughout most of the field more than 40 years later. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2893]How Unknown Was Born 

[bookmark: p2894]Ask 20 experts (or fans; there's not much difference) which was the greatest science fiction magazine of all time, and you'll get some votes for the 1940s Astounding, the 1950s Galaxy, the 1960s New Worlds, the 1970s F&SF, and the 1990's Asimov's. 

[bookmark: p2895]Now ask that same group to name the greatest fantasy magazine, and the odds are that at least 19 will answer Unknown. It was that good, that unique, and remains that dominant in the minds of the readers. 

[bookmark: p2896]How did it begin? 

[bookmark: p2897]There are two versions. 

[bookmark: p2898]The first is that John Campbell wanted to start a fantasy magazine, he convinced Street & Smith to publish it, he called it Unknown, and it ran 43 issues until the wartime paper shortage killed it off. 

[bookmark: p2899]The other version, which has been repeated in dozens of venues, is that Campbell was sitting at his desk at Astounding, reading submissions, and he came to a novel, Sinister Barrier, by Eric Frank Russell. It was too good to turn down, but it didn't fit into the format he had created for Astounding, and hence there was nothing to do but create a brand-new magazine, Unknown, which could run stories like Sinister Barrier and Fritz Leiber's Gray Mouser stories, and Theodore Sturgeon's "Yesterday Was Monday" and Robert A. Heinlein's Magic, Inc., and that's how Unknown came into being. A number of histories of the field have reported that this was the start of Unknown.

[bookmark: p2900]Which version is true? 

[bookmark: p2901]The first one, of course—but the second one is so fascinating and evocative that I suspect it'll never die, and if we all keep repeating it enough, why, in another 60 years or so, it'll be History. (See my novel The Outpost to discover how these things work.) 

* * *

[bookmark: p2902]Walter Who?

[bookmark: p2903]It all began with a radio show hosted by a mysterious male character known only as the Shadow. The show was owned by Street & Smith, the huge magazine publisher, and when it became increasingly obvious that the Shadow was far more popular than the show, they decided they'd better do something to copyright and trademark him before it was too late—so they decided to publish a one-shot pulp magazine about a crimefighter known as the Shadow. 

[bookmark: p2904]To write the story, they hired magician and sometime pulp author Walter Gibson, and, for whatever initial reason, they decided to have him write it as "Maxwell Grant." 

[bookmark: p2905]The rest is history. That first issue of The Shadow sold out in record time. Street & Smith immediately ordered more novels from Gibson—who was getting $500.00 a novel, not bad pay in the depths of the depression—and in mere months The Shadow was selling more than a million copies an issue. 

[bookmark: p2906]So Street & Smith decided the next step was to go semi-monthly. They called Gibson into their offices and asked if he was capable of turning out a Shadow novel every 15 days. Gibson said he could do it, but since it was no secret that The Shadow had, almost overnight, become the best-selling pulp magazine in America, he wanted a piece of this bonanza. He wasn't going to be greedy or hold them up for some phenomenal sum. He'd write two novels a month, never miss a deadline, and keep the quality as high as it had been—but in exchange, he wanted a raise to $750.00 a novel. 

[bookmark: p2907]His loving, doting publishers immediately metamorphosed into businessmen and said No. 

[bookmark: p2908]Gibson thought he had them over a barrel. You give me $750.00 a novel, he said, or I'll leave and take my audience with me. 

[bookmark: p2909]Leave if you want, said Street & Smith, but next week there will be a new Maxwell Grant writing The Shadow for us, and who will know the difference? 

[bookmark: p2910]It took Gibson ten seconds to realize that far from having Street & Smith over a barrel, they had him inside the barrel. He went back home and continued to write Shadow novels for $500.00 a shot. 

[bookmark: p2911]This ploy worked so well that when Street & Smith began publishing Doc Savage, which was primarily written by Lester Dent, all the novels were credited to "Kenneth Robeson." 

[bookmark: p2912]Rivals saw the beauty in this—Street & Smith didn't exactly have a monopoly on publishing's notion of fair play and morality—and thus The Spider novels, written mostly by Norvell Page, bore the pseudonym of "Grant Stockbridge." 

[bookmark: p2913]"Kenneth Robeson," Doc Savage's author, was so popular that "he" also became the author of The Avenger pulp series. 

[bookmark: p2914]And so on. Soon all the other "hero pulps"—pulps with a continuing hero and cast of characters, such as the above-mentioned—were written under house names, so that no author could either hold up the publishers for a living wage or leave and force the magazine to close down. 

[bookmark: p2915]There was only one exception. 

[bookmark: p2916]Edmond Hamilton wrote most of the 22 Captain Future novels under his own name. 

[bookmark: p2917]The reason? 

[bookmark: p2918]He was the only established science fiction writer working for Better Publications, Cap's publisher, and his employers freely admitted that no one else in the house knew the first damned thing about writing that crazy Buck Rogers stuff. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2919]Who is Edson McCann? 

[bookmark: p2920]One day Horace Gold, the editor/publisher of Galaxy, got the notion of having a contest for the best novel by an unknown writer. He offered a prize of $7,000—more than the average American made in a year back then—and was immediately whelmed over by hundreds of booklength manuscripts, 99% of them dreadful and the other one percent even worse. (Ask anyone who has ever read a slush pile. This was nothing unusual or unexpected—at least, not by anyone except Horace.) 

[bookmark: p2921]Horace had already bought Gravy Planet (later to become The Space Merchants, which eventually outsold, worldwide, just about every other science fiction novel ever written except perhaps for Dune.) When he couldn't find an even mildly acceptable novel among the entries, he approached Fred Pohl and Cyril Kornbluth and said he'd like Gravy Planet to be the winner. The stipulation, though, was that it had to appear under a pseudonym, since the contest had to be won by an unknown. 

[bookmark: p2922]Pohl and Kornbluth talked it over, decided they could get $7,000 from normal serial and book rights, and opted to keep their names on it, which disqualified it from the contest. 

[bookmark: p2923]Now Gold was getting desperate. The deadline was almost upon him, and he still hadn't found a single publishable novel among all the entries. So he turned to Pohl again. 

[bookmark: p2924]Pohl and his Milford neighbor, Lester del Rey (a whole passel of science fiction writers lived in Milford, Pennsylvania back in the 1950s) had decided to collaborate on a novel about the future of the insurance industry, called Preferred Risk. Gold begged them to use a pseudonym and let it be the contest winner. Lester was less concerned with receiving credit for his work than Kornbluth was—or perhaps he was more concerned with a quick profit. At any rate, he agreed, and Pohl went along with him. 

[bookmark: p2925]They divided up the pen name. Pohl chose "Edson" for a first name, and del Rey came up with "McCann". They invented a whole life for him (for the magazine's bio of the contest winner), in which he was a nuclear physicist working on such a top secret hush-hush project that Galaxy couldn't divulge any of the details of his life. 

[bookmark: p2926]And so it was that Preferred Risk, commissioned from two top professionals by Horace Gold, won the $7,000 prize for the Best Novel By An Unknown. 

[bookmark: p2927]And why did they choose "Edson McCann"? 

[bookmark: p2928]Well, if you break it down to its initials, it's "E. McC"—or E equals MC squared. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2929]The No-Budget Prozines 

[bookmark: p2930]Hugo Gernsback is considered the Father of Science Fiction. That title is more than a little at odds with the facts, since Mary Shelley, Jules Verne and H. G. Wells were writing it long before Hugo came along—but Hugo named the field and was the first publisher to bring out a magazine devoted entirely to "scientifiction" (Amazing Stories in 1926). 

[bookmark: p2931]Parenthetically, he also guaranteed that we would be inundated with bad science fiction for years to come . . . because by creating a market for science fiction, he gave it a place where it no longer had to compete with the best of the other categories. Science fiction writers no longer had to fight for spots in a magazine against Dashiell Hammett and James T. Cain and Frank Gruber and Max Brand; now they competed with Ray Cummings and Nat Schachner and Ross Rocklynne. The first—and for years only—science fiction magazine in the world was edited by Hugo Gernsback, an immigrant whose knowledge of the English language was minimal, and whose knowledge of story construction was nil. He felt science fiction's sole purpose was to interest adolescent boys in becoming scientists, and that was pretty much the way he edited. 

[bookmark: p2932]The way he published was even worse. He liked to buy stories, but he hated to pay for them. Finally Donald A. Wollheim took him to court for the $10.00 he was owed. Neither Gernsback nor Wollheim ever forgot it. 

[bookmark: p2933]Now move the clock ahead a few years, to about 1940. Wollheim had helped form the Futurians, that incredibly talented group of youngsters that would someday dominate the field. Among its members were Cyril Kornbluth, Damon Knight, Judith Merril, Frederik Pohl, Isaac Asimov, Robert A. W. Lowndes, James Blish, and Wollheim himself (and indeed, in a year or two they'd be editing just about every magazine in the field except for John Campbell's Astounding.) 

[bookmark: p2934]Anyway, while Pohl edited Astonishing and Super Science on a pitifully small budget, Wollheim picked up two of his own to edit: Cosmos and Stirring Science. Their pages abounded in stories by Futurians Kornbluth, Pohl, Lowndes, and Knight, with illos by the finest Futurian artist, Hannes Bok. Those magazines put many of the Futurians on the map. 

[bookmark: p2935]And do you know why Wollheim used Futurians almost exclusively? 

[bookmark: p2936]Because his budget was Zero—not small, not minimal, but zero—and only his fellow Futurians would work for free for the man who once sued Hugo Gernsback for $10 that was owed on a story. 

* * *

[bookmark: p2937]Horace Gold Goes Out to Play 

[bookmark: p2938]Horace Gold returned home from World War II a disabled veteran . . . but his disability took a most peculiar form: agoraphobia. He was literally afraid to leave the comfort and security of his New York apartment. 

[bookmark: p2939]It didn't stop him from selling investors on the idea of Galaxy magazine. And it didn't stop him from editing it, and turning it into (in my opinion) the only serious rival the Astounding of the late 1930s and early 1940s had for the title of Best Science Fiction Magazine of All Time. 

[bookmark: p2940]He turned part of his apartment into an office. He worked at home, he ate at home, he slept at home, he wrote at home, he edited at home. Any writer who wanted a face-to-face with Horace visited him at home. He hosted a regular Friday night poker game that included his stable of writers: Bob Sheckley, Phil Klass (William Tenn), Fred Pohl, and Algis Budrys. Lester del Rey occasionally sat in, as did rival editor (of F&SF) Tony Boucher. 

[bookmark: p2941]And because they were his friends, and they thought they were doing him a favor, this coterie of card-players and writers was constantly urging Horace to go outside, to breathe in the fresh air (well, Manhattan's approximation of it, anyway), to just take a walk around the neighborhood so that he would know there were no secret dangers lurking beyond the doors of his apartment. They urged, and they cajoled, and they implored, and finally the big day came. 

[bookmark: p2942]Horace Gold left his apartment for the first time in years—

[bookmark: p2943]—and was promptly hit by a taxi. 

[bookmark: p2944](There is a second version of this story, in which he actually spent a few evenings wandering around Manhattan, and then got into a crash while riding home in a taxi. Either way, the result was the same. He stopped eating, stopped editing, and was eventually institutionalized.) 

* * *

[bookmark: p2945]F&SF Loses An Editor 

[bookmark: p2946]Cyril Kornbluth was one of the original Futurians, living in New York with Frederik Pohl, Donald A. Wollheim, Robert A. W. Lowndes, John Michel, and that whole crowd. He was the youngest of them, and at short story length he was the best of them. He came out of World War II with a bad case of hypertension, and he certainly didn't help it any by his constant smoking and drinking. But his writing got better and better, as he turned out "The Marching Morons," "The Little Black Bag," and a number of other brilliant stories. He also collaborated with Pohl on the classic The Space Merchants, and a number of near-classics as well. But along with his infirmities, he had a wife and kids, one of them in constant need of special care, and he needed more money than he could make writing science fiction in the 1950s. For a few years he ran a small news bureau in Chicago. When he got back to New York, an editorial position had opened up at The Magazine of Fantasy and Science Fiction. He arranged an interview to apply for it, but it was a foregone conclusion that the interview was just a formality and the job was his if he wanted it. 

[bookmark: p2947]It snowed on the day of the interview, so Kornbluth, still suffering from hypertension, ignored his doctor's orders and spent half an hour shoveling his driveway, drove to the train station—and while he was waiting for the train that would take him to the perfect job for a man of his gifts and needs, he collapsed and died of a heart attack. Science fiction lost one of its finest writers, and F&SF lost what just might have been the best editor it ever had. 
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[bookmark: Chap_15]Transhumanism's Universal Success is Unavoidable

Written by Stephen Euin Cobb

[bookmark: p2948]Every goal of transhumanism will be achieved. This is not a possibility, but an inevitability. This achievement will be accomplished with or without the encouragement of transhumanists. Even if tomorrow at noon every person on earth who claims to be, or secretly believes themself to be, a transhumanist were to fall over dead success would still be guaranteed. There is nothing short of the fall of civilization or the wholesale abandonment of the scientific method that can prevent this. 

[bookmark: p2949]The reason is a simple as it is non-obvious.

[bookmark: p2950]Every human alive today, as well as every human who has ever lived, is or was a transhuman. The philosophy we call transhumnaism is so deeply integrated into the thoughts and desires and behaviors of our species that we are inseparable from it. For a human to abandon the transhuman philosophy would be to abandon their humanness. We are not just devout in our adherence to it; it is part of what makes us human. We are it, and it is us; and the two can never be separated.

[bookmark: p2951]To be as clear as possible it might be wise at this point to offer a definition as to just what this mysterious, and supposedly new, philosophy is all about. One good place to look for this is the World Transhumanist Association. The WTA describes itself on it's webpage as An international nonprofit membership organization which advocates the ethical use of technology to expand human capacities. We support the development of and access to new technologies that enable everyone to enjoy better minds, better bodies and better lives. In other words, we want people to be better than well. 

[bookmark: p2952]While there are many flavors and nuances of transhumanism, the phrase "Better Than Well" summarizes them all. Your doctor's goal is for you to be well; a transhumanist's goal is for you to be even better than that. 

[bookmark: p2953]The principal method of becoming Better Than Well is expected to be through technological augmentation. And so "Augmentation" has become another central concept. Transhumanists believe that it is not only increasingly possible but also increasingly desirable for people to augment themselves. These augmentations are generally envisioned in the near future as being worn mostly on the outside of the body, just as we wear hats and clothing today; but in the far future as being worn to an increasing degree inside the body, as we wear pacemakers and artificial heart valves today. 

[bookmark: p2954]The ultimate expectation of augmentation is to provide people with abilities that humans have never before had, such as the ability to see in X-rays, or infrared, or ultraviolet, or even sound waves like bats and dolphins; the ability to feel magnetic fields like migrating birds, and to hear ultrasonic sounds like dogs and cats. Some transhumanists (including myself) want to read WebPages and the entire internet inside their mind's eye without using a computer at all. If this is achieved then exchanging email and cell phone calls will also be possible from within the mind without using any outside device, and without any nearby person being able to detect that these things are being done. (One more thing for teachers to lament, since half the students will be chatting on the phone or playing video games while pretending to listen to the lecture.) 

[bookmark: p2955]Like all beliefs that are universally entwined in our nature and fundamental to what makes us human, this philosophy of augmentation operates below our level of consciousness and so is difficult to observe, identify and examine. Yet history is filled with countless examples of its long-running domination of our behavior. Some of the most glaring examples are from recent times, but many have played themselves out over hundreds or even thousands of years. 

[bookmark: p2956]For brevity this article will follow the historical path of only one: the magnifying glass.

[bookmark: p2957]As children we all toyed with them as a means of making little things appear bigger, but there are indications that this was not the invention's original function. Instead it was the other thing we did with them. What's more the invention of the magnifying lens or magnifying glass is buried so far back in human history that its beginning is unknown. (see Wikipedia article about lenses) 

[bookmark: p2958]A play by Aristophanes which was first performed in 423 BCE called The Clouds mentioned a burning glass. In it, a character named Strepsiades says, "Have you ever seen this stone in the chemist's shops, the beautiful and transparent one, from which they kindle fire?" The character playing Socrates then responds, "Do you mean the burning-glass?" (see Wikipedia article about the history of telescopes)

[bookmark: p2959]But that was only 24 centuries ago. Thousands of years earlier lenses were sufficiently understood that in 2600 BCE Egyptian sculptors used "double refracting rock crystal lens elements" to produce the optical illusion that the eyes of the statues of Rahotep and his wife Nofret were following all those who looked at the statues regardless of where the observers stood or moved. Constructed 46 centuries ago, these statues are currently located in the Louvre in Paris. (Here is a technical report on these eyes-that-follow)

[bookmark: p2960]Assyrians were also using lenses such as the Layard/Nimrud lens as early as 700 BCE.

[bookmark: p2961]Other ancient references include the encyclopedia of natural history by Pliny the Elder, first printed in 77 AD, which describes that burning-glasses were commonly known during the height of the Roman Empire. It also mentions what is possibly the first use of a corrective lens: Nero was known to watch the gladiatorial games through a concave-shaped emerald. The possibility that this was to correct for myopia was discussed in detail for The British Journal of Ophthalmology in their technical article Nero's Emerald. 

[bookmark: p2962]Seneca the Younger (3 BC—65 AD) described the magnifying effect of a glass globe filled with water. The Arabian mathematician Alhazen (Abu Ali al-Hasan Ibn Al-Haitham), (965—1038 AD) wrote the first major explanation of how the lens of the human eye formed an image on the retina. 

[bookmark: p2963]Between the 11th and 13th century, monks began using "reading stones" to assist them as they drew the complicated illuminations for manuscripts. Some of these were made by cutting a glass sphere in half to produce a primitive plano-convex lens. With experimentation it was slowly understood that shallower lenses magnified with less distortion.

[bookmark: p2964]This simple augmentation of the human eye was for some a tool for dull and repetitive cloistered work, but for some it allowed their curiosity to expand so that they could learn more about nature's smaller things such as insects and plants. These simple lenses were sometimes mounted in a circular frame and sometimes given a short handle, so that the magnifying glass as we know it today came into being. 

[bookmark: p2965]It is believed that the Italians came up with the next big innovation. Around 1280 AD someone mounted two lenses side by side in a single frame so that a person could see through one lens with each eye, and they formed the frame such that it could be hung on the ears and nose and left there for hours at a time. This augmentation became extremely popular, sweeping across Europe and then around the world. Seven hundred and twenty years later spectacles are still in use. 

[bookmark: p2966]But the innovations didn't stop there. Humans never stop. We augmented further. The next innovation was incorporating two different magnification strengths into each of the two lenses. This is generally credited to Benjamin Franklin sometime in the early 1760s, and came to be called bifocals. 

[bookmark: p2967]Eventually we invented machines for accurately measuring the amount of magnification each individual human, and indeed each eye of an individual human, needed to correct their vision. This produced spectacles and bifocals customized for that particular individual. 

[bookmark: p2968]But again, we continued improving the augmentation.

[bookmark: p2969]Based on theoretical ideas from many thinkers including Leonardo de Vinci, René Descartes and William Herschel, a German glassblower, F.E. Muller, in 1887 developed an eye covering which could be seen through without exessive discomfort. The next year a German physiologist Adolf Eugen Fick constructed and fitted the first successful contact lens. Made from heavy brown glass he first put them on rabbits, then on himself, and then on a few volunteers. Today aproximately 125 million people around the world wear contact lenses: over 30 million in the United States and about 13 million in Japan.

[bookmark: p2970]But while these lenses were in very intimate contact with very sensitive areas of the body, they were still just worn on our exterior. The next augmentation was a little more radical since it involved the surgical reshaping of the living tissue of the eye iteslf. 

[bookmark: p2971]The first practical attempt to perform such a surgery was done on military pilots in 1930 by the Japanese ophthalmologist Sato. He made radial cuts of the cornea to correct effects by as much as 6 diopters. Unfortunately, his procedure had to be curtailed due to the high rate of corneal degeneration. 

[bookmark: p2972]Later methods used freezing of the tissues; peeling; and even removal, sculpting and then reimplantation. But the greatest success in reshaping the lens of the eye came after the invention of the laser, specifically lasers of industrial strength. On June 20, 1989 US Patent number 4,840,175 was granted to Gholam A. Peyman, MD for his Method for Modifying Coneal Curvature, in which the corneal bed is ablated to the desired shape using a powerful laser. The name LASIK was coined in 1991.

[bookmark: p2973]But even this augmentation is on the outside of the body. The first to successfully implant a lens inside the eye was Sir Harold Ridley on November 29, 1949. He used plastic lenses because when he was treating pilots in World War II who had pieces of shattered windshields in their eyes he had noticed the plastic was not rejected by the immune system. Today, over a million intraocular lenses are implanted each year in the United States. 

[bookmark: p2974]As you read this, researchers are working on ways to restore sight to those whose eyes can never be made to work again. A few pioneering patients are already wearing devises which bypass the cornea and deliver electrical signals from a camera to the nerves located in the retina at the back of the eye. In some patients these signals are made to bypass the eyes all together and are delivered directly onto the surface of the brain. Work is just begun in this area, but the results offer a great deal of promise, and the expectations within the medical community are that within two or three decades the blind will be able to see. Not see a little, but see everything that you and I see. 

[bookmark: p2975]It should be emphasized that this article has described one little meandering path of innovation through history. Just one of hundreds, maybe thousands; all proceeding simultaneously. Countless paths of augmentation, the cumulative effect of which can not be seen at a glance nor comprehended as a single unit. Yet they are changing our lives everyday, and will more and more as time goes on. 

[bookmark: p2976]And it's not those who declare themselves transhumanists that are pushing these augmentations. It's everyone. It has always been everyone. Centuries before the concept of transhumanism was thought of, written down or spoken aloud. In the crowd of a Roman gladatorial game, in a play in ancient Greece, in 1280 Italy. The push was on from before the invention of writing. It has always been on. And it will never stop. There will be no end, just as there was no beginning. We have always been transhuman—eagerly, openly, aggressively—all of us. And we always will be. 

* * *

Learn More

[bookmark: p2977]You can learn more about Stephen Euin Cobb here or here. 

[bookmark: p2978]Or learn more about his podcast The Future And You here, or here or even here.

[bookmark: p2979] 
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[bookmark: Chap_16]COLUMNS:

The Greatest Thinker of Them All

Written by Mike Resnick

[bookmark: p2980]Science fiction isn't like any other field. Here we consider it an honor when someone builds on our ideas. Alfred Bester could write The Demolished Man, and then Robert Silverberg could write his answer to it in The Second Trip, and I could write my answer to Silverberg in "Me and My Shadow," and somebody could fictionally answer me, and nobody cries foul.

[bookmark: p2981]It happens all the time. But there is one particular writer whose ideas have been built upon by almost every science fiction writer for three-quarters of a century—and the wild part is that not only don't most fans know his name, but most pros who have used his notions as a springboard for their own stories and novels haven't even read him. His ideas have been so thoroughly poached and borrowed and extrapolated from and built upon that writers are now borrowing five and six times removed from the source. 

[bookmark: p2982]So I think perhaps it's time to tell you a little something about that source, because he science fiction's most remarkable thinker. His name was Olaf Stapledon.

[bookmark: p2983]Stapledon was a college professor, a Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Liverpool, and except for reading H. G. Wells, he probably had no idea that the field of science fiction existed. He certainly hadn't seen the pulp magazines, and he didn't know Hugo Gernsback's name for it (and in fact, when he began, Gernsback was still using the original "scientifiction" rather than breaking it into two words.)

[bookmark: p2984]Stapledon wasn't an elegant writer. I freely admit that his prose tends to crawl rather than soar—but his ideas soared higher than anyone else's ever had. 

[bookmark: p2985]His first novel was Last and First Men, which follows the human race through eighteen startling evolutions for more than two million years, until our eventual extinction. In one evolution, we're nothing but giant brains. Later we emigrate to Venus, and eventually to Neptune, changing our bodies each time to adapt to our new environments. 

[bookmark: p2986]Not bad for 1930. It is truly a novel of titanic concepts and sweeping vision—and it is condensed into very little more a page in his masterpiece, Star Maker, which is nothing less than the history of this and every other universe ever to exist from the beginning to the end of Time. Brian Aldiss has argued that this is the most important science fiction book ever written; I have shared that opinion from the day I finished the book more than 40 years ago.

[bookmark: p2987]It was in Star Maker that Stapledon explored the notion of galactic empires. He created endless races, some humanoid, some ichthyoid, some arachnoid, each with its own outlooks and morals and goals. People—well, intelligent beings, anyway—travel between the stars and ultimately even among the galaxies. 

[bookmark: p2988]But there's more. The stars themselves are sentient, and eventually all the sentient entities in the galaxy—men, aliens, stars, everything—merge into a single Cosmic Mind. 

[bookmark: p2989]But Stapledon didn't even stop there. He was interested in what created that Cosmic Mind, and became the first—and almost the only—to tackle the notion of God (i.e., the Star Maker) in a non-religious way. 

[bookmark: p2990]It's almost impossible to find a science fiction idea in the pulps of the 1930s and 1940s, or even the digests of the last half century, that does not owe something—usually a major something—to Stapledon. (In fact, when Larry Niven's brilliant Ringworld came out and credited Dyson Spheres as its inspiration, I decided that that was the first truly major science fictional concept that did not owe anything to Stapledon. I should have known better. When I read Freman Dyson's autobiography a few years later, I discovered—not surprisingly, in retrospect—that he credited Stapledon with inspiring the notion of the Dyson Sphere.) 

[bookmark: p2991]Those two novels were quite enough to solidify Stapledon's place in the history of science fiction, but he wrote two others, not as huge in scope or as bold in concept, but sufficiently influential that any writer other than Stapledon would be happy to let his reputation rest on them. One was Odd John, the first novel of a mental (rather than a physical) superman; and the other was Sirius, about a dog with artificially enhanced intelligence. (I wonder how many books and stories owe a tip of the hat to those two "minor" novels? 500? 1,000? More?) 

[bookmark: p2992]And now, three-quarters of a century after his two major works appeared, the books are all but forgotten. Ask almost any American science fiction writer if he's heard of Stapledon and he's likely to answer in the affirmative. Ask him if he's read Star Maker and the answer will usually be No. 

[bookmark: p2993]And yet Stapledon's ideas are alive and well. You'll find them in almost every story in almost every issue of Analog and Asimov's and Jim Baen's Universe, and in well over half the science fiction novels you'll find in the bookstores and the libraries. 

[bookmark: p2994]You might even mosey over to your local library or second-hand bookstore, pick up a copy of Star Maker (and perhaps Last and First Men as well) and experience our greatest thinker first-hand. Some of the concepts in them will seem like old friends, but others are still capable of blowing you away—which is one of the things that the very best science fiction is supposed to do. 
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[bookmark: Chap_17]Adventures with a Search Engine

Written by Eric Flint

[bookmark: p2995]In this essay, I'm going to continue analyzing the following question, posed at the start of my last essay:

[bookmark: p2996]Even if it's only a mental experiment at the moment, what would happen if electronic publishing did become the dominant form of publication—or even the almost exclusive form? What if any changes would be needed in the various policies that I've advocated so far?

[bookmark: p2997]In the last issue, I took up some preliminary questions involved with this problem. Now, let's move on to the heart of it: 

[bookmark: p2998]What effect would there be on traditional copyright practices if all publishing became electronic?

[bookmark: p2999]Not some, not even most, but all books. The only paper books still produced would be purely luxury items designed for interior decoration. Expensive, limited-run leather-bound copies, which couldn't begin to support authors and any publishers beyond a small number of specialty houses.

[bookmark: p3000]What then?

[bookmark: p3001]The answer universally advanced by advocates of DRM is that doom would be upon us—unless the most stringent and harsh measures were put in place to protect copyright from the inevitable horde of slavering online pirates who would soon plunder all the works of legitimate authors, drive publishing houses into bankruptcy, and inaugurate a literary Dark Age.

[bookmark: p3002]How could it be otherwise? they argue. If books are readily available for free due to the ease of pirating unencrypted electronic text, why would anyone continue to pay for them? Adieu, the livelihood of legitimate authors! Adieu, the profits—nay, the very wherewithal—of honest publishers!

[bookmark: p3003]What's wrong with this picture? (I leave aside the rather blatant projection involved, as psychologists might say.)

[bookmark: p3004]Well, any number of things. But let's start with the central evasion. You can find it here:

[bookmark: p3005]"If books are readily available for free—"

[bookmark: p3006]STOP.

[bookmark: p3007]I'm going to spend the rest of this month's essay analyzing this weasel phrase. 

[bookmark: p3008]"Readily available."

[bookmark: p3009]What exactly does that mean? Readily available compared to what?

[bookmark: p3010]And it does have to be compared to something. The weasel involved here is the implication that "readily available" is an ontological category of its own: something which can be gauged by virtue of its inherent essence.

[bookmark: p3011]But that's pure blather. "Readily available" is, always has been and always will be a relative term. It has no meaning outside of a context.

[bookmark: p3012]An example: salt.

[bookmark: p3013]Salt is now readily available. You can go into any supermarket and almost any market of any kind selling food, down to and including gas station mini-marts, and you can pick up a box containing over a pound of salt for less than a dollar.

[bookmark: p3014]And, as a result, salt is almost never stolen by shoplifters. Why bother, when it's so easy to find and so cheap?

[bookmark: p3015]But it was not always so. At many times and places in the past, salt was extremely valuable and had to be carefully guarded. For centuries, for instance, there was a constant barter of salt for gold between north Africa and the great medieval empires and kingdoms of West Africa. Caravans would cross the Sahara for the purpose—and had to be protected by armed guards whether they were carrying gold or salt.

[bookmark: p3016]Let's take another example: free roads versus toll roads.

[bookmark: p3017]There was a time in American history—and much of world history, for that matter—when you had not much choice except to take a toll road, if you wanted to travel any long distance. That was especially true if you were hauling wagons with bulky commercial products.

[bookmark: p3018]Today, that's no longer true. You can travel by motor vehicle (or bicycle) almost anywhere in the continental United States while avoiding toll roads. That includes hauling almost any kind of commercial load, of any legal weight. The only toll roads that still exist are a tiny number, compared to the overall mileage of roads available.

[bookmark: p3019]Yet . . . those toll roads do a good business. Why? Because they are strategically placed to provide a significant convenience to customers at a comparatively low cost. More precisely, given that time spent is usually money lost, toll roads are actually a savings for most people. 

[bookmark: p3020]Again, an example. I live in northwest Indiana, not far from Chicago. In fact, except during rush hour, I can drive from my house to downtown Chicago in about half an hour.

[bookmark: p3021]If I take the toll bridge. That's known as the "Chicago Skyway." It's an elevated road that crosses the mass of roads, canals, railroad tracks and industrial facilities that are located near the state line between Illinois and Indiana in the southeast area of metropolitan Chicago. (Over half of all U.S. steel production takes places within a fifteen mile radius of my house.)

[bookmark: p3022]It's expensive, too, as toll bridges go. The charge is $2.50 each way; five dollars for a round trip.

[bookmark: p3023]Does anyone need to take the Skyway to get from northwest Indiana to Chicago?

[bookmark: p3024]No, of course not. There are two major alternatives, and a host of minor ones. The first is to stay on interstate highways which are not toll roads. You can take I-80 west to I-94, and then travel north on I-94 until it merges with I-90 (which, for a stretch, runs along the Chicago Skyway and is a toll road). Voila.

[bookmark: p3025]Of course, you'll add at least twenty minutes to the trip, each way, and quite a bit more than that during rush hour. You'll also burn more gasoline, partly because it's a longer distance and partly because you're far more likely to get stalled in stop-and-go traffic for a while. 

[bookmark: p3026]Alternatively, you can take city streets. Get off I-80 on Indianapolis Blvd., also known as U.S. 41, and you can take that north all the way into Chicago. Eventually you'll find yourself on Lake Shore Drive, which will take you right downtown. Voila.

[bookmark: p3027]Of course, you'll add at least half an hour to the trip, each way, although it won't matter so much whether it's rush hour or not.

[bookmark: p3028]Leaving aside the extra cost of the gasoline and the wear and tear on your vehicle, how much is your time worth? For most people, unless they're just sightseeing, time is valuable. 

[bookmark: p3029]How valuable? Well, obviously, that estimate will vary from one person to the next. I know plenty of people who seem to have a very low estimate of the value of their time. At least, that's the only conclusion I can come to, seeing that they stubbornly refuse to pay the $5.00 toll to use the Skyway and insist instead on using alternate and much longer routes.

[bookmark: p3030]As for me, I was a machinist for a long time before I became a full-time author, and I still tend to gauge the value of my time by those standards. Leaving aside the value of the various benefits that came with my wage package—medical benefits, vacation pay, holiday pay, etc., etc.—I was earning about twenty dollars an hour by the end.

[bookmark: p3031]So I figure that's what my time is worth. (It's actually worth quite a bit more, these days, but never mind. Trying to gauge the value of an author's labor time is a lot trickier, and who cares? Twenty bucks an hour is plenty good enough for these purposes.)

[bookmark: p3032]By using the Chicago Skyway every time I travel to and from downtown Chicago from my house, I figure I save about an hour of my time. In monetary terms, I save about twenty dollars—at a cost of five dollars. My "net gain," so to speak, is fifteen dollars. More precisely, my net loss is twenty-five dollars (one hour round trip travel plus $5.00 toll) instead of forty dollars (two hours round trip travel with no toll expense).

[bookmark: p3033]So, I use the Skyway. I haven't used any alternate route into Chicago in many years, unless I had some specific reason to do so.

[bookmark: p3034]And I not only don't steal boxes of salt, it doesn't even occur to me to steal them as a mental experiment, unless I'm writing an essay on the blithering stupidity of DRM.

[bookmark: p3035]The point to all this should be obvious. Whether or not people will steal copyrighted electronic material is first and foremost determined by the relative ease of doing so, measured against the relative cost of buying the legitimate product. Please note that I am bending over backward to satisfy my opponents by accepting their premise that, given the opportunity, all people will always steal instead of paying for something. (For the record, I do not agree with that premise. In fact, I think it's downright silly as well as offensive.)

[bookmark: p3036]So let's now analyze that issue. Just how easy is it, anyway, to steal copyrighted material? 

[bookmark: p3037]Again, I will bend over backward to satisfy my opponents in this debate. I won't even get into the issue of how easy it is to pirate copyrighted material in the first place. Which it isn't, actually. Most "pirates" get a paper copy of a book and scan it. Even if they don't do any proof-reading at all to remove scanning errors, which takes many hours to do properly, they still have to take the time to scan the book. That usually has to be done manually, one page at a time.

[bookmark: p3038]Instead, I will begin with the assumption that someone has already produced pirated editions of every book ever written and made them available somewhere on the internet.

[bookmark: p3039]Okay, now what?

[bookmark: p3040]One of my standard debater's tricks when I give a public speech on this subject, and get to this point in my argument, is to start waving my arms enthusiastically and urge everyone in the audience to—

[bookmark: p3041]Please! As soon as you get home, go to your computer and STEAL ONE OF MY BOOKS!

[bookmark: p3042]And I predict that they will discover that's easier said than done. Especially for that ninety-nine percent of the reading public which does not have any expertise on these matters.

[bookmark: p3043]Here's what most people will do, if they want to find a pirated edition of one of my books. They will enter my name into the search bar in Google and see what turns up.

[bookmark: p3044]The results, of course, will vary slightly from one day to the next. But, as of the day that I'm writing this essay—Sunday, July 20, 2008, at 12:41 Central Standard Time—here's what turns up:

[bookmark: p3045]On the first page, all ten entries refer to me (not some other Eric Flint) and all ten are legitimate sites. As follows:

[bookmark: p3046]Site 1: This is Google's own site, identified as: "Books 1 - 10 of 376 on inauthor:Eric inauthor:Flint."

[bookmark: p3047]And—oh, joy!—this site goes on and on for pages, listing all of my books (most of them, anyway; I didn't do a precise count) and where you can find legitimate copies of them. Many of them for sale.

[bookmark: p3048]Let's hear it for Site 1. Moving on . . .

[bookmark: p3049]Site 2: http://www.ericflint.net/

[bookmark: p3050]This is my own web page. I'm all for it. Nothing here but legitimate copies—some free, mind you, at my choosing. But most are for sale.

[bookmark: p3051]Site 3: This also takes you to my web site and it's a reference to my recent appearance as the Author Guest of Honor at MidSouthCon in Memphis, Tennessee.

[bookmark: p3052]Also legitimate, needless to say.

[bookmark: p3053]Site 4: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Eric_Flint

[bookmark: p3054]This is a long entry on me in Wikipedia. A site like this, from a narrowly commercial standpoint, is entirely in my favor. It amounts to free promotion.

[bookmark: p3055]Site 5: http://www.baen.com/author_catalog.asp?author=EFlint

[bookmark: p3056]This will take you to my catalog page in the web site of my publisher, Baen Books. In other words, it is as legitimate as it gets. And, naturally, you can buy my books here.

[bookmark: p3057]Site 6: http://www.baen.com/library/eflint.htm

[bookmark: p3058]This takes you to my page in the Baen Free Library, where you can obtain books of mine for free. This is also a completely legitimate site.

[bookmark: p3059]Something of interest here: Even this site, which is completely legitimate and contains nothing but free electronic texts of mine, ranks no higher than sixth in a Google search. 

[bookmark: p3060]Site 7: This is another Google site, and will take you to a list of reviews of my most popular novel, 1632. That novel is available for free in the Baen Library and has been for years, by the way. A site like this is simply more promotion, from a commercial standpoint, even though it didn't cost me or my publisher anything.

[bookmark: p3061]Site 8: http://baens-universe.com/articles/McCauley_copyright

[bookmark: p3062]This takes you to the web page where I put up Macaulay's speeches on copyright, which I have frequently cited in these essays in this magazine.

[bookmark: p3063]Site 9: Another Google site, this one referring to the first volume of the Grantville Gazette. I publish the Gazette as an online magazine—we're now putting out the nineteenth issue—and Baen Books publishes the paper editions of it. This is another perfectly legitimate site and one which helps to promote the Gazette in particular and the 1632 series in general.

[bookmark: p3064](If you're interested in the Gazette, by the way, you can find it here: http://www.grantvillegazette.com/)

[bookmark: p3065]Site 10: This is another legitimate site offering free books of mine: http://onlinebooks.library.upenn.edu/webbin/book/lookupname?key=Flint%2C%20Eric

[bookmark: p3066]Shall I go on? 

[bookmark: p3067]Site 11 is a Google site providing reviews of another novel of mine, The Course of Empire, co-authored by Kathy Wentworth. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.) 

[bookmark: p3068]Site 12 is an interview with me concerning my novel 1812: The Rivers of War. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3069]Site 13 take you to a page in Barnes & Noble where my works are offered for sale. (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3070]Site 14 is a Google site providing reviews of another novel of mine, The Wizard of Karres, co-authored by Mercedes Lackey and Dave Freer. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3071]Site 15 takes you to one of the better-known sites listing SF authors and provides a comprehensive bibliography of my work. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3072]Site 16 . . . Ha! That takes you to this very magazine and links you to the essay I wrote in this column for the last issue. (LEGITIMATE SITE. PART OF THE RIGHTEOUS FIGHT AGAINST DRM. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3073]Site 17 is a Google site providing reviews of another novel of mine, In the Heart of Darkness, co-authored by David Drake. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3074]Site 18 takes you to the Amazon page where my novel 1632 is offered for sale. (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3075]Site 19 takes you to Baen's Webscription service where you can buy electronic editions of my work. (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3076]Site 20 is a Google site providing reviews of my first novel, Mother of Demons. It's worth noting that that book came out eleven years ago, has been available for free in electronic format in the Baen Library for eight years—and it's still in print. In fact, Baen is planning to produce another edition of it soon. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3077]Well, that's the first twenty sites. But let's keep going, shall we? Surely we have to run across a Nefarious Pirate Site before too long. The internet equivalent of Port Royal or Tortuga, so to speak.

[bookmark: p3078]Site 21 takes you to Simon & Schuster's web page where you can buy my books. (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3079]Site 22 takes you a review of my various essays against DRM. (LEGITIMATE SITE. PART OF THE RIGHTEOUS FIGHT AGAINST DRM. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3080]Site 23 is a Google site providing reviews of another novel of mine, An Oblique Approach, co-authored by David Drake. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3081]Site 24 is the web page of an artist who asked my permission some time ago to post his illustrations of various novels of mine. The site also contains links to other sites which, one way or another, serve to promote my work. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3082]Site 25 is a highly critical review of my novel 1812: The Rivers of War. In my opinion, it's an extremely stupid review as well, in the sense that reviews which are obviously driven by the urge to find fault no matter what invariably wind up being stupid. But, admittedly, mileage varies. Someone else reading this review might think it was the best thing since sliced bread.

[bookmark: p3083]I can't honestly say this is a site that "promotes" my work, but . . . 

[bookmark: p3084](LEGITIMATE SITE. NOT A PIRATED COPY TO BE FOUND.)

[bookmark: p3085]Site 26 is a Wikimedia site about me. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3086]Site 27 also takes you to the Amazon web page where my novel 1632 can be purchased. (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3087]Site 28—oh, well, it had to happen sooner or later—takes you to a web page referring to some other Eric Flint than me. 

[bookmark: p3088]That said . . .

[bookmark: p3089](LEGITIMATE SITE. NOT A PIRATED COPY TO BE FOUND.)

[bookmark: p3090]Site 29 takes you to another bibliographic listing of my work. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3091]Site 30 also takes you to another bibliographic listing of my work. (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3092]That's thirty sites—and I still haven't found a pirated edition of one of my works. Dammit, what happened to all the Cap'n Blackbeards and Morgans supposedly infesting the internet? By the time anybody works their way through all these web sites, they've been bombarded with what amounts to a blizzard of promotion concerning my work—not to mention a number of sites offering to sell them legitimate copies.

[bookmark: p3093]What's a hardworking crook supposed to do?

[bookmark: p3094]Keep going, presumably. But I think we can satisfy ourselves from here on in with a quick summary.

[bookmark: p3095]What we find in sites 31 through 50 referring to "Eric Flint" are:

[bookmark: p3096]31: a reference to an upcoming appearance by me at an SF convention; (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3097]32: another link to Webscriptions; (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3098]33: a very positive review of 1632; (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3099]34: a positive review of an essay of mine posted in Baen's Library; (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3100]35: a site where you can buy electronic editions of 1812: The Rivers of War and 1824: The Arkansas War; (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3101]36: a web page in Alibris where used copies of my books are available for sale; (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.) They also sell my work, but since I don't get any royalties from used book sales the net effect for me is simply promotional. Damn good promotion, though.

[bookmark: p3102]37: another very positive review of 1632; (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3103]38: a link to the Grantville Gazette; (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3104]39: this is the second site that refers to a different Eric Flint, so it's irrelevant. (However, for the record, it's perfectly legitimate. Not a pirated copy in sight anywhere.)

[bookmark: p3105]40: the site has a very positive assessment and analysis of the entire 1632 series; (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3106]41: this is a legitimate site which distributes free copies in PDF format of some of my books available in the Baen Library. (Baen's Library does not offer PDF as a format.) (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3107]42: this site refers people to the Baen Free Library; (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3108]43: another bibliographic reference site, listing many of my works; (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3109]44: another Wikipedia entry about me; (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3110]45: this is the third site referring to an "Eric Flint" who is not, grumble, me. Still, it's perfectly legitimate and not a site where pirated books can be found.

[bookmark: p3111]46: another bibliographic reference site, listing many of my works; (LEGITIMATE SITE. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3112]47: Random House's web page where you can buy copies of 1812: The Rivers of War and 1824: The Arkansas War; (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3113]48: a link to Grantville Gazette III, along with links to places selling the book; (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3114]49: a link to a legitimate site selling electronic editions of my books; (LEGITIMATE SITE. SELLS MY BOOKS. HELPS PROMOTE MY WORK.)

[bookmark: p3115]50: this is a rather weird site whose logic I don't understand—I can't actually find me anywhere in it, despite the link to my name—but which seems perfectly legitimate. It's certainly not a site where pirated books are being hawked. 

* * *

[bookmark: p3116]All right, enough. The pirates seem to have made themselves scarce.

[bookmark: p3117]Here's the summary. Out of the first fifty sites referring to "Eric Flint" in a Google search:

[bookmark: p3118]All 50 of them are legitimate.

[bookmark: p3119]47 of the 50 refer to me. (For the record, the three other Eric Flints are a musician, an athlete and a radioneurologist.)

[bookmark: p3120]45 of them, in one way or another, help promote my work.

[bookmark: p3121]15 of them—which is to say, 30% of the total—directly sell my books.

[bookmark: p3122]And . . .

[bookmark: p3123]Not one of them—that's "not one" as in ZERO, folks—provides a pirated copy of anything of mine.

* * *

[bookmark: p3124]In my next essay, I'll deal with the objections that some people will raise to my use of search engines as a way to test the proposition that online piracy is well-nigh ubiquitous. And I'll show that they're all spurious. But, for the moment, I want to end this essay with what, by now, should be the obvious and central point:

[bookmark: p3125]The mere fact, in and of itself, that pirated copies of books exist somewhere on the internet, does not lead to the conclusion that such illegal editions are "readily available."

[bookmark: p3126]That depends. On what? Mostly, on how readily available you make legitimate copies—measured in terms of ease of search as well as price.

[bookmark: p3127]We just saw that, in my case, legitimate copies of my work are in fact readily available. All anyone has to do is use a search engine—I used Google but you'd get about the same results with any other—and they will immediately turn up dozens of sites where legitimate copies of my work can be obtained. Much of it for free, but even those copies made available for sale are usually priced no more than five dollars a copy.

[bookmark: p3128]And, on the other hand, they'll have a hard time finding a pirated copy. That's because they'll have to struggle through a veritable online blizzard of sites referring to me and my work that are perfectly legitimate.

[bookmark: p3129]So what's their time worth? When obtaining a legitimate copy costs $5.00 or less and takes almost no time at all?

[bookmark: p3130]The answer is that most people will be perfectly satisfied with the legitimate product. Most potentially paying customers, I should say. I'm not interested in people who might be using a search engine to find pirated copies because they never had any intention of buying a legitimate copy in the first place. To be sure, such people are annoying in the general scheme of things. But they are irrelevant to this discussion. A virtual theft is simply meaningless, in terms of the loss to an author or publisher's income. Zero from zero is zero.

[bookmark: p3131]This is a key point, by the way. One of the sleazy logical tricks played by advocates of DRM is to assume that every illegal download of a copyrighted item represents a "lost sale." But that's just nonsense. It would only be true if one of two conditions applied:

[bookmark: p3132]1) The downloader would have bought a legitimate copy otherwise.

[bookmark: p3133]2) Because of the illegal download, a legitimate copy of the text is now missing and is therefore not available for sale to a paying customer.

[bookmark: p3134]The second condition is simply irrelevant to electronic texts. And to call the first proposition "highly dubious" is to put the matter gently. 

[bookmark: p3135]In reality, in my experience, what most people are doing when they read or download free electronic texts—and this is true whether the texts are legitimately provided or pirated copies—is sampling an author's work to see if they want to pursue the matter further. And, if they do, they're most likely to go find a legitimate copy for sale, not to keep hunting for pirated copies.

[bookmark: p3136]PROVIDED, at least, that the publisher was smart enough to make such copies available at a reasonable cost and in an unencrypted format.

[bookmark: p3137]All right. That's enough, I think, for this month's essay. In the next issue, I'll pick up where this leaves off.
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[bookmark: Chap_18]The Science in Science Fiction

Written by Ben Bova

[bookmark: p3138]I've been a fan of Edgar Allan Poe as long as I can remember, but there's one poem of his that I think is 'way off the mark.

[bookmark: p3139]In Sonnet: To Science, Poe complains that science's "dull realities" prevent the poet's heart from "wandering/To seek for treasure in the jeweled skies. . ."

[bookmark: p3140]Dull realities? 

[bookmark: p3141]There's nothing dull about the realities that telescopes and spacecraft have discovered about the other worlds of our solar system. Treasure from the jeweled skies, and then some. Anyone who doesn't thrill at the photos returned from Mars, Jupiter, many-ringed Saturn, et al., doesn't have a poet's heart, or any heart whatsoever.

[bookmark: p3142]Now, in science fiction the writer has a great deal of latitude to create alien worlds and people them with creatures large and small – and even intelligent. For example, Ray Bradbury could create a Mars of bone-chess cities and fragile, beautiful Martians. We know that Mars isn't like that. Doesn't matter. Ray's stories are still among the most evocative ever written even though we know that the Mars he describes comes from his imagination, not out of reality. 

[bookmark: p3143]Are Bradbury's stories science fiction? Technically, no, because they're not based on known science. But who cares? They're so damned good!

[bookmark: p3144]In this column, however, we're going to talk about science fiction. That is, stories in which some aspect of future science or technology is so integral to the tale that, if you remove the scientific/technological aspect, the story falls apart.

[bookmark: p3145]I've found it more interesting, more challenging, and in many ways more rewarding to try to write as realistically as I can about strange worlds where no human has yet set foot. But why try to create a world entirely out of your imagination when NASA is spending billions of your tax dollars to show us what real worlds are like?

[bookmark: p3146]And those real worlds are weirder, more intriguing, more exciting than most of the imaginary planets concocted out of whole cloth.

[bookmark: p3147]Science fiction, I feel, should have some relationship to the real universe that scientists are exploring for us. Therefore I propose that we follow a rule of thumb that science fiction writers have used for generations: 

[bookmark: p3148]RULE: The writer is free to invent anything he or she can imagine, as long as nobody can prove it's wrong.

[bookmark: p3149]So let's look at space travel, and think about human explorers heading for Mars.

[bookmark: p3150]First of all, although Mars is one of the nearest planets to us, it never comes closer to Earth than about 35 million miles. Using current rocket technology, it takes at least four months to reach Mars.

[bookmark: p3151]Which means that human explorers in transit to Mars are going to get hit by a solar storm. Before they get to their destination they could face a very dramatic, very dangerous situation in transit.

[bookmark: p3152]There is weather in space, of a sort. Every now and then the Sun belches out huge clouds of high-energy particles and radiation, called solar flares. A solar flare can release in a few seconds as much energy as the explosion of a hundred million billion tons of TNT. In the shorthand of scientists, that's 1011 megatons: more energy than the whole world consumes in 50,000 years, but just a minor hiccup in the immense powerhouse that is our Sun.

[bookmark: p3153]Here on Earth we're protected against solar storms by our planet's magnetic field, which deflects the high-energy particles in the radiation cloud. Our atmosphere also absorbs energetic particles before they can reach the ground. But astronauts venturing beyond Earth's wrapping of magnetic field are not so protected.

[bookmark: p3154]When astronauts went to the Moon during the Apollo days of the 1960s, the trip was short enough so that they avoided solar storms. Even if one had erupted, they were close enough to Earth to come back safely before the radiation cloud could reach them. Probably.

[bookmark: p3155]Not so on that months-long journey to Mars. There's a better-than-even chance that a Mars-bound spacecraft will encounter a solar storm. Or it might get hit on the trip back to Earth.

[bookmark: p3156]When the Sun burps out a solar flare, the electromagnetic radiation from the flare – visible light, radio energy, ultraviolet, x- and gamma rays – reaches the Earth with the speed of light, in about eight minutes. [bookmark: _ftnref1][1] This is the warning of danger. In times to come, when human spaceflight through the solar system is routine, the visible flash from a solar flare will trigger alert warnings throughout the spaceways.

[bookmark: p3157]Following the visible flare by anywhere from a few minutes to a few hours, the first wave of very energetic protons and electrons comes boiling out from the Sun, traveling at "relativistic" velocities: that is, close to the speed of light.

[bookmark: p3158]The energy in these subatomic particles is measured in electron volts (ev). One electron volt is a minuscule bit of energy; it would take five million ev to light a 50-watt bulb. But protons with energies of 20 to 40 milion electron volts (Mev) can easily penetrate a quarter-inch of lead, and particles from solar flares with energies of more than 15,000 billion ev – 15,000 Bev or 15 giga-electron-volts (Gev) – have reached Earth.

[bookmark: p3159]The flare has ejected a great puff of very energetic plasma [bookmark: _ftnref2][2] into interplanetary space. It expands as it moves outward from the Sun, growing to dimensions far larger than the Earth. When such a cloud hits the Earth's magnetic field it rattles the entire geomagnetic field, causing a magnetic storm.

[bookmark: p3160]The auroras at both poles flare dramatically and the Northern and Southern Lights are seen far from their usual polar domains. The ionosphere – layers of ionized particles that begin some 50 miles high – runs amok, gaining and losing ionized particles in a wildly unpredictable manner that makes a shambles of the long-distance radio transmissions that are normally reflected off its ionized layers. Even telephone cables buried underground have been affected by powerful magnetic storms.

[bookmark: p3161]In a few days the ionosphere settles down. The aurora borealis and aurora australis go back to normal. Until the next solar flare.

[bookmark: p3162]But any astronauts caught in deep space unprotected by shielding during a solar storm would be quickly killed by the intense radiation levels of the storm's energetic protons. Mars-bound explorers will need a reliable storm cellar on their spacecraft.

[bookmark: p3163]Although the structure and equipment of a spacecraft are enough to shield its crew from the normal levels of radiation in interplanetary space, they are not enough to protect the crew against the radiation from a solar storm.

[bookmark: p3164]SIDEBAR: Radiation in Space

[bookmark: p3165]The word "radiation" is used in two ways, and it's important to understand the difference between them.

[bookmark: p3166]Light is a form of electromagnetic radiation. Visible light is only a small slice of the broad electromagnetic spectrum, the part that our eyes have adapted to sense. Radio waves are also electromagnetic radiation: "light" that we can't see. So are microwaves, infrared and ultraviolet light, X-rays and gamma rays.

[bookmark: p3167]The kind of radiation that can cause damage to our bodies is called ionizing radiation, because such radiation can ionize atoms within your body, strip electrons off those atoms, which causes harmful physiological effects. X-rays and gamma rays can harm you in that way, so in addition to being forms of electromagnetic radiation they are also dangerous forms of ionizing radiation.

[bookmark: p3168]Other forms of ionizing radiation come from energetic subatomic particles, such as the protons accelerated to Bev and Gev levels in a solar flare. Those invisible bullets can kill unprotected humans in space.

[bookmark: p3169]While the electronic systems of a spacecraft can be hardened against ionizing radiation, human beings cannot be. They need protection. So spacecraft will need a storm cellar, a place that's shielded so that those high-energy protons and other nuclear shrapnel can't harm the astronauts.

[bookmark: p3170]A spacecraft's storm cellar, then, would be a shielded area where the crew could wait out the high radiation levels that can persist for several days after a flare erupts on the Sun. They will have enough warning time to get into the shelter – a matter of hours or even days between the flare's sudden outburst and the arrival of the deadly cloud of high radiation. 

[bookmark: p3171]In fact, the solar storm might miss the spacecraft altogether. That cloud of ionized plasma is guided through space by the kinks and loops of the interplanetary magnetic field. There are no guarantees, either way.

[bookmark: p3172]The storm cellar will have to be stocked with enough food to last several days and will need adequate water and air recycling systems, as well as hardened communications so that the crew can talk with Earth.

[bookmark: p3173]The most obvious kind of storm cellar is simply some large mass of material between the crew and the potentially lethal radiation. Solid walls of lead would be too massive to be practical on a spacecraft, although the ship's tanks of propellants might absorb enough of the incoming radiation to consider putting the storm cellar inside the propellant tankage.

[bookmark: p3174]A more elegant solution would be to copy nature and put a strong magnetic field around the storm cellar. After all, it is the Earth's magnetic field that protects us from deadly solar-flare radiation. Superconducting magnets, which can produce extremely high field strengths without needing electrical power (once they are charged up) might do the job. To be superconducting, the magnets must be cooled to the temperature of liquid nitrogen or below, but that should not be too big a problem for a spacecraft carrying humans to Mars.

[bookmark: p3175]There's a complication, though. A magnetic field powerful enough to deflect the high-energy protons of a solar storm would be so strong it would warp the magnet itself out of shape. It would need so much structural mass to hold the magnet together that we might as well build a lead-lined shelter and be done with it.

[bookmark: p3176]The truly sophisticated solution is to charge the spacecraft to a very high positive potential so that the high-energy protons are deflected by electrostatic forces: like charges repel one another. To keep the negatively-charged electrons in the radiation cloud from reaching the ship and neutralizing its positive charge, a moderate magnetic field is all that's needed; the electrons have comparatively little energy in them, so a weaker magnetic field can deflect them well enough.

[bookmark: p3177]I worked at a laboratory in the 1960s where just such a storm cellar was tested, in miniature. It worked fine, in the lab.

[bookmark: p3178]Whether it's a metal bubble inside a propellant tank or a shielded shelter wrapped in a cocoon of magnetic force, the storm cellar can make a good scene for high-tension drama as the astronauts head for their distant destination. I used such a possibility in my 1992 novel Mars.

[bookmark: p3179]Einstein said, "Imagination is more important than knowledge." But knowledge is vital. Use the known facts to stir your imagination. You can produce good, taut fiction that takes place even before your characters set foot on Mars – or any other world.

* * *

[bookmark: p3180]Ben Bova is the author of nearly 120 books of science fiction and science fact, and is a multiple Hugo winner as Best Editor.

* * *

[bookmark: p3181][1] The speed of light in vacuum is 186,282.3959 miles per second. According to Einstein's special relativity theory, nothing in the universe can travel faster than light. All experiments done to date have verified this.

[bookmark: p3182][2] A plasma is a gas that is ionized: that is, many of its atoms have been stripped of their orbiting electrons. Thus a plasma consists of negatively-charged electrons, positively-charged ions, and some atoms that are still un-ionized and therefore electrically neutral. A plasma can be shaped and moved by electrical and magnetic forces. Physicists refer to plasmas as "the fourth state of matter:" solids, liquids, gases and plasmas.
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[bookmark: Chap_19]At the O. K. Corral

Written by Barry N. Malzberg

[bookmark: p3183]Early on in what I then thought of as my "career" I had Big Plans. Also much clarity. Oh, for the clarity of yesteryear! "Tear down the walls," I wrote Harry Harrison in 1968. "Let a thousand flowers bloom. Rip down the partitions. No more genre, no more genre separation. Let Christopher Anvil compete with Wallace Markfield, let Keith Laumer and Robert Heinlein be published to Allan Drury's audience or Saul Bellow's. Sack the Nebulas, storm the gates of the Hugo, lay planks over the moat. Let us all compete for the National Book Award. No more barriers! The barriers are what kept us in, kept the others out, and we have no need of them any more." Harry Harrison, my first real friend in science fiction and still among the best, was gentle, humored me in the way that good analysts humor patients. "Sure," he wrote. "I like J.G. Ballard too. The New Wave is a very good thing.

[bookmark: p3184]Later, of course, I came to feel differently. The restrictions, the barrier might have cut science fiction away from a larger audience, but in commercial terms they worked. They put a floor on sales; most books categorized as science fiction could be guaranteed a certain sales figure and if the advance and print order expenses were kept modest, this meant that almost all science fiction was profitable, albeit marginally. The limitations also worked artistically in the way that Schoenberg's twelve-tone system or Bach's canons and fugues, by bringing rigid rules to composition focused composers and in fact had a liberating effect. Science fiction—like the mystery, like the Western—had a history, a canon, a clear set of practices which in its case had evolved in 1968 through a little over 40 years of deliberate self-limitation and this was a good thing, not bad at all. The thousand flowers which would have been stricken in the desert bloomed within the garden of the genre. Planted in arid waste, they would have been trampled as in fact most of the proto-science fiction published before Gernsback had been. In the early 1990's I said on a Convention panel, "I once recommended that new science fiction writers attempt to leave the category at the first opportunity. I was totally, dangerously wrong. I hope that no one was paying any attention (the only time I ever voiced that hope). Stay in the genre. Build there. Create a body of work wholly identified with the genre. Brand it as such and become a brand within the field."

[bookmark: p3185]One man's rather addled Pilgrim's Progress. But here we are now in the post-print Millennium and here I am struggling with Nebula Awards Showcase 2007 and that cliche (cited recently by the distinguished George W. Bush) about being careful for what one wishes haunts me. Here is Kelly Link's "Magic For Beginners," winner of the Nebula Award for best novella, as the lead story in this anthology and like that same George W. Bush pretending to hunt the Oval Office with a magnifying glass in pursuit of Weapons of Mass Destruction, I am or engaged in a series of futile attempts to find the science fiction content in these 16,000 words. I cannot find any at all.

[bookmark: p3186]What I find is a Salingeresque narrative filled with exquisite individualizing touches of a charmingly eccentric family whose lives and interactions seem to bleed over into the lives and interactions of a television family whose serial antics they watch and enjoy. The television characters are "imaginary" in the sense that they have been created, and the story's family characters are "real" (at one remove of course), but they blur into one another, perhaps making the point that television like the moves envelops us so utterly that we have lost the sense of our own lives. The characters are more real than we. (This was Walker Percy's famous point in the first chapter of The Moviegoer published almost fifty years ago . . . the movies being the culprit, of course, in that instance.)

[bookmark: p3187]That is certainly a valid point and Kelly Link enforces it with great charm and deadpan fealty; her group are not quite as adorable as Salinger's Glass family, but they have their moments. Charm is this story's most salient aspect and there is nothing contemptible about charm; Breakfast At Tiffany's or Member of the Wedding are, like Salinger's novels and short stories, famous works which manage with charm what Bach did with contrapuntality in his Third Orchestral Suite. By that standard, the story is irresistible.

[bookmark: p3188]But to try to locate this within fantasy or science fiction is exasperating; it reads like a literary refugee of my promised land of 1968 who has found sanctuary across the border and is now flourishing incognito. This story induces in me the same weariness which Sam Moskowitz might have felt reading (if he ever did read) Ballard's "Terminal Beach." What am I missing? What have they done to my song? They paved Paradise for this parking lot?

[bookmark: p3189]I brought these questions to the redoubtable Carter Scholz some months ago. His wise response, in his most philosophic and paternal mode, was the verbal equivalent of an exquisitely timed shrug. "We now have an audience which has lost interest in any kind of genre distinction," he wrote. "They want what they want, and receive it without any sense of genre distinction, and what is wrong with that?" I took this to be in the nature of a rhetorical question.

[bookmark: p3190]There is at least one other who has raised this question; Dave Truesdale, reviewing Karen Joy Fowler's (subsequently) Nebula-winning short story, "What I Didn't See" (sci-fi.com, 2003) embarked on a near tirade. He was unable to see any resemblance between this story and science fiction and the fact that it won a Nebula (two years earlier than "Magic For Beginners") croggled him. The fact that the story had been published in a genre magazine was galling enough; the Nebula gave Truesdale what Don Wollheim liked to call "the whim-whams."

[bookmark: p3191]Who can blame him? My inner Moskowitz has nothing but sympathy for the poor guy. The Fowler story, at least, could be called a conscious pastiche, almost a referendum on James Tiptree Jr.'s (Alice Sheldon) "The Women Men Don't See" first published in Fantasy & Science Fiction in its 12/73 issue which is a truly canonical sf story, and the Fowler work only reaches full bloom, achieves the understanding of the reader if it is seen in relation to that earlier work. Alice Sheldon herself is an important character in the story which is set in the mysterious Africa of Sheldon's childhood. At the least, this is mainstream fiction about science fiction and people associated with science fiction, a kind of story which I have written myself, and it is possible, I think, to give it a 72-hour pass if not a full passport. With much sympathy for the croggled border guard.

[bookmark: p3192]But "Magic For Beginners" may mark the true generational divide. I admire this story's technique and certainly recognize the writer's skill but the fact that it has won a major award sponsored by the major organization of science fiction and fantasy writers leaves me with little other than the Moskowitz Relic Award. No magic for the old guy.

[bookmark: p3193]—July 2008: New Jersey
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[bookmark: Chap_20]August 2008

Written by Stephen Euin Cobb

[bookmark: p3194]Being master of ceremonies at LibertyCon, helping to found a new international organization, awarding trophies at a tournament, dancing at a rezday party, and becoming addicted to World of Warcraft. It's been another wild couple of months for your humble host. More details can be found farther below. But first, here is a summary of recent topics discussed on the show (May 14 - July 16) followed by a list of recent guests.

[bookmark: p3195]Recent Topics

[bookmark: p3196]Nanotech, biotech, artificial intelligence and the Singularity. 

[bookmark: p3197]Why US kids want Japanese comics, and Japanese kids want American comics.

[bookmark: p3198]Standup comedy and self-promotion. 

[bookmark: p3199]Aging and longevity. 

[bookmark: p3200]The trends forcing commercial radio to change from what it once was into what it is yet to become. 

[bookmark: p3201]Oil and the global energy crisis. 

[bookmark: p3202]Solar cells and nuclear power.

[bookmark: p3203]That we will soon retire the space shuttle with nothing to replace it. Even now we have to ask the Russians to take our astronauts up to the international space station for us. 

[bookmark: p3204]Composing music on the computer. 

[bookmark: p3205]Wikipedia, Google and the Internet.

[bookmark: p3206]Why the Japanese all have better cell phone service and more bandwidth than Americans, so much so that watching live streaming internet TV on their cell phones has lost its novelty.

[bookmark: p3207]Anime, manga and illegal downloading.

[bookmark: p3208]Screenwriting and movie deals. 

[bookmark: p3209]How cellular phone companies manage to charge $3 for only part of a song when the entire song can be bought on Amazon.com for under a dollar. And why this eight billion dollar ringtone business in the US is even worse in Europe where ringtones cost individual users about $30 per year, every year, because they're rented.

[bookmark: p3210]How the FCC has failed the American public in their assigned mission, and why they do not care that they have failed. Ways the American cell phone companies have perverted the rules that are supposed to govern their operations.

[bookmark: p3211]The sad fact that Police and Fire Department cellular systems all take a back seat to commercial cellular systems in terms of quality, bandwidth, priority and deployment. And which cities are taking serious steps to fix this problem.

[bookmark: p3212]The Order of Cosmic Engineers (a new international organization of which your host is a founding member). 

[bookmark: p3213]How podcasting may replace both satellite radio and traditional radio when podcasts become commonly available in cars, because the drive-time commute is the key. 

[bookmark: p3214]How the world view of children today is radically different than those held by children just twenty or thirty years ago. Their vision of the world has been transformed by the Internet and cell phones into something far more global and far less tied to ones specific locality. 

[bookmark: p3215]If future nanotechnology allows everyone to have everything they want what kind of civilization will we have? Will people still work? Will most crime go away? What in our lives will remain the same? 

[bookmark: p3216]The movies Speed Racer and Ironman. 

[bookmark: p3217]Trends in colleges in general, and the increasing scholarly studies of science fiction and fantasy literature and media in particular. The enthusiasm students have for classes on speculative fiction, and how these studies augment the study of history.

[bookmark: p3218]Digital photography, PDAs, historical research for reenactments of frontier life, shopping on eBay, advancements in the medical field such as diabetes, identity theft, the government overstepping people's rights, and when owning a VIC-20 computer made you "Hot Snot."

[bookmark: p3219]Trends in the popular arts, including comics, Muppets, children's book illustrations, commercial art and movie animation (both hand-drawn and CGI). Long term trends in annimation, especially CGI verses the traditional hand-drawn and hand-painted animation. 

[bookmark: p3220]If the middle eastern dictators thumb their noses at China, the Chinese government—which unlike the USA does not set limits on how it treats its own people much less outsiders—might the Chinese invade the oil rich countries and take their oil by force? 

[bookmark: p3221]The growing importance of cross marketing and tie-ins which seem to dominate marketing today, as well as limitations on art and stories because of the nervousness of the sponsors, and the impact that comic and anima conventions have upon young struggling artists.

[bookmark: p3222]How different public opinion about Global Warming is in Australia and New Zealand compared to in the US. There is an overwhelming acceptance of the concept, and crowds greet Al Gore with the admiration and enthusiasm usually reserved for rock stars. 

[bookmark: p3223]How the internet has transformed comic book production teams into decentralized global networks and how software such as Flash and Photoshop have increased artist's speed. But that by eliminating all "original hand-drawn artwork" one also eliminates all artistic provenance. 

[bookmark: p3224]Why traditional radio is dying, but can save itself if it does the right thing. And why satellite radio is not a threat to ground-based radio because ground-based is local and gives listeners a local connection to things like bad weather. 

[bookmark: p3225]Why the internet has changed how art is commissioned and how projects are organized, produced, decentralized and the process sped up a great deal. 

[bookmark: p3226]The changes sweeping the Asian world and especially Greater China. (Greater China is a term commonly used in business and economics to indicate not just mainland China, but also the regions that it governs, such as Hong Kong, as well as the regions it does not govern, such as Taiwan.) 

[bookmark: p3227]The transformation of China from an anti-business communist economy to a pro-business free-market economy; the rise of Chinese consumerism; how internet access (including Google and Wikipedia) are eroding Chinese government censorship and forcing a new openness; the possibility of democracy taking root in China, and how a non-western democracy might be defined; the 2008 Olympics in Beijing.

[bookmark: p3228]Anecdotes about famous authors including: Robert A. Heinlein, Isaac Asimov, Arthur C. Clarke, L. Sprague de Camp, Mike Resnick, the late Jim Baen, Sarah A. Hoyt, Lois McMaster Bujold, Charles Sheffield, Catherine Asaro and Neil Gaiman.

[bookmark: p3229]Recent Guests

[bookmark: p3230]Kevin J. Anderson is a best selling science fiction and fantasy author, and co-author of the Dune prequels. His original works include the Saga of Seven Suns series and the Nebula Award-nominated Assemblers of Infinity. He has written novels for Star Wars, StarCraft, Titan A.E., and The X-Files. 

[bookmark: p3231]Harry Turtledove is an award winning science fiction & fantasy author best known for his novels of alternate history, such as Guns of the South. He holds a Ph.D. from UCLA in Byzantine history. 

[bookmark: p3232]David B. Coe is an award winning author of epic fantasy novels who holds a Ph.D. in environmental history.

[bookmark: p3233]Gary Jones is an actor, writer and standup comedian best known for playing the role of Sgt. Walter Harriman in Stargate SG-1 and Stargate Atlantis. He has also made guest appearances on such shows as Sliders, The Outer Limits, Andromeda and Dead Like Me.

[bookmark: p3234]Mike Resnick is an award winning science fiction & fantasy author and is the editor-in-chief of Jim Baen's Universe Magazine.

[bookmark: p3235]Toni Weisskopf is the head of Baen Books, the world renowned publisher of SF&F hardbacks, paperbacks and electronic books. 

[bookmark: p3236]Edmund R. Schubert is a SF&F writer and editor of Orson Scott Card's Intergalactic Medicine Show.

[bookmark: p3237]Catherine Asaro is a physicist, ballerina and award winning science fiction & fantasy author best known for her Saga of the Skolian Empire series. 

[bookmark: p3238]Cheralyn Lambeth has worked on the Muppet Costumes for Sesame Street Live! worked with Jim Henson Productions on the TV series Dinosaur! and the film The Muppet Christmas Carol, and also worked as a prop maker for Paramount Production Services.

[bookmark: p3239]Professor Amy H. Sturgis, who holds a Ph.D. in Intellectual History, teaches Interdisciplinary Studies at Belmont University. In the field of science fiction/fantasy studies, she has multiple books, book chapters, and articles to her credit on subjects such as J.R.R. Tolkien, H.P. Lovecraft, Harry Potter, Star Trek, Gothic literature, and Arthurian legends, among others. 

[bookmark: p3240]Mark Forman is an American businessman from Brooklyn New York, and has lived and worked in Taiwan for over twenty years. Host of the podcast Big in Asia, he studied Chinese language and culture at the University of Arizona, and during the last two decades has traveled a great deal in China as well as to many of its neighboring countries. 

[bookmark: p3241]Steve Bennett is a manga Artist with three webcomics online and a career history that stretches back to working in an anime production studio in Japan as a teenager.

[bookmark: p3242]Richard H. Green worked at Walt Disney Studios on: Who Framed Roger Rabbit, Beauty and the Beast, and Rescuers Down Under. 

[bookmark: p3243]Scott Stewart has been the principal artist for many projects including children's books, comic books and coloring books which are marketing tie-ins to famous properties including Spiderman, Superman and The X-men. 

[bookmark: p3244]S.L. Gallant has done a number of comic book tie-ins for movies from DreamWorks such as Madagascar, has done cartoon ads for Kraft Foods such as the Cool Aid Man and Cheesaurus Rex, and has also worked for Dark Horse Comics. 

[bookmark: p3245]Paul Fischer is an Information Technology professional and one of podcasting's pioneers. The team of Paul Fischer and Martha Holloway are widely known for their Balticon Podcast and the A.D.D. Cast. 

[bookmark: p3246]Stoney Compton is the author of the novel Russian Amerika which takes place in 1987 but in an alternate history timeline in which Alaska was never purchased by the United States and is still owned and dominated by the Czar.

[bookmark: p3247]Kelly Lockhart has been a DJ in Key Largo Florida, Atlanta, Tallahassee and Chattanooga. He is a feature writer for The Chattanooga Pulse newspaper, is an award-winning advertising copywriter, is the lead guitarist for the popular 70's style rock band Moccasin Bend, and for two decades worked in radio and television both on the air and behind the scenes. 

[bookmark: p3248]Shannon Presley is an on-air personality and webmaster for the #1 radio station in south central Kentucky: The Beaver—WBVR. She is also a member of the Society for Creative Anachronism, is a Board Member for the Glasgow Highland Games, and helps with 18th century events at Mansker's Station. 

[bookmark: p3249]Michael D'Ambrosio is author of the Fractured Time trilogy and now a screenwriter. 

[bookmark: p3250]Mike Pederson is editor and publisher of Nth Degree Magazine and founder of the SF&F convention RavenCon.

[bookmark: p3251]Robert V. Aldrich is author of the anime-style novels Crossworld and Queendom.

[bookmark: p3252]Podcasting's Rich Sigfrit is a voice actor and producer of many popular podcasts.

[bookmark: p3253]Davey Beauchamps is a writer, raconteur and editor of the anthology Writers for Relief.

[bookmark: p3254]Gail Z. Martin is a fantasy author, blogger and video podcaster.

[bookmark: p3255]Neury Steinhour is host of the Artist Ally Podcast.

[bookmark: p3256]Warren Buff is chairman of the SF&F convention StellarCon. 

[bookmark: p3257]Steve Cross is author of the novel Discarded Faces. 

[bookmark: p3258]Tom Barisford is spokesperson for a writers group called Charlotte Writer's Night Out. 

[bookmark: p3259]Chris Hensley is a self-described low-level flacky. 

* * *

[bookmark: p3260]Recent News

[bookmark: p3261]Master of Ceremonies
at LibertyCon

[bookmark: p3262]Due to a last minute cancellation of the person who was scheduled to be LibertyCon's Master of Ceremonies, I was asked to step in and fill that position. I was honored, of course, but also a bit nervous about accepting, since I'd never done this before and didn't want to do a crummy job. 

[bookmark: p3263]The con's chairman, affectionately known as Uncle Timmy, assured me that I could handle it. As it turned out he and his team kept my duties light and I not only survived intact but had a wonderful time. Of course, I always have a wonderful time at LibertyCon. And from what I've seen in the six times I've been there, so does everyone else. 

[bookmark: p3264]But possibly the greatest honor given to me at LibertyCon this year, was that for the first time ever a con provided me with a hotel room and covered my traveling expenses. This may sound like a small thing, but to me it's not. Partly of course it appeals to my love of thrift, but much more it feels like a solid and profound pat on the back for the work I've been trying to do through my show; it's as meaningful a form of recognition as winning the Parsec Award. 

[bookmark: p3265]And for this I must thank all the organizers of LibertyCon but especially: Uncle Timmy, Kerry Gilley, Brandy Spraker and Derick Spraker.

* * *

[bookmark: p3266]The Order of Cosmic Engineers

[bookmark: p3267]I have accepted an invitation to become a founding member of a new international organization called the Order of Cosmic Engineers. I am honored that they invited me, and proud to be counted among their founders.

[bookmark: p3268]Their vision for the idealized future of humanity is very much like my own. It is one of optimism and unlimited possibility. Unlimited because they anticipate deep into the future. Farther than I have ever attempted to look with a hope of meaningful accuracy. 

[bookmark: p3269]I believe that the Order of Cosmic Engineers can become, in the years and decades ahead, a transformative force for good in this Universe. 

[bookmark: p3270]Some of the questions I asked of Catherine Asaro when I interview her for the June 25, 2008 episode are foundational to the Order's vision of the future. I was pleased, and maybe a little surprised, to discover that her vision of the deep future was a close match to the one held by the Order, and by me.

[bookmark: p3271]—

[bookmark: p3272]This is how I accepted the invitation to join the Order:

[bookmark: p3273]Dear Giulio,

[bookmark: p3274]Thank you for this invitation. I would be honored to join the Order of Cosmic Engineers. I have been convinced for decades that we will eventually learn enough about the underlying structure of our physical universe that we will be able to modify it as well as make new ones with physical laws which are more to our liking. And once given the ability, we will do both.

[bookmark: p3275]But I suspect that our quaint natural universe will be left mostly as it is, like a nature preserve, and the greatest and most clever modifications will be reserved for the many universes that we make. Some of our newly made universes will have additional dimensions so we can build and enjoy and learn from things that can not exist in only three dimensions of space. Our first four dimensional universe will be a fascinating place, but once we learn to think and move and build in four-space we will want five, and then six, and eventually work our way up through ten, then a hundred, then a thousand, then a million. There will be no end to this. I see the ultimate fate of humanity as spreading slowly through a succession of created universes of ever increasing dimensionality, and that in this way we will remain forever "upwardly mobile."

[bookmark: p3276]Thanks.

[bookmark: p3277]Steve

* * *

[bookmark: p3278]Addicted to World of Warcraft

[bookmark: p3279]On June 11, 2008 with the help and guidance of my friend Sophrosyne Stenvaag I entered the virtual reality universe known as World of Warcraft. It was my intention to familiarize myself with the world enough to attend a meeting in Silvermoon City, but in the process of learning my way around I quickly became hooked. 

[bookmark: p3280]Generally, I actively avoid video games because they devour time. If I were five people I wouldn't have enough time to do all the projects I want to do. The last game I let get a hold on me was Duke Nukem Two in the early nighties. It took me over thirty hours to defeat all its levels. Thirty hours is not going to be enough for WoW. There are over 2000 quests, and each one typically takes one to three hours to complete. 

[bookmark: p3281]It's a brilliantly written and produced game. With a little luck maybe I'll burnout on it. 

[bookmark: p3282]If you happen to be in there feel free to look me up. I'm an Orc Shaman named Boccryotank. As of July 20, I'm at level 23. 

* * *

[bookmark: p3283]Death Stacks Tournament

[bookmark: p3284]The 2008 Death Stacks tournament (a strategy board game invented by your host) was held on Saturday, June 31 2008 at the SF&F convention ConCarolinas in Charlotte NC. First prize was $250. The first place trophy went to Chris Jarrett, 2nd Place to Eric Lowman, and 3rd Place to Trey Krieger. 

[bookmark: p3285]For those interested in getting ready for next year's tournament, an online version is available for practice play, and an even tougher to beat version is available for download. Both of these award-winning versions of the game are free and were written by freegoldbar. 

[bookmark: p3286]You can find links to them in the Death Stacks article in Wikipedia.

* * *

[bookmark: p3287]Happy Rezday to Argent Bury

[bookmark: p3288]Rezday is like a birthday, only it's the day you first materialized inside second life. 

[bookmark: p3289]On June 7, 2008 some of the Extropians threw Argent Bury a rezday party. I danced with her and took a few photos. She was dressed as a flapper, but no flapper ever filled out a dress like that. As we danced she told me she was one year old. I told her she didn't look a day over half. 

[bookmark: p3290]You can see photos of the party on my Flickr page. 

* * *

[bookmark: p3291]An Essay on World of Warcraft

[bookmark: p3292]Having played World of Warcraft for over a month, and having achieved level 23 through the accumulation of experience and weapons and armor and magic spells, I can't help but notice that each of these accumulations is an augmentation. Being a transhumanist this is a fundamental concept to me. It strikes directly to the desires of my heart. All my life in the real world I have either sought or longed for augmentation of my natural physical form. 

[bookmark: p3293]Thus on a fundamental level the game is seductive to me. But I would like to propose the creation of another game. One designed to our future rather than a fictionalization of our barbarian past. A game that is similar in play, but based on the aspirations of transhumanists and the ideals of transhumanist philosophy. A game in which augmentation is similarly central to one's progress and success, but instead of being based upon ancient magic is based upon sciences and technologies only glimpsed and hinted at in the literature of today. 

[bookmark: p3294]In addition to being a fun and perhaps profitable game, this is a game that could forward the widespread acceptance—perhaps even approval—of transhumanism within the popular culture. Thus is revealed my true goal for this game: to win the hearts and minds of humanity for the greater good of transhumanism; and by this, the greater good of humanity as a whole.

* * *

[bookmark: p3295]RFID Dangers in Hospitals

[bookmark: p3296]A frightening new study published on June 25, 2008 in the Journal of the American Medical Association has shown that the wireless systems used by many hospitals to keep track of medical equipment can cause potentially deadly breakdowns in lifesaving devices such as breathing and dialysis machines. 

[bookmark: p3297]The problem devices were simple RFID systems. Researchers in Amsterdam concluded that electromagnetic interference from RFID systems can cause unintended changes in equipment functioning. 

[bookmark: p3298]Researchers detected such changes in 34 out of 123 tests of 41 different medical devices. Of those 34 incidents, 22 were "hazardous," including total switch-offs and restarts of mechanical ventilators; complete stopping of syringe pumps and renal replacement devices and interruption of external pacemakers. In conducting the tests, researchers randomly used both passive and active RFID systems. 

[bookmark: p3299]Strangely, researchers discovered it was the passive tags, which don't have internal power and must be activated by readers that led to 63 percent of total incidents and 41 percent of the hazardous events. Active tags, which include battery power and don't require activation, don't seem to be as likely to affect other systems

* * *

[bookmark: p3300]Soccer Playing Nanobots

[bookmark: p3301]The skill, dexterity, and raw athleticism of soccer players make them an excellent model to test the prowess of robots in RoboCup, an annual robot-soccer competition sponsored by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST). The game has shrunk to nano-scale levels, as this year's RoboCup, open to the public, features the second annual nanosoccer games.

[bookmark: p3302]In an arena the size of a microchip, with "television" coverage from optical microscopes, three student teams will vie in such soccer drills as the two-millimeter dash, a slalom race between polymer posts, and nanoball-handling exercises. The competitors are from Carnegie Mellon University and the U.S. Naval Academy in the United States and the University of Waterloo in Canada.

[bookmark: p3303]The goal of the competition is to foster innovation in artificial intelligence and intelligent robotics. RoboCup will be held May 25 to 27 at Carnegie Mellon in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. An upcoming U.S. Open nanosoccer competition will be a precursor to the first official Nanogram League nanosoccer competition at the 2009 RoboCup in Austria.

* * *

[bookmark: p3304]Listener Feedback

[bookmark: p3305]Barbara Jones wrote:

[bookmark: p3306]Hi,

[bookmark: p3307]I enjoyed your sessions at LibertyCon and esp. that you kept the sessions on topic and focused on the speakers. I thought you did a great job drawing Harry Turtledove out.

[bookmark: p3308]When you asked the podcast panel about today's children reading or not reading, I thought of this viral youtube video (link below) that's probably been watched by every college faculty member in the U.S. Resolution is low, but it's quite interesting. It's 4 minutes and 44 seconds. You may have seen it.

[bookmark: p3309]http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dGCJ46vyR9o

[bookmark: p3310]Best wishes,

[bookmark: p3311]Barbara Jones

[bookmark: p3312]——

[bookmark: p3313]I wrote back:

[bookmark: p3314]Barbara,

[bookmark: p3315]Thank you for writing. Harry Turtledove was great to work with. 

[bookmark: p3316]And thank you for the video link. I had not seen it. I enjoyed it and will send the link to a few others. By not pretending to offer any answers, it was able to point out and emphasize a lot of important questionable practices and out-right problems that exist within our current education system. 

[bookmark: p3317]Thanks again.

[bookmark: p3318]Steve

* * *

[bookmark: p3319]Catherine Asaro wrote:

[bookmark: p3320]Hi, Steve. 

[bookmark: p3321]The interview sounds great! I appreciate your doing such a dynamite job. You're a great interviewer. :-)

[bookmark: p3322]One correction: I have 23 books published. (It's 26 if you count the shorter books, which are really just long novellas.)

[bookmark: p3323]Best regards,

[bookmark: p3324]Catherine Asaro

[bookmark: p3325]http://www.catherineasaro.net

[bookmark: p3326]——

[bookmark: p3327]I wrote back:

[bookmark: p3328]Oops! Sorry. I'll change it on the blog page. And mention the correction in the next episode.

[bookmark: p3329]Thanks.

[bookmark: p3330]Steve

* * *

[bookmark: p3331]Bryan Spellman wrote:

[bookmark: p3332]I love "The Future And You." But I have a minor complaint. When I first started listening you had great guests talking about the future and it's possibilities. Now when I listen recently it has been mostly Con Interviews of authors and artists selling their wares. While I appreciate and actually have read many of your guests I really miss the old interviews when it was about the future and you. Recently it has been good interviews but ones I could get at any SciFi/Fantasy podcast. You would ask about the future as they see it but it did not have the meat I loved when you interview futurists, scientists and those ilk.

[bookmark: p3333]Please do not take it the wrong way. I would listen to you every week if it was just you reading from your latest book but please bring back just a little bit of the original focus. Thank you so much for putting The Future and You out there! Keep up the great work.

[bookmark: p3334]Respectfully yours,

[bookmark: p3335]Bryan V Spellman

[bookmark: p3336]——

[bookmark: p3337]I wrote back:

[bookmark: p3338]Brian,

[bookmark: p3339]Thanks for writing, and thanks for all the nice compliments about the show. I'm glad you enjoy the show, and—you can laugh—but also glad to hear that you (and presumably other listeners too) want it to remain true to its intended focus. Please rest assured that this is not a new focus that the show will be following or drifting to over the long haul. This is just my way of paying back the cons which have been so good to me and so beneficial to my show. Without these cons and the people I've met at them the show would not exist. It was at cons that I learned what a podcast was, how to podcast, and was even encouraged to try my hand at podcasting by a trio who have gone on to become heavyweights within podcasting: Tee Morris (coauthor of Podcasting for Dummies), Mur Lafferty (who has many podcasts including I Should be Writing) and of course Podcasting's Rich Sigfrit. In addition to nurturing the creation of my show, cons have been a great source of my more famous and/or fascinating guests.

[bookmark: p3340]So I guess what I'm trying to say is that you are right. The show should remain focused on the future. And it will. However about three or four shows out of the fifty-two per year will also focus on the cons I attend. I owe them big-time. And I pay my debts.

[bookmark: p3341]I would like to emphasize that I've been making a strong effort in the last six months to get interviews with people who are fully focused on the future, rather than as a side interest because they happen to write fiction which is set in the future. I will continue to interview SF&F authors, but this is a direction I've been eager to move in and I have made many new contacts this year which are bringing this goal to fruition. You have heard some of them already such as George Dvorsky, Giulio Prisco, Michael Anissimov and Phillipe Van Nedervelde. Many more are on the way. 

[bookmark: p3342]I am also trying to get people who attempt to look deeper into the future than just the next handful of decades. That's a clumsy time period to look at from the vantage point of our current time period, but I think am beginning to find them. 

[bookmark: p3343]This is a much longer response than I had intended but the reason I've made it so detailed is that I feel this is a concern that many listeners probably have, and so I figured I should address this to all of them by reading it into the show.

[bookmark: p3344]Thanks again for writing.

[bookmark: p3345]All the best.

[bookmark: p3346]Steve

[bookmark: p3347]——

[bookmark: p3348]Brian then wrote back:

[bookmark: p3349]Stephen, 

[bookmark: p3350]Boy do I understand owing someone. And I actually enjoy the interviews (Love Mur by the way, Playing For Keeps was fantastic and I hope she revisits that universe again) and continue to listen no matter what you put out there!

[bookmark: p3351]Thank you for the response and I am glad to hear you will be maintaining a nice mix of topics for us. Hope to meet you in Second Life or WoW someday!

[bookmark: p3352]Keep on podcasting!

[bookmark: p3353]Bryan Spellman

[bookmark: p3354]PS A topic suggestion. I love baseball, it is my other passion outside of reading. I would enjoy a show that addresses sports in the near/distant future. One hot topic in some circles is the amputee runner who is using a prosthesis to compete in 'normal' events, not 'special' events. I am enjoying the discussion as it is a focus on other than performance enhancing drugs and the future of sports. Also the recent trial of the laser grid system in baseball for calling balls and strikes. Interesting stuff......

* * *

[bookmark: p3355]Randal L. Schwartz wrote:

[bookmark: p3356]I recently got a kindle. didn't realize how much of Baen.com is free for the kindle, and not only that, but how much of Baen is cheaper than the corresponding Amazon sale. very cool.

[bookmark: p3357]- Randal L. Schwartz - Stonehenge Consulting Services, Inc. 

[bookmark: p3358]——

[bookmark: p3359]BTW: The free stuff Randal was talking about is located in the Baen Free Library and is available to anyone who would like if for free. 

* * *

[bookmark: p3360]A second life resident named DanTheMan Burbclave wrote: 

[bookmark: p3361]Hey Boc, love the show. It's getting even better and better, your guests lately have been very good. 

[bookmark: p3362](This is going to be out of left field, but that's kind of how I like to think) Have you ever thought about interviewing a mormon official? It's always struck me that any version of the future +50 years from now would have to include them... a lot of them. Affluence and # of children are inversely related, except for mormons. Given that fact, and assuming affulence will remain in an uptrend, their population will always increase relative to other afflent groups. This will make them a dominent force in the future... what would that look like? (rhetorical) Interesting, huh?

[bookmark: p3363]Anyway, you obviously know how to run your show, please just take this as a suggestion, since I'm always surprised when futurists never bring this fact up - in fact, I've never heard it mentioned anywhere. (This is all assuming non-singularity, which I believe will likely happen)... anyway, that's my little suggestion. 

[bookmark: p3364]thx

* * *

[bookmark: p3365]Vernon Avaritt III wrote:

[bookmark: p3366]I really loved your book Bones Burnt Black maybe it'll be a movie someday. I also like your website The Future and You. Live long and prosper.

* * *

[bookmark: p3367]John Anthony Dean Retires

[bookmark: p3368]My friend and coworker of seven years retired on June 5, 2008. I'm happy for him, but I'm also a little bit sad. 

[bookmark: p3369]John Dean to most of his coworkers. Tony to his friends and family. 

[bookmark: p3370]He's lived an eventful life so far: five purple hearts in Viet Nam; his daughter a nurse, his son a mayor, his wife a nutritionist. Seven years, we were together. I'm the oldest of five kids, and have never had an older sibling, but during our time together I've come to look to Tony as an older brother. 

[bookmark: p3371]So, Tony, if you're reading this, It's hard to see you go, but you've worked hard enough and long enough; It's time to relax and enjoy yourself full-time. 

[bookmark: p3372]Take good care of yourself.

[bookmark: p3373]I love you, man.

* * *

[bookmark: p3374]Learn More

[bookmark: p3375]You can learn more about The Future And You here, or here or even here.

[bookmark: p3376]Or learn more about its host here or here. 

THE END
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